VMware vSphere Essentials

A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management

Luciano Patrão



VMware vSphere Essentials

A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management

Luciano Patrão

Apress[®]

VMware vSphere Essentials: A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management

Luciano Patrão Selfkant, Nordrhein-Westfalen, Germany

ISBN-13 (pbk): 979-8-8688-0207-2 https://doi.org/10.1007/979-8-8688-0208-9

ISBN-13 (electronic): 979-8-8688-0208-9

Copyright © 2024 by Luciano Patrão

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr Acquisitions Editor: Aditee Mirashi Development Editor: James Markham Editorial Assistant: Jessica Vakili Copy Editor: Bill McManus

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Freepik (www.freepik.com)

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 1 New York Plaza, Suite 4600, New York, NY 10004-1562, USA. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail booktranslations@springernature.com; for reprint, paperback, or audio rights, please e-mail bookpermissions@springernature.com.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at https://www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub. For more detailed information, please visit https://www.apress. com/gp/services/source-code.

Paper in this product is recyclable

Dedication.

To my wonderful son, whose autism has made me a better parent and a better person. This book is dedicated to you in the hope that one day you will understand and be able to read its contents.

Your strength, resilience, and unwavering spirit have taught me the true meaning of determination and perseverance. Through your challenges and triumphs, you have shown me the beauty of embracing differences and the limitless possibilities that exist within each individual.

As I wrote these words, I kept hoping that one day you would be able to read them and learn from them. I believe in your ability to get past your challenges and do amazing things in the future.

No matter where your journey takes you, know that I am here to cheer you on and celebrate every milestone along the way. You are my beloved son, and I am forever grateful to have you in my life. This dedication is a testament to the depth of my love and belief in you.

May this dedication serve as a poignant reminder of my endless love and unwavering support, not only for you, my dear child, but for all parents who courageously face the unique challenges of raising a child with autism. May it stand as a symbol of solidarity and empathy for all those who navigate the intricate path of parenting in the context of autism. Your unwavering dedication, resilience, and unconditional love in the face of these challenges deserve the utmost admiration. Together, let us find strength, solace, and unity as we embrace the extraordinary journey of parenthood, hand in hand with autism.

Autism should not be seen as a tragedy; rather, the lack of understanding and awareness truly holds tragedy. It is high time that we strive to comprehend, embrace, and offer unwavering support to individuals on the autism spectrum, witnessing their incredible journey of overcoming challenges and unleashing their exceptional potential.

Special dedication to my father:

You should be here watching and living this. Your memory and your impact on my life will forever be cherished. I miss you...

> With all my love and dedication, a beloved father and a son.

Table of Contents

About the Author	xix
About the Technical Reviewers	xxi
Acknowledgments	xxiii
Introduction	xxv
Chapter 1: Understanding Virtualization	1
1.1 Benefits of Virtualization	1
1.2 Types of Virtualization	3
1.3 Hypervisors	5
1.4 Summary	6
Chapter 2: VMware and vSphere Overview	9
2.1 What Is VMware	9
2.2 What Is vSphere	10
2.3 Key Features and Benefits of vSphere	11
2.3.1 Key Features	11
2.3.2 Key Benefits	13
2.4 VMware Glossary	15
2.5 Summary	18
Chapter 3: System Requirements and Licensing	19
3.1 Hardware Requirements	19
3.2 Storage Requirements	21

3.3 Software Requirements	23
3.4 Licenses Requirements	27
3.5 Summary	30
Chapter 4: Deploying a vSphere Environment	31
4.1 Deployment Considerations	31
4.2 Hardware Configuration	33
4.3 Prepare and Install vSphere	35
4.3.1 Install vSphere 7 on an Unsupported CPU	54
4.3.2 Connect to the vSphere Web Client Host	56
4.4 What Is a Virtual Nested Environment?	57
4.5 Configure a Nested Environment	59
4.5.1 Create the Nested Environment	60
4.5.2 Create a VM for Nested ESXi	61
4.6 Summary	67
Chapter 5: vSphere Networking	69
5.1 vSphere Virtual Network	69
5.2 What Are Port Groups?	71
5.3 What Is a VMkernel?	74
5.4 vSphere Network Redundancy	75
5.5 Summary	81
Chapter 6: vSphere Datastores	83
6.1 vSphere System Boot Device Partitions	83
6.2 ESXi 7.0 System Storage Links	85
6.3 What Is a vSphere Datastore?	87
6.4 How to Create a Datastore	88
6.5 Summary	93

Chapter 7: Virtual Machines	95
7.1 Virtual Machine Files	95
7.2 What Is VM Virtual Hardware (vHW)?	98
7.3 What Is VMware Tools?	99
7.4 How to Create a Virtual Machine	100
7.5 Summary	111
Chapter 8: VMware vCenter	113
8.1 What Is VMware vCenter?	113
8.2 vCenter Licenses	116
8.3 Install vCenter	117
8.4 What Is the vCenter Server Single Sign-On Domain?	129
8.5 Summary	129
Chapter 9: vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface (VAMI)	131
9.1 Tasks That Can Be Accomplished Using VAMI	132
9.2 How to Access VAMI	133
9.3 How to Change the vCenter IP Address	136
9.4 Summary	140
Chapter 10: Datacenters and Clusters	141
10.1 What Is a vCenter Datacenter?	141
10.1.1 Create a vCenter Datacenter	142
10.2 What Is a vCenter Cluster?	142
10.2.1 Create a Cluster	143
10.3 Add Your ESXi Host to vCenter	144
10.4 Quick Tips for Managing Hosts in vCenter Server	148
10.4.1 Put a Host in Maintenance Mode	148
10.4.2 Disconnect and Reconnect a Host	149

10.4.3 Relocate a Host	
10.4.4 Remove a Host from the vCenter Server	
10.4.5 Reboot or Shut Down an ESXi Host	
10.5 What Is vSphere Cluster Services?	
10.6 Summary	
Chapter 11: vCenter Datastores	155
11.1 Datastore Types	
11.1.1 VMFS Datastores	
11.1.2 NFS Datastores	
11.2 Configure iSCSI Datastores	157
11.2.1 IQN	
11.2.2 CHAP	159
11.2.3 iSCSI VMkernel	
11.2.4 Network Port Binding	161
11.3 Create an iSCSI VMkernel	
11.4 Configure NFS Datastores	
11.5 Create vSwitch and VMkernel for NFS	
11.6 Create an NFS VMkernel	
11.7 Create VFMS Datastores (iSCSI)	
11.8 Create NFS Datastores	201
11.9 Summary	207
Chapter 12: Managing Datastores	209
12.1 Delete a VMFS Datastore	209
12.2 Resize a VMFS Datastore	212
12.3 NFS Troubleshooting	216
12.4 Summary	219

Chapter 13: vSphere Storage Policies and Encryption	221
13.1 Understanding vSphere Storage Policies	222
13.2 Storage Policy - Storage I/O	223
13.3 Create a Storage I/O Control	224
13.4 Storage Policy - Encryption	226
13.5 Create a Storage Policy - Encryption	227
13.6 VM Storage Policy for Host-Based Data Services	228
13.7 Create VM Storage Policy for Host-Based Data Services	229
13.8 Apply VM Storage Policy to VMs	238
13.8.1 What Is a Key Provider?	240
13.9 Add an Encryption Key Provider	241
13.10 Summary	247
Chapter 14: vSphere Distributed Switch	249
14.1 What Is vSphere Distributed Switch?	251
14.2 vSphere Distributed Switch Main Features	252
14.2.1 Back Up and Restore vDS Network Configuration	252
14.2.2 Link Aggregation Control Protocol Support	254
14.2.3 Inbound Traffic Shaping	255
14.2.4 Port Binding and Port Allocation	257
14.2.5 Port Mirror	258
14.2.6 VM Port Blocking	259
14.2.7 Health Check	260
14.2.8 Network Resource Pools	261
14.2.9 Private VLANs	
14.2.10 NetFlow	265
14.2.11 vDS Tags and Custom Attributes	

14.3 vSphere Distributed Switch Requirements	266
14.4 Create and Configure a vSphere Distributed Switch	268
14.5 Summary	279
Chapter 15: Advanced Configuration with vSphere Distributed	
Switch	281
15.1 Use VLANs in vSphere Distributed Switch	281
15.2 Migrate from a Standard vSwitch to vSphere Distributed Switch	284
15.3 Summary	297
Chapter 16: Configuring LACP in vSphere Distributed Switch	299
16.1 What Is Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP)	299
16.2 Requirements and Limitations of LACP in vSphere	303
16.3 Configure LACP in vSphere Distributed Switch	
16.4 Migrate vDS VMkernel Network to vDS LACP	318
16.5 Summary	328
Chapter 17: vSphere Advanced Features	329
17.1 vSphere vMotion	329
17.1.1 How Do Live Migrations Work?	330
17.1.2 Create a vMotion VMkernel Network	333
17.1.3 Encrypted Migration with vMotion	340
17.2 vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler	342
17.2.1 How DRS Works	342
17.2.2 Create a Cluster DRS	342
17.2.3 Power Management Options for DRS	347
17.3 Summary	349
Chapter 18: vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS)	351
18.1 What Is vCLS?	351
18.1.1 What is vCLS Retreat Mode	353

18.2 How vCLS Works	
18.2.1 Architecture Fundamentals	355
18.3 Move vSphere vCLS VMs Datastore	356
18.4 Create an Anti-Affinity Rule for vCLS VMs	358
18.5 Summary	
Chapter 19: vSphere High Availability (HA)	361
19.1 What Is vSphere HA?	
19.2 How Does vSphere HA Work?	
19.3 Types of vSphere HA Host Failure Scenarios	
19.3.1 Host Failure	
19.3.2 Host Isolation	
19.3.3 Host Partition	
19.4 How to Enable vSphere HA	
19.5 vSphere HA Feature Details	
19.5.1 Failures and Responses	
19.5.2 Admission Control	
19.5.3 Heartbeat Datastores	
19.5.4 Advanced Options	
19.6 Summary	
Chapter 20: vSphere Proactive HA	
20.1 What Is vSphere Proactive HA?	
20.2 How Does Proactive HA Work?	
20.3 How to Configure Proactive HA	
20.4 The Difference Between Proactive HA and DRS	
20.5 Summary	

Chapter 21: vSphere Fault Tolerance	397
21.1 What Is vSphere Fault Tolerance?	
21.2 How Does vSphere Fault Tolerance Work?	
21.3 vSphere Fault Tolerance Restrictions	400
21.4 vSphere Fault Tolerance Requirements	403
21.5 Configure vSphere Fault Tolerance	405
21.6 Pros and Cons of vSphere Fault Tolerance	415
21.6.1 Pros of vSphere Fault Tolerance	415
21.6.2 Cons of vSphere Fault Tolerance	416
21.7 Summary	417
Chapter 22: Virtual Machine Snapshots	419
22.1 What Are Virtual Machine Snapshots?	419
22.2 Snapshot Files	421
22.2.1 Delta Disk Files	421
22.2.2 Flat Files	422
22.2.3 Database Files	
22.2.4 Memory Files	
22.3 How Snapshots Work	
22.4 Creating and Managing Snapshots	426
22.4.1 Create a Snapshot	
22.4.2 Delete a Snapshot	
22.4.3 Revert to a Snapshot	430
22.4.4 Consolidate Disks	432
22.4.5 Delete All Snapshots	434
22.4.6 Consolidate Disks vs. Delete All Disks	435
22.5 Snapshot Best Practices	438

22.6 Impact on VM Performance and Storage Performance	440
22.6.1 Impact on VM Performance	440
22.6.2 Impact on Storage Performance	442
22.7 Identifying and Resolving Snapshot Issues	
22.7.1 Orphaned Snapshots	443
22.7.2 Datastore Space Depletion	444
22.7.3 Performance Dips	444
22.7.4 Failed Snapshot Operations	444
22.7.5 Backup Software Clashes	445
22.7.6 Misconfigured Alarms and Notifications	445
22.8 Summary	445
Chapter 23: Enhanced vMotion Compatibility (EVC) Mode	447
23.1 What Is EVC Mode and Its Purpose?	
23.2 EVC Mode Benefits and Limitations	
23.2.1 EVC Mode Benefits	449
23.2.2 EVC Mode Limitations	450
23.3 EVC Mode Requirements	451
23.4 Enabling and Configuring EVC Mode	453
23.4.1 Enabling Enhanced vMotion Compatibility	457
23.5 Best Practices and Considerations for EVC Mode	459
23.6 Summary	461
Chapter 24: Host Profiles in vSphere	463
24.1 What Are Host Profiles?	
24.2 Benefits of Using Host Profiles	
24.3 Creating and Applying Host Profiles	
24.4 Applying a Host Profile to an ESXi Host or Cluster	

24.5 Troubleshooting and Editing Host Profiles	479
24.5.1 Disable and Reapply	481
24.5.2 If You Use iSCSI or Fibre Channel	485
24.5.3 Troubleshoot Why the NFS Server Is Unreachable	<mark>486</mark>
24.6 Importing and Exporting Host Profiles	488
24.7 Host Profiles Integration with Auto Deploy	488
24.8 Summary	492
Chapter 25: VMware Hot Add and Hot Plug	493
25.1 Capabilities and Benefits of Hot Add and Hot Plug	494
25.1.1 Capabilities of Hot Add and Hot Plug	495
25.1.2 Benefits of Hot Add and Hot Plug	495
25.2 How to Use Hot Plug with Your vCPU and vRAM	496
25.3 Restrictions When Using Hot Add/Hot Plug	497
25.3.1 What Is NUMA?	497
25.3.2 Restrictions when using NUMA	500
25.3.3 Best Practices for Using Hot Add/Hot Plug with vNUMA	502
25.4 Enabling and Configure Hot Add/Hot Plug	503
25.5 Security Considerations for Hot Add/Hot Plug	506
25.6 Summary	508
Chapter 26: Direct Path I/O Passthrough	511
26.1 What Is Direct Path I/O Passthrough?	512
26.1.1 Understanding Direct Path I/O Passthrough	513
26.1.2 Importance of Direct Path I/O Passthrough in High-Speed Environments	514
26.1.3 Direct Path I/O Passthrough Hardware Considerations	515
26.2 Requirements and Recommendations for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough	515
26.2.1 Requirements for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough	516

26.2.2 Recommendations for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough	า517
26.3 Impact on a VM Performance and Security Risks	519
26.4 Benefits, Use Cases, and Limitations of Direct Path I/O Passth	rough523
26.4.1 Benefits	524
26.4.2 Use Cases	524
26.4.3 Limitations	525
26.5 Enabling and Configuring Direct Path I/O Passthrough	526
26.6 Enabling Direct Path I/O Passthrough	529
26.7 Enabling and Configuring SR-IOV Passthrough	533
26.8 Summary	538
Chapter 27: Add a USB Device to vSphere	541
27.1 Enable USB Devices in the ESXi Host	542
27.2 Adding a USB Device to vSphere with vMotion Support	544
27.3 Summary	545
Chapter 28: How to Reset the vCenter Root Password	547
28.1 Reset the Root Password	547
28.2 Reset the Root Password	549
28.3 Change the Root Password	550
28.4 Summary	551
Chapter 29: vCenter Update/Upgrade	553
29.1 Automatic Online vCenter Update	554
29.2 Manual Offline vCenter Update	559
29.3 Automatic Offline vCenter Update	564
29.4 Automatic vCenter Upgrade	565
29.5 Summary	571

Chapter 30: vSphere Lifecycle Manager	573
30.1 Introduction to vSphere Lifecycle Manager	573
30.2 Introduction to Image-Enabled Clusters	576
30.3 Create an Image-Enabled Cluster	577
30.3.1 Cluster Image Setup	578
30.3.2 Importing Images	584
30.4 Create and Manage Baselines	585
30.4.1 Types of Baselines	586
30.4.2 How to Create a Baseline	586
30.5 Add and Remove Baselines to and from ESXi Hosts and Clusters.	598
30.6 Scanning and Remediation	600
30.6.1 Check Compliance	602
30.6.2 Stage	603
30.6.3 Remediate	605
30.7 Upgrade VMware Tools with vLCM	614
30.8 Upgrade ESXi Hosts	615
30.8.1 Upgrade Using vLCM Upgrade Baseline	616
30.8.2 Upgrade Using Boot ISO	617
30.8.3 Upgrade Using the Command Line	621
30.8.4 Summary of ESXi Host Upgrade Options	624
30.9 vSphere Lifecycle Manager Best Practices	624
30.10 Troubleshooting vSphere Lifecycle Manager	627
30.11 Summary	627
Chapter 31: vSphere Backup and Disaster Recovery	631
31.1 Importance of Backup and Disaster Recovery in Virtualized Environments	632
31.2 vSphere Data Protection Methods and Types	634

31.3 Configuring and Managing vSphere VM Backup	636
31.3.1 BDRSuite by Vembu	636
31.3.2 Veeam Data Platform (Veeam Backup & Replication)	637
31.3.3 Hornetsecurity VM Backup	638
31.3.4 NAKIVO Backup & Replication	639
31.4 Summary	640
Chapter 32: Other VMware Products	643
32.1 VMware NSX: Network Virtualization	643
32.1.1 What NSX Does	644
32.1.2 Challenges Addressed by NSX	644
32.1.3 How NSX Works	645
32.1.4 NSX Use Cases	646
32.2 VMware vSAN: Software-Defined Storage	648
32.2.1 What vSAN Does	649
32.2.2 Key Functionalities of VMware vSAN	650
32.2.3 Challenges Addressed by VMware vSAN	651
32.2.4 How VMware vSAN Works	651
32.2.5 Use Cases for VMware vSAN	652
32.3 VMware Site Recovery Manager	654
32.3.1 What VMware SRM Does	655
32.3.2 Key Functionalities of VMware SRM	655
32.3.3 Challenges Addressed by VMware SRM	656
32.3.4 How VMware SRM Works	656
32.3.5 Use Cases for VMware SRM	657
32.4 VMware vSphere with VMware Tanzu	658
32.4.1 What vSphere with Tanzu Does	658
32.4.2 Key Functionalities of vSphere with Tanzu	659

32.4.3 Challenges vSphere with Tanzu Addresses	660
32.4.4 How vSphere with Tanzu Works	660
32.4.5 Use Cases for vSphere with Tanzu	661
32.5 Summary	662
Chapter 33: VMware Certification Overview	663
33.1 VMware Certification Importance, Tracks, and Benefits	665
33.2 Preparing for VMware Certification Exams	667
33.3 Maintaining and Renewing VMware Certification	669
33.4 Summary	672
Chapter 34: Embracing the Future of Virtualization with VMware vSphere	673
Index	677

About the Author

Luciano Patrão is a Portuguese professional who has established himself in Germany. With extensive experience in the field, he currently serves as a senior consultant and solution architect at ITQ, offering top-tier VMware infrastructure solutions and working as a PSO consultant for VMware.

Luciano has previously held notable positions as a technical project manager and technical lead in various consulting companies as a freelancer. Throughout his career, he has provided exceptional guidance and solutions to teams and clients in the areas of VMware infrastructures, backup, and data recovery.

Luciano is a VCAP-DCV Design 2023, VCP-Cloud 2023, VCP-DCV 2022, and VMware vSAN Specialist. He is also a vExpert vSAN, vExpert NSX, vExpert Cloud Provider for the last two years, vExpert Multi-Cloud 2023, vExpert for the last 8 years, and a Veeam Vanguard for the last 6 years.

As a firm believer in the power of knowledge sharing, Luciano actively writes technical content for multiple companies and owns the provirtualzone.com blog. Dedicated to virtualization, multi-cloud, storage, and backups, the blog is a platform to share insights and expertise with a broader audience.

About the Technical Reviewers



Frank Escaros-Buechsel is working as a global telco architect assisting major telecommunication providers globally to design, build, and manage consolidated IT/ICT platforms, on-board virtual network functions, and evolve existing platforms for 5G readiness.



Iwan Hoogendoorn started his IT career in 1999 as a helpdesk agent.

Soon after, Iwan started to learn Microsoft products and eventually achieved his MCP, MCSA, MCDBA, and MCSE certifications. While working as a Microsoft systems engineer, Iwan gained an excellent basis to develop additional skills and knowledge in computer networking. Networking became a passion in his life. This passion resulted in learning networking with Cisco products.

Iwan got the opportunity to work for VMware in 2016 as a senior NSX PSO consultant. In his time at VMware, he gained more knowledge on private and public clouds and the related products that VMware developed to build the Software-Defined Data Center (SDDC). After working for four years as a senior NSX PSO consultant (primarily with VMware NSX-v and

ABOUT THE TECHNICAL REVIEWERS

NSX-T), Iwan got promoted to a staff SDDC consultant focusing on the full SDDC stack, including hyperscaler offerings on the main public clouds like AWS (VMC on AWS), Microsoft (Azure VMware Solution), and Google (Google Cloud VMware Engine).

Iwan is certified on multiple VMware products, including NSX, and he is actively working together with the VMware certification program to develop network-related exams for VMware. In addition to his VMware certifications, Iwan is also AWS and TOGAF certified.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the readers and enthusiasts following my "VMware for Beginners" series on the BDRSuite blog. BDRSuite is the comprehensive backup and disaster recovery software from Vembu Technologies.

Over the years, the team at Vembu have given me the remarkable opportunity to write VMware content for their esteemed readers and customers. My first book may never have come out without their collaborative efforts. The unwavering support and encouragement from the team at Vembu have been instrumental in my journey as an author. Please visit https://www.bdrsuite.com/ for more information about BDRSuite Backup & Replication.

I want to thank the technical reviewers for reviewing this book and all the professionals involved in the publication process.

I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to my fantastic wife, whose solid support and belief in me have driven my pursuit of this long-overdue dream. Through her constant encouragement to pursue my dreams, I have been able to embark on this writing journey. Many times needs to take over things I am genuinely thankful for her love and unconditional support.

To my lovely daughters and my son, you are my world. Your understanding and patience when I was immersed in writing are deeply appreciated. Thank you for being the greatest joy in my life.

A special thanks go to my sister, brother-in-law, and nephews. Their love and support have been, and continue to be, vital in my entire life.

Finally, to all my friends, thank you for your support and motivation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to all those who have contributed to creating *VMware vSphere Essentials: A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management*. Thank you all for being part of my first journey to write a book.

Introduction

Welcome to *VMware vSphere Essentials: A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management.* After writing a successful "VMware for Beginners" series of blog posts for Vembu Technologies, a leading vendor of backup and disaster recovery solutions, I decided to write this book. This book fills a vacuum in the market for high-quality information on this subject and offers readers a thorough introduction to VMware virtualization.

This book is written for novices and those seeking more advanced notions about vSphere. It walks you through vSphere concepts and technology. It covers vSphere infrastructure creation, maintenance, and performance for beginners and advanced users.

Presentation Approach

I take a step-by-step approach in this book to guarantee that you grasp the fundamental concepts and practical procedures required to construct and manage virtual machines in a VMware vSphere system. Together, we will explore the key components of vSphere, with details and explanations for each feature, including the hypervisor, networking, Storage, and High Availability, unraveling their intricacies and highlighting best practices.

This book provides you with the full VMware knowledge to develop, set up, and maintain vSphere environments that meet modern computing needs.

We will also focus on advanced topics, such as resource optimization, performance monitoring, advanced settings, and automation, empowering you to take your virtualization skills to the next level.

INTRODUCTION

The step-by-step instructions are designed to provide a high-level understanding and are accompanied by many screenshots illustrating the available options and recommended selections essential for accomplishing each task.

Whether you are an IT professional seeking to enhance your career prospects or an administrator looking to streamline your infrastructure, this book is your comprehensive guide to unlocking the immense potential of VMware technology.

Target Audience

This book is designed to offer to diverse individuals interested in virtualization technology, specifically VMware vSphere.

The book is tailored to meet the needs of the following diverse target audience:

- Aspiring IT professionals: This book is ideal for individuals looking to enter the IT field who want to understand virtualization technology, particularly VMware vSphere. It thoroughly introduces vSphere, beginning with the fundamentals and gradually progressing to more advanced concepts, making it a helpful resource for individuals new to virtualization.
- System administrators: System administrators seeking to enhance their knowledge and skills in virtualization and VMware vSphere will find this book valuable. It offers practical insights into deploying, managing, and optimizing virtualized environments, equipping system administrators with the tools needed to excel in their roles.

- Advanced vSphere administrators: This book serves as a valuable resource for experienced vSphere administrators looking to enhance their knowledge and delve into advanced concepts. It goes beyond the basics, providing administrators with the knowledge to optimize, troubleshoot, and fine-tune their vSphere settings.
- IT professionals pursuing VMware certifications: This book caters to IT professionals who are preparing for VMware certifications, such as the VMware Certified Professional - Data Center Virtualization (VCP-DCV) exams. It offers a structured approach to understanding vSphere and its advanced concepts, providing the necessary knowledge and insights to succeed in certification exams.
- Virtualization consultants and trainers: Virtualization consultants and trainers who provide guidance and education on VMware vSphere can utilize this book as a valuable reference. It covers various topics, from foundational knowledge to advanced techniques, serving as a comprehensive guide to support their consulting and training endeavors.
- IT professionals transitioning to VMware: Professionals with experience in other virtualization technologies who wish to transition to VMware vSphere will find this book invaluable. It provides a clear and structured pathway to acquire the necessary knowledge and skills to work with vSphere effectively.

INTRODUCTION

• **Technology enthusiasts and self-learners:** This book caters to individuals who have a passion for technology and a keen interest in learning about virtualization. Whether you are a self-learner or simply curious about VMware vSphere, the book's gradual learning curve and practical approach make it accessible and engaging for technology enthusiasts of various backgrounds.

No matter your expertise or familiarity with virtualization, this book offers a comprehensive guide that empowers you to understand and utilize VMware vSphere effectively. So, let's dive in and embark on this exciting virtualization adventure together!

CHAPTER 1

Understanding Virtualization

Virtualization is a revolutionary concept, abstracting away the differences between actual hardware and its digital counterparts. It allows multiple virtual machines to exist on one physical computer, using hardware abstraction and a hypervisor. This boosts efficiency, scalability, and adaptability in managing applications and environments. With various kinds of virtualization available, this technology has many advantages, such as reduced expenses, optimized resource use, and simplified administration. Consequently, virtualization has become a commonplace asset for today's IT networks.

In this chapter we will cover the basics of virtualization and look at the various types of virtualization, their benefits, and how they relate to some of the more popular hypervisors on the market.

1.1 Benefits of Virtualization

Virtualization brings many advantages. For example, organizations can reduce energy expenses and optimize existing resources by virtualizing their physical infrastructure. The simple and swift process allows flexible and agile operations to keep up with changing requirements. Furthermore, virtualization increases system protection by enabling better division among different environments and simplifying disaster recovery processes. Generally speaking, virtualization streamlines IT deployments, data centers, and cloud computing while boosting efficiency, scalability, and administrative control.

The following are some of the more important benefits of virtualization:

- **Cost savings:** Virtualization allows one physical server to run multiple virtual machines (VMs), reducing the need for additional hardware and lowering energy costs. This translates into significant cost savings in terms of infrastructure and maintenance.
- **Improved resource utilization:** Virtualization enables better use of hardware resources by allocating them efficiently among virtual machines based on current needs. This reduces the risk of resource wastage and enhances system performance.
- Enhanced flexibility: With virtualization, businesses can quickly create or deploy new virtual machines as needed without worrying about physical hardware constraints. This improves IT agility, enabling organizations to respond faster to business needs.
- **Increased security:** Virtualization provides an additional layer of security by isolating virtual machines from each other and the underlying hardware, which helps prevent malware or other security threats from spreading.
- **Disaster recovery:** Virtualization makes disaster recovery more manageable by allowing virtual machines to be quickly migrated to another physical server in the case of a hardware failure. This ensures minimal downtime and faster recovery from critical failures.

Virtualization technologies cover a wide range of tasks and areas of IT infrastructure. In the next section we'll quickly review the different types of virtualization.

1.2 Types of Virtualization

Various types of virtualization technology are available, enabling organizations to combine types to better utilize resources, increase adaptability, boost scalability, and simplify management. By utilizing virtualization, businesses may meet their IT demands more quickly, affordably, and effectively.

The following are some of the more common types of virtualization:

- Server virtualization: Server virtualization involves partitioning a physical server into multiple virtual machines, each running its own operating system (OS) and applications. This allows for efficient utilization of hardware resources, consolidation of servers, and easier management of workloads.
- **Desktop virtualization:** Desktop virtualization is the process of creating a digital representation of a computer's desktop that end users may access from any location. It offers a consolidated method of handling desktops, which simplifies upkeep, boosts security, and gives you more leeway when it comes to distributing virtual desktops to different devices.
- Network virtualization: Network virtualization is a technology that allows for establishing virtual networks by abstracting the underlying physical network architecture. This method logically separates network resources and increases the network's scalability, adaptability, and security. Virtual local area networks (LANs), switches, and routers are all possible thanks to network virtualization.

CHAPTER 1 UNDERSTANDING VIRTUALIZATION

- Storage virtualization: Storage virtualization is the process of treating several storage systems (both physical and digital) as though they were a single logical storage system. Storage can be managed centrally, streamlining provisioning, strengthening data security, and allowing for new features such as data deduplication and thin provisioning. A good example is VMware vSAN.
- Application virtualization: Applications can run in isolated virtual environments thanks to application virtualization, which isolates them from the underlying operating system. A good example is containers and Kubernetes, like VMware Tanzu. Application virtualization enables applications to be deployed and executed on different systems without conflicts, simplifying application management and reducing compatibility issues.
- Operating system virtualization: Creating many isolated instances (containers) within a single OS instance is possible using operating system virtualization, also known as *containerization*. Lightweight and efficient virtualization for deploying programs is provided by containers, which share the same underlying OS kernel but function independently.
- **Data virtualization:** By eliminating the need to know where data is physically stored, data virtualization creates a single view of data from various locations. Data administration is made easier, and real-time data analysis and reporting are made possible, all thanks to its support for data integration, abstraction, and access.

Now that we have examined forms of virtualization, let's dive into one of its elements to help you gain a deeper understanding of its significance in the world of technology. In the following section we closely examine types of hypervisors.

1.3 Hypervisors

Hypervisors are software or firmware components that act as a virtual layer between the physical hardware and the virtual machines. Hypervisors abstract the underlying hardware resources, such as CPU, memory, and storage, and present them to each VM as if they were dedicated resources. Names such as VMware, Citrix Xen, Hyper-V, KVM, and Oracle VM are the most well known in the hypervisor market.

VMware (ESXi) is the market leader by far, with Hyper-V and Citrix XenServer the next in the list with their market share. On the other hand, KVM also has a market share, particularly within the Linux community and enterprise companies.

As depicted in Figure 1-1, there are two distinct types of hypervisors: Type 1 and Type 2.

CHAPTER 1 UNDERSTANDING VIRTUALIZATION

Hypervisor Type 1	Hypervisor Type 2
App App App App Guest OS Guest OS	App App, Guest OS Guest OS
Hypervisor	Hypervisor
Hardware	Host OS
Bare-Metal Architecture	Hardware
Hosted Architecture	

Figure 1-1. Type 1 and Type 2 hypervisors

Type 1 hypervisors leverage a bare-metal architecture (examples include VMware, Hyper-V, KVM, and Oracle VM).

In contrast, Type 2 hypervisors utilize a hosted architecture (examples include VMware Workstation/Fusion, Oracle VM VirtualBox, and Windows Virtual PC).

For instance, although Hyper-V and KVM operate in a server role, they are still considered bare-metal native hypervisors since they have direct access to the hardware and any VMs under their purview.

1.4 Summary

As we conclude our exploration of hypervisors, their functions, and their crucial role in abstracting hardware resources for cloud computing and server management, we have established a foundation for comprehending virtualization. As noted, VMware has a dominant presence in the hypervisor market, followed by Hyper V, Citrix Xen, and KVM. Moreover we discussed the distinctions between Type 1 and Type 2 hypervisors.

CHAPTER 1 UNDERSTANDING VIRTUALIZATION

Moving forward from these concepts, our attention now shifts to a detailed examination of VMware, the most influential player in this field. In the next chapter we will discuss intricacies of VMware technology, specifically focusing on the vSphere platform. Our exploration will encompass what VMware entails the structure and functionalities of vSphere as its unique features and benefits within the virtualization landscape. By gaining an overview of VMware technology, you will deepen your understanding of its role and impact in the realm of virtualization while also fostering an appreciation for its innovative solutions.

CHAPTER 2

VMware and vSphere Overview

In the opening chapter, we embarked on a quick journey to explore the world of VMware and discover vSphere. In this chapter we will uncover the essence of VMware's innovative technology, which will enable you to understand its purpose and functionality. Additionally, we will delve into vSphere, VMWare's cloud computing virtualization platform, and the prominent features that make vSphere a powerful and indispensable tool for virtualization infrastructures. We'll also distinguish between a vSphere host and an ESXi host, shedding light on their unique characteristics and roles within the VMware ecosystem. Finally, we'll review some key VMware terminology.

2.1 What Is VMware

VMware, a notable software company in virtualization, provides a platform to create and supervise virtual machines (VMs). This platform can run several virtualized operating systems or applications on a single physical computer. This maximizes resource utilization while providing enhanced flexibility.

Among VMware's most prominent services is vSphere, which is considered the gold standard for server virtualization. vSphere enables organizations to consolidate their physical servers into a virtual
CHAPTER 2 VMWARE AND VSPHERE OVERVIEW

infrastructure, which simplifies management and helps reduce costs. vSphere offers a comprehensive suite of features and tools to optimize performance, boost security, and streamline virtual environment deployment and management. With vSphere, IT professionals can easily create virtual machines, allocate resources, and manage workloads, ensuring business continuity and minimizing downtime.

Aside from server virtualization, VMware extends its portfolio to include cloud computing solutions, desktop virtualization, and softwaredefined networking (SDN). This portfolio empowers organizations to embrace the benefits of a virtualized infrastructure across multiple domains. Now let's explore the wonders of vSphere and its transformative impact on the technological landscape.

2.2 What Is vSphere

vSphere, also known as Elastic Sky X Integrated (ESXi), runs independently of any operating system as it is a Type 1 hypervisor based on VMware's kernel. When working together with vCenter, vSphere has the capability of vSphere vMotion to move more than one virtual machine at a time from one host server to another.

People sometimes are confused about the difference between ESXi and vSphere. ESXi is included in vSphere, but the ESXi host is the core. In addition to VMware vSphere, there are other products and features that are part of the vSphere umbrella stack, such as vSphere Client, vMotion, vStorage, High Availability (HA), and (more recently added) vSphere with Tanzu, which are all part of vSphere umbrella stack, but needs a central management (vCenter) to use those features.

The VMware Hypervisor product is referred to as vSphere. The VMware Host is referred to as ESXi. In this book, I use the term *vSphere* to refer to the VMware Hypervisor.

With vSphere, you can create clusters, VMs, vApps, datastores, vSAN, Kubernetes, and containers when using vSphere Tanzu with vCenter.

Through vCenter, vSphere can create vSphere Clusters, or vSAN Clusters, with vSphere HA and vSphere DRS and provide Cluster services to your virtual machines.

As we explore the features and advantages of vSphere, it's crucial to acknowledge that these capabilities not only align with the benefits of virtualization we discussed earlier but also encompass unique attributes that position vSphere as a leader in the market. In the next chapter, we will discuss how utilizing vSphere with vCenter enhances these features' functionality, transforming vSphere into a flexible and robust virtualization platform.

2.3 Key Features and Benefits of vSphere

The key features and benefits of vSphere are similar to what we have described in the benefits of virtualization, but with vSphere, we can add the specific features that make vSphere the leader of the market.

As you will learn throughout this book, most vSphere features and benefits always depend on the use of vCenter and other tools.

2.3.1 Key Features

The key features of vSphere are as follows:

• Server virtualization: vSphere facilitates server virtualization, permitting multiple virtual machines to operate on a single physical server, which optimizes resource utilization and decreases hardware costs.

CHAPTER 2 VMWARE AND VSPHERE OVERVIEW

- **Dynamic resource allocation:** With features like Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS), vSphere automatically balances workloads across hosts, ensuring efficient resource allocation and improved performance.
- **vSphere High Availability:** vSphere HA detects host failures and automatically restarts virtual machines on alternate hosts, minimizing downtime and enhancing application availability.
- **vSphere vMotion:** vMotion enables live migration of virtual machines from one host to another, allowing for workload balancing, hardware maintenance, and uninterrupted service.
- **vSphere Storage vMotion:** Storage vMotion enables the live migration of virtual machine disks between different storage arrays or datastores without disruption, simplifying storage maintenance, load balancing, and storage provisioning.
- vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS): vDS is a centralized network switch that spans multiple hosts, providing a consistent network configuration and simplifying network management in a virtual environment.
- **vSphere Replication:** vSphere Replication provides asynchronous replication of virtual machines at the hypervisor level, allowing for efficient disaster recovery and data protection across sites.

- **vSphere Fault Tolerance:** With Fault Tolerance (FT), vSphere provides continuous availability by creating a mirrored virtual machine that takes over seamlessly in case of a host failure.
- **Centralized management:** vSphere's vCenter Server offers a centralized management interface, simplifying the administration and monitoring of virtual environments.

To sum it up, vSphere has features that go beyond just technological advancements. These features, such as server virtualization, dynamic resource allocation, and high availability, provide a solution for resilient IT infrastructure management. With the flexibility of vMotion, the robustness of Fault Tolerance, and the centralized efficiency of vSphere Distributed Switch, each feature is designed to optimize, streamline, and secure the environment. VMware's commitment to innovation is evident in vSphere, as it offers a suite of tools that is essential for your virtualization needs.

2.3.2 Key Benefits

The following are the key benefits of vSphere, which overlap with those of virtualization in general:

- **Cost savings:** By consolidating servers and optimizing resource usage, vSphere reduces hardware and operational costs, leading to significant cost savings.
- **Increased efficiency:** vSphere improves efficiency by maximizing resource utilization, automating resource management tasks, and enabling faster provisioning and deployment of virtual machines.

CHAPTER 2 VMWARE AND VSPHERE OVERVIEW

- **Scalability:** With vSphere, businesses can adapt their virtual infrastructure to changing business requirements by adding or removing virtual machines, or any resource, as necessary.
- Enhanced security: vSphere provides advanced security features such as vSphere Encryption and Secure Boot, ensuring data protection and mitigating security risks.
- **Business continuity:** By leveraging features like HA, vSphere enhances business continuity by minimizing downtime and ensuring uninterrupted access to critical applications.
- **Disaster recovery:** vSphere's disaster recovery features, including Site Recovery Manager (SRM) and vSphere Replication, enable organizations to implement robust and efficient disaster recovery strategies.
- **Simplified IT management**: vSphere simplifies IT management through centralized administration, streamlined monitoring, and automated tasks, reducing the complexity of managing virtual environments.

The advantages of incorporating vSphere are remarkable and diverse. They go beyond cost savings, increased efficiency, and scalability. The advanced security features and improved business continuity capabilities that vSphere provides greatly contribute to protecting an organization's data and operations. vSphere's ability to adjust according to business requirements maintains availability. Delivery of reliable disaster recovery solutions makes it an invaluable asset for any organization. In essence, vSphere is not merely a virtual environment management tool; it serves as a catalyst for business expansion and technological resilience. Now, as we move forward in our exploration of vSphere, let's delve into the VMware glossary. This will provide you with the essential definitions and terms necessary to navigate the world of vSphere with clarity and confidence.

2.4 VMware Glossary

As you explore the intricacies of VMware and its diverse ecosystem, it becomes essential to acquaint yourself with the terminology that defines and shapes this realm. The vocabulary used by VMware goes beyond jargon; it represents the fundamental concepts and innovative features that position VMware as a leader in virtualization technology.

Having an understanding of these terms is crucial for navigating through the layers of VMware solutions. Each term or naming convention captures a facet of VMware functionality and its practical application in real-world scenarios. Whether its grasping the concept of a hypervisor or delving into the intricacies of vMotion or DRS, this glossary will serve as your guide leading you through the landscape of VMware.

Therefore, this section holds more significance than being a glossary; it acts as an entryway to comprehension. As you familiarize yourself with these terms, you'll notice that the intricate world of VMware starts becoming more accessible and understandable. These terms will resurface throughout this book. Having a grasp of them will enhance your understanding of subsequent chapters.

The following list of VMware terminology, while not exhaustive, covers the most critical concepts that will recur throughout our exploration of VMware and vSphere.

• VMware: This is the company name. Cloud computing and virtualization technology are among the products offered by VMware.

CHAPTER 2 VMWARE AND VSPHERE OVERVIEW

- **VMware vSphere:** vSphere is VMware's Hypervisor, but it also includes vSphere Client, vMotion, vStorage, and HA, as well as vSphere with Tanzu, which vCenter provides.
- VMware ESXi: This is the bare-metal hypervisor server or host from vSphere.
- VMware vSphere Web Client: Manage the essential functions of vSphere remotely from any browser.
- VMware vCenter Server: VMware vCenter enables centralized management of vSphere virtual infrastructure. IT administrators can ensure security and availability, simplify daily tasks, and reduce the complexity of managing vSphere. vCenter manages virtual machines, multiple ESXi hosts, and all dependent components from a single centralized location.
- VMware vCenter Web Client: This is a web interface the enables you to connect to vCenter Server and its resources(ESXi hosts, VMs, etc.) remotely from any browser.
- **vSphere Standard Switch (vSS or vSwitch):** This is a local virtual switch that connects a VM or an ESXi service (such as iSCSI) to the ESXi physical network.
- **vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS):** This is the same as vSS but is shared and accessible through all ESXi hosts. It provides a centralized interface from which you can configure, monitor, and administer all networks in the vCenter. It also provides advanced VMware vSphere networking features.

- **vSphere Cluster:** This is a configuration that combines one or more ESXi hosts to provide CPU, memory, and storage resources to run VMs (or other virtual objects).
- **vSphere vMotion:** This allows live migrations of running virtual machines from one ESXi host to another with zero downtime, continuous service availability, and complete transaction integrity. With vMotion, IT administrators can migrate any VM power-on without downtime.
- **vSphere Storage vMotion (or vStorage):** Similar to vMotion, it allows VMs power-on live migrations from one storage system to another without downtime. It can be a VMFS datastore or an NFS/iSCSI.
- **vSphere High Availability (HA):** HA runs in vCenter at vSphere Cluster and provides high availability to VMs by automatically detecting failures on an ESXi host by migrating/restarting the VM to the next ESXi host available.
- vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS): DRS offers resource management features including load balancing and VM deployment on a cluster of ESXi hosts. Suppose an ESXi host reaches a % resource used (set by the administrator or DRS default). In that case, DRS migrates the VM (or VMs) using vMotion to another host with more resources available to balance workloads.
- VMware vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT): This provides continuous availability for applications (with up to four virtual CPUs) by creating a live shadow instance of a virtual machine that mirrors the primary virtual machine.

CHAPTER 2 VMWARE AND VSPHERE OVERVIEW

- vSphere Virtual Machine File System (VMFS): VMFS is the file system proprietary to VMware. vSphere uses VMFS to create datastores, store VMs, and provide virtual disk resources to a virtual machine.
- **vmkernel:** This networking interface provides network connectivity services for the host and handles VMware vMotion, traffic management, and fault tolerance. vSAN, iSCSI, vMotion, and vStorage use the vmkernel network to work.
- VMware Tools: This is an optional set of drivers and utilities that increase both the VM Guest OS performance and the interaction between the VM Guest OS and ESXi.

2.5 Summary

Having delved into the intricacies of VMware and vSphere, including their roles and features in virtualization, you now possess an understanding of these technologies. With the explanation of the distinction between vSphere and ESXi hosts, supported by the VMware glossary, you have gained insights into the VMware ecosystem.

Moving on from this overview, our focus now shifts to aspects of implementing vSphere: system requirements and licensing. Chapter 3 provides significant details for those preparing to deploy vSphere, as it covers not only hardware and software requirements but also different licensing models. Mastering these elements is essential for implementing a compliant virtualization setup, ensuring that you are well prepared for deploying and operating VMware solutions effectively.

CHAPTER 3

System Requirements and Licensing

In this chapter, we will explore the details of VMware vSphere specifically related to the system requirements and licensing. This chapter is essential for preparing a vSphere deployment because it provides information regarding the hardware and software that you need along with a comprehensive guide to understanding the different licensing options available. It is crucial to grasp these components in order to optimize your environment and ensure compliance with VMware standards. Here we establish the foundation for setting up an effective infrastructure.

3.1 Hardware Requirements

Before we dive into the details of setting up ESXi 7.0, it's important that you understand the hardware requirements that support this virtualization platform. Having the right hardware configuration is crucial for unlocking the potential of ESXi 7.0, ensuring not only compatibility but also optimal performance and reliability. From processor capabilities and memory to networking and storage, each component plays a role in ensuring an efficient virtualized environment. So let's explore the hardware prerequisites for ESXi 7.0, which will lay the foundation for an effective setup.

- ESXi 7.0 requires at least two CPU processors per host.
- ESXi 7.0 requires 64-bit multicore x86 processors. For a comprehensive list of the wide variety of supported processors, visit the VMware Compatibility Guide at https://www.vmware.com/resources/compatibility.
- ESXi 7.0 requires that the NX/XD option be enabled in the BIOS for the CPU.
- ESXi 7.0 requires 8GB of physical RAM, minimum. To operate virtual machines in typical production environments, provide at least 8GB of RAM.
- On x64 CPUs, ESXi requires hardware virtualization (Intel VT-x or AMD RVI) to be enabled to support 64-bit virtual machines.
- ESXi 7.0 requires one or more Gigabit Ethernet controllers or quicker. View the VMware Compatibility Guide for a list of network adapter models supported by VMware.
- ESXi 7.0 requires a launch disk with persistent storage of at least 32GB, such as HDD, SSD, or NVMe. Use only USB, non-USB, and SD flash media devices for ESXi boot bank partitions. A launch device cannot be shared between hosts running ESXi.
- For Serial ATA (SATA), a disk is connected via SAS controllers or on-board SATA controllers that are supported. SATA devices are not considered local but remote. By default, these disks are not used as scratch partitions because they are considered remote.

3.2 Storage Requirements

The choice of storage in ESXi 7.0 plays a pivotal role in the overall performance and reliability of your virtual machines. Adequate storage not only allows for efficient management of data but also ensures smooth operation and scalability. The following are the essential storage prerequisites for ESXi 7.0:

- Use a persistent storage device that is at least 32GB in size for boot devices for the optimal performance of an ESXi 7.0 installation.
- A boot device with a minimum 8GB is required for upgrading to ESXi 7.0.
- At least a 32GB disk is needed when booting from a local drive, SAN, or iSCSI LUN to create system storage volumes, including a boot partition, boot banks, and a VMFS-L-based ESX-OSData volume. The old /scratch partition, the locker partition for VMware Tools, and the core dump destination are now part of the ESX-OSData volume.
- The following are additional settings for an ESXi 7.0 installation's optimal performance:
 - A local disk with a minimum capacity of 128GB for ESX-OSData. The disk store VMFS datastore, an ESX-OSData volume, and the boot partition.
 - A system that can handle at least 128 terabytes of written data (TBW).

- A piece of equipment with a sequential write speed of at least 100 MB/s.
- A RAID 1 mirrored device is advised to offer resilience in the event of device failure.
- Local disk or a NAS/SAN (iSCSI or FC) to install and store your virtual machines.

Note You might read elsewhere that using a USB/SD card is no longer supported to install and run vSphere v7.0 or even v8. That is not 100% true. What is not supported is using a USB/SD card to store the ESX-OSData partition.

This particular partition's I/O read/writes should not be used in a USB/SD card because it cannot handle this amount of I/O. It would be best to move your vSphere installations to persistent storage. So if you are using a USB/SD card, you should have a persistent storage device to store this partition.

Starting with ESXi 7.0 Update 3, the VMware Tools partition is automatically formed on the RAM disk if the boot device is a USB or SD card without any local persistent storage, such as an HDD, SSD, or NVMe device. This could lead to poor performance and potential problems.

Note In the next vSphere version (after vSphere 8), VMware plans to remove the use of USD/SD cards to install vSphere.

3.3 Software Requirements

To start your installation, you only need to download a vSphere 7.0 ISO to fulfill all the software requirements. You need a VMware account to download VMware products. If you don't have one, register and create an account https://customerconnect.vmware.com/home.

First, find vSphere in the VMware products and select the version you want to download (for purposes of following along in this book, select 7.0, as shown in Figure 3-1).

Hame / VMusire vSahere		
Download VMware VSphere Event Verwer. 2 9 - Datinet and Autor 2 0 - Datinet and Autor 2 0 - Datinet Autor 2 0	n maar van de verste van de verste van de verste en onder de gestige fan it e proket binde state to bind uitder et van de van de van de verste de verste de verste Sphere License Key	Робыт Разриев Чина Му Сонстана на плук Почата такатара Сонстветита отрана Сонстанара Барак Алексана Д. Понстанара Как
Protect	Revent Date	
👻 Ensertials		
VMears vSphere Hypervisor (ESX) 7.0c3f	2022 07-12	60 TO DOWNLOADS
VMware vCenter Server 7 OU3g	2022-07-23	60 TO DOWNLANDS
VMware NSX for v5phere 6.4.0	2022-02-08	so to powelawae
VMware NSX 7 Data Center 3.2.1 For vSheld Endpoint	2022-05-17	60 TO DOWNLOADS
VMeans Tools \$21.0	2022 08-28	60 TO DOWALDADE
 Essectials Plus 		

Figure 3-1. Downloading vSphere (step 1 of 6)

Next, select the product type (or license if you have one). For my own installation, I selected to use Enterprise Plus, as shown in Figure 3-2. Then click **Go To Downloads**.



Figure 3-2. Downloading vSphere (step 2 of 6)

After you click Go To Downloads, you should see the Download Product page shown in Figure 3-3 (if you don't have a registered or paid license). As indicated, the Select Version field enables you to download the latest version of vSphere 7 or a previous version.



Figure 3-3. Downloading vSphere (step 3 of 6)

To register for a trial license, click **Download Trial** and then click **Register** in the pop-up window. On the registration page, fill out the remaining data and register (VMware will use your VMware account data to fill in most fields).

After registration, you can download vSphere 7 and have a complete evaluation license for 60 days, as shown in Figure 3-4. Click **Manually Download**.



Figure 3-4. Downloading vSphere (step 4 of 6)

Note Besides the two options shown in Figure 3-4 (full vSphere 7 and vSphere 7 Offline Bundle update), you can also download vCenter with this registration.

The previously described options apply if you have never registered or do not have a vSphere license. If you have a vSphere license or a company VMware account, after you select vSphere 7 Enterprise Plus (as shown in Figure 3-2 for this demonstration), you can access all vSphere suite products to download.



Figure 3-5. Downloading vSphere (step 5 of 6)

Note Chapter 30 explains how to update to the latest version of vSphere. The vSphere 7 installation demonstrated in this chapter is version 7.0U3c, so Chapter 30 will demonstrate how to update to version 7.0U3f.

You might find that a vendor doesn't have a customized ISO for a particular version of vSphere. In that case, you need to use a lower or higher version. For example, HPE only has vSphere 7.0U3d and doesn't have 7.0U3c.

If you have an HPE, Dell, or Lenovo server, use the vendor-customized vSphere 7 version. Click the Custom ISOs tab and select your vSphere 7 hardware vendor ISO, as shown in Figure **3-6**.

roduct Downloads Drivers & Tools Open Source Qustom ISOs	CEM Addons		
Custom ISOs	Release Date		
OEM Customized Installer CDs			
LENOVO Custom Image for ESXI 7.0 U3 Install CD	2022-08-12	GO TO DOWNLOADS	
HPE Custom Image for ESXI 7.0 U3 Install CD	2022-08-09	GO TO DOWNLOADS	
DelEMC Custom image for ESXI 7.0 U3 install CD	2022-08-04	GO TO DOWNLOADS	
HITACHI Vantara Custom Image for ESXI 7.0 U3 Install CD	2022-07-19	GO TO DOWNLOADS	

Figure 3-6. Downloading vSphere (step 6 of 6)

Note The hardware and software requirements presented in this chapter are the minimum for installing vSphere 7.x. Check https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMware-vSphere/7.0/com.vmware.vsphere.vcenterhost.doc/GUID-7AFCC64B-7D94-48A0-86 CF-8E7EF55DF68F.html for the complete requirements to install vSphere.

3.4 Licenses Requirements

Read the article at https://news.vmware.com/company/cpu-pricingmodel-update-feb-2020 for a full explanation of the new license model for vSphere 7.

The following is a quick overview of vSphere license features:

 vSphere Standard: Includes core virtualization features such as vMotion, High Availability (HA), Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS), and vSphere Storage APIs.

It also supports up to 8 virtual CPUs per virtual machine and 64GB of virtual RAM per virtual machine; Fault Tolerance supports 2 virtual CPUs per virtual machine and 4TB of RAM per host.

vSphere Standard is more appropriate for small to medium-sized businesses that require fundamental virtualization capabilities.

• vSphere Enterprise Plus: Contains all the features of vSphere Standard and additional features such as vSphere Distributed Switch (dvSwitch), Host Profiles, Storage DRS, Virtual Machine Encryption, Distributed Power Management (DPM), and Network/Storage I/O Control.

Additionally, Enterprise Plus supports up to 12TB of RAM per host and 128 vCPUs per virtual machine; Fault Tolerance supports 8 virtual CPUs per virtual machine and 6TB of vRAM per virtual machine.

vSphere Enterprise Plus is better adapted for larger organizations that require advanced virtualization features such as network and storage administration, load balancing, and enhanced security.

The vSphere Enterprise license was a part of the vSphere licensing model prior to version 7.0. However, with the release of vSphere 7.0, VMware has simplified the vSphere licensing model and reduced the number of editions to two: vSphere Standard and vSphere Enterprise Plus.

Existing customers with active vSphere Enterprise licenses may still be able to use their licenses and receive support from VMware. However, new customers can no longer purchase vSphere Enterprise licenses directly from VMware. It's important to note that the vSphere licensing model is subject to change, and it's recommended to check with VMware or a certified VMware partner to determine the most up-to-date licensing options and requirements for your environment. Consult the official VMware documentation or contact the VMware sales team for the most up-to-date and accurate details on specific features and licensing.

Visit https://www.vmware.com/content/dam/digitalmarketing/ vmware/en/pdf/products/vsphere/vmw-edition-comparison.pdf to check the complete features included in each license.

- **Evaluation mode license:** This type of license is vSphere Enterprise Plus 60 days (meaning it has all vSphere features included), but if you add a Standard license after 20/30 days, vSphere will show only the features available on the Standard license. If you go back and reuse the evaluation mode license, you can use it for the remaining 60 days that were not used.
- **Upgraded licenses:** With the same license, it is possible to upgrade from 6.x to 6.5, 6.7, etc., but it is not possible to upgrade to a different version that starts with a different number, like vSphere 7. In this case, you need a new license.

Check https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMware-vSphere/7.0/com. vmware.vsphere.vcenterhost.doc/GUID-7AFCC64B-7D94-48A0-86CF-8E7 EF55DF68F.html for more information about vSphere licensing.

Now that you have your license registered and have downloaded the vSphere 7 ISO, you can start installing vSphere 7.

3.5 Summary

This chapter thoroughly discussed the hardware and software requirements and licensing considerations for VMware vSphere. In Chapter 4 we'll focus on deploying a vSphere environment. This involves diving into hardware configuration, preparing and installing vSphere, and exploring nested environments, in detail. You'll receive practical guidance and step-by-step instructions for building a strong and efficient virtual infrastructure.

CHAPTER 4

Deploying a vSphere Environment

Diving into the deployment of a vSphere environment, we begin by focusing on the hardware configuration, ensuring that our physical setup meets the specific needs of vSphere.

4.1 Deployment Considerations

You need to consider various aspects related to deployment when planning to implement a vSphere environment.

Starting the process of setting up a vSphere environment can be quite intricate. It requires planning to ensure success, but the end results are worth it. The process is not simply a matter of completing tasks on a checklist; it involves comprehending how each component fits into your IT infrastructure. This section is designed to assist you in navigating these aspects, the goal being to guarantee that you have an understanding and informed approach when deploying your strategy.

Before we dive into the things to think about, let's first explore why each of these factors is so important for your deployment. Knowing the reasons behind each deployment consideration will not only help you with the implementation but also give you the ability to make flexible decisions as your IT needs change over time.

These are some of the deployment considerations:

- **Scalability:** Evaluate the system's scalability requirements and ensure that the hardware and software can handle the expected increase in load over time. Consider factors such as user growth, data volume, and transaction volume.
- Security measures: Implement robust security measures to protect the system from unauthorized access, data breaches, and other security threats. This may include encryption, access controls, firewalls, intrusion detection systems, and regular security audits.
- **Compatibility and integration:** Ensure seamless integration with existing infrastructure and systems. Consider compatibility with operating systems, databases, network protocols, and other relevant technologies. Conduct thorough compatibility testing to identify and address any potential issues. Make sure that the hardware used is compatible with the vSphere version you are deploying.
- **Performance optimization:** Optimize system performance to ensure efficient and responsive operation. This may involve optimizing virtual machine resources and storage, fine-tuning network configurations, and implementing caching mechanisms.

- **Disaster recovery and business continuity:** Develop and implement a robust disaster recovery plan to minimize downtime and data loss in the event of a system failure or disaster. Consider backup strategies, replication mechanisms, and failover procedures to ensure business continuity.
- User acceptance and training: Involve administrators in the deployment process by gathering feedback. Provide extensive training and support to ensure administrators' comfort and competence with vSphere and its devices and features. Address any usability issues or concerns raised by the users.

During the course of the book, we will discuss several of these factors, and you will learn how to improve and secure your vSphere deployment.

4.2 Hardware Configuration

vSphere installation is possible on various servers, including HP, Dell, Lenovo, and IBM. You can also install vSphere straight on your desktop machine or portable device. To ensure compatibility, it is mandatory to have a CPU with the NX/XD bit enabled in the BIOS and meet the remaining system requirements (as discussed in Chapter 3).

You can start the vSphere install process when the CPU requirements are set and virtualization support is enabled in the BIOS.

Figures 4-1 and 4-2 show two examples of BIOS configuration on a server, and Figure 4-3 shows an example of BIOS configuration on a computer.



Figure 4-1. HPE DL360-G7 example 1



Figure 4-2. HPE DL360-G9 example 2

102505040504050405000	
[Enabled] (A11)	
[Enabled] [Enabled] [Enabled]]
[Enabled] [Enabled]]
	[Enabled] [A11] [Enabled] [Enabled] [Enabled]

Figure 4-3. Desktop/laptop example 1

Depending on the server or computer and BIOS version or brand, the options may differ.

Ethernet controllers could be a problem when using unsupported VMware hardware. Some network cards won't be recognized when you install vSphere. It is best to visit the VMware Compatibility Guide (VCG) at HCL and check if the network card you plan to use is on the supported list.

4.3 Prepare and Install vSphere

To start installing vSphere, you need to mount the ISO in your remote console.

I am using an HPE server, so I will use a vendor-customized vSphere ISO, as explained in Chapter 4.

Note Figure 4-4 is just an example of how to boot vSphere 7 (or another version) ISO in an HPE, so I use the iLO console to upload the ISO image to the virtual CD/DVD and start the installation.

- **IBM/Lenovo:** They use a system called Integrated Management Module (IMM) in some of their servers. For newer models, especially after Lenovo acquired IBM's x86 server line, they use XClarity Controller.
- **Cisco:** Cisco servers, part of the Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS) line, use Cisco Integrated Management Controller (CIMC).
- **Supermicro:** Supermicro servers have a feature called Intelligent Platform Management Interface (IPMI), which is quite common in the industry. It's similar to iLO and iDRAC and allows for remote management tasks.
- **Fujitsu:** Fujitsu servers use integrated Remote Management Controller (iRMC), which is their solution for server management and remote control.



Figure 4-4. Mount ISO in HPE iLO 1

After your ISO is mounted on the server boot, you can boot the server and start the installation. This sequence is shown in Figures 4-5 through 4-19.

After booting with vSphere 7 ISO, vSphere starts loading the ESXi installer, as shown in Figure 4-5. You'll see a screen similar to Figure 4-6 after the installer is loaded successfully.

Loading ESXi installer
Loading /nn1x5_co.v88 Loading /nn1x5_cd.v88 Loading /nvec_pci.v88 Loading /nvectga.v88 Loading /nvectga.v88

Figure 4-5. (Installing vSphere 1 of 19)



Figure 4-6. (Installing vSphere 2 of 19)

You can start selecting and configuring the installation when the loading is finished.

Note To reduce the number of figures depicting this installation process, Figures 4-7 through 4-10 each include more than one screenshot, with numbers designating the order of steps.

Next, press **Enter** to start the installation (step 1 in Figure 4-7) and then press **F11** (step 2) to accept the EULA (mandatory) and continue the installation.



Figure 4-7. (Installing vSphere 3 of 19)

Next, the installation shows you how many local disk devices exist. In this case, it is a local disk with 16GiB, as shown in Figure 4-8 (step 3). Any RAID in your server, USB, or SD flash is displayed here.

You can also check what is inside that disk device (if there is an old vSphere installation or an SSD flash disk/card, the install informs you) by pressing **F1**. But as you can see Figure 4-8 (step 4), it is a new and clean disk, and vSphere is not installed. Press **Enter** to continue the installation.



Figure 4-8. (Installing vSphere 4 of 19)

Next, select your country/language and press **Enter** (see Figure 4-9, step 5). On the next screen (step 6), enter the root password you will use to log in to your ESXi host. The following are the guidelines for ESXi passwords:

- For access via the Direct Console User Interface, the ESXi Shell, SSH, or the VMware Host Client, ESXi imposes password constraints.
- When you construct a password, you are required by default to use a combination of at least three characters from each of the following four character classes: lowercase letters, uppercase letters, digits, and special characters (e.g., underscore or dash).

- The length of the password is typically at least 7 characters and no more than 40 characters.
- Dictionary terms or parts of dictionary words are not permitted in passwords.

Caution Take note of your password. Resetting the ESXi root password is difficult and often demands a new vSphere install.

You can check https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMwarevSphere/7.0/com.vmware.vsphere.security.doc/GUID-DC96FFDB-F5F2-43EC-8C73-05ACDAE6BE43.html for the complete ESXi host password policies and requirements.



Figure 4-9. (Installing vSphere 5 of 19)

After the initial configurations, press **F11** to start the installation of ESXi, as shown in step 7 of Figure 4-10. You will see a progress bar as the installation takes place, as shown in step 8 (the time duration of the install depends on your servers, which disk device you are using, and whether your vSphere ISO takes longer to upload into the server). When the installation is complete, as shown in step 9 of Figure 4-10, you can remove the ISO from any virtual device or boot device and press **Enter** to reboot the server. The screen shown in Figure 4-11 will display.



Figure 4-10. (Installing vSphere 6 of 19)



Figure 4-11. (Installing vSphere 7 of 19)

Now that you have installed your ESXi host, you must do post-install tasks.

After your server reboots, to enter the ESXi host Direct Console User Interface (DCUI), press **F2**, as shown in Figure 4-12.



Figure 4-12. (Installing vSphere 8 of 19)

Note If you have a DHCP server in your network, you already have an IP address for your ESXi host.

ESXi automatically picks up a DHCP IP address if you have connected your physical cables to your network cards.

Next, as shown in Figure 4-13, log in with the root user and the password you created in the earlier installation password step.


Figure 4-13. (Installing vSphere 9 of 19)

Now that you are inside the ESXi DCUI, you can manually configure your network and DNS settings. Select **Configure Management Network**, as shown in Figure 4-14



Figure 4-14. (Installing vSphere 10 of 19)

The first option on the Configure Management Network screen is to configure the network adapters. Select that option to see how many network adapter ports you have, as shown in Figure 4-15. By default, the ESXi host will enable your server's number one network port, which is vmnic0.

In this section, you will not change anything. In Chapter 15, you will add a second network port (in ESXi, this is vmnic1) to the management network for high availability. Press **Esc** to return the main menu.

The next option on the Configure Management Network screen is VLAN (optional). This option enables you to create and configure VLANs for your ESXi host network. But for now, we'll skip VLANs (you will learn about configuring VLANs in Chapter X, which covers ESXi networks).



Figure 4-15. (Installing vSphere 11 of 19)

Next, you will configure a static IP address, DNS, and ESXi hostname, in that order.

Continuing in the Configure Management Network screen, select the option **IPv4 Configuration** and, as shown in Figure 4-16, select the option **Set static IPv4 address and network configuration**.

Add your IP address, subnet mask, and network gateway, and then press **Enter** to accept the values.

Configure Management Network	IPut Configuration
Network Adapters VLAN (optional) IPV-Configuration DMS Configuration DMS Configuration Custom DMS Suffixes	Automatic IPv4 Address: 192.168.1.202 Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0 Default Gateway: 192.168.1.254 This host can obtain an IPv4 address and other networking parameters automatically if your network includes a DHCP server. IF not. ask your network administrator for the appropriate settings.
IPv4 Configuration This host can obtain network sett includes a DHCP server. If it doe specified: C Disable IPv4 configuration for C Dise dynamic IPv4 address and in (o) Set static IPv4 address and in	ings automatically if your network s not, the following settings must be r nanagement network network configuration etwork configuration:
IPv4 Address Subnet Mask Default Gateway (Up/Down> Select (Space> Mark Sel	[192.168.1.82] [255.255.255.0] [192.168.1.254] ected (Enter> 0K (Esc) Cancel
CUp/Down> Select	(Enter> Change (Esc> Exit

Figure 4-16. (Installing vSphere 12 of 19)

Note You can also use static IPv6, but in this case, we leave the IPv6 and use the default DHCP.

Next, select the **DNS Configuration** option. In the DNS Configuration window that opens, add your DNS servers and ESXi hostname, as demonstrated in Figure 4-17.

Note Do not forget to create a DNS record for this IP/hostname in your DNS server. Figure 4-17 shows an example created on a Windows DNS Server.



Figure 4-17. (Installing vSphere 13 of 19)

Although it is not mandatory, you should also add your DNS suffixes (network domain) for a better *query DNS for an IP address* service on your network. To do so, select **Custom DNS Suffixes** on the Configure Management Network screen, as shown in Figure 4-18.



Figure 4-18. (Installing vSphere 14 of 19)

Now that you have all your network settings configured, press **Esc** to exit the Configure Management Network screen. The window shown in Figure 4-19 opens. To save the configuration, press **Y**.

Note No configuration is saved if you do not save your changes.



Figure 4-19. (Installing vSphere 15 of 19)

If all settings were added and saved correctly, you can see the new settings on the right side of the screen shown in Figure 4-20.



Figure 4-20. (Installing vSphere 16 of 19)

The final step is to run the **Test Management Network** option to see if the ESXi host is reachable in the network and if DNS can query your IP/DNS name, as shown in Figure 4-21, which confirms everything is working.



Figure 4-21. (Installing vSphere 17 of 19)

At this point, your ESXi installation is finished and you have completed the post-install tasks. You can now connect to the ESXi host using the vSphere Web Client host.

Press Esc a couple of times to leave the DCUI and log out.

4.3.1 Install vSphere 7 on an Unsupported CPU

Before you continue configuring your ESXi host using the vSphere Web Client host, let me explain what happens if you try installing vSphere 7 on an unsupported CPU.

Since vSphere 7, some legacy CPUs are no longer supported, but you can still install vSphere 7 on it (not recommended for production environments). As explained previously, you can check whether any hardware is supported or unsupported in vSphere in the VMware Compatibility Guide (VCG). You can do this for a CPU or a server model. For example, my HP ProLiant DL360 G7 using Intel Xeon CPU E5620 is no longer supported (although I can still install vSphere 7 without any problem).

Search the VCG by CPU series, and you can find your CPU, in which vSphere versions are supported and which are not.

Figure 4-22 shows an example of the search results I received.

Search Results: Your search	for" Systems / Servers " returned 86 res	ults. Back to Top Turn Off /	uto Scroll			Displa	y 10
Partner Name	Model	CPU Series	Supported I	Releases			
HP	ProLiant BL685c G7	AMD Opteron 61xx Series	ESXI	6.0 U3	6.0 U2	6.0 U1	6.0
HP	ProLiant BL685c G7	AMD Opteron 6200 Series	ESXI	6.0 U3	6.0 U2	6.0 U1	6.0
HP	ProLiant BL685c G7	AMD Opteron 6300 Series	ESXI	6.0 U3	6.0 U2	6.0 U1	6.0
HP	ProLiant DL360 G7	Intel Xeon 56xx Series	ESXI	6.0 U3	6.0 U2	6.0 U1	6.0

Figure 4-22. (Installing vSphere 18 of 19)

Note VMware has a Knowledge Base article about changes in the CPU support. Check https://kb.vmware.com/s/article/82794 for the list of all CPUs.

When installing vSphere in an unsupported CPU, you get the following error (see Figure 4-23): *CPU_SUPPORT_WARNING: The CPU in this host is not supported by ESXi 7.0.3. Please refer to the VMware Compatibility Guide (VCG) for the list of supported CPUs.*

You must add a parameter to the vSphere boot install to bypass this error. Boot the server with the ISO when the vSphere 7.0 boot starts (yellow screen), press **Shift-O** to open boot parameters, and add the parameter AllowLegacyCPU=True.



Figure 4-23. (Installing vSphere 19 of 19)

Note This procedure will not work for all CPUs (if they are very old) and works for the most recent ones that are not supported anymore with vSphere 7.

Tip I have written a detailed blog post about this subject, available at https://www.provirtualzone.com/install-vsphere-7-in-a-non-supported-hp-dl360-g7.

4.3.2 Connect to the vSphere Web Client Host

Now that you have installed and configured vSphere 7, open a browser and add ESXi host IP/FQDN.

Enter your username and root password and click **Log in**, as shown in Figure 4-24. You now should see a vSphere Web Client screen similar to 4-25, displaying all the resources and settings in your new ESXi host.



Figure 4-24. (vSphere Web Client 1 of 2)

Tener Tener Tener Control	nem Standardsverf () () for som () () () () () () () () () () () () ()		b			Province Annotation Annotation Annotation Annotation Annotation Annotation	Hill String G Barrier String Hill String Barrier String Barrier String Hill St
Ander A	Standardshalar VI - Da tanan Santan Kara I. Santan Santa		þ			Provide strengthere	Hall the second
O The proceedings	na 132 na sedandana mata. Tan karaw wili awata 'a tili fawa		5				
- Redeen Reviewe							
Hardetre				To allow the second			
	Where he is			Programmer and the	COLUMN TOPO OF STREET, SALAR STREET, SALAR		
March 1	vincani 1			states and the	talentiped		
- B (P)	4 (PA credit local) (PLISHEAR) 1400			A statement	Later Barrel		
M Tartet)				a female strength			
- L courtes	CT web Citizente			Condense and the	Instrumentary in party in party of		
- EL Verbauriury				milding.	Tables Associate and the state of the		
reducts	Variau 200 d'Universitations (48			Antolina	the factor flag		
P'attrates.	1 4/48 102 103 1 82			Tanket Section	WHEN AT 11 KI 10 28 MI CO.40 12 JK KI IT M	28.09.08	
10000000000	E while their test statistical and states and a state of the			1012-0108	V89/100100/01/14/04/2104/01/08		
				INCO MILLION AND	Prepay, Lans. 20, 2017. ADVID 101-02010		
	2.162.062.0			a Polyment sender at her			
C Recent Sector							
760	< 500 ·	- NUM	- Gene	- 369	- Inita		- Droker
as and the second	State 4014 constructed		10.00.00.00.00.00.00.00	-	C loga	ad assessibly	and the state of the st

Figure 4-25. (vSphere Web Client 2 of 2)

4.4 What Is a Virtual Nested Environment?

A Virtual VMware nested environment refers to the setup of running virtual machines within another virtual machine, which is hosted on a physical server or computer. This nested environment creates a virtualized infrastructure within an existing virtualized environment.

In the context of VMware, a nested environment typically involves running VMware hypervisors, such as ESXi, as VMs within another VMware hypervisor. This allows the installation of multiple virtual ESXi hosts, which can host additional VMs. Essentially, it's virtualization inception, where virtualization is nested within virtualization.

Nested environments are commonly used for testing, learning, and development purposes. They provide a way to simulate complex VMware setups, experiment with different configurations, and test software compatibility without needing multiple physical servers.

Enabling Virtualization within Virtualization:

The capacity to operate multiple virtualization layers is made possible by nested virtualization, which enables the development of virtual machines inside existing virtual machines. This is especially helpful when testing or running many hypervisors or virtualization platforms on a single host environment. It does away with the requirement for separate physical hardware and offers a practical method for conducting virtualization testing and research.

Nested virtualization can be use for several type of work, in development, testing, resource management and education. Lets explore each of these areas to understand why it is helpful to use such environments.

- Development and testing environments: Nested virtualization provides a reliable and efficient way to create isolated development and testing environments. Developers and testers can create VMs with different configurations, operating systems, and software stacks without needing dedicated physical machines. This accelerates software development cycles, promotes collaboration, and reduces infrastructure costs. Nested virtualization also enables the creation of complex network topologies and simulations, allowing thorough testing of network-based applications.
- **Resource utilization optimization:** By leveraging nested virtualization, organizations can maximize resource utilization on their existing infrastructure. Instead of dedicating separate physical servers for

each workload or application, virtual machines can be nested within a single host, efficiently utilizing the available computing resources. This consolidation reduces hardware costs, simplifies management, and improves scalability. Nested virtualization also facilitates migrating legacy applications or environments into virtualized platforms, minimizing disruption and ensuring compatibility.

• **Training and education:** Nested virtualization is a valuable tool for training and educational purposes. It enables students and IT workers to create virtual lab settings to try different virtualization configurations, scenarios, and use cases. It provides a safe, isolated environment for learning, experimentation, and skill development.

Nested virtualization also supports the creation of training environments that simulate real-world production setups, enhancing the effectiveness of training programs.

4.5 Configure a Nested Environment

In this book, I show you how to set up and build a nested virtualization environment that you can use for testing or learning. A nested virtualization environment is a virtual machine that runs inside another virtual machine. This allows you to create a virtual lab with multiple ESXi hosts and vCenter servers, even if you only have one physical server or laptop.

There are several benefits to using nested virtualization for testing and learning. First, it is a cost-effective way to create a virtual lab. You can use the same physical server or laptop to create multiple virtual machines running a different operating system or application. Second, nested virtualization is easy to set up and manage. You can use the same tools and procedures that you would use to manage a physical environment. Third,

nested virtualization allows you to test and learn the concepts of VMware vSphere without impacting a production environment. This is important because vSphere is a complex platform that can be difficult to learn without hands-on experience.

Here are some specific examples of what you can do with a nested virtualization environment:

- Create a cluster of ESXi hosts
- Deploy vCenter Server
- Configure vSAN
- Implement HA and DRS
- Test different operating systems and applications

Nested virtualization is a valuable tool for VMware professionals of all levels. It is a great way to learn the concepts of vSphere, test new features, and develop your skills.

Note Nested virtualization environments are not designed for production use. They are intended for testing and learning only. If you need to create a production-ready environment, you should use physical servers.

4.5.1 Create the Nested Environment

For purposes of this demonstration, assume the VM "server" for our nested environment installation has the following resources:

- 4x vCPU
- 24GB memory
- 16GB local disk (for ESXi install)

Regarding the network, we will try to simulate the following physical implementations:

- Six virtual network adapter vNICs: VMXNET3 (since our physical host for this example has eight physical network cards, we can use six vNICs in this nested environment, but you can do this with only two vNICs).
 - Two vNICs for the management network (192.168.1.x)
 - Two vNICs for the NFS/iSCSI network (192.168.10.x) and vMotion network (192.168.0.x)
 - Two vNICs for the virtual machines network

Note The IP subnets used here are just for this example. You can use different IP subnets. You can use subnets, and all can be routed, or you can use VLANs for each subnet. We only use routing for now. Later on, you will learn how to use VLANs.

4.5.2 Create a VM for Nested ESXi

Figure 4-26 identifies the steps to follow to begin creating a new VM. As the figure shows, the first step of the wizard is to select a creation type. Select **Create a new virtual machine** and then click **Next**.

Construction C	vmware' esxi"				
Control forces Control	Tr Navigator	DL360 E SX002.vmwarehome.lab - Virtual Machines			
Worker Image: Market Mochanie Image: Mochanie Image: Market Mochanie Image: Market Mochanie Image: Market M	✓ ☐ Host Manage	2 Create / Register VM B ² Console > Power on	Power of II Duspend CRefresh OA	idions	
Operation State Constraints State State State Sta	Monitor	Utual machine	😁 State	😕 Status 😐 Used space	~
	Differences	State B Windo BORDate SDR B Windo BORDate SDR S Windo BORDate SDR B Windo BORDate SDR S Windo BORDate SDR Court Mars. S windo BORDate SDR	Annu Service Contraction hype Service Contraction hype Annu Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Service Servic	7 30 30	

Figure 4-26. Creating a new virtual machine

When you are creating a VM for the nested vSphere 7, you need to expose the CPU virtualization to the vCPU VM guest OS (in this case, to vSphere). In the second step of the wizard, *Select a name and guest OS*, change the field *Guest OS family* to **Other** and the field *Guest OS version* to **VMware ESXi 7.0 or later**, as shown in the Figure 4-27. Click **Next**.

1 Select creation type 2 Select a name and guest OS 3 Select storage	Select a name and guest OS Specify a unique name and OS					
4 Customize settings	Name					
5 Ready to complete	Vembu BDRSuite-ESXI-01	Vembu BDRSuite-ESXi-01				
	Virtual machine names can con Identifying the guest operating s installation.	tain up to 80 characters and they must be unique within each E system here allows the wizard to provide the appropriate default	SXI instance. Is for the operating system			
	Compatibility	ESXI 7.0 U2 virtual machine	~			
	Guest OS family	Other	~			
	Guest OS version	VMware ESXi 7.0 or later	<u>_</u>			
vm ware [,]	Vilware doe see this KB	s not support running nested ESX//ESX servers in production e article for more details.	nvironments. Please			

Figure 4-27. (VM Settings 1 of 2)

This Figure VM Settings 1 is when you create a virtual machine.

Next, after the VM is created, click **Edit settings**, as shown on the left in Figure 4-28. On the *Edit settings* screen, click the **vCPU** drop-down arrow and check the options **Expose hardware assisted virtualization to the guest OS** and **Expose IOMMU to the guest OS**, as shown on the right in Figure 4-28.

	🙃 Edit settings - Vembu BDR Suite-I	-ESXI-01 (ESXI 7.0 U2 virtual machine)
	Virtual Hardware VM Options	
Wembu BORSuite-ESXI-01	Add hard disk IN Add netwo	work adapter 🛛 📃 Add other device
Dower >	2 - 🖬 CPU	
To Guest OS		
Snapshots >	Cores per Socket	1 v Sockets: 4
Console >	CPU Hot Plug	Enable CPU Hol Add
🖓 Autostart 🔋	Receivation	
👸 Upgrade VM Compatibility		Rens V MPC V
Ca Export	Limit	Unlimited v MHz v
Export With Images	Shares	Normal 41 1000 w
🚓 Editsettings	3	
& Permissions	Hardware virtualization	Expose hardware assisted vehalization to the guest OS ()
🕞 Edit notes	LOWING	Expose IOMMU to the guest OS
Rename		
C Answer que state	Performance counters	Enable virtualized CPU performance counters
🙃 Unregister	Scheduling Attinity	Hyperthreading Status: Adive
Delete		Available CPUs: 55 (Logical CPUs)
Help		0.2,47
Cpen in a new window	> 🛲 Memory	24 CB ~
	+ 🖾 Hard disk 1	32 08 ~ 0
	Hard disk 2	
		4
		Carre Carre

Figure 4-28. (VM Settings 2 of 2)

Although this book does not discuss VMware Workstation, I will quickly show you how to do this in VMware Workstation 16 for your nested vSphere 7.

When creating the VM for the nested vSphere, set the *Guest operating system* option to **Other** and the *Version* field to **VMware ESXi 7 and later**. See Figure 4-29.

New Virtual Machine Wizard	×				
Select a Guest Operating System Which operating system will be installed on this virtual machine?					
Guest operating system O Microsoft Windows O Linux					
VMware ESX Other					
VMware ESXi 7 and later	~				
Help < Back Next	> Cancel				

Figure 4-29. (VM Settings - VMware Workstation 1 of 2)

Next, after the VM is created, go to the VM, click **Edit virtual machine settings**, select **Processors**, and check the vCPU option **Virtualize Intel VT-x/EPT or AMD-V/RVI**. See Figure 4-30.



Figure 4-30. (VM Settings - VMware Workstation 2 of 2)

Note My article at https://www.provirtualzone.com/ nested-vmware-vsan-6-6-environment/ explains how to plan and create nested vSphere step by step. The article is for the vSphere 6.5 version, but the process is the same for vSphere 7.0. The GUI could be slightly different, but the options are the same.

After enabling virtualization in the VM (on a vSphere or VMware Workstation), you need to mount your ISO in the VM to run the installation in a nested environment. To learn how to mount the ISO in your VM for nested ESXi, consult Chapter 7. **Note** For our nested environment, after we create one nested VM for ESXi and install it, we will create two more VMs to have a complete vSphere cluster (to be discussed in the following chapters).

This book teaches you how to use VMware vSphere, a virtualization platform that allows you to run multiple operating systems on a single physical machine. However, not everyone has a home lab or a production/ test environment to practice what they learn in the book. That's where nested vSphere comes in.

Nested vSphere is a way to run a vSphere environment inside another vSphere environment. This allows you to create a virtual lab to test and learn the concepts in the book without purchasing any additional hardware.

To build a nested vSphere environment, you will need a physical machine with enough resources to run a vSphere host and a few virtual machines. Once you have the necessary hardware, you can follow the instructions in the book to create your virtual lab.

With a nested vSphere environment, you can practice all the tasks you learn in the book, such as creating and managing virtual machines, configuring networks, and deploying applications. This will give you the skills and experience you need to use vSphere in a production environment.

Here are some specific benefits of using nested vSphere for learning:

- It is a cost-effective way to create a virtual lab.
- It is easy to set up and manage.
- It allows you to test and learn the concepts in the book without worrying about impacting a production environment.
- It gives you the flexibility to experiment with different configurations and settings.

If you want to learn how to use VMware vSphere, I recommend building a nested vSphere environment. It is a great way to get started with vSphere and learn the concepts in this book.

4.6 Summary

In this chapter you installed vSphere and now have an IP, DNS, hostname, etc. In the next chapter, you will learn how to configure the virtual networks.

CHAPTER 5

vSphere Networking

The initial network configurations covered in Chapter 4 were only to access the ESXi host. We now need a network for our virtual machines, storage, and so forth. This chapter discusses vSphere networking and demonstrates how it works in ESXi.

5.1 vSphere Virtual Network

In Figure 5-1 we see a physical and a virtual network Architecture and as you will learn in this book, they work differently.



Figure 5-1. This is a physical and virtual network architecture (Image source: @VMware)

The following are the main components of vSphere networking:

- Virtual switch (vSwitch): A virtual switch is a softwarebased networking component that connects virtual machines (VMs) and the physical network. It acts as a bridge between VMs and the physical network, enabling communication.
- **Physical network adapters:** These are the physical network interface cards (NICs) installed in the ESXi host. These adapters provide connectivity between the ESXi host and the external physical network infrastructure.
- Virtual network adapters: These are virtual NICs (vNICs) associated with VMs. Each VM can have one or more vNICs connected to virtual switches. The vNICs emulate the behavior of physical NICs and provide network connectivity to VMs.
- **Port groups:** Port groups are logical groupings of ports on a virtual switch. They define the network configuration and policies for VMs connected to them. Port groups can have specific VLAN tagging, traffic shaping, security settings, and other network policies.

I will first show you how to view your virtual networks, port groups, and network interfaces and then explain how they work.

Open a browser, connect to the VMware Host Client using IP or a fully qualified domain name (FQDN), and enter the root and password in the installation. Figure 5-2 shows see the dashboard and an informational message about your trial license (we talk about changing licenses in Chapter 3).



Figure 5-2. (Virtual Networking 1 of 10)

The first step is to check your network configurations. As shown in Figure 5-2, click **Networking** in the Navigator panel. The first tab displayed by default is *Port groups*, which shows a list of your port groups.

5.2 What Are Port Groups?

A *port group* is a group of virtual ports on your virtual switch. Each port group has a specific network label, which must be unique to the host.

To better understand, we will call sub-networks (they are not, but to make it simple to understand) on a virtual switch.

Each of these port groups has an uplink (network interface) attached that belongs to the physical server. When installing an ESXi host, by default, it creates one Management port group and one VMs port group.

The Management port group is the network that manages the ESXi host network. For example, we used when we created the IP Address, Gateway, and DNS in the ESXi post-install.

The VMs port group is the network that was created to provide a network to VM Guest OS.

Figure 5-3 shows the networks that are created by default when you install vSphere.



Figure 5-3. (Virtual Networking 2 of 10)

Next, click the **Virtual switches** tab, shown in the Figure 5-4, to see the virtual switches in the ESXi host. By default, the ESXi installation creates one vSwitch called vSwitch0 (the name is created by default, but you can create any virtual switch with a different name). As you can see, two port groups exist in the virtual machine (the port groups listed in Figure 5-3). All port groups in the same virtual switch share the existing uplinks (network interfaces).



Figure 5-4. (Virtual Networking 3 of 10)

Next, click the **Physical NICs** tab, shown in Figure 5-5, to see the network interfaces that exist in this ESXi host. These are the actual physical network ports. It can be a physical card with four ports, or two network cards with two ports each. Each network port is called vmnicx, with x being the port number on your physical network card. This is similar to the numbering in Linux with eth0, eth1, eth2, etc.

ripelas Virtue Internet Mile	Mitane NCs 10PP atobs Fitted visit				
Automation Cherry Dama					(4) (+++)
News	- Oker	- WG all the	- Advergelight	- Los sport	
and showing a	mi scenario)	Q0 10/54 30 pr 40	Dateme	SCIDIO Million And Augustan	
MB should	General Barter	00 80 5H BH 24 7F	Dooley	KURDE Mittages, faul chaptern	
MB (MMC)	Minmed)	00.5038.01.01.0	Crossed	\$1000 Mitput, fail markey	
Real and American State	(Berneral)	09.50/36 With #	Distilled	W1000 Milana, fail classifies	
					4

Figure 5-5. (Virtual Networking 4 of 10)

Figure 5-6 depicts an example of the initial network configuration.



Figure 5-6. (Virtual Networking 5 of 10)

As shown in the figure, the ESXi host has four physical network cards, and only one (vmnic0, with the red arrow) was added to the virtual switch (vSwitch0). This means the virtual switch has only one uplink. Both port groups use the same physical connection, but in the virtual switch, traffic is separated by the port groups and uplink on each one. This is the standard default ESXi configuration after installation.

5.3 What Is a VMkernel?

As shown in Figure 5-6, the Management port group has VMkernel for the ESXi connection. VMkernel is where we have IP, subnet mask, and gateway. VMkernel is a POSIX (Portable Operating System Interface) that runs directly on the ESXi host and is used to connect the hypervisor (which could be a service) to the outside world. Simply put, VMkernel is a network point of contact from outside networks and works as a destination or source for the network.

The following are examples of services and network traffic that need a VMkernel:

- Management traffic
- vMotion traffic
- iSCSI Storage traffic
- NFS Storage traffic
- vSAN traffic
- vSphere Replication traffic
- vSphere Fault Tolerance traffic

All the above to be configured needs an IP address, subnet mask, and gateway. You should use the ESXi host default gateway for all VMkernel ports. Only in exceptional cases should you manually change the gateway.

From vCenter, we will configure more advanced networks and use Standard Switches and vSphere Distributed Switch (only available in vCenter).

Note Before we start configuring the networking, we'll configure only the most basic settings to be able to make the ESXi host

network and the Virtual Machines network available. I will show more advanced networking using separate virtual switches when we install vCenter in Chapter 8.

5.4 vSphere Network Redundancy

Since we are using only one network card for this demonstration, for redundancy purposes, let's add a second network card from the ESXi host to our vSwitch and port groups.

As shown in Figure 5-7, click **Networking**, then click the **Virtual switches** tab, and click the virtual switch you want to configure. In our case, it is **vSwitch0**.



Figure 5-7. (Virtual Networking 6 of 10)

As shown in Figure 5-8, we have only one vmnic and need to add another. Click **Add uplink** and select a new uplink. Since we have four network cards, select **vmnic1** and click **Save**.



Figure 5-8. (Virtual Networking 7 of 10)

Now we have two uplinks in this virtual switch, and both are connected to the two port groups, as shown in Figure 5-9.



Figure 5-9. (Virtual Networking 8 of 10)

Why do we need two uplinks (don't forget that *uplinks* always refers to a physical network adapter) in our Management network? Because if one uplink is down (a cable problem, switch port issue, or a hardware problem with the network adapter), we will lose the connection to the ESXi host. Having two uplinks is not mandatory, but it is always good to use two for redundancy.

Because of redundancy, every VMkernel should have a minimum of two uplinks. As you will learn.

Now that we have our Management and VMs networks with two uplinks, we need to set the NIC teaming by setting the load balancing policy and failover order to work in case one uplink fails and the other uplink takes over. This can be done using the options shown in Figure 5-10.

INDIC ESX	and the second second second						sugnition in a mark of the second
Annania .	Co reader						and the second
Nort Scrap Solar Vitarilladari Scrap	Antitude Vinterio Vinterio Vinterio Vinterio Vinterio Vinterio	Changes antilings at VEalth lived					Charges settings at Portgroup level
e clastel	- clastic lanato				* s Saak, b legalegy	-	
Bern Samerica.	20	No. Contraction			Q defaulteret	11	In Punta stights
	in theme	Land Case Street, Street City			1.46(2)-1		an event, Secondaria
	Marcari Ma	1.Tutel			B Departmenter		Care at react week and a
	and others	1			V.40(1) 1	10	
	Contractory and				a stitute of calls of		
	1. Million Contract of Contract	70					
	Pally	Reduction of an analysis of the	/ Interfaces Respond	forheast.		-	
	Road Lagran	10			/		
	Taltas	140	-the last	Responsible			
	+ brooth water		9.61.0	(* 11)			
	Hirs statuted wate	Re .					
	Must begin instruction	-	1166 6765				
	Noci61 diagon	An .	+ Decisity	Ontri spart			
	- Instruction		- attains				
	Taxter		LowTenens	Con loads (below with			
			Antiacia latara dell'Ibri	Law rights and			
			Acid patrice.	One One Departmentaria	Mark on Latin		
			College	On On Burning and	standby or unused		
	Constant						
				0 m 0 m			
			7400 MM		And Annual Control Con		
			+ Ealtraining	(hat a speed			
					I for I down I		

Figure 5-10. (Virtual Networking 9 of 10)

On a virtual switch, you may set several load-balancing algorithms to control how network traffic is split across a team's physical NICs. The following options are available in the *Load balancing* drop-down list shown in Figure 5-10:

- Route Based on Originating Virtual Port: Uplinks are selected by the virtual switch based on the virtual machine port IDs on the vSphere Standard Switch or vSphere Distributed Switch.
- Route Based on Source MAC Hash: The virtual switch chooses an uplink for a virtual machine depending on its MAC address. The virtual switch utilizes the virtual machine's MAC address and the number of uplinks in the NIC team to determine an uplink for a virtual machine.
- Route Based on IP Hash: The virtual switch selects uplinks for virtual machines based on each packet's source and destination IP address. It is similar to link aggregation and LACP on physical switches.

- Route Based on Physical NIC Load: This option is only available in vCenter. The routing process is determined based on the physical NIC. The load is determined by the Route Based on Originating Virtual Port mechanism, in which the virtual Switch assesses the current load on the uplinks and implements measures to alleviate excessive load on overloaded uplinks. This feature is only available with the vSphere Distributed Switch.
- Use Explicit Failover Order: This policy does not support genuine load balancing. The virtual switch always utilizes the uplink that is at the top of the list of Active adapters in the failover order and meets the failover detection criteria. If no uplinks are available in the Active list, the virtual switch utilizes uplinks from the Standby list.

Note Check the VMware page https://docs.vmware.com/en/ VMware-vSphere/7.0/com.vmware.vsphere.networking. doc/GUID-959E1CFE-2AE4-4A67-B4D4-2D2E13765715.html for more information about load balancing algorithms.

Failover order is also set using the options shown in Figure 5-10.

- Active, Active (both are always active, and there is always one connected in case of a failure)
- Active, Standby (only one if connected while the second only takes over if the first one fails)

Virtual switch settings can be set at the vSwitch level or port group level. If set at the vSwitch level and not changed in the port group level, port groups inherit settings from the vSwitch. If you change settings in the port group, it ignores the settings from the vSwitch and assumes the port group settings.

For the VMs network, set the *Load balancing* drop-down list field to **Route Based on Physical NIC Load** and set the *Failover order* options to **Active, Active.**

For Virtual Machines, Storage, vMotion, etc., it is essential to set a good load balancing policy to balance traffic between the vmnics.

In the Management port group, we don't need to set a special policy, so set the *Load balancing* field to **Use Explicit Failover Order** and set the *Failover order* options to **Active**, **Active**, as shown in Figure 5-10. Leave the rest of the settings to inherit from the vSwitch.

We can add multiple vmnics and distribute them to the port groups but link specific vmnics to specific port groups. We can also set a vmnic as unused. Then the vmnic will not be used in this port group or vSwitch.

We will discuss these settings and policies in more detail when we have a vCenter.

After the changes discussed in this section, our design shown earlier in Figure 5-6 has been updated to the design shown in Figure 5-11.





We have Management port group with Active/Active and the VM portgroup with load-balancing traffic.

When configuring the networking in your ESXi host, all traffic should be separated, which means a physical adapter for each traffic (like management nework, VMs network, storage network).

The following is an example of an ideal configuration:

- Two network adapters for Management Network
- Two network adapters for Storage and vMotion
- 2x network adapter for Virtual Machines network

This configuration often is impossible in production because not all servers have six network ports or more. But, for example, we shouldn't mix the Storage with the Virtual Machines network, which means using the same physical network cards.

The VMs network uses considerable traffic and vMotion or Storage. Unless you have three or four network cards with 10GB set to load balance or 25GB connections, you could have traffic congestion in vMotion and Storage networks. With high latency and possible timeouts.

For vMotion and Storage, connections should always be a minimum of 10GB. So for your production, VMware Infrastructure, always take the time to create a proper network configuration.

5.5 Summary

In the previous sections we discus the basics of virtualization discussing its benefits, different types and the key role played by hypervisors. Our exploration then moved on to an examination of VMwares ecosystem emphasizing the features and advantages of vSphere. We also covered aspects, like system requirements licensing details and how to deploy vSphere effectively. Additionally we explored vSphere networking by looking at setting up networks, port groups VMkernel operations and the significance of network redundancy.

Looking ahead our attention now turns to vSphere Datastores. Here we will explore their function in VMware infrastructure management ways to handle storage resources effectively and strategies, for enhancing storage performance and capacity to meet the needs of virtualized environments.

CHAPTER 6

vSphere Datastores

In this chapter, we will discuss vSphere Datastore. As was the case in the discussion of vSphere networking in Chapter 5, we will discuss only the basics from an ESXi host perspective. We will discuss more advanced networking and Datastore after installing vCenter in Chapter 8.

6.1 vSphere System Boot Device Partitions

Between vSphere 6.x and 7.x, VMware changed the partitions layout, as shown in Figure 6-1. The partitions are stored in the device on which we install our ESXi host. As explained in Chapter 3, it can be on a SD/USB card (but as also discussed previously, it will be unsupported after vSphere 8x) or a local disk.


Figure 6-1. (vSphere Datastores 1 of 9) (Image source: VMware)

VMware changed the partition layout to be more flexible and to support other VMware and third-party solutions.

Boot bank partitions now are bigger, consolidate the system partitions, and are expandable. They provide more flexibility to manage our vSphere boot device partitions.

The following list provides a quick overview of each boot device partition in vSphere 7.x:

- **System boot:** Stores boot loader and EFI modules. File system type is FAT16.
- **Boot-bank 0:** System space to store ESXi boot modules. File system type is FAT16.
- **Boot-bank 1:** System space to store ESXi boot modules. File system type is FAT16.
- **ESX-OSData:** Acts as the unified location to store additional modules. File system type is VMFS-L.

VMS-L is a new partition created to consolidate the /scratch partition, locker partition for VMware Tools, and core dump destinations. The size of your ESX-OSData partition will always depend on your device size. It can be created up to 138GB in size.

Note As discussed in Chapter 3, ESX-OSData has a lot of I/O requests (for example, logs, VMFS global traces, vSAN Entry Persistence Daemon [EPD] data, vSAN traces, and real-time databases). This is the only partition that you should not use on SD/USB cards.

You should always create ESX-OSData partitions on a persistent storage device (such as local disks) that are not shared between ESXi hosts.

System boot and Boot-bank partitions should be the ones that are created and running on the SD/USB cards.

During vSphere install, and after all partitions are created, the remaining space of your device (if it is local disks or another persistence device) can be used to create a Datastore to store virtual machines.

6.2 ESXi 7.0 System Storage Links

The subsystems that require access to the ESXi partitions obtain such access through the utilization of symbolic links as follows:

ESXi 7.0 system storage symbolic links.

- Boot-bank 0: /bootbank
- Boot-bank 1: /altbootbank

Persistent data

- /productLocker
- /locker
- /var/core
- /usr/lib/vmware/isoimages
- /usr/lib/vmware/floppies

Nonpersistent data

- /var/run
- /var/log
- /var/vmware
- /var/tmp
- /scratch

Note All system storage inside *Persistent data* and *Nonpersistent data* belong to the ESX-OSData. And those are the ones that should not be running on your SD/USB card but instead on a persistent storage device.

Figure 6-2 provides a quick view of our vSphere installation.



Figure 6-2. (vSphere Datastores 2 of 9)

After this quick review of ESXi partitions, we can create our first Datastore (to store virtual machines) in vSphere.

6.3 What Is a vSphere Datastore?

In vSphere, a Datastore storage container stores virtual machine files, templates, ISO images, and other data types. It is a centralized storage resource for the ESXi hosts within a vSphere environment. Datastores provide the necessary disk space to store virtual machine disks and files.

Here are some key points about vSphere Datastores:

• **Storage types:** Datastores can be created on various storage types, including local storage within the ESXi host (such as local disks or RAID arrays) or shared storage systems (such as SAN, NAS, or virtual SAN).

• VMFS and NFS: vSphere supports two primary types of Datastores: VMFS (Virtual Machine File System) and NFS (Network File System). VMFS is a clustered file system specifically designed for virtualization, while NFS is a standard file system protocol used for networkattached storage.

Note We will discuss the type of Storage when we add Storage to our ESXi host.

Datastores play a crucial role in vSphere environments by providing a centralized storage location for virtual machine files, ensuring efficient storage utilization, and enabling advanced features like vMotion and High Availability. Administrators can effectively manage and allocate storage resources by utilizing Datastores within their vSphere infrastructure.

6.4 How to Create a Datastore

First, we check the free storage devices in our vSphere to create a Datastore.

Log in with your root account to the vSphere host web client, select **Storage** in the Navigator panel, and then click the **Devices** tab, as shown in Figure 6-3. Three devices are listed. The first is a CD-ROM device, the second is a local disk with 120GB size, and the third is the 32GB local disk on which ESXi is installed.



Figure 6-3. (vSphere Datastores 3 of 9)

Note What you see in your vSphere always depends on the disk devices that you are using in your ESXi host. Figure 6-3 shows my nested VM in which I added an extra disk with 120GB.

To confirm that your 32GB storage device is the ESXi installation storage, click the device to see detailed information about the device. As shown in Figure 6-4, we have ESXi partitions here, so we should not touch this device.



Figure 6-4. (vSphere Datastores 4 of 9)

So we will use the local disk device with 120GB. Again, you can click and check if it is empty. After you are sure there are no partitions, you can continue.

Continuing on the Devices tab, click **New datastore** and give the datastore a name. See Figure 6-5. Click **Next**.



Figure 6-5. (vSphere Datastores 5 of 9)

Note The name needs to be unique so that adding this host to a vCenter doesn't conflict with other ESXi hosts' Datastores names. For purpose of this demonstration, name it **local-datastore-01**.

Next, select the device on which you want to create this new Datastore. In our case it is the 120GB disk, as shown in Figure 6-6. Click **Next**.

1 Datastore name	Select device							
2 Select device 3 Select partitioning options	Select a device on which to create a new VMFS partition	on						
4 Ready to complete	The following devices are unclaimed and can be use	d to cre	ate a new \	MFS d	atastore			
	Name	~	Туре	~	Capacity	~	Free space	~
	Local VMware Disk (mpx.vmhba0:C0:T1:L0)		Disk		120 GB		120 GB	
							1	items

Figure 6-6. (vSphere Datastores 6 of 9)

Select **Use full disk**, as shown in Figure 6-7, and click **Next**.

1 New datastore - local-datastore-0	и	
 1 Datastore name 2 Select device 3 Select partitioning options 	Select partitioning options Select how you would like to partition the device	
4 Ready to complete	Use full disk ~ VMFS 6	×
	Before, select a partition	After
	Free space (120 GB)	1. VMFS (120 GB)
vm ware [.]		
		Back Next Finish Cancel

Figure 6-7. (vSphere Datastores 7 of 7)

On the *Ready to complete* screen, shown in Figure 6-8, double-check the information. If all is good, click **Finish**.

New datastore - local datastore 01		
 1 Datastore name 2 Select device 3 Select partitioning options 	Ready to complete	
4 Ready to complete	Name	local-datastore-01
	Disk	Local VMware Disk (mpx.vmhba0:C0:T1:L0)
	Partitioning	Use full disk
	VMFS version	6
		Warning The entire contents of this disk are about to be erased and replaced with the specified configuration, are you sure?
		Yes No
vm ware [.]		
		Back Nert Finish Cancel

Figure 6-8. (vSphere Datastores 8 of 9)

Note All data or partitions present in this disk will be deleted. So before clicking **Finish** to create a Datastore, always double-check that all the information is correct. When administrators select the wrong disk or storage device, many disasters happen.

Now you have your first Datastore in your vSphere. To view your newly created Datastore, select **Storage** in the Navigator panel and then click the **Datastores** tab. Click the Datastore name, and you see all the system information (size, free space, UUID, and location) about this Datastore, as shown in Figure 6-9.



Figure 6-9. (vSphere Datastores 9 of 9)

6.5 Summary

In this chapter we explore vSphere Datastores starting with a look, at system boot device partitions and the complexities of ESXi system storage connections. A significant part was focused on grasping the significance of vSphere Datastores and highlighting their role in the VMware infrastructure. We also guided you through the steps of creating a Datastore equipping you with the know how to handle storage resources in your environments.

With an understanding of managing Datastores you are now ready to move on to the stage; developing and overseeing virtual machines (VMs). This involves digging into VM files understanding hardware (vHW) utilizing VMware tools for improved performance and features and following a detailed process for setting up a VM. This knowledge is essential, for optimizing your setup ensuring deployment and management of VMs.

CHAPTER 7

Virtual Machines

In this chapter, you'll learn how to create virtual machines and store them on the Datastores that you created Chapter 6.

This is the last chapter in which the ESXi host is used and the screenshots are from a stand-alone ESXi. In the following chapters, we will move to VMware vCenter and start doing all the tasks through vCenter (Datastores, Storage, Virtual Machines, central networking, etc.).

Before I explain how to create a virtual machine, let's discuss some of the components and features of VMs and how a VM interacts with the ESXi host.

7.1 Virtual Machine Files

To understand the architecture and functionality of a VM in a VMware vSphere environment, it is crucial to recognize that a VM is essentially a collection of files. These files, stored in the VM's Datastore folder, are more than just data storage—they represent the structural and operational components of the VM itself.

Let's explore the types of files that constitute a VM and their respective roles:

• **Configuration files:** These are the backbone of a VM, containing settings and specifications that define the VM's hardware characteristics and operational behavior.

- Hard disk files: Central to a VM's data storage, these files act as the virtual equivalent of a physical hard disk, storing the operating system, applications, and user data.
- Other essential files: In addition to the preceding primary files, a VM consists of several other types of files, each serving a specific purpose, from logging activities to managing state and snapshot information. These files are as follows:
 - .vmdk: These are virtual disk characteristics files or configuration disk files. If a VM has more than one disk, the file for the second virtual disk is named vmname_1.vmdk, and so on.
 - -flat.vmdk: This is the second file for a virtual hard disk. Previous one .vmdk has the disk information, this -flat.vmdk is the data file.

Note The file size depends on the type of virtual hard disk selected (thin or thick). For thick disks, the full size is stored in the Datastore, which in this case is 35GB. But if it was a thin virtual hard disk, the file size depends on what is already used.

It means only uses space that is really used on OS (but we will discuss the type of disks in the following chapters).

In the Datastore browser, you only see the $\mbox{.}\nu\mbox{mdk}$ files, not the flat files.

- .vmsd: These files include information about the virtual machine snapshots. The database contains information about the snapshots of the virtual machine and serves as the primary source of data for the Snapshot Manager. The file contains line entries establishing the connections between snapshots and their respective child disks.
- .vmsn: This type of file contains the present setup and, if applicable, the operational condition of the virtual machine, assuming a nonmemory snapshot was taken. The system has the ability to return to a previous state of a virtual machine.
- .vmx: This file is the virtual machine configuration file. It has all the information about the VM resources and configurations.
- .vswp: This file is the virtual machine swap file. The .vswp file allows vSphere to swap out less active memory pages to disk, making room for more active processes in physical memory.
- -delta.vmdk: This file receives all the changes in a virtual hard disk after you create a snapshot. All changes are saved in this file until the snapshot is removed. The delta disk shows the difference between the virtual disk's current state and the state it was in when the last snapshot was taken.
- .log: This is the log file for the virtual machine.

You can learn more about each file type on the following VMware pages:

- Virtual machine files: https://docs.vmware.com/en/ VMware-vSphere/7.0/com.vmware.vsphere.vm_admin. doc/GUID-CEFF6D89-8C19-4143-8C26-4B6D673 4D2CB.html
- Snapshot files: https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMwarevSphere/7.0/com.vmware.vsphere.vm_admin.doc/ GUID-38F4D574-ADE7-4B80-AEAB-7EC502A379F4.html

By familiarizing yourself with these files, you'll gain a deeper understanding of how VMs operate within the vSphere environment. This knowledge is key to managing and optimizing your virtual infrastructure, ensuring efficient and reliable operation of your VMs.

After this brief explanation about some of the tools and features that work together with a virtual machine and the type of files that create a VM, let's start creating our first VM.

7.2 What Is VM Virtual Hardware (vHW)?

In the context of vSphere, VM Virtual Hardware (vHW) refers to the virtual hardware version of a VM. It represents the virtual hardware configuration and capabilities presented to the VM by the virtualization platform.

Each release of vSphere introduces a new version of virtual hardware, denoted by a numerical value. For example, vSphere 6.7 introduced version 14, while vSphere 7.0 introduced version 17. These versions bring enhancements, new features, and improved performance to the virtual hardware platform.

The vHW represents the features and hardware functions available and supported by a virtual machine. For example, the maximum vCPU that is supported, how many and what type of virtual networks cards is supported, vHW also shows and applies what OS are supported on the virtual machine. So, having the latest vHW in your virtual machines is always essential.

Check https://docs.vmware.com/en/VMware-vSphere/7.0/com. vmware.vsphere.vm_admin.doc/GUID-789C3913-1053-4850-A0F0-E29C3D32B6DA.html to get all the resources available on vHW versions.

7.3 What Is VMware Tools?

VMware Tools is a software (agent) installed automatically in the operating system by the ESXi host (or manually by the administrator) as a tool.

It is a suite of services and utilities that enhances the virtual machine guest operating system (guest OS) performance and improves virtual machine management while interacting with the guest OS.

VMware Tools interacts with the guest OS to use the best resources and drivers between the guest OS and the ESXi.

VMware Tools provides a lot of improvements and functionality in the operating system by fixing the following:

- Low video resolution
- Inadequate color depth
- Incorrect display of network speed
- Restricted movement of the mouse
- Inability to copy and paste and drag and drop files
- Missing sound
- Provides the ability to take snapshots of the guest OS
- Synchronizes the time in the guest OS with the time on the host

99

VMware Tools also has the ability to do the following tasks:

- Pass messages from the host operating system to the guest operating system.
- Customize guest operating systems as a part of the vCenter Server and other VMware products.
- Run scripts that help automate guest operating system operations. The scripts run when the power state of the virtual machine changes.
- Synchronize the time in the guest operating system with the time on the host operating system

Note Open VM Tools (open-vm-tools) is recommended in virtual machines with Guest OS Linux versions. Open VM Tools is open source (that is, not developed by VMware).

Check out https://kb.vmware.com/s/article/340 for more information about VMware Tools.

7.4 How to Create a Virtual Machine

In vSphere, creating a virtual machine is very simple.

To start, select **Virtual Machines** in the Navigator panel and then click **Create/Register VM** (see Figure 7-1). On the first screen of the wizard that opens, select the option **Create a new virtual machine** (we will discuss the other option, to deploy a VM from an OVF or OVA file). Click **Next**.



Figure 7-1. (Virtual Machines 1 of 12)

Next, select which type of operating system to install in your virtual machine, so that vSphere knows what system is installed and prepares a VM. The options on the *Select a name and guest OS* screen are as follows (see Figure 7-2):

- **Compatibility:** This setting ensures the virtual machine will work. Since we have installed vSphere 7, we will use the latest update, in this case update 3. So, the virtual machine will be created with the Virtual Hardware v19, and the latest VMware Tools can be installed in the virtual machine.
- **Guest OS family:** This option is to select the OS family(like Windows, Linux or other). Inside the option "other" Guest OS we have other type of Apple OS, Linux, Oracle Solaris, ESXi, etc.

Note For purposes of this test environment, do not check the Enable Windows Virtualization Based Security check box. VBS is a security feature provided by Microsoft for Windows 2016 and later. If you choose to enable VBS in the future, first make sure that you

are aware of the requirements to enable this feature. For more details about VBS, see https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/windows-hardware/design/device-experiences/oem-vbs.

• **Guest OS version:** Select your OS version (I selected Microsoft Windows Server 2019 for this VM) and click **Next**. See Figure 7-2. (Not that the rest of this demonstration assumes that you have selected a Windows version.)

B New virtual machine - Windows 20	019 (ESXi 7.0 U2 virtual machine)			
 1 Select creation type 2 Select a name and guest OS 3 Solid closed 	Select a name and guest C Specify a unique name and OS	os		
4 Customize settings 5 Ready to complete	Name			
	Virtual machine names can contain up to Identifying the guest operating system he installation	80 characters and they must be unique within each ES re allows the wizard to provide the appropriate defaults	SXI instance. s for the operating system	
	Compatibility	ESXi 7.0 U2 virtual machine	~	
	Guest OS family	Windows	Virtualization Based Sect	rity 🛞
	Guest OS version	Microsoft Windows Server 2019 (64-bit)	Makes Hardware virtualiz Secure Boot available to also enable Virtualization the guest OS of this virtua	ation; (OMMU, EFL, and he guest OS. You must Based Security within I machine
vm ware [.]				
		Back Next	Finish Cancel	

Figure 7-2. (Virtual Machines 2 of 12)

Now you need to select where to store this virtual machine. Assuming you followed the steps in Chapter 6 and named your new Datastore local-datastore-01, select that, as shown in Figure 7-3. Click **Next**.

1 Select creation type 2 Select a name and guest OS 3 Select storage	Select storage Select the storage type and datastor	re				
4 Customize settings 5 Ready to complete	Standard Persistent Memory Select a datastore for the virtual m	nachine's configuration file	es and all of its	' virtual disks.		
	Name	v Capacity v	Free v	Type y	Thin oro	Access v
	local-datastore-01	119.75 GB	118.34 GB	VMFS6	Supported	Single

Figure 7-3. (Virtual Machines 3 of 12)

Next, on the Customize settings screen, select this virtual machine's resources (CPU, memory, etc.), as shown in Figure 7-4.

1 Select creation type 2 Select a name and guest OS 3 Select storage	Customize settings Configure the virtual machine hardw	vare and virtual machine addition	1a Help	6
4 Customize settings 5 Ready to complete	Virtual Hardware VM Options	ork adapter 🛛 🚍 Add other dev	The virtual CPUs available depend on the number of host and the number of C quest QS. To use the VMM	e to a virtual machine licensed CPUs on the PUs supported by the care multicore virtual
	F 🖬 CPU	2 🗸 🚺 🗲	 CPUs feature, you must b requirements of the guest 	e in compliance with th t operating system
	• I Memory	4 GB	~	
	+ 🖾 Hard disk 1	35 GB	~	0
	> 🔯 SCSI Controller 0	LSI Logic SAS 🗸		0
	SATA Controller 0			0
	USB controller 1	USB 3.1	~	0
	► IRB Network Adapter 1	VM Network	Ų	Connect 💿
	+ (9) CD/DVD Drive 1	Host device	~	Connect 📀
	• 🜉 Video Card	Default settings	~	
vmware		Derault settings		J.

Figure 7-4. (Virtual Machines 4 of 12)

Note When you select an operating system, vSphere automatically provides the minimum requirements for the virtual machine to run that OS.

For purpose of this demonstration, use the default for vCPU and vMemory and reduce the disk size to only 35GB. If you plan to change this size, be aware of your ESXi host limits. You should never use more memory than you have in your server. The number of vCPUs available for a virtual machine always equals the physical CPUs you have in your server (double if you are using Hyperthreading).

Regarding vMemory, you can set it to more than you have in your physical server, *but memory overcommitment can affect the performance on the virtual machine.*

Network:

You will use the network we created in the previous chapter, where we created a **VM Network** network for virtual machines.

Click **Next** to continue to the *Ready to complete* step, shown in Figure 7-5. Double-check the information you have selected in the previous steps and confirm by clicking **Finish**.

ect creation type	Ready to complete	
ect a name and guest OS	Review your settings selection befo	re finishing the wizard
tomize settings	Name	Windows 2010
dy to complete	Datastore	local-datastore-01
	Guest OS name	Microsoft Windows Server 2019 (64-bit)
	Compatibility	ESXI 7.0 U2 virtual machine
	VCPUs	2
	Memory	4 GB
	Network adapters	1
	Network adapter 1 network	VM Network
	Network adapter 1 type	E1000e
	IDE controller 0	IDE 0
	IDE controller 1	IDE 1
	SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS
	SATA controller 0	New SATA controller
	Hard disk 1	
	Capacity	35GB
	Datastore	[local-datastore-01] Windows 2019/
	Mode	Dependent
	Provisioning	Thick provisioned, lazily zeroed
mware [*]	Controller	SCSI controller 0 : 0
	CD/DVD drive 1	

Figure 7-5. (Virtual Machines 5 of 12)

As shown in Figure 7-6, our new virtual machine was created in our vSphere.



Figure 7-6. (Virtual Machines 6 of 12)

We now have our first Datastore to store virtual machines and one virtual machine created on the same Datastore. Now we will install the OS on the virtual machine, and for that we need a Windows ISO.

To use a Windows ISO in our VM, vSphere needs to access that ISO file. And for virtual machines, vSphere can only access ISO files stored in Datastores. So, we need to upload a Windows ISO file to our Datastore. (This discussion assumes that you have the Windows ISO already on your computer.) Go to vSphere, and in *Datastores*, select your Datastore(in our case in Figure 7-7 is local-datastore-01) and then click the *Datastore browser* tab.

Since we will add an ISO file, click the **Create directory** button and create a directory named **ISO Files** (see Figure 7-7) to upload this ISO and all the ISOs we will need in the future. This is not mandatory; it is just for better management.



Figure 7-7. (Virtual Machines 7 of 12)

After creating the folder, click the **Upload** option and select the Windows ISO file stored on your computer, as shown in the top image in Figure 7-8. vSphere will start uploading the file; you can see it in the upload task vSphere tasks.



Figure 7-8. (Virtual Machines 8 of 12)

After the upload is finished, confirm that the file is uploaded, as shown in Figure 7-9.



Figure 7-9. (Virtual Machines 9 of 12)

The next several steps are depicted in Figure 7-10. Go back to the Virtual Machines option and right-click your virtual machine (or select the Actions option) and select option Edit settings. In the *Edit settings* window, select CD/DVD Drive, select Datastore ISO file and click Browse. In the Datastore browser that opens, select your Datastore and the folder (if you have created it) and select the Windows ISO file.



Figure 7-10. (Virtual Machines 10 of 12)

Check the **Connect** check box and the **Connect at power on** check box after the virtual machine is set with the Datastore ISO file. That way, when the virtual machine starts, it launches the ISO file on the boot.

After, power on your virtual machine and start installing the Windows OS. You should see the Virtual Machine Windows console, as shown in Figure 7-11. To interact with the Windows console, click inside the Windows console; the keyboard and mouse then work inside the Windows console.



Figure 7-11. (Virtual Machines 11 of 12)

Note To leave the console and return to your computer, press **Alt-Ctrl**.

Next, press any key to start installing your operating system. The installation of an OS is a standard install, like an install in a physical server, as Figure 7-12 shows. There is no difference.



Figure 7-12. (Virtual Machines 12 of 12)

The preceding example is a Windows installation example, but the same process applies for any other OS (like Linux). Upload the ISO file, add it to the virtual machine, and start the installation.

7.5 Summary

During our exploration of machines (VMs) we have exploring the elements needed for their setup and maintenance. We began by examining the files that comprise a VM shedding light on how these components work in the VMware ecosystem. A closer look, at hardware (vHW) helped us grasp the resources accessible to VMs. The conversation around VMware tools emphasized their role in improving VM performance and user engagement bridging the gap, between physical hardware capabilities. Lastly we outlined the steps involved in creating a VM starting from the configuration to installing the guest operating system empowering you with the know how to effectively deploy VMs within your environment.

Now that we've covered the ins and outs of virtual machines, in Chapter 8 we'll explore VMware vCenter. Chapter 8 is important because it delves into the heart of vCenter, including its role, licensing options, installation procedures, and the intricacies of the vCenter Single Sign-On (SSO) Domain. Each of these elements plays a role in mastering the management and operational capabilities offered by the VMware platform. Moving from VM details to a focus on the vCenter management framework represents a significant stride toward comprehending the extensive VMware ecosystem.

CHAPTER 8

VMware vCenter

In Chapter 7, we discussed virtual machines, including what they are, their configurations, and how to create them. We are now ready to switch our configuration from ESXi host management to central management using VMware vCenter. In vCenter, we can manage multiple ESXi hosts and create ESXi Clusters, Datastore Clusters, Distributed Switches, etc. So, all the chapters from here forward will focus on creating a VMware environment through vCenter.

8.1 What Is VMware vCenter?

To fully understand the functionalities of VMware vCenter, it is important to recognize it as the central management platform within the VMware vSphere ecosystem. vCenter goes beyond being a tool; it serves as the hub for overseeing a virtualized data center. This section delves into the layers of complexity and capabilities that vCenter comprises.

vCenter acts as a control center for streamlining the management of ESXi hosts, virtual machines, and other crucial components of the VMware infrastructure. Its significance goes beyond administration tasks; it plays a role in efficiently and effectively managing virtual environments.

Here are some key points and features of VMware vCenter:

• **Centralized management:** vCenter provides a single point of control and management for multiple ESXi hosts and their virtual machines. It allows

CHAPTER 8 VMWARE VCENTER

administrators to manage and monitor the virtual infrastructure from a unified interface, simplifying administration tasks.

- **Resource pooling:** vCenter enables resource pooling by aggregating multiple ESXi hosts' computing, storage, and networking resources into logical resource pools. This allows for efficient allocation and management of resources across the virtual infrastructure.
- High availability and fault tolerance: vCenter facilitates advanced features like vSphere High Availability (HA) and vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT). HA provides automatic restart of virtual machines on alternate hosts in case of an ESXi host failure, ensuring minimal downtime. FT provides continuous availability by creating a live shadow instance of a VM on a separate host, allowing for seamless failover in case of host failure.
- vSphere vMotion and Storage vMotion: vCenter enables vMotion and Storage vMotion capabilities. vMotion allows live migration of virtual machines between different ESXi hosts without any disruption, providing flexibility for balancing workload, maintenance, and optimizing resource usage. Storage vMotion allows live virtual machine storage migration between different datastores while the VM runs without downtime.
- vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS): DRS is a feature provided by vCenter that automatically balances workloads across multiple ESXi hosts based on resource utilization, ensuring optimal performance

and resource allocation. DRS dynamically migrates virtual machines across hosts to maintain balanced resource usage.

- **Centralized monitoring and reporting:** vCenter provides the virtual infrastructure's comprehensive monitoring and reporting capabilities. It offers realtime performance monitoring, capacity planning, and reporting on resource utilization, allowing administrators to identify and troubleshoot issues efficiently.
- Integration with Additional VMware solutions: vCenter integrates with other VMware solutions and products such as vSAN (Virtual SAN), NSX (Network Virtualization), vRealize Suite, and more. This integration enables enhanced capabilities and extends the management and operational features of the virtual infrastructure.

Overall, VMware vCenter manages and administers VMware vSphere environments. It provides centralized control, advanced features for high availability and live migration, resource pooling, monitoring, and integration with other VMware solutions, contributing to efficient virtual infrastructure management and administration.

Note We will discuss in detail each vCenter feature in the following chapters.

8.2 vCenter Licenses

There are three types of vCenter licensing: Standard, Foundation, and Essentials.

vCenter Server licenses for Standard or Foundation are sold separately from vSphere licensing, except vCenter Server Essentials licensing. The vCenter Essentials license is included with a vSphere Essentials Kit.

The "normal" license is the Standard licenses that includes all vCenter features, and when you install vCenter, the evaluation mode is the Standard license. See Figure 8-1

Features	Essentials	Foundation	<u>Standard</u>
Management service	х	x	x
Database server	×	x	×
VMware vCenter APIs	×	×	×
Inventory service	x	x	×
vCenter Single Sign-On	x	×	×
vCenter Server Appliance Migration Tool	x	×	×
vRealize Orchestrator			×
vCenter High Availability (VCHA)			x
vCenter Server Backup & Restore			x
Enhanced Linked Mode (ELM)			×
ESXi Host Management (max)	3 Hosts	4 Hosts	2500 Hosts

Figure 8-1. (VMware vCenter 1 of 2)

When you install a vCenter Server system, it is automatically in evaluation mode. There is no need to add a license; the vCenter Server system expires 60 days after the product is installed.

When the license or evaluation period of a vCenter Server system expires, all hosts disconnect from that vCenter Server system. The virtual machines running on the disconnected hosts remain intact. To download the VMware vCenter ISO to install in your ESXi host, log in to your VMware account and download the latest vCenter 7 ISO. See Figure 8-2.

Home / VMware vSphere					
Download VMwar	re vSphere				O
Select Version:	Cutationers enter have putchased VMware of before Looking to upprade hom visionere 6.7 Get Your vSphere Li Read More and Cover Source Customitics 01MJ	prere 70 can download their network instalation puckage from the 7 Vot the VMware vopmer Logitade Center.	e product download tab	Product Resources View Ny Download History Product Information Documentation viphere Community Support Resources & Download Pree Triat	
Y Enterprise Plus					
VMware vSphere Hypervisor (ESK) 7.0U3g	2022-09-01	60 101	DOWNLOADS	
VMware vCenter Server 7.0U3	h	2022-09-13	GOTO	DOWNLOADS	
VMware NSX for vSphere 6.4	14	2022-10-20	60 101	DOWNLOADS	
VMware vSphere Replication 8	3.6.0	2022-10-11	GO TO	DOWNLOADS	
VMware vRealize Orchestrator	Appliance 810.0	2022-10-11	60101	DOWNLOADS	
VMware NSX-T Data Center 3	2.12 For vShield Endpoint	2022-10-04	60 101	DOWNLOADS	
vSphere Bitfusion 4.5.2		2022-06-23	60 TO	DOWNLOADS	
VMware Tools 12.1.0		2022-08-23	GOTO	DOWNLOADS	

Figure 8-2. (VMware vCenter 2 of 2)

After you select your vCenter version and build, download the ISO, not the upgrade bundle (we will use that in later chapters when we upgrade our environment).

8.3 Install vCenter

After downloading your ISO file, you must run it from a Windows machine. You can mount the ISO (VMware-VCSA-all-7.0.3-20395099.iso) in your Windows machine or extract the whole ISO. For this case, I mount the ISO in my F: drive..

The file to run the installer, installer.exe, is located in F:\vcsa-ui-installer\win32. Run the file and start the installation of vCenter.

As shown in Figure 8-3, with the installer.exe file, you can install, upgrade, migrate, or restore a vCenter. Select the **Install** option.

CHAPTER 8 VMWARE VCENTER

Lartie have include der			- 8
www.vConter Server 7.0 Installer			
	_		
	~~~~		
(O).		W.A	
		•• 🛌	
Install	Upgrade	Migrate	Restore
Install a new vCenter Server	Upgrade an existing vConter Server Applance or Upgrade and	Higrate from an existing Windows vCentar Server or Higrate and	Restore from a previous vCenter Server Eaclup
	Converge an existing a Centre berver Australian with an external Bactorin Services Controller	Converge an excellent Versions of order Server and an excernal Partners Services Controller	
L			

Figure 8-3. (vCenter Install 1 of 18)

When you install or upgrade vCenter, it deploys in two stages:

- **Stage 1, Deploy vCenter Server:** Creates the vCenter Appliance in your ESXi host and configures an IP address, gateway.
- Stage 2, Set up vCenter Server: Mainly creates the vCenter Single Sign-On Domain (covered later in this chapter)

To launch Stage 1, click Next, as shown in Figure 8-4.

Introduction	Introduction	
	A The Delevant Partners Services Controller Sectory.event has been dependent	Laws
	This installer allows you to install a vCenter Server 7.0.	
	Strage 1	inge J
	Deploy vCector Server	field an official become
	installing the vCenter Server is a favo stage process. The first stage involves deploying a new vCenter Server to the largest ESIO heat or a co	expute resource in the larget vCenter Server. The locand stage completes the setup of the deployed vCenter Server. Click Next, to proceed w

Figure 8-4. (vCenter Install 2 of 18)

In step 2, accept the end user license agreement and click Next.

In step 3, shown in Figure 8-5, set the ESXi host and the credentials for installing this vCenter Appliance. Add the ESXi host and credentials we built in the previous chapter and click **Next**. In the Certificate Warning pop-up window, click **Yes** to accept the certificate and continue.



Figure 8-5. (vCenter Install 3 of 18)

Since vCenter will be a virtual machine in your ESXi host, you need to set a name for your vCenter VM and set a root password for the vCenter Appliance, as shown in Figure 8-6.



Figure 8-6. (vCenter Install 4 of 18)

Next, in step 5, select the deployment size of your vCenter, as shown in Figure 8-7. Which *Deployment size* option you should choose depends on your environment. If you are building for a test lab, as in this

#### CHAPTER 8 VMWARE VCENTER

demonstration, then the Tiny option is more than enough at 579GB (it can manage up to 10 ESXi hosts and up to 100 VMs), but if you are building for a production environment, you need to select whatever size you will need for your future environment.

The *Storage size* setting is also essential. If you plan to have all full stats, alarms, tasks, etc., you need a bigger disk size to allocate all that information because it will have a bigger DB. In that case, you can select from Large to X-Large. The size in GB depends on the *Deployment size* setting.

For purposes of building the test lab demonstrated in this book, stick to the **Tiny** option for *Deployment size* and the **Default** option for *Storage size*. Click **Next**.

**Caution** Don't forget that you need to have in your ESXi host a Datastore with the size that could allocate the vCenter size.

Same Same Same Same Same Same Same Same	-							
Midd playment car         Stratument of the strate playment car         Concur           Strate	- 0				Shall	to the vSphere 7.0 docum	For more information on deployment sizes, refe Deployment size	Genter Server deployment target et up vCenter Server VM
Description         Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>		-			Cerlault	195	Storage site Resources required for different dealoyment s	elect deployment size
Imp         2         Q         339         ND         000           Impl         4         19         004         100         1000		Wile (up to)	Hents (up to)	Durage (SD)	Namery (GR)	vONe	Deployment See	
Small 4 19 094 100 1000		100	NO	\$79		2	firy	
		1000	100	094		4	snal	
Medium 8 28 908 400 4000		4000	400	908			Medium	
Large 8 27 138 8000 10000		10000	1000	1358		10	Large	
X Cargo 24 50 2249 2000 25000		35000	2000	2283		24	x carge	

Figure 8-7. (vCenter Install 5 of 18)

In this section, we select Datastore to install our vCenter Appliance. As previously mentioned, we need enough space to deploy the 579GB Appliance. But since in our ESXi host, we only have 150GB; select the option **Enable Thin Disk Mode**.
**Note** We will discuss disk type in further chapters, but Thin Disk means that we will only use the needed space. Although the disk is 579GB, it only uses/writes 20/30GB. So by using this option, we can install the Appliance and save storage space.

If you had more physical disks in your ESXi host, vCenter would create one host vSAN Datastore to deploy this vCenter Appliance (I will explain vSAN in a further Chapter 32). We will skip this option.



Figure 8-8. (vCenter Install 6 of 18)

In step 7, shown in Figure 8-9, add the VM network we created in the latest chapters regarding networks for virtual machines.

www.install - Stage 1: Deploy vCente	r Server		
Introduction     Crid user license agreement.	Configure network settings Configure setwork settings for this vCenter Server		
3 vCenter Server deployment target	Network	M Nation	- @
Set up vCenter Server VM     Select deployment size	P sugmet	rus:	-
6 Select datastore	Poon	Veniu-vCenier verwaarkone bib	_ ©
Configuer network settings     Ready to complete stage 1	P address Subnet mask or prefix length	92 961 10 295 295 295 0	0
	Default gilleway	52.961/254	-
	DA6 servers	602.168.12.162.164.13	-
	нттр	80	_
	HTTPS	443	_
			CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 8-9. (vCenter Install 7 of 18)

You need to add an IP address, gateway, or DNS. Or you can use your DHCP server to set this (in that case, you need to change from static to DHCP). Only change ports if this is mandatory in your company environment. If not, leave the default. Click **Next**.

**Caution** You need to create a DNS record for your vCenter. If not, installing it will fail.

In the final step of Stage 1, shown in Figure 8-10, confirm all the information; if everything is okay, click **Finish** to deploy the vCenter Appliance in your ESXi host.

10roduction	Ready to complete stage 1		
todawe kome agreement	· Deployment Details		
vCentes Server digitayment target.	Target (131 /out	84.961189	
Carlles Server deployment target.	VM name	Venter /Center	
Setup vCerter Server VM	Depayment star	54	
Select deployment size	This age too	Default	
Tablett (Infantose	- Datastere Delaits		
Party strength	Dalastaré , Deix musis	Non-Modeline (F), Per-	
Configure network settings	- Network Details		
Ready to complete stage 1	Network	VM Nativuta	
	IF settings	Pv4. state	
	27 address	W2 W4 12	
	Hold same	Venilo - Certer or search one las	
	futured mask or poets length	198.195.199.0	
	Default galance	9039641354	
	Drd servers	102.001/2.02.001/3	
	10731-00x1		
	within Part	40	

### Figure 8-10. (vCenter Install 8 of 18)

vCenter Appliance starts deploying Stage 1, displaying the progress bar shown in the top image in Figure 8-11. After it is finished and displays the message shown in the bottom image, click **Continue**.



### Figure 8-11. (vCenter Install 9 of 18)

Next, you are taken to the Setup Wizard shown in Figure 8-12, where you can start deploying vCenter Stage 2 by clicking **Next**.

www install - Stage 2: Set Up vCenter	Server
Setup Wizard	Introduction
1 introduction	vCenter Server and allower
2 vCenter Server Configuration	Stape 1 Stape 2
3 SSD Configuration	
4 Configure CEIP	
5. Ready to complete	
	Deping new scenter Server Server Server
	installing the vCenter ferrer is a two stage process. The first stage has been completed. Olick henct, to proceed with Stage 2, setting up the vCenter ferrers.
	$\rightarrow$

Figure 8-12. (vCenter Install 10 of 18)

In step 2 of the Setup Wizard, configure the *Time synchronization mode* and *NPT servers* fields. Figure 8-13 shows step 2 along with an embedded image of the expanded *Time synchronization mode* drop-down list. vCenter uses time synchronization between vCenter and ESXi hosts, so be sure you have vCenter and ESXi using the same NTP servers or select to synchronize time with ESXi hosts.

www.install-Stage 2: Set Up vCent	er Server			
Setup Wizard	vCenter Server Configuration			
1 introduction	Time synchronization mode		Synchronise tone with the MRI parvers	
2 vCenter Server Configuration	NSP servers (comma-separated list)		() europe poor inte org. ) europe pool htp org. 2 europe pool inte org. 3 europe pool inte org	
	SSH MORE		Enterd	
	Oracidant Taylobratical Stop with Dig #500 local Ayrothracidas Stop with Dig Activity Arrives	,		
				CANCEL

Figure 8-13. (vCenter Install 11 of 18)

In step 2, you can also enable SSH access to your vCenter. In homelab, we should always enabling to help in troubleshooting.

In an organization, the choice of whether to enable SSH depends on the organization's security policies in production; if permitted, you should enable SSH only if you use it. If not, leave it disabled.

Step 3 of the Setup Wizard is *SSO Configuration*, in which you configure the vCenter Single Sign-On Domain for your vCenter (the SSO Domain is described in detail in the next section). As shown in Figure 8-14, name your SSO Domain (for purposes of the example test lab, use the default vsphere.local) and set the username and password for the SSO administrator. Click **Next**.

me Install - Stope 2: Set Up vCente	r Server		
Setup Wizard	SSO Configuration		
1 resolution	Create a new 550 domain		í
2 vCenter Server Configuration	Swyle Sign-On-Jonian name 🛞	-sphere (cu)	
3 550 Configuration	Sayle Spr-On usemane	administrator	
4. Configure 2014	Single Sign-On password ()		· ·
1 Analytic complete	Confeen password		
	C Join an existing SSD domain		
			6100E

### Figure 8-14. (vCenter Install 12 of 18)

Step 4 of the Setup Wizard, shown in Figure 8-15, gives you the option to join the VMware Customer Experience Improvement Program (CEIP). Read the details provided and decide whether you want to join. If you don't want to participate in CEIP, clear the check box below the details.



Figure 8-15. (vCenter Install 13 of 18)

Click **Next** to continue and finish your vCenter installation.

On the *Ready to complete* page, shown in Figure 8-16, double-check all the information and, if all is good, click **Finish**. Your vCenter installation will begin and you will see the progress bar shown in Figure 8-17.

tup Wizard	Ready to complete			
1 introduction	Refrects configuration	Annya shirin P address		
1 - Castan Lance Contraction	P article	D-4		
2 VORTE SEVE Compress	P sales.	803 Mat 1 N 2		
2 SSO Configuration	Subvet mans	34		
4 Configure CDP	Hold Name	Vergi, «Center amaginearer atte		
5 Ready to complete	Calenay	HI2 MIL 1254	Warring	
	DAB survey	102 AVE / 5 AVE AVE / 3	waring	
	- vCenter Server Details		A You will not be able to plane or stop the install how completing once its	_
	Time synchronization alone	Disclet	KARVAS CALL OF 10 CARVAS, OF CALLS IN MUSIC AN AND	
	10H access	framet	CANCEL OK	
	+ 860 Decats			
	100 Defee	-option local		
	Denare	attendator.		
	Custamer Expensions improvement Program			
	CEP HTTPs	Centred to		

Figure 8-16. (vCenter Install 14 of 18)



Figure 8-17. (vCenter Install 15 of 18)

After the installation is finished, click **Close**. vCenter automatically opens the *vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface (VAMI)* page. We will not need it for now. Chapter 9 discuss VAMI in depth.

**Tip** If for any reason you can't continue to Stage 2, or you need to pause or something, you can restart Stage 2 by opening the vCenter VAMI page, https://IP-FQDN:5480, and clicking **Setup**.

This will bring you to the beginning of the vCenter Server configuration, as shown in Figure 8-18. At this point, your new vCenter Server has been installed successfully, but you still need to make it available for use by configuring it.



Figure 8-18. (vCenter Install 16 of 18)

We finish our vCenter installation, for this chapter at least, in the ESXi host. As shown in Figure 8-19, you can log in to your vCenter with the https://IP-FQDN and use the SSO Domain administrator user: administrator@vsphere.local.

VITIAO/OF		Per adversariadors una faced factoria present Une par ven dossor foreir and anno dos unanye, while anchora and una da factoria Samuel Anchora e Bir citidade factoria
	VMware® vSphere  wexeen vSphere  Constrained advertises  Lase	for shared the set of

### Figure 8-19. (vCenter Install 17 of 18)

For now vCenter is empty (see Figure 8-20), but in Chapter 10, we will start configuring and managing vCenter. We will start by creating a Datacenter and ESXi host Cluster and adding ESXi hosts to our vCenter.

= vfghere Giert Q		
0 5 5 0	Image: Second of the second	
<ul> <li>Veneu ricente ansantiure de</li> </ul>	Year         7/2           View         7/2           View         7/2           View         7/2           View         View           View         View           View         0           View         0	priy tene tin ana tin Standard and Standard and Galaxies tene tene tin ana tin ana tin ana tin
	Coston Attributes . Institution	~
	Althon Non Charol Robot Soft	
	R State Stat	*
d decent lands divers	100 A	

Figure 8-20. (vCenter Install 18 of 18)

# 8.4 What Is the vCenter Server Single Sign-On Domain?

The domain that vSphere utilizes to link together vCenter Servers in a federation is known as an SSO Domain. Tags, Licenses, Categories, Global Permissions, Roles, and Privileges are all part of an SSO domain. Administrators can choose an alternative domain name when installing vCenter Server in place of the SSO Domain name, which by default is set to vsphere.local.

We can also use an SSO Domain to use an Active Directory or LDAP identity source to allow users and groups to authenticate in vCenter.

A management server, the vCenter Lookup Service, the Security Token Service (STS), and the VMware Directory Service (vmdir) are all components of vCenter Single Sign-On. Additionally, certificate management relies on the VMware Directory Service.

# 8.5 Summary

In this chapter we explored the role of vCenter Server in centralizing and overseeing infrastructure. We began by introducing vCenter highlighting its functions and the benefits it provides for handling environments. Following that we discussed vCenter licenses to clarify the licensing options. How they impact your virtual setup. The installation steps, for vCenter were then explained in detail to help you set up vCenter smoothly. Lastly we delved into the significance of the vCenter Server Single Sign On (SSO) Domain emphasizing its role in securing and simplifying access to the vSphere environment, for management and operational integrity of your virtual infrastructure.

Having introduced the integral role of vCenter SSO in unifying vCenter Servers, we turn our attention to the functionalities of VAMI for streamlined management and operational efficiency.

### **CHAPTER 9**

# vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface (VAMI)

The management interface of the vCenter Server Appliance (VCSA), known as the vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface (VAMI), plays a role in administering VMware VCSA. With its web-based user interface, it simplifies and streamlines the configuration and monitoring processes for the VCSA. Designed to cater to both newcomers and users, VAMI eliminates the need for command-line interactions.

In this chapter we will delve into the range of capabilities offered by VAMI. These include setups such as networking and time settings, as well as more advanced functions such as update management and access control. By leveraging VAMI, you not only can easily configure your VCSA initially, but also ensure its ongoing health and performance with minimal effort. Whether its monitoring system health, managing backups or troubleshooting issues, VAMI equips you with tools for efficient management of your virtual environment.

# 9.1 Tasks That Can Be Accomplished Using VAMI

With the VAMI administrators have a range of tools to effectively manage the vCenter Server Appliance. They can handle tasks such, as setting up monitoring system performance, managing updates, handling backups and restores controlling access, troubleshooting issues and configuring networking settings.

- Basic configuration
  - Set up networking configurations, such as IP addresses, DNS, and proxy settings.
  - Adjust time settings and configure NTP servers.
  - Manage the appliance password.
  - Handle SSL certificates.
- Monitoring
  - Keep an eye on the health of your VCSA, including system health, disk space availability, and database health.
  - Monitor the performance metrics of your VCSA.
- Update management
  - Check for updates and patches for your VCSA.
  - Stage and install updates and patches as needed.
- Backup and restore
  - Configure backup settings for your VCSA.
  - Schedule automatic backups.
  - Perform manual backups when necessary.
  - Restore from backups if required.

- Access control
  - Manage user access by creating new user accounts with roles assigned to them.
- Troubleshooting
  - Access system logs and other diagnostic information to identify and troubleshoot any issues that may arise.
- Networking
  - Configure firewall settings to manage various networking options.

These features provided by VAMI make it convenient for users to effectively manage their vCenter Server Appliance without complexity or technical expertise.

Essentially, VAMI is a component for managing the vCenter Server Appliance. It combines simplicity with functionality, making it an integral part of overcoming challenges in VCSA management. Its wide range of features greatly contributes to providing a solution. It ensures that your VCSA remains strong, responsive, and adaptable to evolving virtualization requirements.

VAMI provides a way to ensure that your VCSA is appropriately set up, regularly updated, and functioning smoothly without delving into command-line configurations.

## 9.2 How to Access VAMI

To access VAMI, you need to use port 5480 (this port can be customized). Open your browser and type https://IP-FQDN:5480. For purposes of this example, we will use https://192.168.1.112:5480.

Log in using the user root and password that you created when installing vCenter. You should see a window similar to Figure 9-1.

Samay Notae Acons	2	intendenaren Producti Narrainen Buldi buantaen Agotomi	Vente «Certer veneentores lati Vitages «Certer Server F3.5.0400 247706 Bitours 42 minutes				
Networking	Health Status			Sinale Stan-On			
Freed	Queral Health	And Gard checked Oct 35, 2021, 06:00 35, 001	1	Dottan	contention .		
True	(A)	0		Serve .	Ranning		
	a Memory	Aust .					
proven.	fetchere	Q times					
Update	transpe	Q Coult					
Advisibation	7440	(2 trans					
Reving							
hote							

### *Figure 9-1.* (VAMI 1 of 9)

Figure 9-1 shows a couple of warnings regarding memory reaching almost 100%. In VAMI, we can monitor any issues or warnings regarding the vCenter Appliance. There is nothing to worry about in this case, because this is a temporary spike in memory and goes back to normal after several minutes.

Let's check out some of the options in the navigation panel on the left in VAMI.

**Note** You don't need to know about all the options in the VAMI at this point, so only the list covers only the more important ones.

• **Monitor:** This page has tabs to check CPU & Memory, Disks (whether they are full), Network (errors, package, etc.), and vCenter Database (space used, alarms, events, etc.). See Figure 9-2.

Sammary	CPU & Menory 21481	Interior Detailant											
Monker	0-8.25 2025 00 24 of int	00.25.2623.000142.4	M Last hear -	0									
Access							CPU .						
Networking	***												
Freed													
Time	1-						0	NO. 27, DATE OR NO. 57 JUN					
Sarvices	1												
Lipidate													
Administration	10.00	011.00	#22.88	421.00	1000	10.04	1.11.10	1.01.00	122.04	111.00	101.00	101.00	8.72.4
turing							Memory						
Dates	10.												
	1.												
	1												

*Figure 9-2.* (*VAMI 2 of 9*)

• Access: This page is where you can enable or disable access to vCenter SSH, the Console, or even the Direct Console User Interface (DCUI). If you want to restrict access to SSH in vCenter, disable it here. Or, if you want to enable it, enable it here. See Figure 9-3.

Sarmay Muritor	Acm felip man ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma ma
Networking	lanti konz kan
riceast	
Invite	Edit Access Settings
Administration	Transition Concerning
System Technol	Franchesen fri team bely here team bely here

*Figure* **9-3.** (*VAMI* 3 *of* 9)

• **Networking:** This page displays everything related to networking in vCenter (IP address, gateway, DNS, proxy, etc.). See Figure 9-4. Be cautious about changing the configuration here, since you could lose access to your vCenter if you change the wrong settings.

Sammary	Network Settings		
Montar	Nucleare .	Version of an extension of a section of a	
	270 Januari	92.96.12.92.96.13	
Access	~ NC0		
Networking	East Contract Contrac		
Freed	MAC Address	00.0C 29 BLACC	
	Ped Address	402 (408 / 102 / 24 (Final-)	
Tirse.	Wed Default Colorests	N0 4841234	
Services	Distant SetTimore		
Lipitate	111	Duine	
Administration	witten	Dame	
foring .	arts	Diame	
Date: D			

*Figure 9-4.* (VAMI 4 of 9)

## 9.3 How to Change the vCenter IP Address

We can also use the Networking page (shown in Figure 9-4) to change the vCenter IP address or FQDN.

**Note** Again, use this option carefully and ensure you are using the correct IPs and FQDN before applying your changes. If you change the IP or FQDN, ensure you have a DNS entry and a DNS forward for the new IP/FQDN.

Before you make any changes to the vCenter network, take a snapshot. See the "Creating and Managing Snapshots" section in Chapter 22 for simple instructions on how to do this.

To change DNS, IP address, or FQDN, click **Edit** on the right side of the *Networking* page, select your network adapter in step 1 of the Edit Network Settings wizard (see Figure 9-5), and then click **Next**.



*Figure* 9-5. (*VAMI* 5 of 9)

**Note** To change the IP address of the vCenter Server Appliance, first confirm that its system name is set as an FQDN, which is the primary network identifier (PNID). If the system name was initially set as an IP address during deployment, it can be changed to an FQDN later.

You can quickly check your PNID by running the following command in your vCenter console:

/usr/lib/vmware-vmafd//bin/vmafd-cli get-pnid --server-name localhost

In step 3 of the Edit Network Settings wizard, shown in Figure 9-6, make your changes, double-check them, and then click **Next**.

Edit Network Settings	Edit settings	×
1 Select Network Adapter	Edit your settings for the selected	network adapter.
2 Edit settings	V Hostname and DNS	Hostname: Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab DNS Servers: 192.168.1.2, 192.168.1.3
3 SSO credentials 4 Ready to complete	DNS Settings	Obtain DNS settings automatically Enter DNS settings manually 192.168.12, 192.168.13
	V NIC O	Status : Up MAC Address: 00.0C:29:95:A1:CE
	IPv4	Enabled     Obtain IPv4 settings automatically     Enter IPv4 settings manually     IPv4 address     IPv4 address prefix     IPv4 address prefix     IPv4 gateway     IPv4 gateway
		CANCEL BACK NEXT

*Figure* **9-6.** (*VAMI* 6 *of* 9)

In step 3, shown in Figure 9-7, enter your SSO domain username and password to confirm the changes, and click **Next**.

Edit Network Settings	SSO cred	entials		×
1 Select Network Adapter	Enter the SSO	administrator credentials for vCenter server.		
2 Edit settings	Username:	administrator@vsphere.local		
3 SSO credentials	Password:			
4 Ready to complete				
			CANCEL BACK NEXT	

*Figure* 9-7. (*VAMI* 7 *of* 9)

Before you finish, you need to acknowledge the impact of changing the network (particularly the IP address) of your vCenter and that you have made a backup. You are also reminded of the following actions that will be required after your network settings have been reconfigured and your vCenter Server is running (see Figure 9-8):

- All deployed plug-ins will need to be reregistered.
- All custom certificates will need to be regenerated.
- vCenter HA will need to be reconfigured.
- Hybrid Link with Cloud vCenter server will need to be recreated.
- Active Directory will need to be rejoined.

After you check everything, acknowledge the option that you made a backup of your vCenter Server (in our example, a snapshot), then click **Finish**.

Edit Network Settings	Ready to complete ×
1 Select Network Adapter	Reconfiguring the NIC 0 management network adapter will result in downtime of your vCenter Server and can take     some time before it is up and running again.
2 Edit settings	Hostname Vembu-vCenter vmwarehome lab
3 SSO credentials	DNS Settings 192.168.1.2, 192.168.1.3
4 Ready to complete	> NIC 0
	ecknowledge that I have made a backup of my vCenter Server and unregistered extensions before continuing with my network configuration      Development      Acceler Advance of the pregistered.      Acceler Advance of the precedence of the pregistered.      Acceler Advance of the precedence of the pregistered.      Acceler Advance of the precedence

*Figure 9-8.* (VAMI 8 of 9)

After your changes take effect, you should reboot your vCenter.

To wrap up the chapter, we'll check the Services page, shown in Figure 9-9. Here, you can check all services from vCenter. It is an excellent place to start when troubleshooting any issues with vCenter (not starting the DCUI or other issues) and checking if services are all up. If not, you can start them manually.

burstway	RECTART THE STOR OF STARTUR FOR			
Manitor	Autor Contraction of	1 Installan	140	
Access	Appendix Management Service	Autoriani,	teally.	Salasi
-	O Ani trans	Automatic	institut a	tarea.
and the second	C Carlanticatory Inness	Automatic	teally.	Earlest
Frend	C from terms Prove	Adverses.	10,001	Earthan .
Time	o l'agène danse benne	Automatic	tealing .	Earlied .
Lanaras	C magebalane berna	Automatic	really.	turns
	<ul> <li>Simon factor</li> </ul>	Adveratio	nut y	Tarlas
update.	C Terror Central Agent	Automatic	and a	Status
Administration	C with the grant	Automate:	in the second seco	Dartes
Trains	<ul> <li>Interim far ar Paties</li> </ul>	Automatic	14081	Tarter
	C villages tradition because	Adaman	10000	Carlos .
beha .	C Verses lusters matching terce	Automatic	10.071	tariar .
	O eliterar Catholis Aprody Serves	Laterate .	aut :	Raman .
	O vitroare Cathloan torougeneit Service	Life an	really.	turne .
	C Henry Hit Agent Hanager	Address of the second s	ALC: Y	Rankel.
	C vitrane 11 to Rearise Prov	Autoriani	Teach a	Tariwi .
	C Ween units foreign	Addresses	10000	Same .
	<ul> <li>anteres theat results high bendes</li> </ul>	Advento -	19481	Tarius
	C Mean reference that terms	Automatics.	14481	Tarite.
	21 Julions between	A1000	10.00	

*Figure* 9-9. (*VAMI* 9 of 9)

You can and should also update your vCenter using VAMI, but that will be discuss in Chapter 29.

# 9.4 Summary

Now that you are familiar with managing vCenter through VAMI, next you'll learn how vCenter organizes its virtualized environment by structuring it into Datacenters. These Datacenters serve as the components for managing and organizing resources and vCenter virtual structure.

### **CHAPTER 10**

# Datacenters and Clusters

This chapter explores the elements of vSphere architecture with a focus, on Datacenters and Clusters within vCenter. It begins by detailing the importance of vCenter Datacenters in structuring infrastructure then progresses to discussing the establishment and oversight of vCenter Clusters to optimize resources and ensure uptime. The chapter also explains the process of integrating ESXi hosts with vCenter, for management and introduces vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS) for maintaining cluster well being. This chapter aims to provide a clear understanding of setting up and managing a robust and scalable virtual environment.

## **10.1 What Is a vCenter Datacenter?**

In vSphere, a vCenter Datacenter is a logical container representing a virtual VMware vCenter infrastructure. It provides a hierarchical organization for the virtual resources and objects managed by vCenter.

A vCenter Datacenter acts as a container for clusters, hosts, virtual machines, networks, and datastores. For example, each Datacenter can contain different objects depending on the user's needs. You could create one Datacenter for each organizational unit in your company, some highperformance environments, and other less demanding ones.

With vCenter Datacenters, administrators can efficiently organize, manage, and control the virtual resources within their vSphere environments. Using Datacenters provides a flexible and scalable structure for resource pooling, resource management, security, and policy enforcement, helping streamline the virtual infrastructure's administration.

### 10.1.1 Create a vCenter Datacenter

On the main page of the vSphere Client, navigate to **Home** and then to **Hosts and Clusters**. Right-click the name of your vCenter, select **New Datacenter** in the context menu, and give a name to your new Datacenter, as shown in Figure 10-1. If you don't give your Datacenter a custom name, vCenter will use the default name Datacenter. Click **OK**.



Figure 10-1. (vCenter Datacenter 1 of 1)

Now that you have a vCenter Datacenter, the next task is to create a vCenter ESXi host Cluster.

# **10.2 What Is a vCenter Cluster?**

A cluster is made up of ESXi hosts. When a host is added to a cluster, host resources become part of that Cluster resource pool. So, as more hosts are added to the cluster, more resources are available.

Starting with vSphere 6.7, you can create and configure a hyperconverged cluster so that storage, networking, and compute are all running on industry-standard x86 servers in a single software layer.

You must create clusters if you want to enable vSphere High Availability or vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler, as well as VMware vSAN. Starting with vSphere 7.0, you can now use a single image to create your cluster.

You can also easily update and upgrade the software on the hosts in your cluster with images from vSphere Lifecycle Manager. Additionally, starting with vSphere 7.0 Update 2, during cluster creation, you can choose a reference host and use its image for the newly created Cluster.

When you create a Cluster, you can enable the following:

- vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS)
- vSphere High Availability (HA)
- Virtual Storage Area Network (vSAN)

You can also manage all hosts in the cluster with a single image. This option will allow you to assign one image to all hosts in a cluster, which removes variability between hosts.

It also provides more features like hardware compatibility checking, cluster-wide remediation, and easier upgrades. It requires hosts to be running ESXi 7.0 or newer and replaces baselines. Once enabled, baselines cannot be used in this cluster.

We will not discuss these features further in this chapter. Chapter 17 is dedicated to DRS and Chapter 19 is dedicated to HA.

### 10.2.1 Create a Cluster

In the vSphere Client, right-click the Datacenter name, select **New Cluster** in the context menu, and give a name to your new Cluster, as shown in Figure 10-2. If you don't give it a custom name, vCenter will use the default name New Cluster. Click **Next** and then click **Finish**.

1 Till Vern	bu Detacenter   1	ictions					
Anner version and an anner anne	Marini Curigare Mada O Virtu Mathem O Conerce O Disarrise O Disarrise O	New Ouster	Basics	Source States	X -	ing and the ing at and the ing the bound	Hard T Hard States
Taga & Costern Altheoless And Teaminage					Calendar an at		of entering and

Figure 10-2. (vCenter Cluster 1 of 1)

With your first vCenter Cluster in place, the next task is time to add your ESXi host to the Cluster.

**Note** As you will learn in subsequent chapters, DRS, HA, vMotion, and other features require a Cluster with more than one ESXi host, so in this chapter you will add two or more additional ESXi hosts to this Cluster so that you will be able to enable this features.

You can create some extra ESXi hosts (at least one more) following the initial chapter on how to create a Nested VM. Following that process, create an extra ESXi for your vCenter Cluster.

# 10.3 Add Your ESXi Host to vCenter

To add your ESXi host to vCenter, in the vSphere Client, right-click the Cluster name and select **Add Hosts** in the context menu. In the *Add hosts* pop-up wizard, shown in Figure 10-3, add the ESXi host you previously created (name, user **root**, and your password). If the user and password are the same for all ESXi hosts, you can enable the option **Use the same credentials for all hosts** (no need to add to each one). Click **Next**.

🗧 vføtere Ciert									
Vighter Chert	Q     Defense Senses     denses     denses	C Vernibu Cluster  Internet  Partie Carls  Internet  Partie Carls  Internet  Partie  Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie Partie	Add hosts Add hosts Add hosts and Add hosts and and and and and and and and	Add new and existing hosts Add new and existing hosts We have (i) and existing hosts We hav	s to your cluster		×	A development of the EUCLAN of the Tay and Tay	Constraints
	Nove Ta., Hersene., Tage & Castain Attributes Add Permission., Alarmy Interior	Cuetom Allebaras			*:	General	. MART		a moot dage

Figure 10-3. (Add ESXi host vCenter 1 of 13)

Select all ESXi three hosts and import all certificates from the ESXi host to vCenter.



Figure 10-4. (Add ESXi host vCenter 2 of 13)

Step 2 of the *Add hosts* wizard, review the ESXi host summary and check if you have any warnings. Figure 10-5 shows one warning, indicating one VM already exists in one of the ESXi hosts and is powered on. Usually, this is not a problem. It is just to inform you about the ESXi host you are adding to the vCenter. This particular case is the vCenter you created in the previous chapter. Click **Next** to continue.

	_				
1 Add hosts		I host has warnings.			×
2 Host Summary		Hostname / IP Address T ESX Version	Ŧ	Model	Ŧ
3 Ready to Complete	~	A Vembu-ESXI-01.vmwarehome.la 7.0.3 b		VMware, Inc. VMware7,1	
		A This host has 1 powered on VMs.			×
		Current - vCenter	Networks	VM Network	
		Powered On Vembu vCenter VMs	Datastores	local-datastore-01	
	>	Vembu-ESXI-02.vmwarehome.lab 7.0.3		VMware, Inc. VMware7,1	
	>	Vembu-ESXI-03.vmwarehome.lab 7.0.3		VMware, Inc. VMware7,1	

Figure 10-5. (Add ESXi host vCenter 3 of 13)

In the final wizard step, shown in Figure 10-6, double-check the ESXi host information. If all is okay, click **Finish** to add the ESXi hosts to your Cluster.

Add hosts	Review and finish ×
1 Add hosts	3 new hosts will be connected to vCenter Server and moved to this cluster:
2 Host Summary	Vembu-ESXi-01 vmwarehome lab Vembu-ESXi-02 vmwarehome lab Vembu-ESXi-03 vmwarehome lab
3 Ready to Complete	
	CANCEL FINISH

Figure 10-6. (Add ESXi host vCenter 4 of 13)

If there is no problem with the IP/FQDN or the network of your ESXi hosts, vCenter starts to import them to the Cluster.

Now you have created your vCenter Cluster. As shown in Figure 10-7, one of the hosts in this demonstration has a yellow warning icon.

0 0 0 0	C D Vernibu Ouster   Innime Sammay Bontor Configur Permission Holes We Extentions Automatic Updates	ŝ				
Vertex - Contex - proceedings in the     Vertex - proceedings	And Holmony 2 And Holmony Negative 2					Tan 17 0 Tanga A. A. Tan Tan Tan Tan Tan Tan
a versu center	Mend Open	-	Clarite Canaurana			
	Curre Services	~	Aspetta	Ungry	barates	_
	Curleo Militateo	Ŷ				
			-			he here to diama
			Caster Resistors			
· Beard Sales storm						

Figure 10-7. (Add ESXi host vCenter 6 of 13)

Select the ESXi host, and the *Summary* tab displays the warning messages, as shown in Figure 10-8. The warnings are about the console ESXi Shell and SSH being enabled for this host.

📄 väphere Clent O				
Construction for an analysis of the second sec	vembu-esc-Ol vimusehone.lab     //     vembu-esc-Ol vimusehone.lab     //     vembu-esc-Ol vimusehone.lab     vembu-esc-Vimusehone.lab     vembu-esc-Vimusehonesc-Vimusehone.lab     vemb	anna 19. Datatra Maruta Aplan 19. Manud galanne	en e	San LO SS Genetic E S Ore Fran 17 - 10 San 26 - 10 Generic 70 3 10
	Bitch the hort to be ensured     Concern      Top      Annuel Marcolau      Concern      Solution      Soluti	Suppress shell access werbs warrings werb werb werd Oversaerbane fit men and access beth our drivers and men and access beth our drivers and Do you wert to unitary But to the series of the serie	inede (Lafe	·

Figure 10-8. (Add ESXi host vCenter 7 of 13)

**Note** For security reasons, SSH in a production environment should always be disabled by default and enabled only when necessary. That is why the VMware warning is asking for confirmation that this is really necessary.

Since this is a test environment, click **Suppress Warning** and then click **Yes**, and vCenter will no longer warn you about this issue.

### 10.4 Quick Tips for Managing Hosts in vCenter Server

In your VMware environment, you currently have a vCenter installed, a Datacenter, and a Cluster created with three ESXi hosts added. Here are some quick tips for managing hosts in the vCenter Server.

### 10.4.1 Put a Host in Maintenance Mode

Maintenance mode is a state in which administrators can work on the ESXi host while still powered on, to perform tasks such as upgrading/updating ESXi host and everything is in it(vSphere, security patches, drivers everything), applying patches, drivers, troubleshooting, and so forth.

When putting an ESXi host in maintenance mode, if any VMs on it are currently powered on, vCenter will move (using vMotion) them to the next available host. You can also move powered off VMs if you want to. Or, for example, if you want to move the host to another Cluster or Datacenter.

To put a host in maintenance mode, right-click the host, select **Maintenance Mode** in the context menu, and then click **Enter Maintenance Mode**, as shown in Figure 10-9. Figure 10-10 shows the icon that is displayed for a host in maintenance mode.

= v\$phere Client Q	<ul> <li>Adam - et alte mail 33 meastron.</li> <li>New Vinteal Machine.</li> </ul>	^		C S VARAMENTIALEXETOCY' ~ ©
	Cosky OV* template	archome.lab   1 Across e Pernissions <u>VMs</u> Detectores	Networks Updates	
B Versu Catileetter     B Versu Catile     D versu Catile     D versu catile     D versu est Comunitations bio     D versu est Comunitations bio	@ moon vVis Maritmance Mode Connection	Enter Mantenance Mode	Enter Maintenance Mode   verifie X esal-02 vrimvarehore lab A hold in reintenance mode does not perform any activities on vitruel reachines, incuding vitruel macrine pervanding. The hold computation is the analost the	Warning vembu-esci-03.vmwarehome.tab × There are one on more powered on vitral inachines on hosts
ventou-oci-oz veneprinenie ute     ventou-oci-oz veneprinenie ute     ventou-oci-oz veneprinenie ute     ventou-vCenter	Poser · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	C NOTE - 1	Istram Muncharusce Mode aux dows not compare and the above halos a comparison to variable tests to eliter prevent d'al magnation bervisal analytims holis the holis namular. You can cancat the thise Mailtenance Mode fast all any field. Fig. the sected holds in maritenance mode?	intribu etco (3) mularithmin BA. The operation will proceed once all virtual machines are powered off or mignited to another host.
	en anterior anterio anterior anterior anterio anterior an		CANCEL	
	Report Rystem Lops Deconfigure for vEptern HA			

Figure 10-9. (Add ESXi host vCenter 8 of 13)



Figure 10-10. (Add ESXi host vCenter 9 of 13)

### 10.4.2 Disconnect and Reconnect a Host

Disconnecting a host managed by a vCenter Server system leaves the host in place but temporarily suspends all activity. Disconnecting doesn't remove the host from your vCenter Server, but it stops every single monitoring activity that the vCenter Server performs.

To disconnect a host, right-click the host, select **Connection** in the context menu, and then click **Disconnect**, as shown in Figure 10-11. To reconnect, perform the same action but click **Connect** after selecting **Connection**.



Figure 10-11. (Add ESXi host vCenter 10 of 13)

## 10.4.3 Relocate a Host

You can move a host to another location by dragging it to the new location. You can put the host in a folder, in a cluster, or as a stand-alone object in the Datacenter.

To relocate a host to a cluster, right-click the host, select **Move To** in the context menu, select the cluster, and click **OK**, as shown in Figure 10-12.



Figure 10-12. (Add ESXi host vCenter 11 of 13)

### 10.4.4 Remove a Host from the vCenter Server

To discontinue monitoring and managing a managed server, it must be removed from the vCenter Server and it must be in maintenance mode.

To remove a host in maintenance mode, right-click the host, select **Remove from Inventory** in the context menu, and then click **Yes** in the confirmation dialog box shown in Figure 10-13.

= stranger 0	🐥 Actoria - amita esal Chimaalamine ku (Aenasara W					
	States Solid House			C Dim		. w . w .
	of logics (but longian	ab 1 actors				
	(2) have demonstrate front.	rs vis Data	dores Networks Läpästes			
- 🦉 the bury of beller an unit of both and	12 torn adapt.	F C.3. 19191900				100.0100
- B wear Dataceter	@ incertains		200ar		and strengt	Iners States
- Q VerbeCulter	Numberance Mode	1000000000				Per 22.11.08
D semito coli 02 smillione lati	Consection .	:	Remove Host versoures all of its versal machines, researce		Date 1 (0) (10)	Trans Add on the
Annual Control Control Control Control	🗖				Lord Life Dr.	
	Cetholes .		pools and vAppa have the examinary of vCenter Server.			
	Surge .		An addition, part performance data, host level permissions, use     created aterms, and the values of outron withor development     any values contracting on the force with their new reference month			
ESXI host in Maintenance Mode	@ Act furthermany					1
	Head Profiles					
	Groot System Logs.		Beinster this heal?			
		100	82 111	C Verso Custer		
	Cr Acopy Lawren	/				_
	Settings					
	Move To.					
	Tage & Californ All Bodys	1	w K Internet			
	Renew York reactory	r	The method share of			
	All fermion.	1				
· Recent Tasks Alarma	Aarao					

Figure 10-13. (Add ESXi host vCenter 12 of 13)

**Note** Removing a host from inventory is only possible if it is in maintenance mode and is not used by any vCenter Virtual Switches (Distributed Virtual Switches—vDS).

### 10.4.5 Reboot or Shut Down an ESXi Host

To reboot or power off ESXi hosts, use the vSphere Client rather than the vCenter Server. You can choose to disconnect a managed host from the vCenter Server if you want, but it won't be removed from the inventory.

To perform either action, right-click the host, select **Power** in the context menu, and then choose the action, as shown in Figure 10-14.

= vistere Clerit Q	<ul> <li>British - Antiburear Distancements</li> <li>Mana Ministra Mantena -</li> </ul>		C	A AND AND AND A	@ @·
	d Dester OVE Temples.	vmwarehome.lab   Licture			
0 0 0 0	Chang Branch of Dark.	Configure Peretasions VHI Datastores Networks Options			
· O Vesturdate assessed	12 Year of the	Views 808, 103, 000000		-	Tes 17474
+ D venes Datasetter	El importi vines.	VMpare).		Taxa Mitching	Davidy 100 pm
D Vertile Coller	Maxtenania Mode .	sensors. 4		in the second	Real 101010
C annual cost of yes	towerton .	term 1		1001 12.01 M	Capacity 12-12
C annibureac-00 cm 62 (vencs yCencer	Teser .	2 Print D		And PERSON NAME	Table 10.11.0
	Certification .	C Linte Davida Male			
	Poss .	C Vol Daw			
	Cast Menorary.	C THEORY	Configuration		1
	Example System Lings.		Inlated Objects		~
		Congrey Description	Outre Dotte		
	Q Assign License.	1			_
	Lettings				
	Move 1s.				
	Tage & Colore Athritudes	and the second sec			
	Service from Incentory	No here to depice	An		
	Add Partnesses				
a ferrer faite storm	darra .				

Figure 10-14. (Add ESXi host vCenter 13 of 13)

# **10.5 What Is vSphere Cluster Services?**

After you create your Cluster, you will notice some VMs labeled vCLS running in each host, as shown in Figure 10-15. vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS) ensures that if the vCenter Server becomes unavailable, cluster services remain available to maintain the resources and health of the workloads that run in the clusters. vCentre Server is still required to run DRS and HA.



### Figure 10-15. (vSphere vCLS 1 of 2)

vCLS agents maintain the health of cluster services by running a virtual machine on each host. The vCLS agents are created when you add hosts to clusters. There should be three vCLS agents in every vSphere cluster, spread out within the cluster.

Adding one or two more hosts doesn't incur an additional cost; if only one or two hosts exist, there will be one or two vCLS agents per cluster, respectively.

When you upgrade your vSphere, your vCLS instance, it's upgraded with it. vCLS is only available in vSphere 7.0 Update 1 and newer.

If you upgrade to vSphere 7.0 Update 1 (or deploy a new one), activation of vCLS will happen automatically.

New anti-affinity rules are applied automatically every three minutes and will distribute vCLS VMs among different hosts if they are all located on the same host at that time.

If you click the VMs and Templates tab (the icon highlighted in Figure 10-16), you can expand the vCLS folder to see all the VMs inside.

🚊 vSphere Cient 🔍			
	Vernbu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab    xnow     work outer with Outer VM Datations Network Unet-CenterSeverSystems Extensions Lapitotes     work outer outer Systems Extensions Lapitotes		
Wendou vCanter servarantores Lida     Wendou Datacenter     Di Vendou Datacenter     Di Vendou Datacenter     Di Vendou Datacenter	Version 7-3.0 2003/CON 2003/CON 2003/C	CPV Gene 2007 GPA	A Rep 37 17 (M) Reputy 31 70 (M) Rep 54 47 (M) Density 72 (M)
<ul> <li></li></ul>	Clamp 1 Hang 3 Vide MacPart 4	Sec. 4110	$u_{\rm int} \gtrsim M.00$ $u_{\rm int} s_{\rm int} \approx M.00$

*Figure 10-16.* (*vSphere vCLS 2 of 2*)

We will discuss vSphere Cluster Services in more detail in Chapter 30.

# 10.6 Summary

In this Chapter we discussed the structures for arranging and optimizing resources in a vSphere setup. We discussed the significance of the vCenter Datacenter acting as a hub, for all virtual assets in a location streamlining the management of intricate environments. Additionally we explored vCenter Clusters illustrating how they unite ESXi hosts to enhance resource allocation boost availability and support virtual machine scalability. The process of incorporating ESXi hosts into the vCenter was explained to highlight the advantages of administration. Lastly we introduced vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS) to emphasize its role in ensuring cluster services health and availability. Vital for upholding an effective virtual infrastructure.

## **CHAPTER 11**

# vCenter Datastores

In this chapter, before you learn how to create a vMotion network, you'll learn how to create iSCSI and NFS Datastores, since vMotion needs shared Storage.

In this chapter we will discuss the process of setting up iSCSI and NFS Datastores, which are crucial, for enabling shared storage needed for vMotion. You will discover how to set up an iSCSI, handle iSCSI connections and explore details about storage options, multipath setups well, as different devices and functionalities linked to them.

We have already created a vCenter Datacenter and a Cluster and added three ESXi hosts to the Cluster, so it is time to add shared storage for the ESXi hosts. In this chapter we will focus on those features and settings that we can use when we have central management for our ESXi hosts. We will start by discussing some types of Datastores and Storage in the ESXi and vCenter.

# 11.1 Datastore Types

We have already discussed Datastores a bit in Chapter 6, but now we will discuss them in more detail for vCenter.

You can create four types of Datastores in your ESXi hosts:

- VMFS Datastores
  - iSCSI Storage
  - Fibre Channel Storage

#### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

- NFS Datastores
  - NFS (v3 and v4.1)
- vSAN Datastores
  - When creating a vSAN Cluster
- VMware vSphere Virtual Volumes (vVols)

In this chapter, we discuss only iSCSI VMFS and NFS Datastores vSAN and vVols Datastores are not discussed in this book, possibly in the new book version.

### 11.1.1 VMFS Datastores

ESXi uses Datastores to store virtual disks. The datastores are logical containers that give virtual machines a standard paradigm for storing virtual machine files while concealing details of actual Storage from them.

The native vSphere Virtual Machine File System (VMFS) format is used by the Datastores that you deploy on block storage devices. It is an exclusive high-performance file system format explicitly designed for storing virtual computers.

The block-based storage device your ESXi host detects can be prepared in advance by setting up the VMFS datastore using the vSphere Client. The VMFS datastore can be expanded to cover many physical storage components, including local Storage and storage area network (SAN) logical unit numbers (LUNs). You can use this functionality to pool Storage and create the flexible Datastore you need for your virtual machines.

While the virtual machines are running on the datastore, you can increase its capacity. This feature allows you to add new space to your VMFS Datastores as needed for your virtual machines.

VMFS is designed for concurrent access from multiple physical machines and enforces access controls on virtual machine files.

vSphere VMFS Datastores can be used with SAN Storage by creating iSCSI LUNs and Fibre Channel Storage Volumes at the Storage level.

### 11.1.2 NFS Datastores

An NFS volume on a network-attached storage (NAS) server is accessed by an NFS client built into ESXi using the Network File System (NFS) protocol over TCP/IP.

The NFS volume can be mounted and used by the ESXi host as Storage. vSphere supports versions 3 and 4.1 of the NFS protocol.

A storage administrator typically creates the NFS volume or directory and exports it from the NFS server. The NFS volume does not require formatting using a local file system like VMFS.

NFS datastores can store ISO images, virtual machine templates, and other types of files in addition to virtual disks.

You can link the virtual machine's CD-ROM device to an ISO file using the Datastore for the ISO images. After that, you can install a guest operating system using the ISO file.

Instead, you mount the NFS volume directly on the ESXi hosts and utilize it like a VMFS datastore to store and boot virtual machines.

vSphere NFS Datastores can be used by NAS by creating shared folders at the Storage level.

**Note** To understand better both types of Storage, check out my article in the Vembu blog at https://www.bdrsuite.com/blog/nfs-vs-iscsi-which-is-best-for-you/.

# **11.2 Configure iSCSI Datastores**

First, you need to create an iSCSI LUN in your SAN Storage. The method of creation differs among storage vendors. It is not possible to explain all the vendors in this book, so check with your Storage vendor manual on how to create an iSCSI LUN in your SAN.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

An iSCSI LUN needs a Target to be mounted and an Initiator to connect. An initiator can be a network card (HBA) or an iSCSI Software Adapter. Since we don't have HBA in our VMware test lab configuration, we will use an iSCSI Software Adapter. Also important in an iSCSI infrastructure is an iSCSI Qualified Name (IQN), discussed first.

### 11.2.1 IQN

Each iSCSI element on an iSCSI network has a unique iSCSI name and is assigned an address for access. Each iSCSI element, whether an Initiator or Target, has a unique IQN. The IQN is a logical name that is not associated with a specific IP address.

The IQN has the following characteristics:

- An IQN is always unique.
- There can be no two initiators or targets with the same name.
- An IQN can have up to 255 characters.
- Only numbers (0–9), letters (A–Z and a–z), colons
   (:), hyphens (-), and periods are permitted. The IQN format is as follows: *iqn.yyyy-mm.naming-authority:unique name*

The unique name on your IQN can be any name you want to use, such as the name of your host. To name your IQN, For instance, in my case, my Storage Target IQN is **iqn.2000-01.com.synology:HomeStorage. Target-1.75c007f110**. It has the year, month, storage vendor, and storage domain with an ID.

We created two iSCSI LUNs in our Storage and mapped them to the Target (with an IQN): **Vembu-iSCSI01** and **Vembu-iSCSI02**, with 250GB each.
Storage Target and IQN:

As you can see in Figure 11-1, you have the option to enable CHAP in your Storage Target, as described next.

Name:	Vembu-ESXi
IQN:	iqn.2000-01.com.synology:HomeStorage.Ta
Enable CHAP	
Name:	
Password:	
Confirm password:	
Enable Mutual CHAP	
Name:	
Password:	
Confirm password:	

Figure 11-1. (Install iSCSI Datastore 1 of 25)

## 11.2.2 CHAP

The Challenge Handshake Authentication Protocol (CHAP) enables the exchange of authenticated data between iSCSI initiators and targets. CHAP usernames and passwords are defined on both the Initiator and the storage system when using CHAP authentication.

If you need extra security to connect your iSCSI LUNs to your ESXi hosts, you can use CHAP by adding a username and password know from.

Only Target and Initiator will know this username/password. With this extra security level, you can ensure that only hosts with authenticated CHAP can connect to this iSCSI LUN. But since this is a test environment, we will not enable CHAP.

## 11.2.3 iSCSI VMkernel

Now that you have your iSCSI LUN created, it is time to configure your ESXi hosts to connect to this iSCSI LUN and create a VMFS Datastore.

For purposes of the test lab, we need to create two VMkernel interfaces (see Chapter 5 for a refresher on what a VMkernel is) per ESXi host for our iSCSI network. We can create our iSCSI network using a Standard Switch or a vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS).

I will only show how to use a Standard Virtual Switch for the iSCSI in this example. Chapter 14 discusses vCenter vDS in more detail, and there you will also learn how to use it for iSCSI.

Creating a VMkernel for iSCSI requires two paths: active and passive (unused). If one of the paths goes down, the Initiator will automatically use the passive path (but from the other VMkernel while using port binding and iSCSI Multipath) to prevent Permanent Device Loss (PDL) and All-Paths-Down (APD); Not the action, but the result that we have is a *iSCSI Multipathing*.

**Note** For more information about PDL and APD, refer to https://kb.vmware.com/s/article/2004684.

### Next diagram (Install iSCSI Datastore 2) shows:

VMkernel vmk1 is connected to vmnic2 and has a passive connection to vmnc3, and VMkernel vmk2 is connected to vmnic3 and has a passive connection to vmnc2. Both physical cards (vmnics) will be binding with an ESXi feature called *network port binding*. Port binding ensures that the vmnics are aggregated to each other and connected to the target as one unit for high availability.

### 11.2.4 Network Port Binding

When numerous VMkernel ports for iSCSI are located in the same broadcast domain and IP subnet, port binding is utilized in iSCSI to enable multiple pathways to an iSCSI array that broadcasts a single IP address.

You should keep the following in mind when utilizing port binding:

- For iSCSI communication, all VMkernel ports must be located in the same broadcast domain and IP subnet.
- The same vSwitch must house each VMkernel port utilized for iSCSI communication.

The design shown in Figure 11-2 is an iSCSI Multipath example that has four VMkernel ports using port binding to connect to only one Target. The multiple VMkernel ports all reside in the same IP subnet and broadcast domain. In this type of design (the same one we will use in our test lab configuration), all VMkernel ports need to be in the same network. If not, multipathing will not work.

**Note** Whereas the example in Figure 11-2 uses four VMkernel ports (and four vmnics), we'll only use two ports in our test lab configuration. But the configuration is the same, just fewer paths.

With this type of configuration, we have High Availability in our iSCSI network.



Figure 11-2. (Install iSCSI Datastore 2 of 25)



Figure 11-3 shows our test lab configuration.

Figure 11-3. (Install iSCSI Datastore 3 of 25)

Let us explain how to implement the above design.

### How to create an iSCSI Software Adapter?

As indicated in Figure 11-4, log in to the vCenter Client, select your ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **Storage Adapters**, click the **Add Software Adapter** drop-down arrow, and select **Add iSCSI adapter**. Read the message and then click **OK** to confirm.



Figure 11-4. (Install iSCSI Datastore 4 of 25)

As shown at the top of Figure 11-5, you now have an iSCSI Software Adapter with its own IQN. The lower half of Figure 11-5 shows how you can edit the Software Adapter to change the IQN or add CHAP authentication.

	No.64	* . fige	* Tota	* therefore	* Tegeta	+ ) Owners	a faite
0 webat5	ISSS Software Adapter	659	Chine	BOLVERON WIR-	oleonia, - D		Ð
- of method	PRO4 for 43070(3400x/MX OE Controller	Book 505	Granowe				
4 ercal4	Plot for elicitate/elicitation/sector Controller	Build SCB	Ghangwen		6		0
de vertoa0	HARDER BEER CONTROLMEN	109	Uningen		31		1
Inplex Status ACTIC ebs	NES -	0001 0		Annotation terration angua terration angua terration dege advectors to anyon Biosettor terr			
	HTLD) SCS Software Majoler	E \$30 host We can custom th	ION	e			

Figure 11-5. (Install iSCSI Datastore 5 of 25)

# 11.3 Create an iSCSI VMkernel

As previously discussed, since we do not have physical HBA cards for iSCSI (that would be a destination Initiator), we need to create an iSCSI software adapter and build our iSCSI network with that.

As shown in Figure 11-6, select your ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **Virtual Switches**, and click **Add Networking**. In step 1 of the Add Networking wizard that opens, choose **VMware Network Adapter** and then click **Next**.

E visiter Class Q	C Sameratoria.co. O O+
Control contro control control control control control control control control co	( or express. ] and :

Figure 11-6. (Install iSCSI Datastore 6 of 25)

Next, as shown in Figure 11-7, select **New standard switch** and set the Jumbo Frames *MTU (Bytes)* option to **9000** (only use MTU if all your network devices and ports connected to this physical network interface are set to MTU 9000). If you don't know, or it is not set to MTU 9000, leave the default 1500. Click **Next**.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device	Select target device Select a target device for the new connection.	
3 Create a Standard Switch 4 Port properties 5 IPv4 settings 6 Ready to complete	Select an existing network	BROWSE
	Select an existing standard switch	
_	vSwitchO	BROWSE
	New standard switch MTU (Bytes) 9000	
_		*

Figure 11-7. (Install iSCSI Datastore 7 of 25)

**Note** To allow an ESX host to send larger frames onto the physical network, the network must support jumbo frames end to end. An iSCSI network performs much better when using jumbo frames. Therefore, use jumbo frames if your iSCSI network has all software initiators and targets and the network switches can handle them.

Next, in step 3 of the wizard shown in Figure 11-8, click the + button to add the physical network cards (vmnics) to your new vSwitch.



Figure 11-8. (Install iSCSI Datastore 8 of 25)

As discussed in previous chapters, if you have extra network cards, use them for Storage, in this case for iSCSI. And if you followed the initial chapters and created a nested ESXi environment, if you didn't initially add two new virtual networks to the nested ESXi VM. For our test lab, as shown in the design (see Figure 11-3), we will use vmnic2 and vmnic3. Click **OK** to return to the wizard.

**Note** Figure 11-9 shows that the vmnics broadcast the subnet 192.168.10.0/24. This is because I have created a VLAN 10 for the Storage network in my physical switch, and all ports of the physical Switch that are connect to the Storage are using the same VLAN/Subnet.

etwork Adapters	All Properties CDP L	LDP		
vmnic2 vmnic3	Adapter Name Location Driver	VMware Inc. vmxnet3 Virtual Ethernet Controller vmnic2 PCI 0000:1b:00.0 nvmxnet3		
	Status Status Actual speed, Duplex Configured speed, Duplex Networks	Connected 10 Gbit/s, Full Duplex 10 Gbit/s, Full Duplex 192168.10.252-192.168.10.252		
	Network I/O Control Status	Allowed		
	SR-IOV Status	Not supported		
	Cisco Discovery Protocol () Cisco Discovery Protocol	is not available on this physical network adapter		
	Link Layer Discovery Protocol () Link Layer Discovery Pro	tocol is not available on this physical network adapter		

Figure 11-9. (Install iSCSI Datastore 9 of 25)

Click **Next** in step 3 to continue the configuration of the VMkernel and vSwitch. In step 4, shown in Figure 11-10, you can change the port group name (I always do this for better management and to recognize the different port groups). If you don't want to change it, leave the default. There's no need to change anything else in this step, so click **Next**.

1 Select connection type	Specify VMkernel port se	ettings.			^
2 Select target device	VMkernel port settings				
3 Create a Standard Switch	Network label	iSCSI-01			
4 Port properties		None (0) V			
5 IPv4 settings 6 Ready to complete	IP settings	IPv4 ~			
a trand to complete	MTU	Get MTU from switch ~	9000		
	TCP/IP stack	Default v			
	Available services				
	Enabled services	vMotion			
		Provisioning			
		Fault Tolerance logging			
		Management			
		vSphere Replication			
		vSphere Replication NFC			
		□ vSAN			
		vSphere Backup NFC			
		NVMe over TCP			
		NVMe over RDMA			~
				CK N	EXT

Figure 11-10. (Install iSCSI Datastore 10 of 25)

In step 5, shown in Figure 11-11, add an IP address for the iSCSI VMkernel. Don't forget that this subnet should be the same as your Storage IP Target, as shown in the first design (see Figure 11-2). Click **Next**.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device 2 Create a Standard Switch	IPv4 settings Specify VMkernel IPv4 setting	15.					
4 Port properties 5 IPv4 settings	Obtain IPv4 settings automatically						
6 Ready to complete	te O Use static IPv4 settings						
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.113					
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0					
	Default gateway	<ul> <li>Override default gateway for this adapter</li> </ul>					
		192.168.10 253					
	DNS server addresses	192.168.1.40 192.168.1.3					

Figure 11-11. (Install iSCSI Datastore 11 of 25)

**Note** iSCSI doesn't need a gateway and should never be routed. So leave the default gateway. Since we are routing Storage between networks, we have added a gateway in this example. But this is only for particular network configurations.

Next, in the final step of the wizard, shown in Figure 11-12, double-check the information and click **Finish**.

1 Coloris anno 11 - 1					
1 Select connection type	New standard switch	vSwitch1			
2 Select target device	Assigned adapters	vmnic2, vmnic3			
3 Create a Standard Switch	Switch MTU	9000			
4 Port properties	New port group	ISCSI-01			
E ID of antilana	VLAN ID	None (0)			
5 IPv4 settings	vMotion	Disabled			
6 Ready to complete	Provisioning	Disabled			
	Fault Tolerance logging	Disabled			
	Management	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication NFC	Disabled			
	VSAN	Disabled			
	vspnere Backup NFC	Disabled			
	NVMe over TCP	Disabled			
	NVME OVER RDMA	Disabled			
	NIC settings				
	MTU	9000			
	TCP/IP stack	Default			
	IPv4 settings				
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.113 (static)			
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			
	Default gateway for IPv4	192.168.10.253			
			CANCEL	BACK	FINISH

Figure 11-12. (Install iSCSI Datastore 12 of 25)

Figure 11-13 shows that we now have a new vSwitch called vSwitch1 and a port group called iSCSI-01. Figure 11-13 also shows a new VMkernel created with the IP address 192.168.10.113.



Figure 11-13. (Install iSCSI Datastore 13 of 25)

The first VMkernel was created, but the Teaming is wrong, so we need to fix it. By default, vSwitch will always set both vmnics to active. But this is not supported for iSCSI and port binding, so we need to change this after we create the VMkernel.

Let's set the configuration as active/passive (unused) so that we can create a port binding (if vmnics are both active, the configuration will not let you create a port binding).

On the port group named iSCSI-01, click the ... icon and select Edit Settings, as shown in Figure 11-14. In the Edit Settings dialog box, select the Teaming and failover option, and set the *Load balancing* field to Use explicit failover order (meaning that in case of one vmnic fail, it will use the configured failover order).



Figure 11-14. (Install iSCSI Datastore 15 of 25)

Next, in the *Failover order* section of the Edit Settings dialog box, enable **Override** and move one of the vmnics to the *Unused adapters* list. For purposes of our test lab design, iSCSI-01, the NIC vmnic2 is in use and vmnic3 is not used for this port group, so move vmnic3 to the *Unused adapters* list. Click **OK** to exit the Edit Settings dialog box.

As you can see in Figure 11-15, the iSCSI-01 VMkernel is now connected only to vmnic2. In the iSCSI Storage, there is only one path from iSCSI-01, and it is to vmnic2.

v Standard Safety vSwitch	NONCE EDT NAMERYNSCH, ADMYLIS
	Vertilized active Unitimized Encoded by the State active set of the state acti

Figure 11-15. (Install iSCSI Datastore 16 of 25)

We now have our first iSCSI VMkernel created. But since the minimum is two, we need to create a second one. It's time to return to the Add Networking wizard. Click **Add Networking** in your vSwitch1 and select the option **VMkernel Network Adapter**. Click **Next**.

The wizard procedure is the same as earlier, but this time we will not create a Standard Switch since it already exists. Instead, we will create a port group called iSCSI-02 and a VMkernel in that port group.

In step 2 of the wizard, shown in Figure 11-16, choose **Select an** existing standard switch.

Select connection type     Select target device     Apple to the properties	Select target device Select a target device for the new connection.					
3 Port properties 4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	○ Select an existing	Select an existing network				
	<ul> <li>Select an existing</li> </ul>					
	vSwitch1			BROWSE		
	O New standard swi	itch				
	MTU (Bytes)	1500				

Figure 11-16. (Install iSCSI Datastore 17 of 25)

The rest of the options are the same as described earlier, so there is no need to display them again.

In step 3, *Port properties*, create a port group named (in this case) **iSCSI-02**) and click **Next**. In step 4, set an IP address for the VMkernel (in this case, **192.168.10.114**). Click **Next**, and then click **Finish** in step 5.

As shown in Figure 11-17, the test lab now has two port groups (iSCSI-01 and iSCSI-02) with a VMkernel in each one. The iSCSI-02 port group is connected to vmnic3 (don't forget to edit the iSCSI-02 port group to set vmnic2 as unused).



Figure 11-17. (Install iSCSI Datastore 18 of 25)

Since we are using a Standard Virtual Switch, we need to follow this process in all the ESXi hosts in the Cluster that are connected to our iSCSI Storage.

**Note** If we were using vDS, it would set the configuration for all ESXi hosts (except creating the VMkernel, which we always need to create manually and set the IP addresses).

Figure 11-18 shows the final result for our iSCSI network in all ESXi hosts.

Virtual switches	
> Standard Switch: vSwitch0	
Standard Switch: VSwitch1 ADD NETWORKING EDIT MANAGE PAYSICAL ADAPTERS	
	©         BCEB CEE         ***           V-SANC         ***           V-SMERIE Frist         ***           V-Merie Frist         ***           V-Merie Frist         ***           V-Merie Frist         ***           V-Merie Frist         ***
	Q         0000 00         ••••           VLAAD         •••         VBernard 20x0 010         ••••           ••• VBernard 20x0 010         ••••         •••         ••••           Q         0000 010         ••••         •••         ••••           VLAAD         •••         ••••         ••••         ••••           Q         0000 010         ••••         ••••         ••••           VLAAD         ••••         ••••         •••••         •••••
<ul> <li>Vargetart werden verwerten joo sigt voorlok zijn ververdigen.</li> </ul>	0         000000000000000000000000000000000000

Figure 11-18. (Install iSCSI Datastore 19 of 25)

Having finished our iSCSI network and created all the VMkernels, it is time to go back to the iSCSI Software Adapter connect and bind the VMkernel adapters to create a Network port binding.

As shown in Figure 11-19, select the ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **Storage Adapters**, select the **iSCSI Software Adapter**. In the iSCSI Software Adapter section, click the **Network Port Binding** tab, click **Add**, and then select the previously created VMkernel (in our case, vmk1 and vmk2). Click **OK**.



Figure 11-19. (Install iSCSI Datastore 20 of 25)

**Note** As you can see in Figure 11-19, when you select just one VMkernel, the Status indicates *Compliant*. It means that the port group and VMkernel are correctly configured.

Now that we've created our network port binding, we must add our Storage device to the iSCSI Software Adapter. As shown in Figure 11-20, click **Dynamic Discovery** and add the IP address of your Storage device. After you create network port binding and add your Storage device, click **Rescan Storage** so that the ESXi host can connect to your Storage. Click **OK** in the Rescan Storage dialog box to rescan.

Storage Adapters					
A Due to recent configuration changes, a rescan of "writeast)" is recommended					0
ADD BOTTHING ADAPTER - REFICER PRESCH FREMARE RELEASE REALING					Rescan Storage   vembu-esxi-01vmvarehome.lab X
Alaphi e Muler e	1324	e fista	e Metifei e	Tergeta	-
O white dos followary Adapter	ecs .	Dilw	laci, mildo 1958 Charrie.	0	Scale of each strategy devices
O 0-venset PBA to: 4301044080,MX OK Centrale	Book 9CB	Uninden			Here an at here due adoptions for new stronger devices, rescurring at adoption, can be than
O è venada Pena torazoristació, Mix de Controlar	BOX 5CU	Uninteelti		0	Scan for Asia VM/S Volumes
C 0 senses Pv5c9.5c9 Coveralier	509	Unancient		2	Descar all known storage devices for new VMPS solumes that have been added
A store -     Neuron -	Buling Advanced Options	Add Send Target Server 100 Port 201 Port 201 Por	venbo65 venous o then earest (centers)	×	(2013) - (197

Figure 11-20. (Install iSCSI Datastore 21 of 25)

After the rescan, and if all the configuration is correct, the ESXi host should now be connected to your Storage device.

Go to the **Paths** tab, shown in Figure 11-21, and you should see all the paths from your ESXi host to the Storage device. Since our test lab has two VMkernel, you should see two paths for each LUN, and you should see many LUNs and paths because we have several LUNS in the Storage.

Amper y man	* 1d*	w Status	a merchan	w Tepra	w Desire	a Pada	
writial     SCI Software Adapter	63	Onine	local, unit (on 1998-01.0	anx. B		- 94	
<ul> <li>Install</li> <li>Install installation</li> </ul>	ester Book 1/29	Unicent		2.1		0.9.0	
writewide      Post for #3015/MCBR/MX CE Con	tipler Book SCS	Unknown		0	4	e	
- 6- weenact - Pu%CS SCS Controller	905	Unincian		1	2	2	
ten Deven Film Dynamic Darowery 1	Kells Decovery Network Part Binding Advanced Optim						
EARCHER - effen Devices Faths Dynamic Docovery 1 mit protect	Tuts: Discourry National Part Binding Advanced Optio	ung	2				
Extract - action Devices Fields Dynamic Discovery 1 int Distance Devices How Second Discovery	tutic Discourry Nativoli Port Briding Advanced Optin * Steps	envi y [309]			• Des		
EXPORT - write: Derivers: FileFil: Dynamic Biscowry 1 mit Delivers: Subtract Name - virefall(S) 23 (1) -	Ndic Discoury Network Port Binding Advanced Cpth	ene. • 104 segur homodorage Sprate. •			<ul> <li>Dece</li> <li>♦ Artice</li> </ul>		
Exercise - enters Devices Failer Dynamic Discovery 1 and Devices Sectore Name www.editic 0.75(5) www.editic 0.75(5) www.editic 0.75(5) www.editic 0.75(5)	Notice Decovery Network Part Binding Advanced Quite • Staget • Staget • 2000 07 sensings • 2000 07 sensings	eney nego hornester ago (preste, 1 nego hornester ago (preste, 2 nego hornester ago (preste, 2)			<ul> <li>№66</li> <li>€ Artist</li> <li>⊕ Artist</li> <li>⊕ Artist</li> </ul>		
EVENT - effin Oncom FARM Oprimit Discourse 1 auto 100 and interaction 21013 interaction 21013 interacti	Notice Decomy Network Part Bending Advanced Calify • Name • 2000 07 noningen • 10000 07 noningen • 10000 07 noningen • 10000 07 noningen • 10000 07 noningen	ener noge hornester oge formen. Noge hornester oge formen. Dig promotionge formen. Dig promotionge formen.			<ul> <li>▼ 1000</li> <li>⊕ Allon</li> <li>⊕ Allon</li> <li>⊕ Allon</li> <li>⊕ Allon</li> </ul>		
Extent : Term Decem Term Dyname Decemp 1 Anno Second Total annealth 7512 annealth 7512 annealth 7512 annealth 7512 annealth 7512 annealth 7512	Metwork Part Rending Advanced Quile     Singet     Gyl 2000 01 runninger     Wat 2000 01 runninger	Internet Int			<ul> <li>₩66</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> <li>Aller</li> </ul>		
Exercise	Not Decory Network Purt Bring Advanced Quite Network Purt Bring Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree Registree	v IV     v			<ul> <li>▼ 1000</li> <li>♦ Alter</li> </ul>		
territor	Notice Part Render Text Render Cable Notice Part Render Notice Part	vore			Υ         Disk           Φ         Allini		
Control	Notice Decision Notice Data Brief Briefly Notice Data Brief Briefly Notice Data Briefly N	www.			γ         υπα           4         Λ10α           4         Λ10α		

Figure 11-21. (Install iSCSI Datastore 22 of 25)

<u> </u>	E ventu-ecci 02.vm terrary Netta Carte	warehome.lab	actives In Extension Metalon							
- B Web biset	Renge Adacters Terrige Control	Storage Adopt	ter mellen monaccurrit attourneuse 112							
E-Martine - Company	Had Carly Gordgement	America	* Tubi	* her	1 204	+ serile	* Tapiti	r Denius	- 7454	,
3 Amount In meaning.	Person Lindports	Contraction of the second	But service states		0.04	60, 760,00	HARDA, I			5.13
12 contaction	Process .	O i a vessel	tions for all Children and the Controller	Bird 173	URINE					
		O o week	PVC2 K3-C2408	113	University		1			
3	Mining adapter Period adapter 1009 contention Milacitecture Milacitecture	O (stor) - Poprio Della	Nes Downi Decerty Balk Decerty	Advant Terl Briding Advanced D	Ares .					1000
	April (Mileting)	- Adventure Territor - A	Change -							
	Delay KVK Compatibility	Table .	Piglar.							
	hans -									
	100000	And a second	united to							
	Head Protein	-	CONTRACTOR AND A							
	Yese Compositor	000 Nerve	PALL MANAGEMENT AND ADDRESS OF	EXCOUNT:						
	Automatical Services	007 KM	112,03							
	Contract Contract	Target Decomp	bein brook, that facats							

Figure 11-22. (Install iSCSI Datastore 23 of 25)

All the LUNs and Target are open (no CHAP), so any ESXi host connecting to the Storage will see all the LUNs. If we had added CHAP in our iSCSI Software adapter, you would only see the LUNS that has the same user and password CHAP on the source. Using CHAP is a way to control who can see what. Figure 11-21 is an example in which we configured that only these IPs can see these LUNS.

Edit	
General Advanced Mapping Network Binding Mas	sking
Create Delete	
Initiator IQN	Permission
Default privileges	Read/Write 👻
iqn.1998-01.com.vmware:vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab:7184	Read/Write 👻
iqn.1998-01.com.vmware:vembu-esxi-02.vmwarehome.lab:4500	Read/Write 👻
ign.1998-01.com.vmware:vembu-esxi-03.vmwarehome.lab:1529	Read/Write 👻
Note New permission settings will become effective after iSCSI initiator is	s reconnected.

Figure 11-23. (Install iSCSI Datastore 24 of 25)

We can also restrict the connections to the LUNs from the Storage side by iSCSI Software Adapter IQN. By setting the IQN, only the added IQN can connect to this LUN. These settings are done in the Storage Target; for example, using our iSCSI Software Adapter IQNs. Check first each IQN in the iSCSI Software Adapter and then add to your Storage Target.

Adding IQN to the Storage Target. LUNs are masked only to these IQNs.

To finalize the iSCSI Datastores section, do not forget to enable the option **Allow multiple sessions** in the Storage Target, as shown in Figure 11-24. Since we have multiple paths, Storage needs to accept multiple sessions to the LUN. If this option is not enabled, you can corrupt the LUN, and only one ESXi host at a time can see the LUN (and consequently the Datastore).

			Edit		
General	Advanced	Mapping	Network Binding	Masking	
CRC Check	sum				
H	leader digest				
	ata digest				
Allow	multiple sessions	1			
In ord	er to avoid serio	us data corrup	tion, please make su	re the file system on your	LUI
is clus	ter-aware, such	as VMFS, Ceph	FS, OCFS, etc., and	that MPIO settings on the	
initiat	or are properly c	onfigured.			
Maximum r	eceive segment	bytes:	262144	•	
Maximum s	send segment by	tes:	262144	-	
				OK Cance	4

Figure 11-24. (Install iSCSI Datastore 25 of 25)

Since now we can see our Storage and all paths are green, we can create an iSCSI VMFS Datastore.

## **11.4 Configure NFS Datastores**

I will provide an example from my Synology. The options differ for other NAS vendors, but the process is the same. Check your vendor manual to create an NFS on your NAS.

To create an NFS in your NAS Storage, you need to create a volume and then a shared folder bound to that volume. **Note** You could select a folder in your NAS and create a shared folder to share with your ESXi host. But to store virtual machines, this is not the best practice.

Create a volume from your free space in your NAS, or use an existing volume and create a shared folder with a quota. Figure 11-25 shows the Synology Shared Folder Creation Wizard that I used for this process.

	Shared Folder Creation	Wizard	×
Set up basic inform	nation		
Name: Description:			
Location:	Volume 2: Btrfs	-	
Hide this shared folder in	Volume 1: Btrfs		
Hide sub-folders and files	Available capacity: 191.23 GB		
Enable Recycle Bin	Volume 2: Btrfs		
Restrict access to ad	Available capacity: 1.56 TB		
Note: How to set up a R	Volume 3: Btrfs		
	Available capacity: 366.39 GB		
	Volume 4: Btrfs		
	Available capacity: 159.35 GB		
			Next Cancel

Figure 11-25. (Install NFS Datastore 1 of 14)

**Note** Since we already have a volume of 1.5TB, we don't need to create a volume.

After you have a volume (recently created or an existing one), create your shared folder. Figure 11-26 shows your NFS Share Folder to be create.

	Shared Folder Creati	on Wizard	×
Set up basic i	information		
Name:	Vembu-NFS		
Description:	NFS for Vembu ESXi environment		
Location:	Volume 2: Btrfs	<b>•</b>	
✓ Hide this shared	folder in "My Network Places"		
Hide sub-folders	and files from users without permissions		
Enable Recycle B	in		
✓ Restrict according	ess to administrators only		
Note: How to se	et up a Recycle Bin emptying schedule		
		Ne	t Cancel

Figure 11-26. (Install NFS Datastore 2 of 14)

Since we are using a shared volume and it is used in other shared folders, we need to set a quota. If not, NFS could consume the full volume and have problems with the other shared folders. I set my quota in this NFS for 350GB, as shown in Figure 11-27.

Shared Folder Creation Wizard	×
Configure advanced settings	
<ul> <li>Enable data checksum for advanced data integrity ()</li> <li>File self-healing and file system scrubbing are available to ensure data integrity.</li> <li>Enable file compression ()</li> <li>✓ Enable shared folder quota</li> <li>350 GB </li> </ul>	
Note: To ensure service quality, we recommend not enabling data checksum when the shared for following services: • Hosting databases or virtual machines • Storing video recordings of Surveillance Station Back	Ider will be used for the

Figure 11-27. (Install NFS Datastore 3 of 14)

Provide the permissions and which ESXi hosts your NFS will or can connect to. Add the IP/CIDR of your ESXi host (NFS VMkernel created in the next section Create vSwitch and VMkernel for NFS).

General	Encryption Advan	Edit Share	d Folder Vembu-NFS	NES Permissions	
Create	Edit Delete	Permissions	Advanced Permissions		
Client		Create an NFS r	ule	Non-privilege	Cross-mount
= 192	NFS rule			Denied	Denied
192	Hostoame or ID*:	102 168 10 110	(24	Denied	Denied
192	Prostriante of tr .	192.108.10.119	24	Denied	Denied
	Privilege:	Read/Write	<b>~</b>		
	Squash:	No mapping	-		
	Security:	sys	•		
	Enable asynchronou	s			
	Allow connections fr	om non-privileged ports	(ports higher than 1024)		
	Allow users to acces	s mounted subfolders			
	" You may specify a host	in three ways:			
	Single host				
Mount	<ul> <li>Wildcards: *, *.synd</li> <li>Network segment: 2</li> </ul>	logy.com 03.74.205.32/255.255.	255.0, 203.74.205.32/24		
			OK Car	OK	Cancel

Figure 11-28. (Install NFS Datastore 4 of 14)

Then you have your ESXi hosts added and the mount path to use when adding the NFS shared folder in the ESXi hosts.

Client	Privilege	Squash	Asynchronous	Non-privilege	Cross-mount
192.168.10.119/24	Read/Write	No mapping	Yes	Denied	Denied
192.168.10.120/24	Read/Write	No mapping	Yes	Denied	Denied
192.168.10.121/24	Read/Write	No mapping	Yes	Denied	Denied
	The	mount path to add ir	ESXi host		

Figure 11-29. (Install NFS Datastore 5 of 14)

After this final step I have created a NFS Shared Folder in our NAS Storage.

**Note** Again, the preceding example is just for Synology NAS. For other vendors, check your vendor manual.

# **11.5 Create vSwitch and VMkernel for NFS**

We can apply different types of configuration networks to set our NFS network and add NFS Datastores.

The standard and simple one is when using a Single Target and setting one VMkernel path to your NAS shared folder. Figure 11-30 shows an example of how the network is set when using a Single Target using a NIC Teaming IP hash in our Storage Virtual Switch.



Figure 11-30. (Install NFS Datastore 6 of 14)

This won't do much to balance the load between NICs, but it will allow you to connect a new NIC when one of your old ones is down. **Note** The NIC Teaming failback option should be set to **No**. The reason for this is that if there are any intermittent issues on the network, you want to be able to replace the downed NIC before your network starts failing.

If you set the Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) on your physical switch and a NIC Teaming IP hash, you provide load balance between vmnics (since NFS v3 doesn't support multipath, you can have these performance improvements only if you use NFS v4.1).

**Note** We will implement this option in our Vembu VMware lab (without LACP).

In the next example, Multi-Target, the performance balance is distributed between vmnics and connections in your NAS Storage. As shown in Figure 11-31, one VMkernel will be connected to one Target (where you have some shared folders), and the other VMkernel will be connected to another shared folder (this must also be set in your NAS Storage).



Figure 11-31. (Install NFS Datastore 7 of 14)

You can find more detailed information about network configurations and other NFS advanced options at https://core.vmware.com/resource/best-practices-running-nfs-vmware-vsphere/.

When using a Multi-Target configuration, you can use two or more VMkernels—it all depends on the number of Storage IP addresses you have.

# 11.6 Create an NFS VMkernel

Unlike the iSCSI network, creating the NFS networking in an ESXi host is much easier and requires fewer steps.

For the NFS VMkernel, we need to create one NFS VMkernel in the same subnet that has the NFS Storage network, and that is it. We will need two VMkernel (or more) if we use a multi-target network configuration, one for each subnet or VLAN. The process is similar to that already discussed for the iSCSI VMkernel.

As shown in Figure 11-32, select **Virtual switches**, select the ESXi host on which to create the VMkernel, and click **Add Networking**. In step 1 of the Add Networking wizard, select **VMkernel Network Adapter** and click **Next**.



### Figure 11-32. (Install NFS Datastore 8 of 14)

Next, in the iSCSI, we select to create a new Standard Switch, but since we have already created one for iSCSI, we will use the same Virtual Switch (vSwitch1) to create our NFS VMkernel.

**Note** If you only have NFS and it is the first VMkernel you create, follow the steps to create a new Standard Switch shown in the previous section How to create iSCSI VMkernel.

In step 2 (see Figure 11-33), choose **Select an existing standard switch**, click **Browse**, and choose the vSwitch you will use (which is **vSwitch1** for the test lab).

<ul> <li>1 Select connection type</li> <li>2 Select target device</li> </ul>	Select target device Select a target device for the new connection.			
3 Port properties 4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	Select an existing network			
	• Select an existing standard switch	BROWSE		
	New standard switch     MTLL(Bytes) 1500	BROWSE		
	1000			
elect Switch	×			
elect Switch	x x			
elect Switch	×	CANCEL BACK NE	EXT	
elect Switch witch © vSwitch0 © vSwitch1	то (с)(с) Х	CANCEL BACK NE	EXT	
elect Switch writch @ vSwitch0 @ vSwitch1	X	CANCEL BACK N	EXI	
elect Switch witch rySwitch0 rySwitch1	x	CANCEL BACK N	EXT	
elect Switch witch r vSwitch0 r vSwitch1	Y A	CANCEL BACK N	EXT	

Figure 11-33. (Install NFS Datastore 9 of 14)

Next, in step 3 (see Figure 11-34), add all the information needed to create the VMkernel, including the name and VLAN (if using), and set the MTU to **9000** (if using on a new vSwitch; if using an existing vSwitch, it will use the MTU already set in the vSwitch). Click **Next**.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device	Port properties Specify VMkernel port se	ttings.		
3 Port properties 4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	VMkernel port settings Network label	NFS		
	VLAN ID	None (0) 🗸		
	IP settings	IPv4 ~		
	MTU	Get MTU from switch $\sim$	9000	
	TCP/IP stack	Default 🗸		
	Available services			
	Enabled services	VMotion		
		Provisioning		
		Fault Tolerance logging		
		Management		
		VSphere Replication		
		vSphere Replication NFC		
		VSAN		
		vSphere Backup NFC		

Figure 11-34. (Install NFS Datastore 10 of 14)

The next step is to add your IP, subnet mask, and so forth, as shown in Figure 11-35. Click **Next** when you are finished.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device 3 Port properties	IPv4 settings Specify VMkernel IPv4 setting 	15.			
4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	Obtain IPv4 settings automatically				
	<ul> <li>Use static IPv4 settings</li> </ul>				
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.119			
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			
	Default gateway	✓ Override default gateway for this adapter			
		192.168.10.253			
	DNS server addresses	192.168.1.40 192.168.1.3			

Figure 11-35. (Install NFS Datastore 11 of 14)

**Note** Unless you have special routing, there is no need to change the gateway. As we did in the iSCSI VMkernel configuration, we have a particular gateway for Storage. But do not change the default if you don't have any special routing.

In the final wizard step, shown in Figure 11-36, double-check the information and finish creating the NFS VMkernel by clicking **Finish**.

1 Select connection type	Ready to complete Review your settings selections before finishing the wizard.				^
2 Select target device					_
3 Port properties	New port group	NFS			
4 IPv4 settings	Standard switch	vSwitch1			
	VLAN ID	None (0)			
5 Ready to complete	vMotion	Disabled			
	Provisioning	Disabled			
	Fault Tolerance logging	Disabled			
	Management	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication NFC	Disabled			
	VSAN	Disabled			
	vSphere Backup NFC	Disabled			
	NVMe over TCP	Disabled			
	NVMe over RDMA	Disabled			
	NIC settings				
	MTU	9000			
	TCP/IP stack	Default			
	IPv4 settings				
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.119 (static)	)		
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			
	Default gateway for IPv4	192.168.10.253			
					_
			CANCEL	ВАСК	FINISH

Figure 11-36. (Install NFS Datastore 12 of 14)

Figure 11-37 shows that now we have a new NFS VMkernel in our vSwitch1 and that both vmnics are connected to the VMkernel. Unlike with iSCSI, we can use both vmnics to connect to our NFS NAS, using a single target.

Virtual switches		ADD NETWORKING   REFRESH
V STANSARE SWEEK VEWERTE ADD NETWORKING BDIT REGALES PAYSICAL ADAPTERS IN		
	Image: Second and second an	

Figure 11-37. (Install NFS Datastore 13 of 14)

But, as a best practice, we should change the NIC Teaming to have a better balance and high availability in case one vmnic is not working. So change the *Load balancing* to "Route base on IP hash" and *Fallback* to "NO" as shown in Figure 11-38. There is little balance in the load between NICs if you are not using LACP (we are not using it here).

	Virtual s	switches	
	> Standard	Switch: vSwitch0	
	v Standard	Switch: vSwitch1 ADD NETWORKING EDIT MANAGE PHYSICAL ADAPTER	5 m
			Vr3     ViAso >     Vias
NFS - Edit Settings		×	VAND -
Properties Security	Load balancing	Override Route based on IP hash v	
Traffic shaping	Network failure detection	Override Link status only	0 609-02
Tearing and fanowr	Notify switches	Overlide Yes v	VLANID =
	Falback	Ovenide No v	wni2:102.068.00.04 ···· 0
	Failover order		
	Override		
	Active adapters A		
	Standby adapters	Select a physical network adapter from the list to view its	
	Unused adapters		
	select acrive and standby adapti	ers, curing a tarover, standby adapters activate in the order specified above.	
		CANCE, OK	

Figure 11-38. (Install NFS Datastore 14 of 14)

**Note** Chapter 16 discusses LACP and shows examples.

So, now we have an NFS VMkernel network, and it is possible to connect our ESXi host to our NFS NAS and mount a shared folder to create a Datastore.

Do not forget to use the NFS Datastores in all the ESXi hosts. You need to do this in each ESXi host.

**Note** If you are using NFS and iSCSI in your environment connected to the same SAN/NAS, as a best practice, run iSCSI and NFS in different subnets or VLANs.

In this case, we are using the same subnet because if a test environment, but in a production environment, you should follow the Best Practices and separate the traffic from iSCSI and NFS.

**Note** Sometimes, you may have issues using IP Hash when not using LACP (you may notice some dropped packages). In that case, you should change the *Load balancing* option to **Use explicit failover order**.

# 11.7 Create VFMS Datastores (iSCSI)

You can either create VFMS Datastores at the ESXi host level or create it at the Cluster level to automatically set it in all ESXi hosts.

For purposes of the test lab, I will demonstrate how to create a VFMS Datastore in the Cluster. As shown in Figure 11-39, right-click the name of the Cluster, select **Storage** in the context menu, and click **New Datastore** (you already learned this in Chapter 6, but at the ESXi host level).



Figure 11-39. (Create Datastore 1 of 9)
In step 1 of the New Datastore wizard, shown in Figure 11-40, select **VMFS** and click **Next**.



Figure 11-40. (Create Datastore 2 of 9)

In step 2 of the wizard, add a name for the Datastore (in this case, iSCSI-01). Since we are setting this at the Cluster level, select one host first from the *Select a host* drop-down list, as shown in Figure 11-41, and then select two new LUNs of 250GB from my Synology. Click **Next**.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

New Datastore	Name and device selection	ovisioning the datastore				×
1 Type	Name iSCSI-01					
2 Name and device selection						
	The datastore will be accessible to all the hosts that you are interested in, it might not be access	that are configured with acce sible to that host. Try changin	ss to the selected dis g the host or configu	k/LUN. If you do not re accessibility of the	find the disk/LU st disk/LUN.	N ;
3 VMFS version						
4 Partition configuration	Select a host vembu-esxi-01.vmwar	ehome.lab 🗸				
	Select a host to view its acc	essible disks/LUNs:				
5 Ready to complete	Name	T LUN T	Capacity	Hardware T Acceleration	Drive Type	Sect For
	SYNOLOGY ISCSI Disk (naa.6001405e)	5a2c95 2	250.00 GB	Supported	HDD	512
	O SYNOLOGY ISCSI Disk (naa.60014057	59161b51	250.00 GB	Supported	HDD	512
	O Local VMware Disk (mpx vmhba0:C0:1	(0.LO) O	32.00 GB	Not suppo_	HDD	512
	٤					
						3 iter
				CANCEL B	ACK	EXT

Figure 11-41. (Create Datastore 3 of 9)

Added a name for the Datastore (iSCSI-01), then selected one LUN and clicked *Next*.

In step 3 of the wizard, shown in Figure 11-42, select **VMFS 6** and click **Next**. You should always select the newest version. These days, VMFS 5 is used only for particular cases.



Figure 11-42. (Create Datastore 4 of 9)

**Note** VMFS 5 is not upgradeable. If you select VMFS 5 and want to upgrade to VMFS 6, you need to create a new VMFS 6 Datastore, move all VMs to the new Datastore, and then delete the VMFS 5 Datastore.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

In step 4 (see Figure 11-43), unless you want to use only a part of the size of this LUN and want to change the block size, leave all the default settings and click **Next** to continue.

New Datastore	Partition configuration Review the disk layout and specify partitie	on configuration details.	×
Type     Name and device selection     VMFS version     Partition configuration     Ready to complete	Partition Configuration Datastore Size Biock size Space Reclamation Granularity Space Reclamation Priority	Use all available partitions v 1 MB v 1 MB v Low v	250 O 68
		Empty-250.008	CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 11-43. (Create Datastore 5 of 9)

In the last wizard step (see Figure 11-44), double-check all the information and then click **Finish**.



Figure 11-44. (Create Datastore 6 of 9)

As Figure 11-45 shows, we now have a new Datastore called iSCSI-01.

14	di Venbu Cluster							
0 11 15	Summary Martine Carriques Ferminians	1965	Dearter	es niturni	Gantes			
Versa d'ante en estente de al	Pulatent Sector Colors							
D ambased management	0.1-	1. No.	144	- Annone Chaire	Capita -	-		
D anticessell concerning	C - B means	Increase	CHER.S.		1480.73.018	107.00-02		
C Venue /Cartier	1 + Q 100401							
	C R BOTHER	17 10114	1995.0		100.75.54	0.00		
	C + G scenarer	* NOTE	VHE'S S		199.11-100	14210		
	O I O MADD and	- Parma	V4P5-6		244.78	23.25.58		
	O + B troom 0	- Patrice	V#751		243.18	119-18		
	C11 B knows-tt	of Termal	\$4P5.1		101.78	535.02-58		
	C + B converse	-1.100108	Vers4		191.10	#2.00 M		
	C + B term-200-2 as explanation	-if thereas	VHP5-5		5.75.68	2.94.08		
	C C terms con-constant months	a fairmai	VMP5-6		5.714.00	254-08		

Figure 11-45. (Create Datastore 7 of 9)

If you click the Datastore and go to **Hosts** tab, you can see now which ESXi hosts are connected to this Datastore, as shown in Figure 11-46.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

	Summary Monitor Configure	Permissions Files	Hosts VMs					
<ul> <li>Image: Venibu vCenter.vmwarehome.lab</li> <li>Venibu Datacenter</li> </ul>								
ESN-Logs	Name	State	Status	Ouster	Consumed CPU %	Consumed Memory %	HA State	Optime
E ocsi-or	I I I ventou-essi-01.vmwarehome	Connected	V Normal	D Ventou Cluster	75	58	6 7 N/A	10 hours
Iso images	I ventu-essi-02 vmvarehome	L. Connected	Normal	D Vernbu Cluster	23	7	6 ? N/A	10 hours
Iocal datastore-01	CI I Vertou-essi-02 vmvarehome	L. Connected	<ul> <li>Normal</li> </ul>	El Vertou Cluster	23	7	6 2 N/A	10 hours
NetApp-sto-01								
B Syndiogy-01								
B Synclogy-02								
O vCD-Environment								
Vembu-ESXI-01-esx-instal-data								
Ventou-ESX-02-ecc-Install-data.								

Figure 11-46. (Create Datastore 8 of 9)

If you make any changes on the Storage side (like resizing the Datastore, changing CHAP, adding IPs to the Target, etc.), you always need to rescan the Storage Adapter on the ESXi hosts. See Figure 11-47 for the steps to launch the rescan.

Datastore		
enteu Custer S all Machine ource Pool espace VF Template 0 45 Ies Its 41 VM Compatibility	Datastore Clusters DH.Logs DH	Rescan Storage     Vembu Cluster     ×
	smu Cluster S Jal Machine Sonce Pool tespace VF Template D MS les ult VM Compatibility	Insu Curier S al Machine, S blacksine, S blacksine, S blacksine, S blacksine, S blacksine, b

*Figure 11-47.* (*Create Datastore 9 of 9*)

Our iSCSI VMFS Datastore is created and available in all ESX hosts.

### **11.8 Create NFS Datastores**

As explained in a previous chapter, we can use a Single Target or Multi-Target configuration, using one or more vmnics to the same Target. Here is where it is essential to select which NFS version to use. Since here we are only talking about Multipath, that only v4.1 supports, the rest of the features are not relevant for this section.

There are also some restrictions on NFS Datastore features when using NFSv4.1. Double-check if you plan to use any of those features before selecting v3 or v4.1.

Figure 11-48 provides a comparison of which vSphere features are supported and not supported when using NFSv3 or NFSv4.1, with the differences highlighted (Storage DRS is one example).

vSphere Features	NFS version 3	NFS version 4.1
vMotion and Storage vMotion	Yes	Yes
High Availability (HA)	Yes	Yes
Fault Tolerance (FT)	Yes	Yes
Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS)	Yes	Yes
Host Profiles	Yes	Yes
torage DRS	Yes	No
torage I/O Control	Yes	No
ite Recovery Manager	Yes	No
/irtual Volumes	Yes	Yes
Sphere Replication	Yes	Yes
Realize Operations Manager	Yes	Yes

Figure 11-48. (Create NFS Datastores 1 of 8)

Now that you know which vSphere features you can use with each NFS version, we can create our NFS Datastore.

Since we will mount this NFS Datastore to all ESXi hosts in a Cluster, we can mount the NFS using the Cluster option (and not by ESXi host).

As shown in Figure 11-49, right-click the Cluster name, select **Storage**, click **New Datastore**, and select **NFS**. Click **Next**.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

= wighters Classi	8				C & Annual provide Local V @ @ V
	C Vernibu Cluster i scone     Inverse Montor Configue Permagan Hode     Tag Paraman 2     Tag Paraman 2	Mi Datastoris Metanois Go	alare		pa constraint
- 2. Wester Dutter - rents-early - wester-early - wester-early - wester-early	Beners index Union     Basic Association     Association     Association     Association     Association     Association     Association     Association	1 ort scar	Shot     Constant and products in an add provide the report     Constant and products in a ready provide the report     Constant     Constant		and and the second seco
	to Depart Con Concerner	<ul> <li>A sum according</li> <li>Trany is sometry</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Crisis a visual videore statisties on a statuar contactor construction a stronge provide Crisis a visual videore statisties on a statuar contactor construction a stronge provide</li> </ul>		n bergen A
	Lational Verballing				) e former over
<ul> <li>Recent factor</li> <li>Autor</li> <li>Track factor</li> <li>Crucks field catalogs</li> <li>Crucks field catalogs</li> </ul>	Rapi 4 Culture Allimonati Ault Research Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Rapin Ra	VIPEILOOLAINMUNI	4 via     10752222, X27.43 PM     WY05222, X27.43 PM     Vetter 4Crede virtualeture de	CANCEL NUMBER	

Figure 11-49. (Create NFS Datastores 2 of 8)

In the case of our test lab, since we will not need to use any of the features that are not supported by NFSv4.1, select the **NFS 4.1** option in step 2, as shown in Figure 11-50. Click **Next**.



Figure 11-50. (Create NFS Datastores 3 of 8)

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

In step 3 of the wizard, shown in Figure 11-51, add the information about your NFS share. First, give the Datastore a name, add the folder (shown for my Synology NFS in the figure), and then add your NAS server. If you have more than one IP address (Multi-Target option for Multipath), you can click **Add** to add one by one all the the NAS IP Addresses and then click Next.

New Datastore	Name ar	nd configuration ×
1 Туре	Specify datasto	ore name and configuration.
2 NFS version	"Mount to NFS Share De	p additional hosts" action from the datastore instead.
3 Name and configuration	Name	Vembu-NFS
4 Kerberos authentication	Folder	/volume2/Vembu-NFS Eg_/volu/vol0/distatore=001 1921561.0252
5 Hosts accessibility		E.gr. nas, nas it com or 192.168.0.1
6 Ready to complete	Servers to be	added
		$\bigtriangledown$
		No items found
	Access Mode	Mount NFS as read-only
		CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 11-51. (Create NFS Datastores 4 of 8)

Step 4 is the Kerberos authentication option (see Figure 11-52). You can set it here if your NAS uses NFS shares with Active Directory users. Since we are not using Kerberos, leave the default **Don't use Kerberos authentication** and click **Next**.



Figure 11-52. (Create NFS Datastores 5 of 8)

Note Kerberos is another feature that is used only in NFSv4.1.

In step 5, shown in Figure 11-53, set on which ESXi hosts to mount this NFS share. For the test lab, select to use all of them. Click **Next**.

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

New Datastore	Hosts accessibility Select the hosts that require access to the datastore.	×
1 Type	COMPATIBLE (3 HOSTS) INCOMPATIBLE (0 HOSTS)	▼ Filter
2 NFS version	✓ Host	Cluster
3 Name and configuration	vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab     I vembu-esxi-02.vmwarehome.lab	<ul> <li>Vembu Cluster</li> <li>Vembu Cluster</li> </ul>
4 Kerberos authentication	Vernbu-esxi-03.vmwarehome.lab	🕼 Vembu Cluster
5 Hosts accessibility		
6 Ready to complete		
		3 tens CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 11-53. (Create NFS Datastores 6 of 8)

Before finalizing the Datastore creation, double-check the information (see Figure 11-54). If all is good, click **Finish**.

New Datastore	Ready to com	plete				×
1 Type	Review your selections t	before finishing the wizard				
2 NFS version	Version	NFS 4.1				
2 Name and configuration	✓ Name and configura	ation	_			
3 Name and configuration	Datastore name Server	Vembu-NFS 192.168.10.252				
4 Kerberos authentication	Folder	/volume2/Vembu-NFS				
5 Hosts accessibility	Access Mode	Read-write	_			
6 Ready to complete	Kerberos	Disabled				
	$\vee$ Hosts accessibility	-				
	Hosts	<ul> <li>vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab</li> <li>vembu-esxi-02.vmwarehome.lab</li> <li>vembu-esxi-03.vmwarehome.lab</li> </ul>				
				CANCEL	ВАСК	FINISH

Figure 11-54. (Create NFS Datastores 7 of 8)

### CHAPTER 11 VCENTER DATASTORES

And now we have our NFS Datastore created, as shown in Figure 11-55.

4	8 W	mbu Datacenter ( 1 arrow						
0 0 0 0	Same	ry Monker Configure Permission	Hards & Chat	191	Delatores	Networks	<b>Updates</b>	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Term Balanters Cheven Datasters F						
B the sage								
El metasectuit		Ref at	1 944	i per	Estatute United	Genty	114	
D tyronevick		C REALING	v tore	1185.8		545.75.08	187.26-518	
E second in		E (00 Proper	of North	UMPS 8		H175.08	100.20.00	
E vill investigation		C	of horse	100110		24110	2010/07/1408	
🛛 verovitskites komi		E tenter ti	- North	UNITE N		3.4178	126.18	
E vienna COG CLASS HOLD		C termenti	- horas	14475.3		1.05.78	45159-081	
University (125-2) essentiated		C vCD Drawnmark	V Aurit	10455		1.85 %8	622.15.58	
S search		O were the to an end observe	V hore	10415.0		75.75.98	19.30.08	
		D Version 2001. 6 Press rectail constraines	v tora	10455		\$75.08.	9.52.64	
		Contract that the contract memory	of Sector	ivers a		\$ 75 04	2.221108	
		States of L	of North	1075.47		8.44 7.9	10110	

Figure 11-55. (Create NFS Datastores 8 of 8)

# **11.9 Summary**

In this chapter we explored setting up types of datastores in vCenter, including iSCSI, NFS, and VMFS.

In Chapter 12, we shift our focus to the crucial aspects of effectively managing datastores. We will dive into tasks such as deleting and resizing VMFS datastores and troubleshooting NFS issues. Mastering these skills is essential for ensuring the health, performance, and adaptability of your data storage solutions.

### **CHAPTER 12**

# **Managing Datastores**

When dealing with virtual environments, managing datastores is important. This section takes a dive into the management techniques for VMFS datastores, which are vital foundations in VMware environments. We start by discussing the process of deleting a VMFS. While it may seem straightforward, it requires attention to avoid any data loss and to maintain system integrity.

Then we explore the intricacies of resizing a VMFS. As storage requirements change over time, having the ability to resize datastores efficiently without disrupting operations is crucial for maintaining a responsive infrastructure.

Furthermore, we address the challenging task of troubleshooting NFS issues. Given the complexity of network storage, being able to resolve NFS problems is an necessary skill in ensuring operation within your virtual environment. Through examples and step-by-step guidance, this chapter aims to provide you with the tools and knowledge to effectively manage and troubleshoot your datastores while ensuring they continue supporting your virtual infrastructure seamlessly.

# 12.1 Delete a VMFS Datastore

Before trying to delete the VMFS, check the prerequisites:

• Remove or migrate all virtual machines from the datastore.

209

- Disable Storage DRS for the datastore.
- Disable Storage I/O Control for the datastore.

Make sure that the datastore is not used for vSphere HA heartbeating. First, unmount the VMFS Datastore from all hosts. As shown in Figure 12-1, right-click the Datastore, select **Unmount Database**, and select the ESXi hosts you want to unmount (since it is to delete, select all of them). Click **OK**.



Figure 12-1. (Managing Datastores 1 of 7)

Note The unmount task may take some seconds to finish.

The Datastore now is labeled *inaccessible*, and you can launch the delete by right-clicking the Datastore, choosing **Delete Datastore**, and confirming the deletion by clicking **Yes**, as shown in Figure 12-2.



Figure 12-2. (Managing Datastores 2 of 7)

Name:	Vembu-iSCSI01				
Total capacity (GB):	300				
Location:	Volume 2 (Available capacity: 1595 GB) - btrfs				
Space allocation:	Thin Provisioning				
Advanced features:	Hardware-assisted zeroing, Hardware-assisted locking, Hardware-assisted data transfer, Snapshot				
	OK Cancel				

Figure 12-3. (Managing Datastores 3 of 7)

After this, the Datastore is deleted from vCenter and all ESXi hosts.

### 12.2 Resize a VMFS Datastore

The first step to resize a VMFS Datastore is to expand the LUN size in the Storage device. Always stop any VM running on this Datastore, and disconnect the iSCSI Initiator first for safety. On the Storage device, you can disable the Target temporarily while making these changes.

After the resizing is finished on the Storage size, go back to vCenter, click **Rescan Storage** and then **OK** to perform a storage rescan (described

in Chapter 11 and shown in Figure 11-21), and then select the Datastore. Right-click the Datastore and select **Increase Datastore Capacity**.

**Note** If you disable the Storage Target, enable it again before rescanning.

As you can see in Figure 12-4, our LUN 1 already has 300GB size. Select the Datastore and click **Next**.



Figure 12-4. (Managing Datastores 4 of 7)

Next, use the *Increase Size by* option (see Figure 12-5) to choose by how much you want to increase the size of the Datastore. By default, vCenter selects the full size. Then click **Next**.



Figure 12-5. (Managing Datastores 5 of 7)

In the last wizard step, shown in Figure 12-6, double-check the information and then click **Finish**.



Figure 12-6. (Managing Datastores 6 of 7)

The iSCSI-01 Datastore is now resized to 300GB, as shown in Figure 12-7.

ISCSI-01 INFORM     Service Configure Remaining Film mode VMs	
Detah .	laistet Opera
Tep /	Carkon Athebulas A
Anguer Ing Danger	Abba Ver
K Development	K Second Se

Figure 12-7. (Managing Datastores 7 of 7)

Note You may need to click the **Refresh** button to see the new size.

# 12.3 NFS Troubleshooting

After you configure your NFS vSphere networking (vSwitch, vmkernel, etc.), if you experience any issues mounting the NFS share, you can troubleshoot the network if it can reach the NAS Storage.

Log in to the ESXi host SSH console and ping using the vmkping command. Using vmkping, you can ping using the VMkernel you created as the source for the ping.

First, see what is the VMkernel vmk and IP by using the command esxcfg-vmknic -1. As shown in Figure 12-8, the NFS that we created before is the vmk3 with the IP address 192.168.10.119.



Figure 12-8. (NFS Troubleshooting 1 of 6)

Now ping the NAS Storage IP using vmkdping, as shown in Figure 12-9.



Figure 12-9. (NFS Troubleshooting 2 of 6)

Next, check whether the VMkernel and vSwitch are properly configured with MTU 9000 to use jumbo frames. Use this command, the output of which is shown in Figure 12-10:

vmkping -4 -c 6 -d -s 8972 -v 192.168.10.252 -I vmk3



Figure 12-10. (NFS Troubleshooting 3 of 6)

Figure 12-11 explains all the parameters in this vmkping command.



Figure 12-11. (NFS Troubleshooting 4 of 6)

If you can't mount the NFS share and receive the error *The NFS server denied the mount request* in your vCenter Tasks window, as shown in Figure 12-12, most of the time this error is regarding permissions on the NAS Storage side. Storage recognizes that the NFS share exists, but it is not allowed to mount it on this server.



Figure 12-12. (NFS Troubleshooting 5 of 6)

In this case, you can check the ESXi host vmkernel.log file for additional information about this or other errors. The log is located in the ESXi hosts in /var/log. Use the command grep Vembu-NFS-02 vmkernel.log.

We don't have much information for this example since the ESXi host cannot check NAS Storage permissions. Start by checking which IPs permissions are set in your NAS NFS shared folder.

Figure 12-13 shows an example. In this case, we don't have any ESXi host VMkernel IP added to the permissions section, so this ESXi host cannot connect to this NFS shared folder.



Figure 12-13. (NFS Troubleshooting 6 of 6)

So, we need to add the VMkernel IP address or add a subnet wildcard like 192.168.10.0/24. After adding the IP address, the issue was fixed in the previous example.

Suppose you receive a timeout error like this:

Mount failed: Unable to complete Sysinfo operation. Please see the VMkernel log file for more details.: Timeout

Then it is not possible to connect to the NAS Storage. Check the IP address you added for the server (if that is the correct Target NAS Storage IP) or check if the VMkernel is adequately configured and test the network (as previously shown using the vmkping command).

### 12.4 Summary

In this chapter we explored the management of datastores, in our environment, which is essential for overseeing and enhancing infrastructure. We kick off by discussing the steps involved in removing a VMFS datastore highlighting the significance of planning to avoid any loss of data. Following that we delve into the intricacies of adjusting the size of a VMFS datastore, an ability as storage requirements change, with a focus, on minimizing disruptions to operations.

Further, the chapter addresses troubleshooting NFS issues, a common challenge given the intricacies of network storage. Through detailed examples and guidance, you're equipped to tackle NFS-related problems, enhancing your ability to maintain seamless operation in your virtual environment.

Key actions such as ensuring all virtual machines are migrated or removed from the datastore before deletion, understanding how to safely expand datastore capacity, and effectively troubleshooting NFS configurations are covered. These steps are critical for managing storage resources efficiently and ensuring your datastores continue to support the virtual infrastructure effectively.

### **CHAPTER 13**

# vSphere Storage Policies and Encryption

Storage policies and encryption are components in maintaining performance and strong security for virtual machines (VMs). In this chapter we will explore vSphere Storage Policies, which can be customized to meet I/O requirements and improve VM performance. We will also delve into the importance of storage encryption, a feature that ensures data integrity and confidentiality in today's security environment.

Understanding and effectively implementing these policies and encryption techniques is vital. They not only establish a foundation for efficient storage management but also serve as the backbone of a secure and resilient virtual infrastructure. This chapter will guide you through the process of optimizing your storage environment, from creating Storage I/O Controls to configuring VM storage policies for host-based data services. Additionally, we will cover the application of these policies to VMs. To round out the chapter, we'll examine how to set up encryption key providers, providing a comprehensive understanding of both the practical aspects and security considerations in vSphere storage management.

A VM storage policy in VMware vSphere is a collection of rules that define the storage requirements for a VM. These rules can be used to control the following:

- The type of storage that is provided for the VM, such as block, NFS, vSAN, or vVols.
- How the VM is placed within the storage, such as on a specific datastore or RAID group.
- Which data services are offered for the VM, such as deduplication, compression, encryption, or replication.

VM storage policies can be used to improve the performance, availability, and security of your VMs. For example, you can create a policy that specifies that all VMs storing sensitive data must be placed on a datastore protected by replication. This will help to ensure that your data is protected in the event of a disaster.

### 13.1 Understanding vSphere Storage Policies

A set of regulations known as vSphere Storage Policies specify how VMs can store data. These policies may be used to guarantee that virtual machines are installed on datastores that satisfy their unique storage needs.

Storage policies can be used to define the following:

• The type of storage on which VMs should be located: You may, for instance, devise a policy that stipulates that VMs must be stored on a datastore that employs a certain storage protocol, such as iSCSI or Fibre Channel. In this case, the policy would specify the protocol. The operational qualities of the storage medium that VMs should be located on: For instance, you may draft a policy that dictates VMs must be stored on a datastore that meets a certain threshold for the number of input/ output operations per second (IOPS) or throughput. For example, you may have large application VMs with large databases that require a certain datastore because they have a lot of IOPS and you are looking for improved performance.

• The accessibility of the storage medium in which VMs should be installed: For instance, you may develop a policy that dictates that VMs must be stored on a datastore that replicates its data or is configured for high availability (HA).

Before we create our VM Storage Policy, we will create two Storage Policies, one for encryption and one for Storge I/O Control. This will enable you to understand how Storage Policies work and how they can be used in your VM Storage Policy.

### 13.2 Storage Policy - Storage I/O

Storage I/O Control (SPBM-SIOC) is a feature in VMware vSphere that allows you to control the I/O performance of your VMs. SIOC works by monitoring the I/O latency of datastores and throttling the I/O of VMs causing the latency. This can help to improve the performance of all VMs on the datastore by preventing a few VMs from hogging all the resources.

SIOC works by allocating shares and limits to VMs. *Shares* are a relative measure of importance, while *limits* are a hard cap on the amount of I/O a VM can consume. When SIOC detects that a datastore is experiencing I/O latency, it throttles the I/O of VMs with a lower share than the VMs that

are causing the latency. This ensures that the VMs causing the latency do not get all the resources and that the other VMs on the datastore can still perform well.

SIOC can be configured on a per-datastore basis. You can specify the following settings for each datastore:

- **I/O throttling threshold:** The I/O latency threshold that SIOC will use to throttle I/O.
- **I/O throttling ratio:** The ratio by which SIOC will throttle I/O. For example, if the I/O throttling threshold is 50ms and the I/O throttling ratio is 2, then SIOC will throttle the I/O of VMs causing latency by 200%.
- **I/O throttling delay:** The delay before SIOC starts throttling I/O. This is useful to prevent SIOC from throttling I/O for transient spikes in latency.

SIOC can be a valuable tool for improving the performance of your VMs. However, it is vital to use it carefully. If you throttle the I/O of VMs too much, you may impact the performance of the VMs. You should also consider the I/O requirements of your VMs when configuring SIOC. For example, if you have a VM running a database, you may want to give it a higher share than a VM running a web server.

### 13.3 Create a Storage I/O Control

In your vCenter, select the main menu, select **Policies and Profiles**, select **Storage Policy Components**, and click **Create**, as shown in Figure 13-1. In the *Name* field of the New Storage Policy Component dialog box, name your Storage Policy. For purposes of the test lab, use the name **vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC**. Then, in the *Category* drop-down list, select **Storage I/O Control**. As you can see in Figure 13-1, the other option is to create an Encryption Storage Policy, discussed in the next section.

A Horse & Shortouts		4	Vemi Summary	bu-vCenter.vmwa Montor Contigure	Permasena	E ACTIONS Detacenters Ho	New Storage Polic	y Component	5	2
5. Investory El Content Libraries	retoric lab		-m	Versien Buitz Lect Updated	7.0.3 23477706 3.m 24, 2023, 7	63 FM	vCenter Server. Name:	Sofere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC	48 -	
Global Inventory Lists     Policies and Profess     Auto Deploy	01 vmvarit tome 305 -02 vmvaret stre 305 -13 vmvaret stre 305 -5 s	Paleon and Profiles IR vitr Storage Polices IB VM Costomolation Specifi		Last the Based Bachup	Storage F	Policy Componer	12	SIGC with a 3000 k0PS line.	Encryption Encryption	
Administration	1	3, Host Profes R: Compute Police El Storage Police Compose	-3			ut increption procerties To invest allocation O shares allocation	Category: Provider	Storage VO Control VMMare Storage ID Control	E.	
E) Taixi 2) Events 5: Taipi & Costori Altributes () Lencycle Manager		L		Default Storage Pol	5		VMexane Stanups (O Centrel () 1095 Initi () 1095 reservation ()	3000 100	8	
)) Cloud Provider Services () NSK			< []				CPS shares	2000	12	

Figure 13-1. (vSphere Storage Policies 1 of 14)

In the VMware Storage I/O Control section, set the *IOPS shares* field to **2000**. This indicates that the datastore that we'll use for this Storage Policy will have reserved shares and won't be used in conjunction with any other datastores.

We also have an IOPS cap. The maximum IOPS for every VM kept in this datastore is 3000, so set the *IOPS limit* field to **3000**. With this cap, we ensure that the VMs kept in this datastore won't consume all of the storage's IOPS.

**Caution** Use extreme caution when setting the *IOPS limit* option. Be sure the number corresponds to the kind of virtual machines you are keeping in this datastore.

Take into account that the I/O size for *IOPS limit* is normalized to 32KB. This means that if you set *IOPS limit* to 10,000 and the typical I/O size from the VM was 64KB, then you could do only 5000 IOPS. If your block size is 4KB/8KB/16KB or 32KB, you would be able to achieve the 10,000 IOPS limit.

Figure 13-2 shows that you have some default Storage Policies for SIOC, with High, Low, and Normal IOPS. You can use the default SIOC in your VM Storage Policy if it fits your needs.

Name	Description	Category	VC
C Default encryption properties	Storage policy component for VM	Encryption	Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab
Co, High IO shares allocation	Storage policy component for Hig	Storage I/O Control	🚱 Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab
C Low IO shares allocation	Storage policy component for Low	Storage I/O Control	🔗 Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab
Co Normal IO shares allocation	Storage policy component for Me	Storage I/O Control	Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab
🛱 vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy En		Encryption	Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab
🛱 vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SI	SIOC with a 3000 IOPS limit.	Storage I/O Control	Vembu-vCenter.vmwarehome.lab

Figure 13-2. (vSphere Storage Policies 2 of 14)

# **13.4 Storage Policy - Encryption**

Storage Policy - Encryption (SPBM-Encryption) is a feature in VMware vSphere that allows you to encrypt the data on your VMs. Encryption can help to protect your data from unauthorized access.

SPBM-Encryption encrypts the data on the VM's disks before it is written to the datastore. vCenter Server or a third-party key manager manages the encryption key. When the VM boots, it decrypts the data on its disks and uses it as usual.

SPBM-Encryption can be configured on a per-VM basis. You can specify the following settings for each VM:

- **Encryption algorithm:** The encryption algorithm that will be used to encrypt the data
- **Key provider:** The key provider that will be used to manage the encryption keys
- **Key rotation:** Whether or not the encryption keys will be rotated on a regular basis
- **Key management:** Whether you will manage the encryption keys yourself or have vCenter Server manage them for you

SPBM encryption can be a valuable tool for protecting your data from unauthorized access. However, using it carefully is essential. If you encrypt the data on your VMs, you cannot access the data without the encryption key. It would be best to consider the performance impact of encryption before enabling it for your VMs.

# 13.5 Create a Storage Policy - Encryption

Creating a custom Storage Policy Encryption is the same process as shown previously in Figure 13-1, but in the final step you select the *Category* setting **Encryption** instead of Storage I/O Control. You then see the option *Allow I/O filters before encryption*, as shown in Figure 13-3. This option in a VM storage policy in vSphere determines whether I/O filters can be applied to the VM before the data is encrypted. This can improve the performance of the VM, but it can also reduce the security of the data.



Figure 13-3. (vSphere Storage Policies 3 of 14)

I/O filters are software components that can be used to modify the data that is being transferred between a VM and its datastore. For example, I/O filters can be used to deduplicate, compress, or encrypt data.

When the *Allow I/O filters before the encryption* option is enabled (set to True), I/O filters will be applied to the VM before the data is encrypted.

This can improve the performance of the VM because the I/O filters will not have to process encrypted data. However, it can also reduce the security of the data because the I/O filters will be able to access the data in clear text before it is encrypted.

Whether or not to enable the *Allow I/O filters before the encryption* option depends on your specific requirements. If you are concerned about the performance of your VMs, you may want to enable this option. However, if you are concerned about the security of your data, you may want to disable this option. In our test lab configuration, will not allow I/O filters before the encryption, so make sure this option is set to **False**.

### 13.6 VM Storage Policy for Host-Based Data Services

Host-based services options in VMware vSphere allow you to enable and configure the ESXi host's data services. These services can improve the performance, availability, and security of your VMs. This is the default policy for your VM Storage Encryption, but you can create a custom policy.

The Create VM Storage Policy wizard in the vSphere Client enables you to define VM storage policy. This wizard creates data service rules for ESXi hosts. These VM storage policy rules activate virtual machine data services.

Caching, I/O control, and encryption are data services. VMware offers data encryption. Host-installed third-party I/O filters provide other services. Data services are general and independent of datastores. Datastore-specific storage policy rules are optional.

If your policy includes rules specific to datastores, it can enforce encryption through both the host and storage I/O filters, resulting in the virtual machine data being encrypted twice by the I/O filter and the storage system. vSphere Virtual Volumes (vVols) and I/O filter replication cannot coexist in a storage policy. Once you have enabled host-based services for a VM, the services will be available to the VM when it is powered on. The services will be used to improve the performance, availability, and security of the VM.

It is important to note that not all host-based services are supported on all ESXi hosts. You should check the compatibility matrix for your ESXi host to see which services are supported.

Here are some additional things to keep in mind about host-based services:

- Host-based services can have a performance impact on your VMs. You should carefully evaluate the performance impact before enabling host-based services for your VMs.
- Host-based services can increase the complexity of your vSphere environment. You should carefully plan your host-based services configuration to ensure it is manageable.
- Host-based services can be a security risk. You should carefully configure your host-based services to protect your data from unauthorized access.

### 13.7 Create VM Storage Policy for Host-Based Data Services

In the vSphere Client, select **Policies and Profiles**, then **VM Storage Policies**, and click **Create** to open the Create VM Storage Policy wizard and start creating your VM storage policy for host-based data services.

In step 1, shown in Figure 13-4, name your Storage Policy. For purposes of the test lab, use the name **vSphere Essentials - VM Storage Policy Host-Based**. Then, if you prefer, add a description (it is not mandatory). Click **Next**.

Policies and Profiles	VM Storag	ge Policies			٦
CREATE CVM Sustain Specification		Create VM Storage Policy	Name and description		×
Rig Compute Indices CL Storage Patry Components		Name and decorption     Ploty shruthure     Strange compatibility     A deview and fresh	vCenterServer Name: Description		
				CANCEL	NEXT.

Figure 13-4. (vSphere Storage Policies 4 of 14)

In step 2, *Policy structure* (see Figure 13-5), click **Enable host based rules** to enable host-based rules in this VM Storage Policy. Next in step 2, in the *Datastore specific rules* section, you can select datastore-specific rules, allowing you to create rules specific to a particular datastore type. For example, you could create a rule specifying that all VMs placed on a vSAN datastore must be encrypted. This will help to protect your data from unauthorized access. The options are as follows:

- Enable rules for "vSAN" storage: This option enables datastore-specific rules for vSAN datastores. This is useful to configure data services for vSAN datastores, such as deduplication, compression, or encryption.
- Enable rules for "vSANDirect" storage: This feature, introduced in version vSphere 7 Update 3, is specifically tailored for containerized applications. It works well in conjunction with VMware Tanzu Kubernetes Grid. By attaching datastores to ESXi hosts, vSANDirect offers optimized storage performance. It's important to note that vSANDirect is meant for containerized

environments and is not suitable for VM workloads. Leveraging vSANDirect can greatly improve storage efficiency and performance for applications running in containers.

**Note** The preceding two rules are used only if you use vSAN in your environment.



Figure 13-5. (vSphere Storage Policies 5 of 14)

**Enable tag based placement rules:** This option allows you to create rules based on tags. You can assign labels to datastores, VMs, and other objects in vSphere. For example, you could assign a "high performance" tag to all datastores dedicated to running high-performance VMs. You could then create a rule that specifies that all VMs tagged with "high performance" must be placed on a datastore tagged with "high performance." This will help ensure that your high-performance VMs are always on the best possible storage.

In the test lab environment, we won't be using tags or vSAN; therefore, leave these settings deactivated. Click **Next**.

In step 3 of the wizard, *Host based services*, you configure the Encryption and Storage I/O Control settings on their respective tabs, described here:

- **Encryption:** This tab, shown in Figure 13-6, includes the following options:
- **Disabled:** This option disables host-based services for the VM. This means that no data services will be provided to the VM by the ESXi host.
- Use storage policy component: This option uses the data services defined in the storage policy component associated with the VM. This is the default option.

Create VM Storage Policy	Host based services		×	
1 Name and description	Create rules for data services provide Host based services will be applied in	ed by hosts. Available data services could include n addition to any datastore specific rules.	encryption, I/O control, caching, etc.	
2 Policy structure	Encryption Storage I/O Control Default encryption properties VSphere Essentials - Storage Policy Encry			
3 Host based services	O Disabled	1		
4 Storage compatibility	<ul> <li>Use storage policy component</li> </ul>	vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy Encrypt >		
5 Review and finish	Storage policy component Description	vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy End	ryption Storage Policy	
	Provider	VMware VM Encryption		
	Allow I/O filters before encry	ption False		
	Custom			
<ul> <li>Custom</li> </ul>				
Provider:	VMware VM Encryption	~		
Allow I/O filters before en	cryption (1) False	~		
	True			
	False			
			CANCEL BACK NEXT	

Figure 13-6. (vSphere Storage Policies 6 of 14)
**Note** We previously created some custom Storage Policies (encryption or Storage I/O Control). We can now use this option in our host-based services. In our case, we previously created one Storage I/O Control.

- **Custom:** This option allows you to specify custom data services for the VM. You can choose from the following data services: Deduplication, Compression, Encryption, and Replication. Figure 13-6 shows that you can use the default VMware VM Encryption provider in the *Custom* option and turn the I/O filters on or off before encryption.
- **Storage I/O Control:** This tab, shown in Figure 13-7, includes options to configure SIOC (previously discussed). In VM Storage Policy SIOC we will disable or add our policy created before, or don't use any default/custom and create a custom SIOC just for this VM Storage Policy. This tab includes the following options:
- **Disabled:** This option disables host-based services for the VM. This means that no data services will be provided to the VM by the ESXi host. This option is useful if you do not want any data services to be provided to the VM. This may be useful for VMs that do not need any data services, such as small VMs or VMs that are not used often.
- Use storage policy component: This option uses the data services defined in the storage policy component associated with the VM. This is the default option. This

is the most common option, as it ensures that the VM always uses the most appropriate data services for its needs. We will use the **vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC** Storage Policy SIOC created in the previous section.

- **Custom:** This option allows you to specify custom data services for the VM. You set limits for your environment. This option is useful if you have specific requirements for the data services that are provided to the VM. For example, you may want to specify that the VM should be encrypted, or that it should be replicated to a remote location. Figure 13-7 shows the VMware Storage IO Control provider selected. The remainder of this list describes the other fields in the *Custom* option.
- **IOPS limit:** Sets an upper boundary on the number of IOPS a VM or VMDK can perform. It ensures that the VM or its disks do not consume I/O beyond this limit, regardless of available I/O resources on the datastore.
- **IOPS reservation:** Defines a guaranteed minimum number of IOPS that will be reserved for the VM or its VMDKs. With this setting, you're ensuring that even under storage contention, the VM or disk will always have this minimum level of performance.
- **IOPS shares:** Represents the relative priority or weight of a VM's I/O allocation when there is contention. VMs with more shares will be allocated more I/O resources during contention than VMs with fewer shares.

It is essential to carefully consider your requirements before choosing the option for host-based services in a VM storage policy. You should also monitor the performance of your VMs to ensure that the provided data services are meeting your needs. Click **Next** to proceed to step 4 of the Create VM Storage Policy wizard.

Create VM Storage Policy	Host based services		×
1 Name and description	Create rules for data services provided b Host based services will be applied in add	y hosts. Available data services could in dition to any datastore specific rules.	<select component=""> Low IO shares allocation</select>
2 Policy structure	Encryption Storage I/O Control		High IO shares allocation Normal IO shares allocation
3 Host based services	O Disabled	l	Vsphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC
4 Storage compatibility	• Use storage policy component	Sphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC	
5 Review and finish	Storage policy component Description Provider VMware Storage I/O Control	vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC with a 3000 IOPS limit. VMware Storage IO Control	SIOC Custom SIOC Storage Policy
	IOPS limit	3,000	
	IOPS reservation	100	
	Custom		
<ul> <li>Custom</li> </ul>			
Provider:	VMware Storage IO Control		
VMware Storage I/O Control IOPS limit ①	①	0	CANCEL BACK NEXT
IOPS reservation (1)	1	0	
IOPS shares ()	1000	0	

Figure 13-7. (vSphere Storage Policies 7 of 14)

Step 4, shown in Figure 13-8, lists all existing datastores compatible with the VM Storage Policy we created. You can also click the **Incompatible** tab to check the ones that are not compatible, shown in the lower-right image.



Figure 13-8. (vSphere Storage Policies 8 of 14)

The compatibility status of datastores is important to know so that you can create or move your VMs to the correct datastore and have your VM Storage Policy applied.

Figure 13-8 shows that all datastores are compatible with the VM Storage Policy created. The *Incompatible* tab is empty. Click **Next**.

Finally, review all the settings you have configured in the previous wizard steps (see Figure 13-9) and finish creating your VM Storage Policy by clicking **Finish**.



Figure 13-9. (vSphere Storage Policies 9 of 14)

After your VM Storage Policy is finished, you can edit or clone it (or any existing Storage Policy or VM Storage Policy in the list of existing Policies) by selecting it and clicking **Edit** or **Clone**. See Figure 13-10.



Figure 13-10. (vSphere Storage Policies 10 of 14)

You can change any settings in the VM Storage Policy and Storage Policy **Clone** option. However, as shown in Figure 13-11, you cannot change the Category and Provider settings with the **Edit** option in SIOC or and Encryption policy serve distinct purposes and operate differently.

Edit Storage Po	icy Component   vSphere Essentials - Storage F	Policy
Name:	vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC	

ime:	vSphere Essentials - Storage Policy SIOC	
escription:	SIOC with a 3000 IOPS limit.	li
ategory:	Storage I/O Control 🗸	
Provider:	VMware Storage IO Control 🗸 🗸	
IOPS limit	3000	0
IOPS limit () IOPS reservation () IOPS shares ()	3000 100 2000	0
IOPS limit () IOPS reservation () IOPS shares ()	3000 100 2000	0 0
IOPS limit () IOPS reservation () IOPS shares ()	3000 100 2000	\$ \$
IOPS limit () IOPS reservation () IOPS shares ()	3000 100 2000	\$ \$

SIOC

Х

Figure 13-11. (vSphere Storage Policies 11 of 14)

# **13.8 Apply VM Storage Policy to VMs**

After creating all our Storage Policies and VM Storage Policies, we need to apply them to the existing VMs or use them when creating a new VM.

You need to Edit VM settings, select the Hard Disk, and change the VM Storage policy option for the existing VM. However, as shown in Figure 13-12, although this VM was created, it is incompatible with the VM Storage Policy we previously created.

0 8 8 0	@ Adves Unix CertOS Ex	ntOS 8.x	In d a d Line			1			
Window Control Industrial Add     Window Control Industrial     Window Control Industrial     Window RECEARD Datasetter	Guest 05 1 Snapshors	mitor Conf	What Hardware VM Options		A10 MW (2 +12 -				
<ul> <li>I Werks ROUGAN Chatar</li> <li>Werks match was articles (a)</li> </ul>	Copen Herricite Console		+ 0%		0	d Usage	VM Hardware		7
Vendu edel 62 ymeannome lab	(2) Migrate		1 Marriery		w 10 x		CIN	10740L PLM	P 1000
Venou escilita vitivarencine ses	Clone		+ Notalia1		2	1 CPU administra	Monuery	2 GR, 0 GB me	mory active
SE LINIX CARES BY	Fault Tolevance (	-	Human Sas	95.2.58			Hard dox 1	55 GB / Thirs Pe	www.ach @
2 respect sector and sector se			April Construction Traject	Detailer Detail /		2.08	Approve adapter 1 of 21	Same Activity	No State of the American
	VM Policies		Type	The Desider	Data/Isre Default			0010196 8204	130
	Template		therea	he dutty -	Head April PMent Default Storage Management Transfer Little - Dr	PORCY	CODAC BURL	Disconfected (	ρ.
	Compatibility	IN TOWNOLD	Data File	Spring States (second	Management Storage Policy - Lar	roe .	Compatibility	6500 7 0 1.2 an	el later (VM version 10)
	Factor Businet Loop	IT COMPACT	Carte	Acres -	Management Storage Policy - He Management Storage Policy - Sin	ole Node			
			and one	Uninted -	Management Storage Policy - 525	ekchol	6017		
	@ Edit Settings.	r -	that Made	Depresent	Management Storage policy - Th	0			
	More to folder		Tetal Deals toda	NUMBER & NU	VM Bitcheller-Pales			1	Snapshots II
	Revierse.		1 SCHOOL O	Village Constant	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY.	TOTAL YOR BUILD			
	Edit Notes.		<ol> <li>Teacher und autore 1</li> </ol>	1011/0 March 2010	Well his Resaircherts Policy				3 6.75GB
	Tags & Custom Attributes	6	- Network Station 1		Proventat				
	Add Permission. Alarma	0	VM is not compatibl Storage Policy the	e with the VM I we created,	CANCEL OR	Jan contract of the	D		Latest snapshot snab 03
				VM Replication Gr	UNDR				8/15/23, 52/38 AM
<ul> <li>Becard Tasks Alarma</li> </ul>	VERN								

Figure 13-12. (vSphere Storage Policies 12 of 14)

If we try to create a VM with the new encrypted VM Storage Policy, we get the error shown in Figure 13-13: *A general runtime error occurred. Cannot apply encryption policy. You must set the default key provider.* 



Figure 13-13. (vSphere Storage Policies 13 of 14)

This error occurs because we are trying to encrypt our datastore and VMs but haven't created a key provider. We select the ESXi host, configure tab and in Security and Key Providers option we that is empty. As shown in the Figure 13-14.

0 8 8 9	C Summary Monitor	ter.vmwarehome.Jab   actions <u>Configure</u> Pervisions Datacenters Hosts & Clusters VA	Hs Datastores Network	is Linked vCenter Server Systems Extensions Updates
Sendo side de orrese alcone las     B Vento side basenter     D Vento side de casenter     D Vento side da casenter     D Vento side da casenter     D Vento side da casenter	Settings v General Latitiong	Key Providers	011.171	
Institute of the offending and the offendin	Hessage of the Day Advanced Settings Authentication Revy VCertae HA Benefity V Tract Authenty Are Authenty	Star Province	Tow	<ul> <li>Below</li> <li>Site Aretis found</li> </ul>
	auros Centractores Scheenund Tacos Schroege Howsders VSAN V Objektiv Bisternat Consectivity	3		

Figure 13-14. (vSphere Storage Policies 14 of 14)

So, we need to add a key provider in our vCenter. But before we add a key provider, let's examine what exactly is a key provider.

## 13.8.1 What Is a Key Provider?

A *security key provider* is a software component responsible for managing the encryption keys used to protect your data. Storage vendors typically implement security key providers.

When you create a VM storage policy specifying that encryption should be enabled, you can specify the security key provider you want to use. The security key provider will then manage the encryption keys used to encrypt the data on the VM's disks.

There are two types of security key providers:

- **Local security key providers:** Store the encryption keys on the ESXi host. This is the most common type of security key provider.
- **Remote security key providers:** Store the encryption keys on a remote server. This type of security key provider is more secure than local security key providers, but it is also more complex to configure.

The decision of whether to use a local or remote security key provider depends on your specific requirements. If you need a high level of security, you should use a remote security key provider. You should use a local security key provider for a more straightforward configuration.

Without a key provider, vCenter cannot handle the encryption.

# 13.9 Add an Encryption Key Provider

To add a key provider, go to vCenter, click the **Configure** tab, select **Key Providers** in the *Security* section, and select either of the following options (see Figure 13-15):

- Add Native Key Provider: This option adds the vCenter Server Native Key Provider to the VM storage policy. The vCenter Server Native Key Provider is a local security key provider that stores the encryption keys on the ESXi host. This is the most common option to use.
- Add Standard Key Provider: This option adds a thirdparty security key provider to the VM storage policy. Third-party security key providers can offer more features and security than the vCenter Server Native Key Provider. However, they are also more complex to configure.



## Figure 13-15. (Key Provider 1 of 4)

The decision of whether to use the vCenter Server Native Key Provider or a third-party security key provider depends on your specific requirements. If you need a simple and secure solution, use the vCenter

Server Native Key Provider. If you need more features and security, you should use a third-party security key provider.

Here are some of the benefits of using the vCenter Server Native Key Provider:

- **Simple to configure:** The vCenter Server Native Key Provider is easy to configure and manage.
- **Secure:** The vCenter Server Native Key Provider uses strong encryption algorithms to protect your data.
- **Consistent:** The vCenter Server Native Key Provider is available on all supported ESXi hosts.

Here are some of the benefits of using a third-party security key provider:

- **More features:** Third-party security key providers can offer more features than the vCenter Server Native Key Provider, such as centralized key management and auditing.
- **More secure:** Third-party security key providers can offer more security than the vCenter Server Native Key Provider, such as hardware security modules and multifactor authentication.
- Scalable: Third-party security key providers can be scaled to meet the needs of your environment. For example, you can use multiple third-party security key providers to store the encryption keys for your VMs. This option adds the vCenter Server Native Key Provider to the VM storage policy.

For our test lab environment, add the default Native Key Provider managed by vCenter, which is free, by using the option **Add Native Key Provider** and then clicking **Add Key Provider** in the dialog box (see Figure 13-15). If you use the option **Add Standard Key Provider**, this requires a third-party service that usually has a service cost. For production, you should always use the latter option.

**Caution** Enable the option *Use key provider only with TPM protected ESXi hosts* (shown in Figure 13-15) only if you have hardware TPM.

Next, to finalize your key provider, you need to back it up. As shown in Figure 13-16, select **Key Providers**, click the **Back-Up** option, check the option **Protect Native Key Provider data with password**, and provide a password for your key provider. Click **Copy Password** to copy and save your password in a secure place. Check the check box to confirm your action. Finally, click **Back Up Key Provider**.



*Figure* 13-16. (*Key Provider* 2 *of* 4)

**Caution** If you lose your password, you cannot unencrypt any data.

**Note** Always select the option to protect the Native Key Provider data with a password. Backing up the Native Key Provider without password protection exposes its configuration data and the virtual machines encrypted with key providers to potential security threats.

After you click Back Up Key Provider, the Key Provider file is downloaded to your computer, as shown in Figure 13-17. Store the file in a secure place.

	Name	~	Date modified	Type	Size
Quick access				AL-	
Desktop	*		12/08/2023 20:49	PNG File	75 KB
L Downloads	*		13/08/2023 02:01	PNG File	21 KB
Documents			13/08/2023 02:04	PNG File	88 KB
Documents	*		13/08/2023 02:17	PNG File	126 KB
Pictures	*		13/08/2023 00:29	PNG File	189 KB
			13/08/2023 00:11	PNG File	51 KB
			12/08/2023 23:56	PNG File	218 KB
			12/08/2023 21:45	PNG File	61 KB
			13/08/2023 00:50	PNG File	85 KB
			13/08/2023 00:37	PNG File	81 KB
			12/08/2023		15 KB
			13/08/2023 Your K	ey Provider key is	save 5 KB
			13/08/2023	in your Computer	5 KB
	3		13/08/2023	, year ashiputer	59 KB
			13/08/2023 01-21	PNG File	92 KB
			13/08/2023 01:30	PNG File	45 KB
	and the second second	Contractor Street	13/08/2023 02:01	PNG File	282 KB
	Sphere Es	sentials - Key Provider.p12	13/08/2023 02:21	Personal Informati	2 KB

*Figure 13-17.* (*Key Provider 3 of 4*)

Now your key provider is active (see Figure 13-18), and you can use any of the Storage or VM Encryption policies you have previously created.

Key Providers			
ADD - BACK-UP RESTORE SET AS DEFAULT EDIT DELETE			
Key Provider	Туре	† Status	Certificates
vSphere Essentials - Key Provider (default)	Native	O Active	
			I
Provider vSphere Essentials - Key Provider - Key Management Servers Details Constraints		$\backslash$	$\backslash$
Key ID 67b7sc08-bc48-4bsb-9a5e-(281c28e4a12		Г	
Add Native Key Provider	Back up Key Provider BACK UP		Active

Figure 13-18. (Key Provider 4 of 4)

As Figure 13-19 shows, the VM and virtual disk are now encrypted when we create a new VM and select our VM Storage Policy.

New Virtual Machine			×
<ul> <li>1 Select a creation type</li> <li>2 Select a name and folder</li> </ul>	Customize hardware Configure the virtual machine hardware		
<ul> <li>✓ 3 Select a compute resource</li> <li>✓ 4 Select storage</li> <li>✓ 5 Select compatibility</li> </ul>	Virtual Hardware VM Options		
<ul> <li>Select compatibility</li> </ul>		ADD NEW DEVICE	E M
6 Select a guest OS     7 Customize hardware	Encryption	VM configuration files are encrypted. (1)	
8 Ready to complete	> CPU		_
	> Memory	2 v c VM configuration file	s and
	New Hard disk *	GB ~ O Disk will be encrypted.	pted.
	Maximum Size	951.34 GB	
	VM storage policy	vSphere Essentials - VM Storage Policy Host-Based ~      ① The storage policy contains encryption rules.	
	Location	Store with the virtual machine $$	
	Disk Provisioning	Thin Provision ~	
	Sharing	Unspecified ~	
	Shares	Normal V 1000 V	
	1	CANCEL BACK	NEXT

Figure 13-19. (vSphere Storage Policies 14 of 15)

To encrypt VMs that already exist, we need to encrypt the VM configuration files first and then the VM virtual disk.

The VM needs to be powered off to encrypt the VM configuration files. Go to **VM settings**, click the **VM Options** tab, expand the **Encryption** section, and then *VM Encryption* and use change to your VM Storage Policy.

By selecting the option **Disk**, it also encrypts the virtual disk. Then you don't need to return to the VM Settings and change the virtual disk VM Storage Policy.

The VM configuration files and virtual disk will both be encrypted.

**Note** If the VM has any snapshots, it is not possible to encrypt the virtual disks. If you want to encrypt the virtual disks, delete all snapshots from the VM.

When you encrypt your VM, you can also choose to encrypt vMotion and vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT) for the VM. Check Figure 13-20 for the options you have to encrypt those two vSphere features.

Virtual Hardware VM Optio	ns	
General Options     VMware Remote Console Op	VM Name: Linux Cent/OS 8 v None None Management Storage policy -	Encryption
>	Lock the gu VM Encryption Policy disconnects vSphere Essentials - VM Stora	ge Policy Host-Based
Encryption	Expand for encryption settings	
Encrypt VM	vSphere Essentials - VM Storage Policy	Host-Based ¥
Encrypted vMotion	Pisk 0 Required V	Disabled Do not use encrypted vMotion, even if availai Opportunistic
Encrypted FT	Required 🗸 🚺	Use encrypted vMotion if source and destinal
> Power management	Expand for power management settings	vMotion otherwise. This is the default option.
> VMware Tools	Disabled	Required Allow only encrypted vMotion. If the source of
Y Boot Options	Do not turn on encrypted FT logging.	destination host does not support vMotion
Firmware	Opportunistic Turn on encryption only if both sides are capable,	encryption, do not allow the vMotion to occur
Secure Boot	FT VM is allow to move to older version of host that don't support encrypted FT logging.	
Boot Delay	Required oct order Choose hosts for FT primary/secondary such that holds hosts concern assurated FT longing.	er by 🗸

Figure 13-20. (vSphere Storage Policies 15 of 15)

# 13.10 Summary

This chapterfocuses on enhancing performance and security for virtual machines (VMs). It covers how custom storage policies can meet specific I/O requirements to boost VM performance and details the significance of storage encryption for protecting data integrity and confidentiality.

The discussion includes optimizing storage through Storage I/O Controls (SIOC) and configuring VM policies for host-based data services, alongside their application to VMs. The setup of encryption providers is also addressed, providing a rounded understanding of the practicalities and security considerations in managing vSphere storage.

Key points include the importance of tailoring storage configurations to improve performance and offer essential data services like deduplication, compression, and encryption. The guidance offered helps establish efficient storage management and a secure virtual infrastructure, emphasizing encryption for data protection and the strategic use of SIOC for performance enhancement.

## **CHAPTER 14**

# vSphere Distributed Switch

Now that we have our vCenter installed and configured, we can discuss vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS) and how to create a vDS.

Figure 14-1 shows the design of our test lab vSphere environment using the vSphere Distributed Switches that we will work on in this chapter and subsequent chapters. The design has three ESXi hosts and four physical NICs distributed in the following two vDSs with two physical NICs each.

- Storage vDS:
  - Two uplinks (physical NICs) per ESXi host
  - Two port groups (Storage and vMotion)

In this case, we use the Storage port group to connect our ESXi hosts to Storage and the second port group for the vMotion network.

- Virtual Machines vDS:
  - Two uplinks (physical NICs) per ESXi host
  - Four port groups (Management, Production VMs, Marketing VMs, and Development VMs)

Using this type of configuration in our vDS for virtual machines and ESXi hosts management, we can separate the traffic using the same vDS with different VLANs for each department and network.

**Note** In a standard production environment, it is best practice to physically separate management traffic from VM traffic. This separation ensures optimal performance and enhances security. However, in our scenario, we are working within a nested test environment. Given this context, it is acceptable to configure our setup with both management and VM traffic sharing the same physical network interfaces. This approach simplifies our test configuration without the typical concerns of combining these traffic types in a production environment.



Figure 14-1. (vSphere Distributed Switch 1 of 28)

# 14.1 What Is vSphere Distributed Switch?

vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS) is a centralized and advanced virtual switch designed for VMware vSphere environments. Unlike standard virtual switches operating locally within a single ESXi host, vSphere Distributed Switches provide a consistent network configuration across multiple hosts, clusters.

vSphere Distributed Switches are managed by vCenter, which allows administrators to create, configure, monitor, and manage network settings across all ESXi hosts associated with the vDSs. vDSs can simplify network management tasks for large-scale VMware vSphere deployments using a centralized management interface.

Some of the key features of vSphere Distributed Switches include

- **Centralized network management:** vDS allows you to centrally manage network settings such as private vLANs, QoS, LACP, and security policies from a single location.
- Advanced network traffic management: vDS supports features such as vSphere Network I/O Control (NIOC), which allows you to prioritize traffic and allocate bandwidth based on specific requirements.
- Network monitoring and troubleshooting: vDS provides enhanced network visibility and monitoring capabilities, including NetFlow and port mirroring support.
- **Improved scalability:** vDS can support up to 30,000 virtual ports and 1024 ESXi hosts in a single switch, providing scalable networking for even the largest VMware vSphere environments.

# 14.2 vSphere Distributed Switch Main Features

The features described and shown in this section are available only on vSphere Distributed Switches, not Standard Switches. This section explains each feature and shows how to select it in vCenter. You will find all the main features in the vDS configuration section, but we will examine them individually.

The configuration and enabling (some are disabled by default) of the main features are done on the vDS level. It then can be enabled or configured in the port group.



Figure 14-2. (vSphere Distributed Switch 2 of 28)

## 14.2.1 Back Up and Restore vDS Network Configuration

Essentially, the backup and restore feature allows administrators to save a snapshot of their vDS configuration, which can be used to restore the network settings in case of accidental deletion or other unexpected events. This backup and restore process ensures that the virtual network remains operational and minimizes downtime due to network failures.

The backup and restore process can be performed using the vSphere Client GUI by browsing for the vSphere Distributed Switch, rightclicking it, selecting **Settings**, and clicking the **Export Configuration** option, as shown in Figure 14-3. As also shown, you can restore the backed-up file by instead clicking **Restore Configuration**.

The backup and restore vDS network configuration feature can also be used if you want to migrate to a new vCenter and need a copy of the network from the old vCenter.

I have often used this feature in production when it is impossible to do a complete migration to migrate a legacy vCenter (version 6.5/6.7) to a new vCenter.



Figure 14-3. (vSphere Distributed Switch 3 of 28)

## 14.2.2 Link Aggregation Control Protocol Support

The Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) in vSphere Distributed Switch is called LAG (Link Aggregation Group). In a vDS, LAG consolidates multiple network links into a single logical link. This process allows for higher bandwidth, improved redundancy, and load balancing across multiple physical network interfaces.

By configuring a LAG on a vDS, administrators can bundle two or more vmnics into a single logical interface. This interface appears as a single connection to connected VMs, providing multiple paths for traffic to flow between the physical hosts. This setup allows for improved performance and availability.

**Note** Enabling LACP on a vDS is contingent upon the support for LACP on your physical switch. Always verify that your physical networking hardware is compatible with LACP before enabling it on a vDS.

LAG in a vDS can be configured using LACP or static LAG techniques. LACP provides dynamic negotiation between the physical switch and the vDS, while Static LAG requires manual configuration of the physical switch. To configure LAG in a vDS, you must first create a LAG group by selecting the vDS, then specifying the LAG parameters such as LAG mode (LACP or Static), number of uplinks, and load balancing algorithm. Once the LAG group is created, it can be assigned to a port group, enabling the virtual machines to use the consolidated link.

Enabling LACP can be done only at the vDS level, not on the vDS port group.



Figure 14-4. (vSphere Distributed Switch 4 of 28)

## 14.2.3 Inbound Traffic Shaping

Inbound Traffic Shaping in vSphere Distributed Switch is a technique used to control the amount of incoming traffic allowed to pass through a particular port or set of ports on the virtual switch.

With Inbound Traffic Shaping, administrators can limit the rate at which incoming traffic flows into a virtual machine or a group of virtual machines. Administrators can prevent network congestion by restricting the amount of inbound traffic and ensuring that the available bandwidth is utilized effectively.

In vDS, Inbound Traffic Shaping is implemented using a traffic shaper, which allows administrators to set an upper limit on the rate of incoming traffic. The traffic shaper buffers incoming traffic and then releases it in compliance with the allowed rate, thereby controlling traffic flow into the virtual machine or port group.

To configure Inbound Traffic Shaping in vDS, you must first select the port group or virtual machine for which you want to enable traffic shaping. You can then specify the desired traffic shaping policy by defining the maximum peak bandwidth, average bandwidth, and burst size. Once the policy is applied, the traffic shaper limits the rate of incoming traffic according to the specified parameters.

ettings			
General	Ingress traffic shaping $ \mathbb{O} $		
Advanced	Status	Disabled V	
VLAN Security	Average bandwidth (kbit/s)		
Traffic shaping	Peak bandwidth (kbit/s)		
Teaming and failover	Burst size		
Monitoring			
Miscellaneous	Egress traffic shaping 🕠		
	Status	Disabled ~	
	Average bandwidth (kbit/s)		
	Peak bandwidth (kbit/s)		
	Burst size (KB)		
	٢		
			CANCEL

Figure 14-5. (vSphere Distributed Switch 5 of 28)

## 14.2.4 Port Binding and Port Allocation

Distributed Port Group Settings	- Edit Management		×
General Advanced	Name	Management	
VLAN	Port binding	Static binding V	
Security	Port allocation	Elastic 🗸 🛈	
Traffic shaping Teaming and failover	Number of ports	8	
Monitoring	Network resource pool	(defauit) ~	
Miscellaneous	Description		
			CANCEL

Figure 14-6. (vSphere Distributed Switch 6 of 28)

Here is a quick explanation of port binding:

- **Static binding:** Connects a virtual machine to a distributed port group by assigning a distributed port.
- **Ephemeral binding:** The behavior is similar to a Standard Virtual Switch (VSS) when you choose this choice. In the port group, one port is allocated for each connected virtual machine up to the maximum number of ports available. The number of ports is automatically set to 0, and each port group is allocated one port.

**Note** This option is very useful for connecting vCenter Appliance. If vCenter goes down, you still have a network since Ephemeral is not bout to vCenter, only to ESXI hosts.

## 14.2.5 Port Mirror

Port Mirror is mainly used for traffic analyses and troubleshooting. It could be to analyze package drops or security.

In a vSphere Distributed Switch, Port Mirroring is a feature used to copy network traffic from a source port or set of ports to a destination port, which can be monitored or analyzed for troubleshooting, security, or other purposes.

With Port Mirroring, administrators can create a copy of the network traffic passing through a virtual switch and direct it to a destination port or virtual machine, where it can be captured and analyzed using a network analyzer such as Wireshark. This allows them to gain insight into the network behavior, detect security threats, or troubleshoot issues.

To configure Port Mirroring in vDS, first create a port mirror session by defining a source port or set of ports and a destination port or virtual machine. Specify the direction of traffic to be copied, either ingress (incoming traffic) or egress (outgoing traffic), or both. You can also limit the amount of mirrored traffic by setting a filter based on protocols, VLANs, or MAC addresses.

Once the port mirror session is configured, the selected traffic will be copied to the destination port or virtual machine, which can then capture and analyze the data. It is important to note that Port Mirroring can consume significant network resources and may impact the performance of virtual machines, so it is recommended to use it selectively and with care.



Figure 14-7. (vSphere Distributed Switch 7 of 28)

## 14.2.6 VM Port Blocking

As the name identifies, VM Port blocking is a security feature to block traffic in a VM port. In a vDS, VM Port Blocking is a security feature that allows administrators to restrict the network traffic that is allowed to enter or exit a specific virtual machine.

With VM port blocking, administrators can control the network traffic flow between virtual machines or between a virtual machine and the external network. This feature can be used to enforce network security policies, prevent unauthorized access, or protect sensitive data.

Once the rules are applied, any traffic that matches them will be blocked at the virtual machine's port, preventing it from entering or exiting it. You can also choose to log the blocked traffic, which can help in troubleshooting or auditing.

It is important to note that VM Port Blocking is only effective within the virtual environment and does not provide protection against attacks from outside the virtual infrastructure, so it should be used as part of a comprehensive security strategy only from a virtual machines perspective.

Distributed Port Group Settings	o - Edit Management		×
General Advanced	Block All Ports		
VLAN Security	Selecting Yes will shut down all ports in the port group. This might disrupt the normal network operations of the hosts	or VMs using the ports.	
Traffic shaping Teaming and failover			
Miscellaneous	ĸ		>
		CANCEL	

Figure 14-8. (vSphere Distributed Switch 8 of 28)

## 14.2.7 Health Check

Health Check, which is disabled by default, includes the following features (see Figure 14-9):

- VLAN and MTU
- Teaming and failover

Both Health Check features check the vDS traffic and inform if any configurations are not correctly configured.

For example, if you set jumbo frames (MTU 9000), all the network devices connected to these ports must be enabled with jumbo frames. If jumbo frames are not enabled on all devices, it can lead to packet fragmentation. This means that when a device tries to transmit a packet that exceeds the network's maximum packet size, it has to divide the packet into smaller segments. These segments must then be reassembled at the receiving end, which can increase latency and reduce throughput.

Management vDS EACTIONS			
Summary Monitor	Configure Permissions Ports Hosts VMs Networks		
Settings 🗸 🗸	Health Check		
Properties	VI AN and MTU Disabled		
Topology	Teaming and failouar Disabled		
LACP	Disabled Disabled		
Private VLAN			
NetFlow			
Port Mirroring			
Health Check			
Resource Allocation V			
System traffic			
Network resource pools			
Alarm Definitions			

Figure 14-9. (vSphere Distributed Switch 9 of 28)

## 14.2.8 Network Resource Pools

Network resource pools allow administrators to allocate a portion of the available network resources to a specific group of virtual machines. See Figure 14-10. This can be useful in environments where some virtual machines require higher levels of network performance than others or where network resources must be reserved for critical applications.

When a virtual machine is powered on, it is assigned to a specific port group associated with a network resource pool. The virtual machine can then utilize the portion of the reserved network resources allocated to the pool it belongs to. This ensures that the virtual machine always has access to the bandwidth reserved for its pool, even during periods of high network congestion.

If we look at our infrastructure design in the next chapter, we see that we have Virtual Machines, for example, from Production and Development. Virtual Machines from Development should not have priority or use a big part of the bandwidth, so we create a Network Pool in which they can use only the bandwidth allocated to them, and provide to Production VMs more bandwidth.

In this case, we use a Network resource Pool to prevent development VMs from monopolizing network resources and degrading overall network performance.



Figure 14-10. (vSphere Distributed Switch 10 of 28)

## 14.2.9 Private VLANs

There are three types of private VLANs (PVLANs): Isolated, Community, and Promiscuous. Each type provides a different level of isolation and connectivity between virtual machines. To access the PVLAN options, right-click the vDS, select **Settings**, and click **Edit Private VLAN**, as shown in Figure 14-11.

• **Isolated PVLAN:** An isolated PVLAN allows a virtual machine to communicate only with its own virtual interface. It cannot communicate with other virtual machines, even within the same primary VLAN. You might choose to configure isolated PVLANs when VMs host sensitive applications, like financial systems, to ensure they are completely segregated from other network traffic for security purposes.

- Community PVLAN: A community PVLAN allows
  virtual machines to communicate with each other
  within the same primary VLAN. However, each virtual
  machine can only communicate with other virtual
  machines in the same community, not those in
  other communities or isolated PVLANs. Community
  PVLANs could be used in a departmental setup, such
  as allowing communication among VMs in the HR
  department while keeping them isolated from the IT
  and Marketing departments' VMs.
- **Promiscuous PVLAN:** A promiscuous PVLAN allows a virtual machine to communicate with all other devices on the primary VLAN, including other virtual machines and physical devices. Promiscuous PVLANs are often set up for VMs that act as servers or gateways, providing services like DHCP or routing to other VMs within the primary VLAN.

Management vDS     Management	Actions - Management vDS	
Management vE	Distributed Port Group	Switch Details
WMotion     Wirtual Machine vD     M     Devolepment V     M     Marketing VMs     Production VMs     Virtual Machine	Add and Manage Hosts Edit Notes Upgrade Settings Move To Rename Tags & Custom Attributes Add Permission Alarms	Networks         Hosts         Virtual machines         © Edit Settings         Edit Private VLAN         Edit NetFlow         Export Configuration         Restore Configuration
Private VLAN Manageme	S Delete	×
ADD REMOVE		DD REMOVE
Primary VLAN ID	▼ [	Secondary VLAN ID         Y         VLAN Type         Y           1         Image: Comparison of the second secon
		CANCEL

Figure 14-11. (vSphere Distributed Switch 11 of 28)

## 14.2.10 NetFlow

NetFlow collects information about each packet that enters or exits a virtual machine's network interface, including the source and destination IP addresses, protocols, ports, and other metadata. This information is then aggregated and sent to a NetFlow collector, which can be used to analyze the network traffic patterns and identify potential issues.

Once NetFlow is enabled, the vDS will start collecting information about the network traffic flow and sending it to the designated NetFlow collector. The collected data can be used to generate reports, troubleshoot network issues, monitor network performance, and detect security threats.

By using NetFlow in vDS, you can gain visibility into the network traffic flow, identify potential bottlenecks, and optimize network performance. NetFlow can also help identify network security threats and provide insights into virtual machines' network behavior.



Figure 14-12. (vSphere Distributed Switch 12 of 28)

## 14.2.11 vDS Tags and Custom Attributes

Both Tags and Custom Attributes in vDS can perform bulk operations, such as filtering, sorting, searching, and reporting, which can help manage large-scale virtual environments.

For example, administrators can use Tags to apply security policies or configure Quality of Service (QoS) settings across groups of virtual machines.

Custom Attributes can be used to track compliance requirements, maintenance schedules, or licensing information for virtual machines.



Figure 14-13. (vSphere Distributed Switch 13 of 28)

# 14.3 vSphere Distributed Switch Requirements

It is crucial to understand the foundational requirements that underpin the successful deployment of vSwitches. The prerequisites for utilizing vDS are not overly complex, but there are specific conditions and configurations that must be met. This section outlines these essential requirements, providing a clear checklist to ensure your system is ready for the integration and optimal functioning of vDS.

Although the prerequisites for using vDS are not extensive, specific the following requirements must be fulfilled:

• License: vSphere Distributed Switch is only available if you have a vSphere Enterprise Plus license for your ESXi hosts. This license provides access to advanced vSphere features, including distributed switching.

Additionally, it is worth mentioning that vDS can also be accessed through other licensing options. Specifically, if you have a vSAN or an NSX license, you will also have the capability to use vDS. This is particularly relevant for environments in which vSAN is used for storage virtualization or NSX is used for network virtualization, as these licenses extend the functionality to include vDS.

- vCenter Server: vSphere Distributed Switch is only available in vCenter, so you must be running vCenter Server to create a vDS. You cannot use vSphere Distributed Switch if you are running stand-alone hosts not connected to vCenter Server.
- Hardware requirements: There are not many hardware requirements to use vDS, but the ESXi host needs at least one physical Ethernet adapter per host to configure and use a vDS.
- VLANs: If you are using VLANs with vSphere Distributed Switch, you need to ensure that the VLAN IDs are consistent across all hosts that are connected to the vDS.

# 14.4 Create and Configure a vSphere Distributed Switch

To create a vSphere Distributed Switch, in the vCenter, click the **Networking** (shown as step 1 in Figure 14-14), right-click the Datacenter (Vembu in our test lab), select **Distributed Switch** in the context menu, and click **New Distributed Switch**.



Figure 14-14. (vSphere Distributed Switch 14 of 28)

In the first step of the wizard, give your vDS a name (following the design in Figure 14-1, name it **Management vDS**). Click **Next**.

In step 2 of the wizard, shown in Figure 14-15, select the vDS version. Select the most recent version unless you have a particular reason not to. Click **Next**.

**Note** In some scenarios you might not want to update to the latest version immediately. For example, if you are in the process of upgrading a mixed-host environment, it is prudent to hold off on updating the vDS until all the hosts are running on the latest
version. Updating the vDS too early in such a scenario can lead to compatibility issues, as older ESXi hosts might not support the newer vDS version. This careful approach ensures a smooth transition and maintains a stable environment during the upgrade process.

**Tip** You can check the new features per version by clicking the corresponding option, as shown in Figure 14-15.

New Distributed Switch	Select version × Specify a distributed switch version.
1 Name and location	7.0.3 - ESXI 7.0.3 and later
2 Select version	0 7.0.2 - ESXi 7.0.2 and later
3 Configure settings	<ul> <li>7.0.0 - ESXI 7.0 and later</li> <li>6.6.0 - ESXI 6.7 and later</li> </ul>
4 Ready to complete	0 6.5.0 - ESXI 6.5 and later
New features and enhancements Distributed switch: 7.0.3 • NVMe over TCP Distributed switch: 7.0.2 • LACP Fast Mode Distributed switch: 7.0.0 • NSX Distributed Port Group Distributed switch: 6.6.0 • MAC Learning Distributed switch: 6.5.0 • Port Mirroring Enhancements	The multicast filtering mode on the switch will be set to IGMP/MLD snooping if you continue with the selected version.  Features per version ①
	CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 14-15. (vSphere Distributed Switch 15 of 28)

Next, select the number of uplinks (physical Ethernet cards) you will use in this vDS. Following the design in Figure 14-1, configure each vDS to have **2** vmnics. Since vDS does not work without a logical port group, create the first port group now and name it **Management**, as shown in Figure 14-16.



Figure 14-16. (vSphere Distributed Switch 16 of 28)

You can now finish creating vDS by clicking **Finish**, as shown in Figure 14-17.



Figure 14-17. (vSphere Distributed Switch 17 of 28)

Figure 14-18 shows the newly created vSphere Distributed Switch.

E vlatere Dent Q				C & anna presson - Q Q-
	* El Management VOS Everez Bade Contare Banerez Bade Contare Bade	Alten Armanes Auto Halo Vila Armania - n		
· D wat that	Switt Sriak		Polari	1
	Instantion Instantion		- Referred UIC Cartinal	hearted .
	1000		Water	
	Wine memory		Auf las	haserwa
	Parts		Life Look Descents Protected	Lager No.
			Unk Appropriate Carbor Perlanat	Referenced to append
	10.000		Los Appropriation Tenand	Lauria
			Automoting	Testerine
	Editoria.		apartment analysis	happer wei
	140		math (max	happened .
			Contain Addition	

Figure 14-18. (vSphere Distributed Switch 18 of 28)

Having created the vDS, we will add the ESXi hosts that will work with this vDS. We will use all three ESXi hosts in the Cluster. We can select all in the Cluster or use specific ones.

As shown in Figure 14-19, right-click the vDS just created, click **Add and Manage Hosts** in the context menu, and then choose the **Add hosts** option in step 1 of the wizard. Click **Next**.



Figure 14-19. (vSphere Distributed Switch 19 of 28)

Next, select the ESXi hosts that will be added to this vDS. In our case, it is all three. See Figure 14-20. Click **Next**.



Figure 14-20. (vSphere Distributed Switch 20 of 28)

Step 3, shown in Figure 14-21, is the configuration of the essential part of the vDS network: select which network adapters (vmnics) this vDS will use. The options are *Adapters on all hosts* or *Adapters per host*. Since we will use the same vmnics in all ESXi hosts in our test lab environment, select **Adapters on all hosts**. Selecting this option, vDS automatically selects the same vmnic in all ESXi hosts.

If, for example, in ESXi host A, we will add vmnic1 and vmnic3, but in the ESXi host B vmnic2 and vmnic3, we need to select the option *Adapters per host* and select vmnics per host.

After you check which vmnics are available and not being used in another vDS or Standard Switch (vmnic5 and vmnic6 in Figure 14-21), assign an uplink number. In this case, select the **(Auto-assign)** option to better manage the uplink numbers. **Note** Recall that in the previous chapters we configured four vmnics (vmnic0 to vmnic4) and two Standard Switches (vSwitch0 for management and VMs network and vSwitch1 for Storage), which is why they are displayed as in use in Figure 14-21.

We added two vmnics (you can do this by adding two vmnics in your nested vSphere VMs) just to create this new vDS. After we finish all the vDS configuration, we will migrate all vmnics (1 to 4) to this new vDS and remove vmnic5 and vmnic6. Click **Next**.

Management vDS - Add	Manage physical adapters	×
	Adapters on all hosts Adapters per host	ted switch.
1 Select task	To associate a physical network adapter with an uplink, use "As same physical network adapter available.	sign uplink". This assignment would be applied to all the hosts that have the
2 Select hosts	Physical network adapters T	n use by switch <b>Y</b> Assign uplink <b>Y</b>
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	hosts / 3 switches None ~
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>> 📼 vmnic1 3	hosts / 3 switches None ~
5. Migrate VM networking	» 🖭 vmnic2 3	hosts / 3 switches
5 Higrate Vinnetworking	>> 🖭 vmnic3 3	hosts / 3 switches
6 Ready to complete	3	hosts / 3 switches
	> E vmnic5 3	hosts / O switches
	>> 🖭 vmnic6 3	hosts / O switches Nor ~
		4None
		Uplink 1 Uplink 2
		(Auto-assign) 7 physical network adapters
5 >> = vmnic5	This switch	(Auto-assign)
≫  vmnic6	This switch	(Auto-assign) v

Figure 14-21. (vSphere Distributed Switch 21 of 28)

Step 4 of the wizard (see Figure 14-22) is applicable if we want to migrate any vmkernel (like ESXi host management, vMotion, or iSCSI vmkernel) to this new vDS and assign any port group that we have already created. We will not do this now. We will discuss that process in Chapter 15. So, click **Next** to skip this step.

Management vDS - Add and Manage Hosts	Manage \ Manage and assi	Mkernel adaş	oters adapters to the distributed sw	witch.
1 Select task	Adapters on all	hosts Adapters	per host group, click on the arrow or "As	ssign port group" button. This assignment would be applied to a
2 Select hosts	Name	T	In use by switch	Destination port group
3 Manage physical adapters	>> 😇 vmkt	)	3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>> 🖭 vmkt		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
	» 😁 vmk		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
5 Migrate VM networking	» 😇 vmk		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
6 Ready to complete	» 😇 vmk		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
	>> 😇 vmk		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
			If we want to migra this new vDS we s Portgroup insid	ate any vmkernel to select any existing de the new vDS
				6 Vmkernel network adapte
				CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 14-22. (vSphere Distributed Switch 22 of 28)

Step 5 of the wizard is *Migrate VM networking*, as shown in Figure 14-23. Again, we will not migrate any network until Chapter 15, so click **Next** to skip this step.



Figure 14-23. (vSphere Distributed Switch 23 of 28)

For the final step of the wizard, review your settings as shown in Figure 14-24 and click **Finish**. Your vDS will be created using the three ESXi hosts in your Cluster and it will use vmnic5 and vmnic6.



Figure 14-24. (vSphere Distributed Switch 24 of 28)

To finish this vDS section, we now create a vDS port group inside the vDS we created. As you remember, we created one port group (Management) automatically when we created the vDS. As depicted in our design in Figure 14-1, we now need to create all the Virtual Machines vDS port groups in this vDS.

As shown in Figure 14-25, right-click the vDS, select **Distributed Port Group** in the context menu, click **New Distributed Port Group**, and type the name of your vDS port group (in this case, **Production VMs**). Click **Next**.



Figure 14-25. (vSphere Distributed Switch 25 of 28)

In the next step of the wizard, shown in Figure 14-26, we don't need to change anything. Just add the VLAN that we have in our design (if you were not using VLANs, you would leave it to the default setting, **none**).

**Note** Customize default policies configuration only if you are using any of the above main features we have listed above that are disabled by default. That is not our case for this example.

New Distributed Port Group	Configure settings Set general properties of the new port group.		×
1 Name and location	Port binding	Static binding ~	
2 Configure settings	Port allocation	Elastic ~ ①	
3 Ready to complete	Number of ports	8	
	Network resource pool	(default) ~	
	VLAN		
	VLAN type	VLAN ~	
	VLAN ID	20	
	Advanced		-
	Customize default policies configuration		
			CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 14-26. (vSphere Distributed Switch 26 of 28)

Double-check the information (see Figure 14-27) and click **Finish** to create the new vDS port group.

New Distributed Port	Ready to compl	ete		$\times$
Group	Review the changes before	roceeding.		
1 Name and location	Distributed port group name	Production VMs		
	Port binding	Static binding		
2 Configure settings	Number of ports	8		
	Port allocation	Elastic		
3 Ready to complete	Network resource pool	(default)		
	VLAN ID	20		
			CANCEL BACK	FINISH

Figure 14-27. (vSphere Distributed Switch 27 of 28)

Repeat the preceding wizard steps to create the other two Virtual Machines network port groups in the design, Marketing VMs and Development VMs.

To complete the design shown in Figure 14-1, you also need to create the second vSphere Distributed Switch, Storage vDS, and its two port groups, Storage and vMotion. Follow the steps in this section to create the Storage vDS and port groups, substituting the correct names where applicable.

Figure 14-28 shows all the vDSs and port groups after they have been created.



Figure 14-28. (vSphere Distributed Switch 28 of 28)

## 14.5 Summary

This chapter introduces the vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS), an essential tool for network management in VMware environments. After establishing our vCenter, we focus on creating and configuring vDS, underscoring its importance in enabling advanced network management across ESXi hosts. vDS allows for the centralization of network configurations, providing a more streamlined management experience and enhanced capabilities compared to standard switches.

The chapter outlines the setup of two distinct vDS instances: one aimed at storage, with two uplinks per ESXi host and dedicated port groups for Storage and vMotion, and another for virtual machine traffic management, also equipped with two uplinks and various port groups designed for different operational or departmental needs.

We highlight key vDS features such as centralized network management, advanced traffic management options, network monitoring tools, and the ability to scale, demonstrating how vDS significantly improves network performance and reliability. Additionally, the chapter covers vDS-exclusive functionalities like Backup and Restore, LACP support, and Inbound Traffic Shaping, which collectively contribute to enhanced network performance and security.

Further, the discussion extends to practical configurations including Link Aggregation, Port Binding, Port Mirroring, and VM Port Blocking, providing valuable insights into optimizing and securing the network.

The chapter wraps up with the creation of vDS and port groups, laying the groundwork for advanced configurations and migration strategies in future discussions. This establishes a solid foundation for utilizing vDS to create a more efficient, secure, and manageable network infrastructure in your vSphere environments.

Having covered the basics of vSphere Distributed Switch, we now turn to its advanced configurations. Chapter 15 delves into utilizing VLANs within vDS for optimized network management and guides you through migrating from Standard vSwitch to vDS, enhancing network efficiency in VMware vSphere.

# Advanced Configuration with vSphere Distributed Switch

## 15.1 Use VLANs in vSphere Distributed Switch

Since we cannot migrate our networks before we add VLANs, we will first add VLANs to our new vDS and port groups.

**Note** Although this section applies only to environments that use VLANs, using VLANs is an important part of the vDS configuration, so I will discuss it here. You can skip this step if you are not using VLANs in your environment.

First, you need to add all VLANs at the vDS level. You do so on the Logical vDS port group (created automatically by the vDS). If you have only one VLAN to use, choose the **VLAN** option from the drop-down list. If you have several port groups and several VLANs (as in the case of our test lab design), then choose the option **VLAN trunking**.

To configure VLAN trunking, you can add VLANs in either of two different ways, as shown in Figure 15-1: add the whole VLAN trunk number range (0–4094) or just add the VLANs that will be used, separated by a comma. For security reasons (ensuring users do not use the wrong VLANs) and for better management of your networks, the second option is better.

General				
Advanced	VLAN type		None	
VI AN			VLAN	
Vonitoring			VLAN trunking	
Monitoring			Private V DAN	
Miscellaneous	<			
VLAN type		VLAN trunking $  \lor $	1	
VLAN trunk range		0-4094		
VLAN type		VLAN trunking ~	2	
VLAN trunk range				
		5,20,30,40		

#### Figure 15-1. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 1 of 21)

After you add the VLANs that your vDS will use, you can add a VLAN for each port group. In this example, add the Management port group VLAN, as shown in Figure 15-2. You can use this example to add to the rest of your port groups.

n Ø E <u>Q</u>	Summary Monitor Configure Pe	ermissions Ports Hosts VMs			
	Viriust Machines Viti Tenglates	Distributed Port Group Settings durant Advanced Servery Tanka durang Transing and tabair Microsoft Microsoft Microsoft	- EGR Managament NAM-type NAM-D	<u>4 E</u>	

#### Figure 15-2. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 2 of 21)

And now all your port groups are using individual VLANs.

When you use VLANs in your VMs Networks, you need to consider that the Guest OS network adapter may also need to use the VLAN (if you are trunking the VLANs or using more than one VLAN in a port group).

Figure 15-3 shows a simple example of a Windows Server adding the VLAN to the VMXNET3 VMware network adapter.



Figure 15-3. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 3 of 21)

Now your vDS and port groups are ready for the network migration.

**Note** In the configuration shown in Figure 15-3, I assume that you understand VLANs and how to configure them in your physical switch. Because any VLAN that is used in any vmnic is connected to a physical port switch, that port needs to have VLANs configured.

# 15.2 Migrate from a Standard vSwitch to vSphere Distributed Switch

Since the VMware test lab environment that we have built since the beginning of this book has some specific Storage networks (such as NFS and iSCSI), Figure 15-4 is already updated with the same port groups we have in the Standard Switch. We also updated the Storage vDS to consider those port groups needing migration.



Figure 15-4. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 4 of 21)

The folowing list shows all the existing Standard Switches existing in our nested environment:

• For the Management and Virtual Machines network: In the Figure 15-5 we see the existing Standard Switches for Management and VM Network Port groups and the vDS Port groups to witch we will migrate.



Figure 15-5. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 5 of 21)

• For the Storage network: Also in the Figure 15-6 we see the same, but for Storage network with the iSCSI and NFS Standard Port groups will be migrated to witch vDS Port groups.



Figure 15-6. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 6 of 21)

Next, we will go through how to add the vmnics to the Management vDS and how to migrate the VMkernel and the port groups. We will also migrate the Virtual Machines network.

**Note** This chapter assumes that you have already created the Management and Storage vDSs, so we will only do the network migration. If you have not created the vDSs, follow the instructions in Chapter 14 to do so.

If you have already created your vDS and added the ESXi hosts but have not added vmnics and migrated the networks, right-click the **Management vDS**, click **Add and Manage Hosts** in the context menu, and select the **Manage host networking** in the first step of the wizard, shown in Figure 15-7. Select **Add hosts** instead if you have created the vDS or are creating it for the first time. Both options have the same steps (except when adding the hosts, since no hosts are added to the vDS). Click **Next**.



Figure 15-7. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 7 of 21)

Next, select the hosts you are migrating to the network. For purposes of the text lab, we are migrating the full Cluster, so select all three ESXi hosts and click **Next**. See Figure 15-8.

Management vDS - Add and Manage Hosts	Select hosts Select hosts to add to this distributed switch. All bosts Selected (3)	×
1 Select task	SELECT ALL CLEAR SELECTION	COMPATIBLE INCOMPATIBLE
2 Select hosts	Host T Host state	T Cluster T Compatibility
3 Manage physical adapters	Connected	Vembu Cluster      Compatible
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	Image: state	Compatible
5 Migrate VM networking		
6 Ready to complete		
	<b>2</b> 3 <b>11</b>	3 hosts
		CANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 15-8. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 8 of 21)

In step 3 of the wizard, shown in Figure 15-9, select the vmnics that will be used on this vDS. Since we are migrating the Management network, as shown in our design, select **vmnic0** and **vmnic1**. In the *Assign uplink* column, select **(Auto-assign)** or select the uplink number. Click **Next**.

Management vDS - Add and Manage Hosts	Ma Add	anage physical adapte or remove physical network adapte pters on all bosts Adapters of	ers ins to this distributed switch.		×
1 Select task	To as same	sociate a physical network adapter with physical network adapter available.	h an uplink, use "Assign uplink". This assignment	would be applied to all the hosts th	hat have the
2 Select hosts		Physical network adapters	Y In use by switch	<b>Υ</b> Assign uplink	Ŧ
3 Manage physical adapters	~	🖭 vmnic0	This switch	(Auto-assign)	Ý
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	~	🕾 vmnic1	This switch	(Auto-assign)	×
a strand states and the	>>	😇 vmnic2	3 hosts / 3 switches	None	~
5 Migrate VM networking	$\gg$	🖭 vmnic3	3 hosts / 3 switches	None	~
6 Ready to complete	>>	🖭 vmnic4	3 hosts / 3 switches	None	~
	>>	🖭 vmnic5	3 hosts / 3 switches	None	~
	>>	🖭 vmnic6	3 hosts / 3 switches	None	~
				7 physical re CANCEL BACK	etwork adapters NEXT

#### Figure 15-9. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 9 of 21)

In step 4 of the wizard, we will migrate the VMkernel network from the ESXi host managment, that has the vmnic0 (check Chapter 5 vSphere Networking on how to check management VMkernel and witch vmnics is using) and will assign a new Port group in the vDS by clicking the **Assign Port Group** option. Select the Port group, in this case is **Management**, and click **Assign**.

**Note** Since all ESXi hosts use the vmnics for management, we can do this for all ESXi hosts in just one step. You must use the **Adapters per host** tab if your environment uses different vmnics on different ESXi hosts.

Management vDS - Add and Manage Hosts	Manage VMkerne	el adapters Instwork adapters to the distributed switt Adapters par bost	kh.
1 Select task	Magnetis on an invision Mixemel network adag migrated to the distribu	olers having warning sign might lose networked switch. Select a destination port grou	ionk connectivity in one or more hosts, unless they are up to migrate them.
2 Select nosts 3 Manage physical adapters	To assign vinkernel network ada hosts that have the same vinker	pter to part group, click on the arrow or "Assigned network adapter available.	gn port group" button. This assignment would be applied to all the
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	3 Name >> 12 vmk0	In use by switch     3 hosts / 3 switches	Assida PORT GROUP
5 Migrate VM networking	>> 💌 vmid	3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
6 Ready to complete	>> mk2	3 hosts / 3 switches Name	
	>> == vmk3 >> == vmk4	3 h	Related hosts Assign port group
	>> 25 vmk5	3 ht	Name Y NSK port group Y Distributed switch Y Actions
		>> 25 vmk3	Compared to the second se
		>> 🛅 vmiot	Management Management vOS UNA SSI
		>> 25 vmk5	management vDs     ASSIGN     Management vDs     ASSIGN

Figure 15-10. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 10 of 21)

Next, migrate the Virtual Machines network. Our environment has two VMs using the Standard Switch network. Since migrating VM networking is disabled by default, you need to enable it by checking the **Migrate virtual machine networking** check box (see Figure 15-11). The process is similar to when we migrate the VMkernel network and assign a port group by clicking **Assign Port Group** and selecting a port group to use on this VMs. For this case, select the **Production VMs** port group.

**Note** In this example, VMs have only one network adapter, adapter 1. If VMs have more adapters, they will show here, and you would need to assign a port group for each adapter.



*Figure 15-11.* (*Advanced vDS - VLANs 11 of 21*)

But if you have several VMs and some belong to different departments, we need to use the **Configure per virtual machine** option. Figure 15-12 shows an example in which one VM is placed in the Production VMs network and the other is placed in the Marketing VMs network.



Figure 15-12. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 12 of 21)

After you select all VMkernel and Virtual Machines networks, the wizard shows all the information (how many networks or VMs will be migrated), as shown in Figure 15-13. Click **Finish** to start the migration from your Standard Switch to the new vDS.



#### Figure 15-13. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 13 of 21)

If all goes smoothly and there are no issues, you will see the tasks being executed, and vCenter will migrate all the networks.

While this process is designed to be seamless and generally does not cause significant downtime for the ESXi hosts and VMs, it's important to note that minimal downtime may occur during the network switchover. This could manifest as a brief interruption lasting for one or two missed pings. Such brief disruptions are normal and should be planned for, especially in environments where continuous connectivity is critical.

**Note** If there is any issue with the ESXi hosts migration, misconfiguration in the new vDS, and ESXi hosts is not connected, vCenter will roll back the migration and give an error/warning. This is a protective measure so that you don't lose any ESXi host network.

In our case, in one port group, there was an added wrong VLAN (a typo), and the first attempt was not finished properly. We needed to double-check all vDSs to find the problem.

Now you can select an ESXi host, go to the Switches option, and select the new vDS, and you will see vmk0 now migrated to the new vDS created.



Figure 15-14. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 14 of 21)

In the vDS, in this case the Management vDS, you can click the **VMs** tab to see the VMs that were migrated, as shown in Figure 15-15.

VentoCenter imagehome lab     Vento-Laterenter     @ Vento-Venter informe lab     @ Vento-Venter informe lab     @ Vento-Venter informe lab	Production VMs Actions     Summary Monitor Configure Permissions Ports Hosts VMs     Vortual Machines     VM Templates
A Vertup USwitch PT     A Vertup USwitch PT     Management VMs     Management VMs     Management VMs     Management PV Vs     Management PV Vs     Management PV Vs     Management VVs     Management VVs     Management VVs-DVUpriss-10007     Management VS-DVUpriss-10007     Management VS-DVUpr	Name         1         State         State         Postsured Space         Heat CPU         Heat

#### Figure 15-15. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 15 of 21)

To check the migration (or for troubleshooting), you should ping one or two VMs during the migration to double-check that there is no problem with the VMs network. Figure 15-16 shows ping results indicating that all migrations were done successfully.



Figure 15-16. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 16 of 21)

To round out this chapter, we will review the other vDS, Storage. Since this Storage vDS will use iSCSI, it needs some particular configuration in the uplinks. Similar to what we have done in the chapter that we discuss iSCSI, but now in the vDS.

First, Figure 15-17 shows the output of our Storage vDS.



Figure 15-17. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 17 of 21)

In Chapter 11 when we create iSCSI Port binding. We need to do the same in the vDS.

As shown in Figure 15-18, our iSCIS 01 port group has Uplink 1 active and Uplink 2 unused. So, the iSCSI 02 port group needs to have Uplink 2 active and Uplink 1 unused so that we can use iSCSI port binding.

<ul> <li>Storage VOS</li> </ul>					
iscsi ot					
20. ISCSI 02	Actions - ISCSI 01				
A Nacional OS DVI Inicia I	A Fdit Settings				
A 100					
2 10°3	Export Configuration	Distance of Deck Course			
A Wotion	Restore Configuration	Settings	o - Edit I ISCS 01		×
		occurigo			
	Add VMkernel Adapters	deneral	Land Palancing	The entitle failured other of the	
	B. Migrate VMs to Another Network	Advanced	Contracting (	Consequences of the second sec	
		20.444	Network failure detection	Line status only V	
	Rename	1000			
	Tags & Custom Attributes	Security	Notify switches	49.E ~	
		Traffic shaping	Falbeck	No ~	
	Add Perhission	Teaming and failover			
	23 Delete	Moritoring	Fallover order 💿		
	E EAPORT	Miscelaneous	NOVENT A MOVEDOWN M		
			Active uplinks		
		 1	🗋 📼 Upika 1		-
			Siandby upiriks		
			<ul> <li>Unused uplants</li> </ul>		
			D Uplex 2		
			1		3
					CANCEL CK

#### Figure 15-18. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 18 of 21)

We set Teaming and Failover both Uplinks to active for the vDS level, NFS, and vMotion port group.

**Note** For the NFS, and vMotion Port group we set both Uplinks to active in the vDS on the *Teaming and Failover* option, since they need both active/active to have multipath created, like it was in the Standard Switch.

Then when we migrate all the Storage VMkernel it should be like shown in Figure 15-19, when migrating vmnic2 and vmnic3 (used for Storage, as shown in our design).

lanage Hosts	Manag	ae and assign VMkerne oters on all hosts	al network a Adapters t	dapters to the distributed switch	
1 Select task	To assi hosts t	ign vmkernel network ada that have the same vmker	apter to port	group, click on the arrow or "Assign adapter available.	port group" button. This assignment would be applied t
2 Select hosts		Name	т	In use by switch	Destination port group
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	😇 vmk0		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>>	😇 vmkt		This switch	A ISCSI 01 ×
	»	🖭 vmk2		This switch	A ISCSI 02 ×
5 Migrate VM networking	»	😇 vmk3		This switch	A NFS X
6 Ready to complete	»	😇 vmk4		This switch	🙈 vMotion 🗙
	»	🖭 vmk5		3 hosts / 3 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP
					6 Vinkernel network as
					O YOMETOEI DAAMAA MA
					6 Vrikernel net

Figure 15-19. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 19 of 21)

And in each ESXi host, you will see the Storage vDS migrated from the Standard Switch.

	vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab     increase     summary Montor Configure Permissions VMs Datastones Networks	Updates.
Protect-outline are sure that as a second seco	serge v Superson Supe	VIEW     Vieweit/Stadius

Figure 15-20. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 20 of 21

For the final step, delete all the old Standard Switches from each ESXi host, using the steps shown in Figure 15-21.

vembu-esxi-01.vmw	varehome.lab ; Actions
Simman Monitor Could Could Starting Mitchien Starting Mitchien Starting Parket in Mitchien Could Starting Parket Starting Could Starting Could Starting Could Starting Could Starting Could Starting Could Starting Startin	
System  Usersing Not Profile Time Configuration Authentication Stancies Controller Prever Management Astronced System Generation Frevent Services Security Instance	No associated port griups           W         Physical Adapters           No dissociated port griups         Image: State S

Figure 15-21. (Advanced vDS - VLANs 21 of 21)

### 15.3 Summary

In this chapter on Advanced Configuration with vSphere Distributed Switch, we explore the integration of VLANs into vDS and the process of migrating from Standard vSwitch to vDS. Initially, we emphasize the necessity of adding VLANs to the new vDS and Port groups, a step crucial for environments utilizing VLANs to segment network traffic effectively. This includes configuring VLAN trunking to manage multiple VLANs efficiently, ensuring secure and organized network setups.

The chapter then guides through the migration of VMkernel networks to vDS, highlighting the preparation of the same Port groups found in Standard Switch for a seamless transition. Detailed instructions are provided for adding ESXi hosts and vmnics to the vDS, migrating VMkernel networks for management, and reassigning virtual machines to new port groups on the vDS. This process is essential for leveraging the advanced features and centralized management capabilities of vDS over standard switches.

Special attention is given to configuring VLAN settings for each Port group and considering VLAN configurations within guest operating systems when necessary. The chapter concludes with the successful migration of network settings from Standard vSwitch to vDS, ensuring enhanced network management and performance in vSphere environments. Through this chapter, readers gain insights into effectively using VLANs within vDS and executing network migrations to optimize their vSphere infrastructure.

# Configuring LACP in vSphere Distributed Switch

In this chapter we will discuss the importance of Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) in the vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS) environment. LACP plays a role in enhancing network performance and reliability by combining network connections. By understanding how to configure and utilize LACP within vDS, you will be well equipped to optimize your VMware infrastructure for increased throughput and redundancy.

## 16.1 What Is Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP)

Before diving into the usage of a feature, it's essential to understand its purpose and functionality. In this section, we explore LACP, also known as Ether-Channel, Ethernet trunk, port channel, LACP, vPC, and Multi-Link Trunking. It's important to note that the availability and configuration of LACP may vary depending on the specific switch vendor and model you are using.

#### CHAPTER 16 CONFIGURING LACP IN VSPHERE DISTRIBUTED SWITCH

Link aggregation combines multiple physical network links into a single logical link, providing higher bandwidth and redundancy in case of link failures. Two common link aggregation methods are used: EtherChannel and LACP (IEEE 802.3ad).

Link aggregation, which enables multiple physical links between network devices to function as a single logical link, can be achieved through both trunking and LACP. However, they differ in their approach:

- **Trunking**: In trunk mode, individual ports within a link aggregation group are statically configured to form a trunk. The Switch treats these ports as a logical interface, facilitating traffic exchange between switches or network devices. Trunking doesn't require negotiation between devices and operates independently of any specific protocol.
- LACP: LACP is a standard protocol that allows two devices to dynamically negotiate and form a link aggregation group. LACP utilizes control frames for negotiation and management, providing advanced load-balancing techniques beyond trunking. With LACP, switches can automatically detect and configure link aggregation with other LACP-enabled switches.

In summary, while both trunking and LACP achieve link aggregation, trunking relies on static configuration without protocol negotiation. On the other hand, LACP is a dynamic, protocol-based approach that enables the automatic formation and management of link aggregation groups between devices.

Understanding these concepts will help you to proceed with configuring and using LACP in the vSphere Distributed Switch.

#### Link aggregation concepts:

Link aggregation is the process of combining multiple physical network links into a single logical link, providing higher bandwidth and redundancy in case of link failures. There are two common methods used for link aggregation:

- EtherChannel: EtherChannel is a proprietary technology offered by Cisco that allows for up to eight physical Ethernet links to be combined into a single logical link, providing fast connectivity and failover protection between switches, routers, and servers.
- LACP or IEEE 802.3ad: LACP is an IEEE standard included in the 802.3ad specification that uses a Link Aggregation Control Protocol to bundle several physical ports into a single logical channel automatically. When two devices support LACP, they can negotiate the creation of a link aggregation group and the load-balancing method used to distribute traffic across the links.

While both technologies achieve the same goal of link aggregation, they have some differences. EtherChannel is a Cisco-proprietary technology that can be used only with Cisco equipment. In contrast, LACP is an open standard that can be used with any vendor's equipment that supports it. Additionally, EtherChannel provides greater flexibility in load balancing, while LACP mandates a specific load-balancing algorithm.

Figure 16-1 illustrates the design of a vDS with LACP using Link Aggregation Group (LAG) configuration and the connection to physical network interfaces and switch ports. In this scenario, we have three ESXi hosts connected to the Management vDS. Each vmnic (virtual machine network interface card) from the ESXi hosts is connected to corresponding physical switch ports and configured with LACP at the switch level.



#### CHAPTER 16 CONFIGURING LACP IN VSPHERE DISTRIBUTED SWITCH

*Figure 16-1.* (*LACP 1 of 1*)

This configuration exemplifies implementing LACP in your environment, showcasing how the vDS, ESXi hosts, and physical switches are interconnected and configured to utilize LACP for improved network performance and redundancy.

A Link Aggregation Group (LAG) is a logical grouping of multiple physical network links or ports combined to form a single high-bandwidth connection. LAGs are commonly used to increase network capacity, enhance redundancy, and improve overall network performance.

The diagram in Figure 16-1 illustrates the concept of a LAG. The vDS has three ESXi hosts, each of which has multiple physical network interface cards (NICs) connected to the physical switch. Instead of treating these individual NICs as separate connections, you can create a LAG by combining them into a single logical link. For example, you can configure LACP on the physical switch and the vDS to enable dynamic negotiation

and management of the LAG. LACP will establish a LAG between the physical switch and the vDS by bundling the multiple NICs together.

Once the LAG is formed, virtual machines and other network resources in your vSphere environment can utilize the combined bandwidth and redundancy provided by the LAG. This means traffic can be distributed across the individual NICs within the LAG, allowing for increased throughput and improved resilience.

By using LAGs, you can effectively utilize multiple physical links as a single logical link, providing higher bandwidth and fault tolerance for the VMs networks.

## 16.2 Requirements and Limitations of LACP in vSphere

In order to effectively manage your network, it is crucial to understand the requirements and limitations associated with implementing the Link Aggregation Control Protocol in vSphere vDS. It's important to consider how LACP will integrate with your existing network infrastructure, including hardware and software compatibility as the configuration of physical NICs. By being aware of these limitations, you can optimize your network planning to fully leverage LACP's benefits within your vSphere environment.

The following restrictions and limitations apply when using LACP in vSphere vDS:

- LACP requires a vSphere Enterprise Plus license for the vDS feature.
- An ESXi host supports NIC teaming only on a single physical switch or a stack of switches.
- Link aggregation is not supported when using different trunked switches. To enable link aggregation, the

#### CHAPTER 16 CONFIGURING LACP IN VSPHERE DISTRIBUTED SWITCH

Switch must be configured to perform 802.3ad link aggregation in static mode ON, while the virtual Switch should have its *Load balancing* method set to **Route based on IP hash** (demonstrated later in this chapter).

- Enabling either **Route based on IP hash** without 802.3ad aggregation or vice versa causes disruptions in networking. Therefore, it is recommended first to change the virtual Switch. This results in the service console being unavailable. Still, the physical switch management interface remains accessible, enabling aggregation on the involved switch ports and restoring networking.
- Do not use LACP for iSCSI software multipathing. iSCSI software multipathing requires just one uplink per VMkernel, and link aggregation gives it more than one.
- Do not use beacon probing with IP HASH load balancing.
- Do not configure standby or unused uplinks with IP HASH load balancing.
- VMware supports only one EtherChannel bond per Virtual Standard Switch (vSS).
- ESXi supports LACP on vDS only.
- In vSphere Distributed Switch 5.5 and later, all load-balancing algorithms of LACP are supported.

You need to ensure that the load-balancing algorithm used in ESXi matches the load-balancing algorithm implemented on the physical switch is essential. For inquiries regarding the specific load-balancing algorithm employed by the physical Switch, please consult the physical switch vendor's documentation.
**Caution** Due to potential network disruption, changes to link aggregation should be done during a maintenance window.

As with any networking change, there is a chance for network disruption, so a maintenance period is recommended for changes. This is especially true on a vDS because vCenter owns the vDS, and the hosts alone cannot change the vDS if the connection to vCenter is lost.

Enabling LACP can complicate vCenter or host management recovery in production-down scenarios because the LACP connection may need to be broken to move back to a Standard Switch if necessary (since LACP is not supported on a Standard Switch).

Limitations:

- vSphere Distributed Switches are the only supported switch type for LACP configuration.
- LACP cannot be used for software iSCSI multipathing.
- Host Profiles do not include LACP configuration settings.
- LACP is not supported within guest operating systems, including nested ESXi hosts.
- LACP cannot be used together with the ESXi Dump Collector.

**Note** The management port must be connected to a vSphere Standard Switch to use the ESXi Dump Collector.

• Port Mirroring cannot be used with LACP to mirror LACPDU packets used for negotiation and control.

- The teaming health check does not function for LAG ports, as the LACP protocol ensures the health of individual LAG ports. However, VLAN and MTU health checks can still be performed on LAG ports.
- Enhanced LACP support is limited to a single LAG per distributed port (dvPortGroup) or port group to handle the traffic.
- Up to 64 LAGs can be created on a distributed switch, with each host supporting up to 64 LAGs.
  - The actual number of usable LAGs depends on the capabilities of the physical environment and the virtual network topology.
  - For example, if the physical switch allows a maximum of four ports in an LACP port channel, you can connect up to four physical NICs per host to a LAG.
  - LACP is currently not supported with Single Root I/O Virtualization (SR-IOV, discussed in Chapter 26).

# 16.3 Configure LACP in vSphere Distributed Switch

Let's begin by configuring LACP in the vDS we created in the previous chapter about vDS. We will create a vDS named Vembu-LAG with a port group called LACP-LAG vDS. **Note** Means that user can see different names that we have already seen in previous chapters, since this part needs to be done in physical lab, not nested. As stated above LACP is not supported in nested environments.

B B <u>O</u> ne decisione do una version Marin DC	Ell Malit D.C.   : Actions Summary Monitor Configure Permissions H Hosts 3 Machael Macronex 89	osis & Ousters VMs Datastores Networks	s Updates	
Constraints of the second	Anime MacColor Anime MacColor Anime Falar     Anime Falar	New Distributed Switch           1         None and location           2         Sector works           3         Ready to complete	Name and location teerty attracted with rare and location. Name <u>versound</u> Location II Man DD	×

Figure 16-2. (LACP in vSphere vDS 1 of 13)

Although I will demonstrate the steps using our nested environment (the same we have been using since the beginning of this book), it's important to note that the actual LACP and physical configurations are performed in our physical VMware environment, which has been expressly set up with LACP for the purpose of this chapter.

After the vDS and port group are created, select the vDS you just created, click the **Configure** tab, select the **LACP** option, and then click **NEW**, as shown in Figure 16-3. Create a LAG called **LAG-Vembu**.



Figure 16-3. (LACP in vSphere vDS 2 of 13)

Set the *Number of ports* option to **2** to match the number of uplinks in your vDS.

#### Link Aggregation Group mode:

The vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS) LACP mode option is a configuration setting that determines how the vDS handles LACP negotiation with physical switches.

There are two LACP mode options available in vSphere vDS:

- Active LACP mode: In Active LACP mode, the vDS initiates the LACP negotiation with the physical switch. The vDS sends LACP packets to the switch and waits for a response. If the switch responds, the vDS forms a LAG with the switch.
- **Passive LACP mode**: In Passive LACP mode, the vDS does not initiate LACP negotiation with the physical switch. Instead, it listens for LACP packets from the switch. If it receives a packet, it will respond and form a LAG with the switch.

The choice of LACP mode depends on your network configuration and requirements. Active LACP mode is recommended if you have control over the physical switch and want to ensure that the vDS initiates the LACP negotiation. This allows you to configure specific settings, such as the LAG load-balancing algorithm, on both the vDS and the physical switch.

On the other hand, Passive LACP mode may be more appropriate if you connect the vDS to a third-party switch or an external service provider's network. In this scenario, you may not control the switch configuration, so Passive LACP mode allows the vDS to adapt to the switch's negotiation behavior.

Overall, the LACP mode option in vSphere vDS allows you to configure the LACP negotiation behavior to match your network environment, ensuring optimal performance and reliability.

In our example, Passive mode is used in the vDS LAG and Active mode is used in the physical switch.

The *Load balancing mode* option in vSphere vDS (see Figure 16-3) determines how traffic is distributed across the physical uplinks within a LAG. It controls the algorithm used to determine which uplink is used for transmitting traffic from virtual machines. Several *Load balancing mode* options are available in vSphere vDS, but since we will be selecting the **Route based on the IP hash** option in our vDS, select the **Source and destination IP address** (default) here.

This load-balancing mode is helpful for traffic that flows between the same source and destination IP addresses. The source and destination IP addresses are used to create a hash value in this mode. The hash value is then used to determine the traffic's uplink.

Moving down to the *Port policies* section of Figure 16-3, we are not using port policies in our LAG example, but I'll quickly explain how port policies work.

In vSphere, a LAG combines multiple physical network connections into a single logical connection, increasing bandwidth and redundancy. LAG port policies are a set of rules that define how the LAG is configured for each port.

When configuring LAG port policies, you can specify VLAN policies and NetFlow policies for individual LAGs within the same uplink port group. This allows you to apply different policies to different LAGs within the same group based on their specific requirements.

By default, the policies defined at the uplink port group level will be applied to all LAGs in the group. However, if necessary, you can override these policies for individual LAGs by specifying different policies at the LAG level. For example, you may want to apply a different VLAN policy to a particular LAG to isolate traffic from other LAGs in the same port group. Alternatively, you might want to apply a different NetFlow policy to a specific LAG to monitor traffic flow more closely.

Overall, LAG port policies provide a flexible and granular approach to configuring LAGs in vSphere, allowing you to tailor your network configuration to meet the specific needs of your environment.

Now that we have a vDS, a port group, and a LAG, we must set our Teaming from the vDS uplink to our LAG created in the previous step. Right-click the LACP-LAG vDS, click **Edit Settings**, and then select **Teaming and failover**, as shown in Figure 16-4. We need to move down the vDS uplinks to unused and move the LAG to active.



Figure 16-4. (LACP in vSphere vDS 3 of 13)

As previously explained, when using LACP, you need to set the vDS Load balancing field to **Route based on IP hash**, as shown in Figure 16-4. Figure 16-5 shows the final result after finishing our vDS reconfiguring to use LAG.

General	Load balancing	Route based on IP hash	~	
Advanced				
VLAN	Network failure detection	Link status only V		
Security	Notify switches	Yes ~		
Traffic shaping	Failback	Var. v		
Teaming and failover	T WINDOW	145 -		
Monitoring	Failover order 🚯			
Miscellaneous	MOVE UP \land MOVE DOWN 🗸			
	Active uplinks			
	🔲 🤜 LAG-Vembu			
	Standby uplinks			
	Unused uplinks			
	🔲 🔄 Uplink 1			
	🔲 🔲 Uplink 2			
	<			

Figure 16-5. (LACP in vSphere vDS 4 of 13)

Now that we have our LAG configured in our new vDS, we will add ESXi hosts to our vDS.

Right-click the vDS and click **Add and Manage Hosts** in the context menu. See Figure 16-6. Since this is a new vDS, select the **Add hosts** option in the wizard that opens; If this was to be done in a vDS that already exists, in this case we need to create one, so extra steps are needed, then you would need to use the **Manage host networking** option (as described in Chapter 15 in the "Migrate from a Standard vSwitch to vSphere Distributed Switch" section). Click **Next**.

	Summary Monitor C	orfigure Permissions Ports Holts	VHs Networks		
Son Section Control of Conservation     Son Section Conservation     Son Section Conservation     Son Control Conservation	he lab Manufacture Virsion	Vembu-LAG - Add and Manage Hosts	Select task select a task to perform on this distributed webch.	If is a new vD8	
Anti-Version Management     O none		1 Select task	Add Roots Add have hade to this statibulied switch		
Q VECNISHER	Switch Details	2 failed bertin	Manage half anteriors		
<ul> <li>HCX Extensi Network</li> <li>HCX Extensi Network</li> </ul>	Networks	h. Manage province adapters	Manage retrievelying of hosts attached to this distributed setting		Supported
· E +OS Storage - Vetual Ro	when Hawla		C Remove feeda	With an exclusion of the	Supported
a 📑 x05-Storage Nexted	Votae machines	4 Marage Whereas adapters	tempet toris have the delineured switch	It is an existing vos	Supported
· E VINELLAS	ore terminal	S. Highlite VM networking			Enhanced support
Del	tribuled Part Group	8. Ready to complete			Supported
13 Ao	d and Manage Hints .				Apported
far	t Pacibels				Supported
Up	pode •				Supported
-	ingi .				
Mo	ve To.				
-	and .				
	D & COTON ALTERNIS			and the second se	
10	0 Herthesion			CANCEL MEST	
Ala	•				
11 De	ate and a second se			3 v (	

Figure 16-6. (LACP in vSphere vDS 5 of 13)

In step 2 of the wizard, select the ESXi hosts to add to this vDS, as shown in Figure 16-7. Click **Next**.

Vembu-LAG - Add and Manage Hosts	Select hosts Select hosts to add to this All hosts Selected (	i distributed switch.		×
1 Select task	SELECT ALL CLEAR SET	LECTION		COMPATIBLE INCOMPATIBLE
2 Select hosts	Host	¥ Host state	Y Cluster	T Compatibility
3 Manage physical adapters	2 192.168.1.10	Connected	D Physical Cluster	Compatible
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	<ul> <li>192.168.1.80</li> <li>192.168.1.9</li> </ul>	Not responding Connected	N/A	Compatible     Compatible
5 Migrate VM networking				
6 Ready to complete				
	<b>2</b> 1			Thurk
				0000
			c	ANCEL BACK NEXT

Figure 16-7. (LACP in vSphere vDS 6 of 13)

Next, select the vmnics connected to the physical switch ports and configured with LACP—in our case, vmnic1 and vmnic7, as shown in Figure 16-8. Click **Next**.

Vembu-LAG - Add and Manage Hosts	Add or remove physical addapters to	this distributed switch.		×
1 Select task	To associate a physical network adapter with an u same physical network adapter available.	plink, use "Assign uplink". This assignment w	ould be applied to all the hosts that have the	e
2 Select hosts	Physical network adapters	Y In use by switch	Y Assign uplink Y	
3 Manage physical adapters	>> 😕 vmnic0	2 hosts / 2 switches	None Y	
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>>	2 hosts / 0 switches	None 🗸	
	>> 😇 vmnic2	2 hosts / 2 switches	None v	
5 Migrate VM networking	>> @ vmnic3	2 hosts / 2 switches	None v	
6 Ready to complete	» 📼 vmnic4	2 hosts / 0 switches	None v	
	» 🖭 vmnic5	2 hosts / 2 switches	None v	
	>> 😇 vmnic6	2 hosts / 2 switches	None ~	
	>> E vmnic7	2 hosts / 0 switches	None v	
	» 🖭 vmnic8	2 hosts / 2 switches	None ~	
	>> mnic1000402	2 hosts / 0 switches	None. v	
			10 physical network adapt	/te

Figure 16-8. (LACP in vSphere vDS 7 of 13)

**Note** Don't forget that all your ESXi hosts' network interface connections need to be set as LACP in your physical switch.

In step 3 of the wizard, bind the vmnics with the LAG that you previously created, as shown in Figure 16-9. Click **Next**.

/embu-LAG - Add and /anage Hosts	Add o	nage physical adapte r remove physical network adapte sters on all bosts Adapters	ers to this distributed switch.		×
1 Select task	To asse	ociate a physical network adapter with	h an uplink, use "Assign uplink". This assignment v	would be applied to all the hosts	that have the
2 Select hosts		Physical network adapters	Y In use by switch	Y Assign uplink	т
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	😆 vmnic0	2 hosts / 2 switches	None	Ŷ
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>>	🖂 vmnict	This switch	LAG-Vembu-0	÷
	>>	😆 vmnic2	None Lipiter 1	None	v
Migrate VM networking	>>	🖂 vmnic3	Uplink 1 Uplink 2	None	v
6 Ready to complete	>>	es vmnic4	LAG-Vembu	None	×
	>>	😸 vmnic5	LAG-Vembu-0 LAG-Vembu-1	None	×
	>>	🕾 vmnic6	(Auto-assign)	None	v
	>>	🖂 vmnic7	This switch	LAG-Vembu-1	0
	>>	🖂 vmnic8	2 hosts / 2 switches	None	v
	>>	25 vmnic1000402	2 hosts / 0 switches	None	~
				10 physical	network adapti

Figure 16-9. (LACP in vSphere vDS 8 of 13)

Step 4, shown in Figure 16-10, is about migrations of the VMkernel networks. In the next option we will skip this step, since this is only if you have VMkernel with LAG enabled, since is not the case we skip it. Click **Next**.

lanage Hosts	Manag	ge and assign VMker	rnel network a	Idepters to the distributed switch	L ¹	X
1 Select task	To ass hosts	ign vmkernel network / that have the same vm	adapter to port	group, click on the arrow or "Assign adapter available.	port group" button. This assignment would be applied to	ait i
2 Select hosts		Name	Ŧ	In use by switch	Destination port group	322
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	😇 vmk0		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	»	🖭 vmkl		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
	>>	😇 vmk2		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
5 Migrate VM networking	>>	🖭 vmk3		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
6 Ready to complete	»	🖭 vmk4		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
	>>	😇 vmk5		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
	>>	😇 vmk6		2 hosts / 2 switches	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
	>>	😁 vmk7		1 host / 1 Switch	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
	»	😇 vmk8		1 host / 1 Switch	ASSIGN PORT GROUP	
					9 Vmkernel network ada	-
					CANCEL BACK NEXT	ł

Figure 16-10. (LACP in vSphere vDS 9 of 13)

In step 5 of the wizard, you migrate existing VMs connected to this vDS to use the LAG port group. As shown in Figure 16-11, check the **Migrate virtual machine networking** check box and click the **Configure per virtual machine** tab.



*Figure 16-11.* (*LACP in vSphere vDS 10 of 13*)

/embu-LAG - Add and Ianage Hosts	MIG	grate VM networking	ers to migrate to the dist	ributed switch.	
1 Select task	Miş	grate virtual machine networking			
2 Select hosts	Confi	igure per network adapter	onfigure per virtual mac	chine	
3 Manage physical adapters		Virtual machine	Network adapter Y	Source port group	Destination port group
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	>>	(a) Centos8-Storage	Network adapter 1	Network Management	A LACP-LAG VDS X
5 Migrate VM networking	»	G Centos8-Storage	Network adapter 2	vDS Nested iSCSI	ASSIGN PORT GROU
	»	Linux CentOS Repository	Network adapter 1	Network Management	A LACP-LAG VDS
6 Ready to complete	>>	a Linux CentOS Repository	Network adapter 2	vDS Nested iSCSI	ASSIGN PORT GROU
	>>	D Linux CentOS Repository	Network adapter 3	vDS Nested ISCSI	ASSIGN PORT GROU
					348 Virtuai mac
					348 Virtual mach
				CANCE	L BACK NEXT

*Figure 16-12.* (*LACP in vSphere vDS 11 of 13*)

**Note** If your VMs have more than one virtual network adapter and are in different networks (one using LAG and the other not), but all are in the same network (for example, nic1 is management and nic2 is production), then you would use the *Configure per network adapter* tab.

In our test lab design, all VMs have more than one network adapter, but we want to change only the VM network management. Select the VM and the network adapter, click **Assign Port Group**, and **Assign**. Then click **Next**.

After VMs are connected to LAG, and will use an LACP network. Click **Next**.

In the final wizard step, shown in Figure 16-13, verify the details and click **Finish** to complete the port group configuration for utilizing LAG.

Vembu-LAG - Add and Manage Hosts	Ready to complete Review your settings selections before finishing the wizard.	×
1 Select task	V Number of managed hosts Hosts to add 2	
2 Select hosts	V Number of network adapters for update	
3 Manage physical adapters	Physical adapters 4 Virtual machine 2	
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	adapters	
5 Migrate VM networking		
6 Ready to complete		
	CANCEL BACK FINISH	

*Figure 16-13.* (*LACP in vSphere vDS 12 of 13*)

With the completion of all LACP configurations, you have successfully executed the following steps:

- Create a vDS for LACP.
- Create a LAG (link aggregation group).
- Set up the port group with LAG.
- Associate the LAG uplinks with vmnics.
- Transfer the VMs' networks to the LAG port group.

Now we can check the ESXi host console to see if the host uses LACP and is enabled on the physical switch. To do so, running the following command:

```
esxcli network vswitch dvs vmware lacp status get
```

If we see the physical switch and the physical ports number, as in Figure 16-14, then LACP is active and working.



*Figure 16-14.* (*LACP in vSphere vDS 13 of 13*)

This command shows us the configuration of our vDS with the LAG: esxcli network vswitch vmware lacp config get

[rost860146/-ESX1021-] eaxcli network vawitch dra vaware lacp config get EV5 Name LAG Name LAG ID NICs Enabled Mode Load balance Too LAG Lag1 2744224736 vamic1,vamic7 true Passive Stc and dst ip, port, vlan

With the information, we have the guarantee that our LACP is adequately configured and active on both sides (in the vDS and the physical switch).

# 16.4 Migrate vDS VMkernel Network to vDS LACP

When enabling LACP (LAG) in our vDS and using LACP on our VMkernel, we need to consider the timeout or even losing communication while LACP is enabled.

In the previous section, we already checked how the LACP runs on both sides (physical and virtual), meaning that the LACP is working on your vSphere with LAG. But to migrate a VMkernel (that could be using Active/Passive Teaming or even Active/Active Teaming), one physical adapter must be done each time. If not, you could lose connection to your ESXi host or to your Datastores if using NFS.

**Note** Before starting the migration, if you have two new physical adapters (vmnics) configuring a vDS with LACP, this migration is more straightforward. But if you plan to use vmnics that are in use, the migration must be done one vmnic at a time.

# Migrate VMkernel and vmnics to a new vDS with LACP using the same vmnics.

As previously explained, when migrating to an LACP but using the same physical network adapters, the process must be done differently, one vmnic at a time. If we enable LACP on both ports in the physical switch, we will automatically lose the connection in the Virtual Switch (a Standard Switch or a vDS) because we didn't change the settings in the vSphere. If we are doing this for a management VMkernel, then we don't have access to the ESXi host to make these changes.

Whenever there is a networking modification, it is advisable to allocate a maintenance window due to the potential for network disruptions. This is particularly crucial when working with a vDS since the vDS is controlled by vCenter, and individual hosts cannot make alterations to the vDS without a connection to vCenter.

Implementing LACP can introduce complications for restoring vCenter or host management functionality during critical situations, since the LACP connection may need to be terminated to revert to a Standard Switch if required (as LACP is not compatible with a Standard Switch).

How do we do this?

**Note** Since LACP is not supported in nested environments, we will not use the nested environment that we are using throughout the book. We will use a physical environment for these tasks.

First, this process is recommended with the ESXi in maintenance mode.

Figure 16-15 shows our network vDS for the physical environment: two ESXi hosts with a management vDS.



Figure 16-15. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 1 of 11)

As mentioned, we will use vmnic0 and vmnic1 for this migration. So our first step is to shut down the port in the physical switch where vmnic0 is connected to the ESXi 01.

**Note** I will use my HPE ProCurve switch for the physical switch example. Don't forget that other switch vendors' commands are different to perform these tasks.

The following command are to shutdown the physical port in the Switch.

There were no number in my initial writing, only bullet points. But each number here is a step a command that needs to be done in physical switch, nothing related to what you see in the next image. Next image is a consequence of the steps, vmnic down. As is explained in the first paragraph.

This was done in a HPE physical switch, that is not discuss in this book, reader can have different devices, he just need to see what happen when we shutdown the port that is show in the Figure 16-16:

- 1. conf (enter the configuration shell).
- 2. interface 13 disable (shut down port 13 where vmnic0 is connected).

After the port is disabled, you should see it in the vDS. See Figure 16-16.

Virtual switches	
V Distributed Switch: vDS Management MANAGE PHYSICAL ADAPTERS	
	Imanagement     ····       VALAN 0     ····       2 VAlseme Ports (1)     ····       Virbual Machines (2)     ····

Figure 16-16. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 2 of 11)

3. interface 13 LACP (add port 13 or vmnic0 to the LACP/EtherChannel configuration).

In the vDS Management, create a LAG. See Figure 16-17.



Figure 16-17. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 3 of 11)

Now let's us add the vmnic0 to the LAG uplinks.

On the vDS Management, select **Manage host networking** and then click **Next**. See Figure 16-18.



Figure 16-18. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 4 of 11)

Then select the ESXi host on which you disabled the vmnic, in our case ESXi 01, and click **Next**. See Figure 16-19.



Figure 16-19. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 5 of 11)

Next, select vmnic0 and that interface to the LAG uplink (the vDS LACP). See Figure 16-20.

nd Manage Hosts	Add o	or remove physical network adapters to oters on all hosts Adapters per	to this distributed switch.	
1 Select task	To ass	ociate a physical network adapter with an	uplink, use "Assign uplink". This assignment	would be applied to all the hosts that have the
2 Select hosts		Physical network adapters	T In use by switch	T Assign uplink
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	🖭 vmnic0	1 host / 0 switches	None
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	»	es vmnici	This switch	None
5 Migrate VM networking	>> >>	😇 vmnic2	1 host / 1 Switch	Uplink 1 Uplink 2
6 Ready to complete	»	🖭 vmnic4	1 host / 0 switches	LACP-0
	>>	🕾 vmnic5	1 host / 1 Switch	LACP-1 (Auto-assign)
	>>	😇 vmnic6	1 host / 1 Switch	TNOTIE
	>>	😇 vmnic7	1 host / 0 switches	None
	>>	201 vmnic8	1 host / 1 Switch	None
	_>>	mnic1000402	1 host / 0 switches	None
				to physical network add

Figure 16-20. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 6 of 11)

Do not change anything else: click **Next** until the final wizard step and then click **Finish**.

Return to the physical switch and reenable the port 13 (vmnic0).

4. interface 13 enable

Now edit the vDS LACP, and in the *Teaming and failover* section, move the LACP group to the *Active uplinks* and move the Uplinks to the *Unused uplinks*. See Figure 16-21.

Distributed Port Grou Settings	ip - Edit ESXi manage	ment	×
General Advanced VLAN	Load balancing Network failure detection	Route based on IP hash	5
Security Traffic shaping Teaming and failover	Notify switches	Ves	
Monitoring Miscellaneous	Failover order  Move UP  Move Down  Active uplinks  C  Active uplinks	Move LACP group to Active uplinks	
	Standby uplinks Unused uplinks	Move Uplinks to Unused	>
		CANCEL	ок

Figure 16-21. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 7 of 11)

**Note** While doing these changes, ensure the ESXi host doesn't lose its connection.

In the Figure 16-22, we show the process that we created above witht the commends in your physical switch. Moving from a Standalone port, to an LACP port, by disabling ports and enabling the ports with LACP.



Figure 16-22. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 8 of 11)

Now let's disable the second port (vmnic1)

5. interface 12 disable (shut down port 12 where vmnic1 is connected)

As you can see in Figure 16-23, vmnic1 is down in vCenter.



Figure 16-23. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 9 of 11)

Next, following the same procedure previously described, move the vmnic1 to the LAG link. See Figure 16-24.

na Manage Hosts	Add	or remove physical network adapted	rs to this dist er host	tributed switch.		
1 Select task	To ass same	sociate a physical network adapter with physical network adapter available.	an uplink, use	* "Assign uplink". This assignment	would be applied to all the hosts thi	at have the
2 Select hosts		Physical network adapters	Ŧ	In use by switch	Y Assign uplink	,
3 Manage physical adapters	>>	📼 vmnic0		This switch	LACP-0	
4 Manage VMkernel adapters	*	😇 vmnict		This switch	Uplink 2	3
	>>	📧 vmnic2		1 host / 1 Switch		
5 Migrate VM networking	>>	😇 vmnic3		1 host / 1 Switch	Uplink 1	
6 Ready to complete	>>	😇 vmnic4		1 host / 0 switches	Uplink 2	
	>>	😇 vmnic5		1 host / 1 Switch	LACP-0	
	>>	😁 vmnic6		1 host / 1 Switch	LACP-1	
	>>	😇 vmnic7		1 host / 0 switches	(Auto-assign)	
	>	😇 vmnic8		1 host / 1 Switch	None	2
	»	25 vmnic1000402		1 host / 0 switches	None	
					10 physical net	work ada

Figure 16-24. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 10 of 11)

Again, do not change anything else; click **Next** to proceed through the wizard steps and then click **Finish** in the last step.

Finally, add port 12 (vmnic1) to LACP in the physical switch.

- 6. interface 12 LACP (add port 12 or vmnic1 to LACP/EtherChannel configuration).To finalize the VMkernel migration, reenable the port for the vmnic1.
- 7. interface 12 enable

We have migrated our VMkernel to a vDS with LACP without losing any connection to our ESXi host. We did this process for ESXi 01, but you also need to do this for all ESXi hosts in the Cluster that are added to this vDS Management. For a final check to see if LACP is running on your ESXi hosts, run the following commands (see Figure 16-25):

- esxcli network vswitch vmware lacp config get
- esxcli network vswitch dvs vmware lacp status get



Figure 16-25. (Migrate VMkernel LACP 11 of 11)

# 16.5 Summary

This chapter explored the intricacies of configuring LACP in vSphere Distributed Switch and explained its core concepts, requirements, and the necessary steps for implementation and migration. In Chapter 16, we shift our focus to gaining a deeper understanding of advanced configurations in vSphere Distributed Switch. Our next topic is the utilization of VLANs within vDS, which plays a role in improving network segmentation and performance. Furthermore, we will also explore the process of migrating from a Standard vSwitch to vDS—a step for network advancement in VMware environments. This phase aims to enhance your expertise in managing networks by leveraging the capabilities of vDS within VMware vSphere.

## **CHAPTER 17**

# vSphere Advanced Features

Now that we have our vCenter/vSphere network set up and configured, we are ready to explore the numerous advanced features of vSphere that we may customize while using vCenter. Some of these features have been mentioned in previous chapters, but now we will go over them in depth and examine how they function and how to set and activate advanced options on those features.

# 17.1 vSphere vMotion

VMware vSphere vMotion allows you to migrate workloads from one server to another without downtime. This seamless process ensures that users experience no disruption, as the VMs remain operational during the migration.

While vMotion facilitates uninterrupted service during migrations, it is distinct from vSphere High Availability (HA). HA is focused on providing continuous availability by automatically restarting VMs on other available servers in the event of a server failure. Unlike HA, vMotion does not involve VM restarts and is used primarily for balancing workloads and performing maintenance without downtime.

# 17.1.1 How Do Live Migrations Work?

If you know ahead of time when system downtime is expected, such as for maintenance, you can vMotion the VMs on that server to a different one. That way, your workload will still be available if a server goes down or needs to be shut down.

vSphere vMotion makes it possible to move workloads from one server to another without ever stopping the application. Your application still runs during the live migration, and users can still access their systems. No downtime means your productivity never stops!

- Automatically optimize virtual machines within resource pools
- Perform hardware maintenance without scheduling downtime or disrupting business operations
- Move virtual machines away from failing or underperforming servers

You can vMotion between ESXi hosts, Clusters, Datacenters, and vCenters. It is also possible between sites with Advanced Cross vCenter vMotion.

Figure 17-1 shows a vMotion between ESXi hosts in the same Cluster, but it can also be between Clusters or Datacenters inside the same vCenter.



*Figure 17-1.* (*vMotion 1 of 11*)

Figure 17-1 also shows an example of Storage vMotion (SvMotion). SvMotion enables a VM to be migrated between Datastores. The VM stays in the same ESXi host, only migrating the virtual disks and VM configuration files to another Datastore shared between the ESXi hosts.

The next example, shown in Figure 17-2, is a vMotion from one vCenter to another vCenter (which can be in the same physical Datacenter or between two different sites/buildings) by using the Long Distance vMotion option.



*Figure 17-2.* (*vMotion 2 of 11*)

When planning for cross-vCenter vMotion, it is important to be aware of this two specific requirements:

- **Network latency:** For Long Distance vMotion to be successful, network latency should typically be 150 milliseconds RTT (Round-Trip Time) or less. This is crucial for ensuring the integrity and performance of the live migration.
- **Licensing:** Ensure the source and destination vCenters have the appropriate licensing level. Cross-vCenter vMotion requires higher-tier licenses, such as Enterprise Plus.

Using the vMotion feature, you can migrate any VM inside or outside the infrastructure without the need to power off the VM.

The previous designs and explanations should give you an idea of vMotion and how live migrations work. Additionally, it is important to mention XvMotion, which represents an advanced use of this technology. XvMotion allows for the live migration of both compute resources and storage simultaneously. This is particularly useful in scenarios without shared storage between the compute hosts. With XvMotion, a VM can be moved to another host and its associated storage with brief interruption (one or two pings). This capability significantly enhances flexibility in resource management and infrastructure maintenance.

### 17.1.2 Create a vMotion VMkernel Network

To create a VMkernel network, we need to create a VMkernel as we created in iSCSI/NFS in Chapter 7, but this time for vMotion service.

We need an IP address for each ESXi host that uses this vMotion network—in this case, for all the ESXi hosts in the Cluster. That means we need three IP addresses.

A vMotion network should be isolated from any other network, so we'll use a unique subnet (or, if you want, you can use a VLAN).

The vMotion network is primarily used for internal traffic, with data transfer occurring exclusively between ESXi hosts. This remains true even in Cross vCenter vMotion scenarios. As such, the vMotion network typically does not require a gateway when set up in a single Layer 2 (L2) network configuration. However, this is often not the case in more complex environments, especially for cross-datacenter migrations.

In many real-world applications, especially those involving crossdatacenter vMotion, the network is configured over Layer 3 (L3). This setup involves local routing and can be routed across different datacenters. Recognizing the need for flexibility in such scenarios, VMware introduced the vMotion networking stack. This feature allows for a separate, potentially dedicated gateway for the vMotion service, accommodating more complex network topologies and ensuring efficient, secure migrations across various network configurations.

In our configuration, we will use the subnet 192.168.0.0/24.

As shown in Figure 17-3, select the ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **VMkernel adapters**, click **Add Networking**, and select **VMkernel Network Adapter** in the first step of the wizard. Click **Next**.



*Figure 17-3.* (*vMotion 3 of 11*)

In step 2 of the wizard (see Figure 17-4), choose **Select an existing standard switch** and (for purposes of the test lab) specify **vSwitch1**. Since vMotion needs good bandwidth, we will use the Storage vSwitch to add our vMotion.

select connection type Select target device	Select target device Select a target device	for the new connec	tion.	
Port properties Pv4 settings Ready to complete	Select an existing	network		
	<ul> <li>Select an existing</li> </ul>	standard switch		
	vSwitch1			BROWSE
	New standard sw	tch		
	MTU (Bytes)	1500		

*Figure 17-4.* (*vMotion 4 of 11*)

If you have extra vmnics, you should create a new Virtual Switch and use the new vmnics so that vMotion works appropriately with less latency. Even 10/20GB network interfaces are enough for most cases for Storage and vMotion.

**Note** Don't forget that as a best practice for the vMotion network, you should use 10GB or 25GB connections.

After you select your vSwitch and click **Next**, enable the vMotion service for this VMkernel by checking the corresponding check box, as shown in Figure 17-5. Click **Next**.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device	Port properties Specify VMkernel port se	ettings.	
3 Port properties 4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	VMkernel port settings Network label	vMotion	
	VLAN ID IP settings	IPv4 v	
	MTU	Get MTU from switch $\vee$ 9000	
	TCP/IP stack	Default 🗸	
	Available services		
	Enabled services	vMotion	
		Fault Tolerance logging	
		Management	
		vSphere Replication	
		VSphere Replication NFC	
		VSAN	
		VSphere Backup NFC	
		NVMe over TCP	
		NVMe over RDMA	

*Figure 17-5.* (*vMotion 5 of 11*)

In step 4 of the wizard, shown in Figure 17-6, select **Use static IPv4 settings** add your IP. Click **Next**.

**Note** I've seen some deployments where customers used DHCP for vMotion or even vSAN. In one case, a firmware upgrade of physical switches cleaned out all DHCP table entries, and systems stopped working because all DHCP were lost. You can use DHCP, but it should continuously be monitored. But to bypass any future issues, we won't use DHCP in our test lab for this type of service.

<ul> <li>1 Select connection type</li> <li>2 Select target device</li> <li>3 Port properties</li> </ul>	IPv4 settings Specify VMkernel IPv4 settings.					
4 IPv4 settings 5 Ready to complete	Obtain IPv4 settings automatically					
	IPv4 address	192.168.0.113				
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.O				
	Default gateway	Override default gateway for this adapter				
		192.168.1.254				
	DNS server addresses	192.168.1.40 192.168.1.3				

*Figure 17-6.* (*vMotion 6 of 11*)

For the final wizard step, check that the information is correct, as shown in Figure 17-7. If all is correct, click **Finish**.

1 Select connection type	Ready to complete				
2 Select target device	Review your settings selections before finishing the wizard.				
3 Port properties					
4 IPv4 settings	New port group	vMotion			
	Standard switch	vSwitch1			
5 Ready to complete	VLAN ID	None (0)			
	vMotion	Enabled			
	Provisioning	Disabled			
	Fault Tolerance logging	Disabled			
	Management	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication NFC	Disabled			
	VSAN	Disabled			
	vSphere Backup NFC	Disabled			
	NVMe over TCP	Disabled			
	NVMe over RDMA	Disabled			
	NIC settings				
	MTU	9000			
	TCP/IP stack	Default			
	IPv4 settings				
	IPv4 address	192.168.0.113 (static)			
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			

*Figure 17-7.* (*vMotion 7 of 11*)

Figure 17-8 shows that we now have a new VMkernel for vMotion.

**Note** Although we will not configure a vMotion TCP/IP stack for our test lab, having a dedicated TCP/IP stack for vMotion can be particularly beneficial in environments where routed vMotion is required. This setup allows for more granular control over vMotion traffic, and can help manage network policies and routes more effectively. Especially in complex network architectures, where vMotion traffic needs to be routed across different network segments

or datacenters, utilizing a dedicated TCP/IP stack can enhance network organization and potentially improve overall management of vMotion processes.

vembu-eski-01.vmw umey Works Configer	e Permisiona VMs Datastanta	Networks Updates					٦
Streage v *	VMkernel adapters						
Host Cache Carligention	Beater	<ul> <li>Referenciated</li> </ul>	T Salah	T PARTER	* 100P Sed	<ul> <li>Endered Services</li> </ul>	
Producci Endpoints	1 30 m vmp	O Management Network	() vowerno	102.006.1.112	Definet	Management.	
VO PRes	I D m vest	© ección	C vision	182 866 10 10	Carbolt		_
Networking V	1 3 1 10 100	0 000-02	C vieweux	102 818 10 14	Cartan		_
VHug pelides	1 2 a vest	Q N ² 1	12 vienter	192,104.10.19	Default		_
Provid adapters	1 2 (d) villet	O white	C viework	102 104 5 112	Eviat	Alta	
10VP configuration							-
What Machines V							
VV Status Shuttown							
Agent VM Settings							
Exfant VM Compatibility							
Image Pro Location							
System v							
Literating							
Head Profee							- 1

*Figure 17-8.* (*vMotion 8 of 11*)

**Note** For better performance, if there are vmnics available, you can create multiple vMotion VMkernels.

After you create a vMotion VMkernel and repeat the process in every ESXi host, let's us test our new vMotion Network.

As covered in Chapter 12, we use the ESXi command vmkping to test the VMkernel networks. So, from one ESXi host, we will ping all the VMkernels in other ESXi hosts.

First, to make sure we are pinging the right VMkernerl (in this case vmk interface), identify the vMotion VMkernel with the command: esxcli-vmknic -l. Then, ping all the ESXi hosts' VMkernel IPs using jumbo frames (Chapter 11 introduced jumbo frames and MTU 9000).

Figure 17-9 shows that all pings were successful, so the vMotion network is working without issues.

Excost@Vealor	-ESX1-011-5 compfg-vokaio -1									
Interface	Port Group/DVTort/Opagur Metwork	IP Femily	10 Address	Sttmask	Broadcast	HRC Address HTU	T20 2255	Inabled		NetStack
VIERO	Manapenent Setwork		192.100.1.113	255.255.255.0	152.160.1.265					defealsTopipOssow
vairo	Management Network		fe00::250:56ff:fe34;ale6							defaultTopipStack
VIERO	Management Network		2#00:6100:4101:6501:210:50ff:fe04:ale6			00:50:56:56:43:e6 1500			ATTOCOMP, PREFERED	defaultTopipUtack
vmk1				255.255.255.0	152,168,10.255	00:100:56:60:24:56 9000				de EaultTopipOtsok
veals?	19001-01		Ee0014250156EE1Ee6012496						STATIC, PREFERED	defaulsTopipStack
ver.k2	1.5051-0.2			255.255.255.0						defaultTopipStack
CONTRACT.	13031-02		Ee60: 1250:55EE: Ee60:414:						STATIC, TREFERRED	defaulsTopipGeack
Calary				255.255.255.0						defaultTopipJtack
VIEX D			feb0::250:56ff:fe62:ae10			00:50:56:62:at:15 9000			STATIC, PREFERRED	defeulsTopipOtack
trainty.				255.255.255.0	152,168,0.255					defaultTopipStack
vesit 1			fe0011250156fff1fe6011720			0015015616e117120 9000			STATIC, HEFERRED	defaultTopipGanok
[zoot@Vembr	-ISX1-01:-) vmkping -4 -0 5 -d -# 8972	¥ 192.168								
2180 192.14	08.0.114 (192.168.0.114); 0972 data byte									
9910 bytes										
9980 bysee	from 192.148.0.110: Long_seg*1 581*64 8	INCTO: 016								
9980 bytes	from 192.140.0.110: icmp_seg=2 ttl=64 t									
\$510 byses	from 192.143.0.114: Lomp_acg=3 \$41+64 \$	LML-21712								
0580 bytes	from 192.160.0.116: icmp_seg=6 tt1=64 t									
162.141	.0.111 ming statistics									
5 packets 1	transmitted, 5 packets received, 0% yark	15 2144								
round-trip	min/avg/max = 0.715/0.805/0.896 ms									
[ICOD] Vembra	-ISX:-011-] vakping -8 -0 5 -d -# 8972	¥ 192.168								
22342 192110	0.0.115 [192.168.0.15]# 0972 data byte									
0310 hytes	from 192,168.0,115: 1cmp_seq=0 ttl=66 t									
9980 8954#	from 192.140.0.115: Lomp_segul 551+64 8									
0310 bytes	from 192.140.0.1151 icmp_seg=2 ttl=64 t									
2320 By54#	from 192.149.0.2151 lomp_acgr3 551+64 %	BUTT-1963								
1910 bytes	from 192.140.0.115: 1cmp_seg=6 ttl=64 t									
192.141	0.0.115 ping statistics									
h passets 1	transmitted, 5 passate received, Ob pack	15 2144								
round-trip										
Trootivento	-KSK1-011-1									

*Figure 17-9.* (*vMotion 9 of 11*)

Figure 17-10 shows that the following types of vMotion migrations are possible:

- 1. It migrates only the VM to another ESXi host and doesn't change the Datastore location.
- 2. It migrates the VM to another Datastore and doesn't change the ESXi host location.
- 3. It migrates the VM location, ESXi host, and Datastore.
- 4. It migrates the VM to another vCenter (explained in the previous design).

= vSphere Client Q				
Original States - Conter Innecessor     Original States - Conter Innecessor     Original States - Conter     Original States - Conter     Original States - Conter     Original States - Conter	Activity - Centrals Stange Power Ourst OS Snapohots Open Remote Console     Den Remote Console	O         D         Ø         Ø         i.ecnowi           gue         Permissions         Datablores         Networks         Snap           duard DS         Centrol #164-bit         Centrol #164-bit         Centrol #164-bit         Centrol #164-bit           velsere Tools         District Of Life to the end on end on endore Hill velsere tools of their Menupolity         Socies #100         Socies #100         Socies #100	nuti Upades	_
C vembo-etxi-01 umer	close .	DNS Name: local-locationum	Migrate I Centos8-Storage	
Centruk Storage	Fault Tolesance	P Addresses 1923081179 VEW ALC 3 IP ADDRESSES Head Events etc. Of unwareholde SE	Deskid a homewide type         Meet a enjoyidee type         Meet a enjoyidee type         Meet a enjoyidee type         Meeting	•
	VM Policies	06 /	Ended Answerse     Ended An	
	Templase Compatibility	VM running on the	The set of the se	
	Export System Logs	LOW HOR OT	Cost includer tankar sequent highlight the versal machine is a vContent Server nor plane tankar current SSR costean.	
	að Estr Settings	D Ventou Curper		
	Move to folder		a	
	Bonama	Q VM Network	1	
	Edit Notes Tags & Custom Attributes	E ecs or E ventur VFLog		
	Add Permission Alarms		TANTS DOC NO.	
			100.	
A Recent Tasks Alarms	VS4N		1895	

*Figure 17-10.* (*vMotion 10 of 11*)

## 17.1.3 Encrypted Migration with vMotion

Before we finish this section about vMotion, let's see how to set up an encrypted migration with vMotion.

You set vMotion encryption in the VMs that you want to encrypt. We need to go to VM encryption section and encrypt our vMotion for this particular VM.

As Figure 17-11 shows, the *Encrypted vMotion* drop-down list has three encryption options:

- **Disabled:** Do not use encrypted vMotion, even if available.
- **Opportunistic:** Use encrypted vMotion if source and destination hosts support it, fall back to unencrypted vMotion otherwise. This is the default option.
- **Required:** Allow only encrypted vMotion. If the source or destination host does not support vMotion encryption, do not allow the vMotion to occur.
As noted, the default option is **Opportunistic**, if source and destination hosts are supported (meaning if they all have the key provider configured, then it will use encryption; if just one host doesn't have the key provider configured, it will not use encryption).

If the **Required** option is set, the source and destination hosts must have the key provider configured to start the migration using vMotion; if not, it will not migrate.



*Figure 17-11.* (*vMotion 11 of 11*)

After configuring encrypted vMotion, it is important to conduct tests to verify that migrations are happening securely and without performance degradation.

By configuring encrypted vMotion, you add a critical security measure to your vMotion migrations, protecting data in transit between hosts. This configuration is especially crucial in environments where data privacy and compliance are paramount.

## 17.2 vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler

Now that we have our vMotion network created, we can start enabling vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS).

vSphere DRS offers the resources that you need for your network to run reliably. This utility works on a cluster of ESXi servers and ensures appropriate resource distribution in the virtual machine placement. DRS also honors resource allocation policies at the cluster level while supporting system-level constraints.

## 17.2.1 How DRS Works

vSphere DRS is a function of VMware vSphere that ensures virtual machines and their applications have access to the CPU, memory, and disks (in sDRS) they need to run at optimal efficiency. In other words, DRS always tries to keep your VMs happy by providing them with the required compute resources as soon as they are powered on so that each VM's performance requirements are always met across the entire cluster.

If a VM's workload changes, it can have an impact on the balance in the Cluster. DRS monitors the Cluster at regular intervals (once every few minutes) to prevent bad performance and takes the necessary actions to restore balance. For example, when DRS detects an imbalance, it migrates the virtual machines from one host to another using vMotion.

Automatic DRS ensures that each virtual machine in the Cluster has adequate host resources, such as memory and CPU, at all times.

## 17.2.2 Create a Cluster DRS

At the Cluster level, click the **Configure** tab, select **vSphere DRS** (under Services on the left), click **Edit** (in the upper-right corner of the window),

and enable the **vSphere DRS** option, as shown in Figure 17-12. The *Automation* tab of the Edit Cluster Settings window has the following options to configure in DRS:

- Automation Level: There are three levels of automation from which to choose:
  - **Fully Automated:** DRS applies both initial placements and load-balancing recommendations automatically.
  - **Partially Automated:** DRS applies recommendations only for initial placement. Any VM that is Power on, DRS asks and recommends in witch ESXi host should run.
  - **Manual:** The administrator must apply both initial placement and load-balancing recommendations. An administrator needs to apply those recommendations manually.
- **Migration Threshold:** DRS can regulate migration and rebalancing behavior by adjusting the level of aggression. DRS has five levels ranging from 1 (most conservative) to 5 (most aggressive). The more aggressive the level, the less disparity is tolerated in the Cluster. The more conservative the level, the more parity is tolerated. As a result, DRS might initiate more migrations when you increase aggression.

By default, DRS aggression is set at 3. This number seems to be sufficient and balances peaks equally across all nodes in the Cluster. For most Clusters, this level of DRS works best.

• **Example:** You have 3 three ESXi hosts that have many workloads, and ESXi hosts constantly reach the 100% capacity used. In that case, a more aggressive Migration Threshold level could be set to migrate VMs and have more-balanced resources used.

But consider that a more aggressive Migration Threshold means more vMotion migrations and puts more stress on the vMotion network and the Storage. So always set the Migration Threshold wisely, considering the benefits and downsides of the selected option.

• **Predictive DRS:** Predictive DRS makes VM placement more accurate by utilizing VMware vRealize Suite data (now VMware Aria). Predictive DRS also provides automatic load balancing in hosts or VM OS power control features that can minimize potential failures.

Enabling this option is unnecessary if you are not using VMware vRealize Suite data (now VMware Aria).

• Virtual Machine Automation: When enabled, individual virtual machine automation levels can override the cluster-level settings for individual VM settings. This means that you cant set the DRS per VMS or per VM groups.

**Example:** If you have sensitive VMs or applications that should not vMotion because it will impact VM performance, you should enable Virtual Machine Automation. The VM settings always override the DRS Cluster settings.

Vembu Cluster	
Summary Monitor Configure Permissions Hosts VMs Datastores Netwo	ofis Updates
services vSphere DRS is Turned OFF	KNESKE 665., REFORE REALISE FOOL THE EDG.
vSphere Dits	Edit Cluster Settings Ventu Cluster x
VSphere Areliability	
Configuration v	Sphere Cas C
Quicketert	Adamation Additional Optione - Neuro Management - Advanced Optione
General	
Key Provider	Automation Level Fully Automated
VMware EVC	CoS anonancing places what incidents offer 3 at Vitragewar on, and vitual
Viena Cours	Indexes as automatically imprave than one host to another to optimise resource
VM Overrises	
VO Piters	Monatoli Investive Appressive
Heat Options	8-MM (1): 10% pumbles non-monotolistics wave excluded and a state in the state in t
Head Profile	Viktoria wantuch Sviuli Viktoria
Licensing v	Provisitive (IdS G) C Insele
vSAR Ousley	
Supervisor Outline	
Trust Authority	-
Aiam Definitions	
Scheduled Tasks	
DAME AND ALL 11 12	
	CANCEL OK
	CANCIL OK

### Figure 17-12. (Distributed Resource Scheduler 1 of 4)

The following additional DRS options are available on the Additional Options tab of the Edit Cluster Settings window, as shown in Figure 17-13.

• VM Distribution: This is a DRS feature that helps ensure that the number of VMs is evenly distributed across the hosts in a cluster. This can help to improve performance and availability by reducing the impact of host failures.

When VM Distribution is enabled, DRS will monitor the number of VMs on each host and recommend migrating VMs to other hosts if the load is unbalanced. The recommendations are made based on several factors, including the current resource usage of the hosts and the expected future workload of the VMs.

• **CPU Over-Commitment:** CPU over-commitment is a technique for allocating more CPU resources to a VM than are physically available on the host. This can be beneficial in situations where there is much variability in VM workloads, or where there is a need to

maximize resource utilization. However, it is important to use CPU over-commitment cautiously, as it can lead to performance problems if the VMs are not well-behaved.

**Caution** While CPU over-commitment can be a powerful tool in resource management, it's important to approach it cautiously. Overcommitting CPU resources means allocating more virtual CPU resources than the physical CPUs available, which can lead to contention and performance degradation if not managed carefully. In environments where high CPU demand is consistent, overcommitting can strain the system, potentially impacting the performance of all VMs on the host. Therefore, it's crucial to monitor the environment closely and use CPU over-commitment judiciously, ensuring that it aligns with the specific needs and capabilities of your infrastructure

• Scalable Shares: Scalable Shares is a feature of DRS that allows you to define a priority for each VM. VMs with higher scalable shares will be given more CPU resources when competing for resources with VMs with lower scalable shares. This can be useful for ensuring critical VMs always have the necessary resources. Scalable shares can be a useful tool for managing resource contention between VMs.



Figure 17-13. (Distributed Resource Scheduler 2 of 4)

## 17.2.3 Power Management Options for DRS

Continuing with the Edit Cluster Settings window, the Power Management tab provides options for configuring DPM, as shown in Figure 17-14. With vSphere Distributed Power Management (DPM), a DRS cluster can reduce its power consumption by powering off hosts when their usage is low. The feature monitors the demand for memory and CPU resources across the whole Cluster and turns off one or more hosts once enough excess capacity is found. Once this has been completed, vSphere DPM migrates virtual machines to other hosts in order to maintain availability while conserving power.



Figure 17-14. (Distributed Resource Scheduler 3 of 4)

When there isn't enough capacity, DRS can power on hosts that are in standby mode and migrate virtual machines to them. DPM even takes into account resource reservations you make for your virtual machines.

As an example of how DPM works, suppose that you have three ESXi hosts in the Cluster and 20 VMs and that two ESXi hosts are enough to run those 20 VMs. DPM will power off one ESXi host to save power.

DPM saves power while providing enough processing power to keep the environment running without a lack of resources.

And with these last details about vSphere DRS and its options, we have finished and configured DRS for our test lab environment, as shown in Figure 17-15.

🗈 Vembu Cluster	actions	
Summary Monitor Cont	liquer Permissions Hoals VMs Datastores Networks Updates	
Series v	vSphere DRS is Turned ON	BONEDULE DRE. RESTURE RESOLVED THEE. ED.T.
vighere (HS	× (HS Automation	
Configuration V	Automation Level	Fully Automated DNS automatically places influit machines and heads at VM power on, and influid machines are automatically moralized from one head to another to softmax resource adduction.
General General	Myration Theorhold	Apply priority 1 priority 1, and priority 3 insummendations. DRS previous recommendations when waimable are moderative totalized. This threshold is subgested for environments with states workloads. (Softwall)
VMaare EVC	Peditiv 065	Predictive DBS is disabled viCenter wit not respond to forwarded netless from visialize Operations.
VM/Most Groups	Virtual Machine Automation	Individual celual eacher automation inveloremented
VM/Host Rules	< Additional Options	
WD Filters	VM DRITELIUM	Use (MS defaults (M) distributes intue eaches holds to optimally provide recurrent for naming workcads.
Hoad Options	OPU diver-Constituent	(PV over-controllevent is not configured.
Literates v	Suidon Stares	Dudied
v5AN Charler	< Power Norsepanet	
Supervisor Outline Trust Authority	Automation ( even	QR sillerber farsam mil med provide pomer emergennet encommendators, individual mermins may ins sel, but avit mesme action poli Pro chaine darbat is allere Manual or Automatic
Alarm Definitions Scheduler Travel	(2PM Triveline)	N/A
vlipters Casher Bernicas 🗸	~ Advanced Options	
Datastowi	Configuration Parameters	
vian v		fpton Hite
Services		9

Figure 17-15. (Distributed Resource Scheduler 4 of 4)

# 17.3 Summary

In this chapter, we explored two advanced features of vSphere, vMotion and Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS). Next we'll explore vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS). Chapter 18 introduces vCLS and explains its important role within the VMware ecosystem. We'll discuss how vCLS operates to ensure the health of clusters and the quality of services. Additionally, we'll delve into aspects such as moving vCLS VMs to datastores and creating anti-affinity rules. This transition aims to deepen your knowledge in managing vSphere clusters, which is crucial for maintaining robust virtual environments.

## **CHAPTER 18**

# vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS)

vSphere vCLS was briefly covered in Chapter 10. This chapter provides additional information about this vSphere feature, including how to move vCLS VMs to a different datastore and how to create an Anti-Affinity rule for vCLS VMs.

# 18.1 What Is vCLS?

vSphere vCLS is a set of services that run on vSphere clusters to provide cluster-level functionality even when the vCenter is unavailable. vCLS services include the following (both of which are discussed in Chapter 17):

- vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS): vSphere DRS is a service that automatically balances workloads across hosts in a cluster.
- **vSphere vMotion:** vSphere vMotion is a service that enables you to move VMs from one host to another without downtime.

In recent versions of vSphere, vCLS doesn't directly manage other services like vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT) or vSphere High Availability (HA). These services operate independently of vCLS, each with its specific mechanisms and operational requirements. vCLS services are enabled by default on all vSphere clusters. If vCenter Server becomes unavailable, vCLS services continue to run and provide cluster-level functionality.

Here are some of the benefits of using vCLS:

- **Increased availability:** vCLS services help to ensure that workloads in a cluster remain available even if vCenter Server becomes unavailable.
- **Simplified management:** vCLS services are managed through the vSphere Client, which makes it easy to configure and monitor them.
- **Improved performance:** vCLS services are designed to minimize the impact on performance, so you can be confident that your workload continues to run smoothly even when vCenter Server is unavailable.

If you are running vSphere clusters, I recommend enabling vCLS services to help improve the availability and performance of your workloads.

There are three ways to measure the health of a cluster service:

**Healthy:** When at least one worker VM is running in the cluster, the vCLS health is green. A cluster group of three agent VMs is set up to ensure that agent VMs are always available.

**Degraded:** This is a temporary state that happens when at least one of the agent VMs isn't available, but DRS hasn't skipped its logic because the agent VMs aren't available. The cluster could be in this state when vCLS VMs are being redeployed or when they are being turned back on after something happened to the VMs that were already running. **Unhealthy:** A vCLS is in an unhealthy state when the next run of the DRS logic (load placement or load balancing) is skipped because the vCLS control plane is unavailable (at least one agent VM).

vCLS is linked to DRS. If you disable DRS, vCLS will also be disabled. Also if you Disable vCLS, your RDS cluster loses some of its selfmaintenance capabilities, like ensuring that services critical for cluster health are running. However, this doesn't affect the operational status of DRS. DRS can still balance workloads across your cluster, but the overall health and efficiency of the cluster might be impacted without the support services provided by vCLS.

### 18.1.1 What is vCLS Retreat Mode

When a vSphere cluster is running low on resources, cluster and ESxi hosts faces a limitation that could impact its performance, then is when vCLS Retreat Mode comes into play. This mode is activated to reduce the resource usage of vCLS VMs allowing critical workloads, on the cluster to run smoothly. It's like putting these service VMs in a "power mode" to ensure they operate with minimal resources while still functioning.

Retreat Mode kicks in automatically depending on the clusters resource levels. Once the resource situation improves, the vCLS VMs exit Retreat Mode on their own. Go back, to operation. This feature showcases vSpheres resilience and efficiency design aiming to minimize service disruptions and enable the cluster to adjust to resource availability scenarios.

# 18.2 How vCLS Works

The vCLS agents in each cluster will establish a cluster quorum if vCenter Server becomes unavailable. This quorum enables the vCLS agents to continue providing cluster-level functionality, including DRS and vMotion.

The vCLS agents exchange messages using a lightweight messaging protocol. This protocol is designed to be highly efficient, so its impact on performance is minimal.

If a vCLS agent fails, the other agents in the cluster will detect the failure and replace it automatically. This ensures that the cluster quorum is always maintained, even if one or more vCLS agents fail.

Here are some of the key features of vCLS:

- **Lightweight:** vCLS agents are lightweight VMs with little performance effect.
- **Redundant:** vCLS agents are redundant, so clusterlevel functionality will still be provided even if one agent fails.
- **Efficient:** vCLS makes use of a communications protocol that is both lightweight and exceedingly efficient.
- **Scalable:** Large clusters can be supported by vCLS at scale.

Each vCLS VM is created with the following size:

Memory	128 MB
Memory reservation	100 MB
Swap Size	256 MB
vCPU	1
vCPU reservation	100 MHz
Disk	2 GB
Guest VMDK Size	245 MB
Storage Space	480 MB

## **18.2.1 Architecture Fundamentals**

The core architecture of the vCLS control plane comprises a maximum of three VMs, which may also be called system VMs or agent VMs. These VMs are installed on distinct hosts that are part of a cluster.

These are lightweight agent virtual machines that come together to establish a quorum for the cluster. On clusters with less than three ESXi hosts, the number of agent VMs is always proportional to the total number of hosts in the cluster.

vSphere Cluster Services is in charge of managing the agent virtual machines. It is not the responsibility of the users to monitor the lifetime or condition of the agent virtual machines, and these VMs should not be handled as the conventional workload VMs.



*Figure 18-1.* (vSphere Cluster Services 1 of 6)(Image source: VMware)

When a host is placed into maintenance mode, the vCLS agent VMs are migrated to other hosts within the cluster like ordinary VMs. To maintain the viability of the cluster services, customers should not delete or rename agent VMs or their folders.

Virtual machines in a vSphere cluster have their resources, power status, and availability handled by vSphere Cluster Services. These VMs are crucial to the smooth operation of vSphere Cluster Services. The DRS functioning of the cluster may be affected if the power status or resources of these VMs are altered in any way.

vSphere ESX Agent Manager (EAM) manages the life cycle of vCLS agent VMs. ESX Agent Manager automatically creates or re-creates/ re-powers on VMs when users attempt to power them off or delete them.

vCLS is a relatively new feature, and it is still being improved in the latest versions, with more options added to handle these VMs. Some issues were handling these VMs or moving them to other Hosts/Datastores in the initial version. In each vSphere update, VMware fixes that and gives more flexibility to customers to handle these vCLS VMs.

vCLS VMs should not be backed up or the VM vHardware updated.

## **18.3 Move vSphere vCLS VMs Datastore**

For better Storage management, some organizations want to customize the placement of their vCLS.

The option to move or customize vCLS datastores was added in vSphere 7 Update 3, together with the option to create an Anti-Affinity rule for vCLS VMs not running with specific VMs.

Moving a vCLS Datastore can be done at the Cluster level (every Cluster with DRS and HA will have one to three vCLS VMs depending on the size of your Cluster).

As shown in Figure 18-2, select the Cluster, click the **Configure** tab, select **Datastores**, and you will see a section **vSphere Cluster Services** *and* **Datastores**.

8 8 8	Summery Montha	Configure Permissions must VMs D	atastores fartasiks Updates			- 19	PROVINT	ALZONE
D Ordenter D Ordenter D Ordenter D Ordenter	VMAura (V- VMArat (V-	Datastores vierner Caster Services (xCU) Vieranic are pt comp Ant, Same adaptives cannot be invested Services interactives for vCUS Viera same PCVVIER	Add datastores	Ouster Ve 'Assess' latite d talls bette Order if a	prome Chalter TerryCas () Second caller(TerryCas) fot as	rC.2) (M distription arrive as had guaranties the co	X (Solution net of placement)	] determined
	Lineeumg v vision Ocarier Seperator Cooler Train Automaty Auren Defotions		Cleak of Additional result in monage resulting in a Boundarie of SAS.	e migenfant of vCLS vite	door, which could impo	t the health of VCLS	Lage Hore	
	Schesbarg Taxes 3 vignese Ckarler Sar. • Cataetone eSAN • Saruses		Even     Even	1 Total NPS-43 NPS-43 NPS-83 NPS-85 NPS-8	Capacity 108.21 CB C45 TB C09 TB 109 TB	Fine (04.21.08) (09.07.08) 1.09.78 (1.09.78)		0.00
			a and the second	uersa	2.18	115.78	Lizza	

### Figure 18-2. (vSphere Cluster Services 2 of 6)

Here you have option 3 have the Datastores and vCLS: Datastores where vCLS are allowed to run, and Datastores where vCLS are not allowed to run. In this case, we will only move the vCLS VMs to run in a particular datastore (for security, you should add a second datastore if the first one is not available).

Select your Datastore(s) and click Add.

You have it configured after you add your Datastore(s); there is no need to do anything else. After you select and add the Datastore above, the vCLS VMs are now bound to the Datastore, or blocked to be used by the vCLS VMs (depending on your selections) and all if configured as we can see in Figure 18-3.

🚊 vSphere Client Q			
Constant of the second se	Summery Montor Clu     Summery Montor Clu     Summer Montor Clu     Video Onugo     Video	Story     Formations     Permissions       Ordgans     Permissions     Permissions       Obtainations     Name and a destinations     Reservation       Address     Permissions     Permissions	n heleditores by add/wroces
	Likening v visiki Outer Supervisor Challe Tost Autority Alamo Dehoters Visikes Claster Sen, v Ortaliateres	Control C	
	Services		line.

Figure 18-3. (vSphere Cluster Services 3 of 6)

The vCLS VMs will automatically move to the Datastore(s) you added, as shown in Figure 18-4.

🗮 väphere Client 🔍									
0 0 0	C Dennary Montor Configure Permanent	The rests	<u></u>						
- n									
	0 mm + mm	- Rature	Postdored Space	Greet Spece	I Faul (Th)	First March			
	C + B +1.5-OxTRee tone 4000-al. Prese	red. v horna	22.08	401.01148	0.46	103.942			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- B + 13 1010 0010 0010 4010 0. Power	red Normal	22.98	42121.988	0.40	114 910			
<ul> <li>Britishing</li> </ul>	C + B vice-ernen une-exc. Pour	red V Northal	22.08	446.12140	0.10	(SA MI)			
III IIII Polatera	C + B +0.5 5+57544 5577 4542 4. Pores	red 🗸 Norma	22.08	40101148	0.19	(54 ME			
The second secon	C / B +0.5-80007am 201-4485-0. Prose	red	22.08	411-121-1405	0.94	10.0 MB			
The second se	C · B -C.5 shaded are at. Poss	rad Normal	22.08	42121168	0.94	15.4 162			
	1 # B +0.5 shatset 5-42-493-9. Pore	red.,	22.08	447.5548	0.14	155.940			
	C + B villa to the end of the eff. From	no	32.08	421-011488	0.08	154.900			
> D ///									
B monorm							-7-		
B and an and a second							PROVENT	DALTONC	
B									
D DESIGNATION AND	C KARDET								0.001

Figure 18-4. (vSphere Cluster Services 4 of 6)

The Datastore move of vCLS is done.

# 18.4 Create an Anti-Affinity Rule for vCLS VMs

Anti-affinity rules in a vSphere environment are settings used to prevent specific virtual machines (VMs) from running on the same physical host. This is done to improve application availability and reduce the risk of simultaneous downtime. These rules are essential for critical applications that require high availability. However, we are not discussing or implementing anti-affinity rules on normal VMs, but the concept is the same how you implement for your vCLS agent VMS.

Important to note is that the rule is only to set vCLS VMs, not to run with specific VMs using TAGs. There is no other option to set this. I don't know why VMware only added this option and not the same option we use for DRS Anti-Affinity for Hosts/VMs rules.

So to use this option, you need to implement TAGs in your Center. A couple of years ago, I wrote a blog post on implementing and creating TAGs. Check it out if you want to implement this feature in your environment: https://www.provirtualzone.com/vmware-how-tocreate-and-use-tags-part-1/.

On the vCenter main menu, go to **Policies and Profiles**, select **Compute Policies**, click **Add**, and create the Anti-Affinity vCLS rule. As shown in Figure 18-5, there is only one option in the *Policy type* field: Anti-Affinity for vCLS.



Figure 18-5. (vSphere Cluster Services 5 of 6)

Next, you need to select options in the *VM tag* category. Figure 18-5 shows the rule configured so that vCLS VMs never run in the same ESXi host where VM Guest OS is classified as Other OS (like Oracle, other DBS, etc.). This is an example where a VM (like Oracle, SAP, or other DBs) must run isolated in an ESXi host, and no other VMs can run on the ESXi host.

Click **Create**, and you have your Anti-Affinity rule created for vCLS VMs. See Figure 18-6. You can delete this rule when you want, with no impact on the vCLS performance or configuration.

🗏 vSphere Clerk Q		C & Annual Annual Color V D O
Paticas and Publics Q: dri Stange Paticas Q: vir Commentation South-attents Q: program tradition Q: Competition	Compute Policies This is our presi see for Compute Research of days automatically with	or of population contributions with USE oper, or sought investment of VMS wang expectation actions, we want and VARUA
15, Xonge Poly Conservati	○         VCLS Indet           VClaster Hame: Biol OSL dir Ald Instance in:           Antral@idly with cightwar Danker Hamasis Inf.           ③ Its Voti	
	26.0%	DROVERTUR, TONE

Figure 18-6. (vSphere Cluster Services 6 of 6)

# 18.5 Summary

This chapter covered the basics of vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS) and its important role in managing clusters. In Chapter 19 we turn our attention to another component of VMware infrastructure, vSphere High Availability (HA), a feature that improves the reliability and resilience of your virtual environment. We'll explore how vSphere HA works, the situations it addresses on hosts, and the steps to enable HA in your setup. Additionally, we'll dive into the features of vSphere HA, including admission control, to give you an understanding of how it ensures uninterrupted service availability and reduces downtime in virtual environments.

## **CHAPTER 19**

# vSphere High Availability (HA)

VMware vSphere High Availability (HA) is one of the most important features in vCenter and is a significant and extensive feature in your VMware environment. This chapter explores what vSphere HA is, how it works, and some of its key benefits.

# **19.1 What Is vSphere HA?**

vSphere HA is a vital component of the vSphere platform, providing costeffective high availability for business-critical applications. vSphere HA protects your virtual machines from host failures by restarting them on other available hosts in the Cluster. If a physical server in your Cluster goes down, vSphere HA automatically restarts the virtual machines on other hosts in the Cluster.

vSphere HA is transparent to users and requires no changes to your applications. It is easy to set up and requires no additional networking configuration (except the vMotion network to migrate VMs between ESXi hosts). This ensures that your applications remain available in case of a host failure.

## **19.2 How Does vSphere HA Work?**

vSphere HA is a datacenter feature that reduces downtime for applications and services in the event of a hardware or software failure. When a failure occurs, vSphere HA automatically restarts any affected virtual machines on alternative hosts. This ensures your applications and services remain available even when individual components fail.

vSphere HA constantly monitors each virtual machine's and host's health in your Cluster. If a virtual machine or host fails, vSphere HA immediately detects the failure and starts the affected virtual machines on other hosts in the Cluster. This process is automatic and requires no administrator intervention.

When a vSphere Cluster is configured with HA, ESXi hosts communicate. This periodic message tells the primary host that the node or VM is running as expected. If it doesn't detect the heartbeat signal from another host or VM, vSphere HA takes corrective actions such as restarting VMs.

In addition to providing high availability for individual virtual machines, vSphere HA can protect your entire application by restarting virtual machines in accordance with a predefined order. This ensures that critical components are always started first, followed by less important components. By starting virtual machines in this order, you can minimize downtime and ensure that your applications are always available.

vSphere HA is an essential datacenter feature that can help you avoid costly downtime for your applications and services. By automatically restarting affected virtual machines on alternative hosts, vSphere HA ensures that your applications remain available even when individual components fail.

Key features:

• Monitor VMware vSphere hosts and virtual machines to identify hardware or guest operating system failures.

- vSphere HA continuously monitors if any of the ESXi hosts are down. If it detects an outage, HA restarts virtual machines on other vSphere hosts in the Cluster without any intervention necessary.
- Virtual machines automatically restart when VM Monitoring detects an operating system failure. This keeps applications up and running, which reduces downtime.

## 19.3 Types of vSphere HA Host Failure Scenarios

A VMware vSphere High Availability cluster's primary host is responsible for monitoring secondary hosts for failures. Virtual machines running on the hosts may need to be failed over, depending on the type of failure detected.

In a vSphere HA cluster, three types of host failure are detected: failure, isolation, and partition.

vSphere uses datastore heartbeat and gateway ping monitoring to quickly detect host failures or network isolation by checking for regular signals to shared storage and pings to a network gateway.

### 19.3.1 Host Failure

A host failure occurs when a host stops functioning. When an ESXi host fails, VM failover is triggered. All VMs from the failed ESXi host move to and restart on an available ESXi host.

In the example depicted in Figure 19-1, after the ESXi host fails, VMs 1 and 2 are migrated from the ESXi host to the next available ESXi host. All the VMs' files are stored in shared storage that all ESXi hosts have access to (HA requires this).

### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)



Figure 19-1. (vSphere High Availability 1 of 3)

## 19.3.2 Host Isolation

Host isolation occurs when a host becomes isolated from the network. When a host becomes isolated from the network, it can no longer communicate with other hosts in the Cluster. This can happen for many reasons, including the following:

- The host has lost network connectivity.
- The host has been manually isolated.
- The host is in a network partition.

If a host becomes isolated, vSphere HA protects any virtual machines running on the host. If the host is part of a cluster with vSphere HA enabled, the other hosts in the Cluster continue to provide resources and services to the virtual machines on the isolated host. Host Failure Response in HA is disabled by default (see Figure 19-2 in the next section), and if you want HA to protect your VMs in case of an ESXi host isolation, then you need to configure and enable it with one of the following options:

- **Power off and restart VMs:** All affected VMs will be powered off and vSphere HA will attempt to restart the VMs on hosts that still have network connectivity.
- Shut down and restart VMs: All affected VMs will be gracefully shut down and vSphere HA will attempt to restart the VMs on hosts that are still online.

## 19.3.3 Host Partition

A host partition occurs when a host loses network connectivity with the primary host. When this occurs, vSphere HA detects the partition and restarts any affected virtual machines on other hosts in the Cluster. This failover is transparent to users because the virtual machines are restarted on other hosts in the Cluster.

When a host loses network connectivity with the primary host, it automatically attempts to connect to a secondary host in the Cluster. If the host cannot connect to the secondary host, it restarts any virtual machines running on the primary host.

If we have a vSphere Cluster with three ESXi hosts, and let's say host number 2 or number 3 experiences a failure or becomes unreachable through gateway ping, datastore heartbeats, or VM Monitoring, then the virtual machines from the affected host are automatically restarted on the next available ESXi host to ensure continuous operation. **Note** Even when an ESXi host agent or gateway becomes unreachable, virtual machines (VMs) may continue to operate and remain accessible. This scenario underscores the importance of implementing VM Monitoring. However, for VM Monitoring to function effectively, VMware Tools must be installed on the VMs.

## **19.4 How to Enable vSphere HA**

It's easy to enable vSphere HA, but that's just the first step in setting up vSphere HA. There are a lot of choices and features in vSphere HA. Some must be set up, while others are turned off by default. In this section, we'll look at all these options and discuss each one in depth.

As shown in Figure 19-2, to start and enable vSphere High Availability, go to vCenter, select the Cluster (**Vembu Cluster** in the example), click the **Configure** tab, select **vSphere Availability**, click **Edit** in the upper-right corner of the window, and then enable **vSphere HA**.



Figure 19-2. (vSphere High Availability 2 of 3)

# **19.5 vSphere HA Feature Details**

Let's go through all the options that are available when configuring vSphere HA. The following sections correspond to the four tabs in the Edit Cluster Settings window.

## 19.5.1 Failures and Responses

As shown in Figure 19-2, the *Failures and responses* tab has the options described next. First, turn on **Enable Host Monitoring**.

### **Host Failure Response**

This option determines what vSphere HA will do when a host fails. As previously discussed regarding the failure types, there are different types of failures. You only have two options for what to do when a host fails:

- **Disabled:** When Host Failure Response is set to "Disabled," it means that the automatic response to host failures, such as restarting VMs on another host, is turned off. However, Host Monitoring itself remains active, allowing vCenter to detect host failures but not take action to automatically migrate or restart the affected VMs.
- **Restart VMs:** When a host failure is detected, VMs will be restarted in the order determined by their restart priority. Select this option to get the full benefit of vSphere HA.

367

### **Response for Host Isolation**

This option is used to configure what vSphere HA should do if you have an isolated host. You have three options:

- Disabled: No action will be taken on the affected VMs.
- **Power off and restart VMs:** All affected VMs will be powered off, and vSphere HA will attempt to restart the VMs on hosts that still have network connectivity.
- Shut down and restart VMs: All affected VMs will be gracefully shut down, and vSphere HA will attempt to restart the VMs on hosts that are still online.

Shutdown and restarting VMs is the default option and the best practice. vSphere HA tries to shut down gracefully all the VMs and power them on in the next available ESXi host. This is important if you have applications on your VMs that could be corrupt with a hard restart. So, trying to gracefully shut down is essential.

**Note** Gracefully shutting down only works if you have VMware Tools installed in your VM. If not, vSphere HA will power off the VM and restart VM in the next available ESXi host.

### **Datastore with PDL**

A Datastore with Permanent Device Loss (PDL) occurs in the following situations:

- **Unavailable datastore**: The datastore appears as unavailable in the Storage view.
- **Lost communication**: The storage adapter reports the Operational State of the device as Lost Communication.
- **Dead paths**: All paths to the device are marked as Dead.

It's crucial to understand that a PDL is specifically flagged based on certain SCSI sense codes, which indicate that a storage device has been permanently removed. This situation differs from an All Paths Down (APD) condition, where the storage paths are down but the device is not necessarily permanently lost. In this case, a host has a PDL where VMs are running, and vSphere HA needs to address the problem since VMs are running on the Datastore.

**Note** In the case of a Permanent Device Loss (PDL) with VMs still running, the focus is solely on addressing situations where a host has problems connecting to a Datastore but still have VMs runnings.

The Datastore with PDL setting has also has three options:, disable, only log the events, or Power off and restart VMs.

- **Disabled:** No action will be taken to the affected VMs.
- **Issue events:** No action will be taken to the affected VMs; events will be generated.
- **Power off and restart VMs:** All affected VMs will be terminated, and vSphere HA will attempt to restart the VMs on hosts that still have connectivity to the datastore.

The last option is the default and is the best practice.

### **Datastore with APD**

A Datastore with All-Paths-Down (APD) occurs in the following situations:

- A datastore is shown as unavailable in the Storage view.
- A storage adapter indicates the Operational State of the device as Dead or Error.
- All paths to the device are marked as Dead.
- You are unable to connect directly to the ESXi host using the vSphere Client.
- The ESXi host shows as Disconnected in vCenter Server.

A Datastore with APD is one of the most severe issues that you can have in your Cluster with your ESXi hosts. All VMs will be unavailable, mainly if this happens in more than one ESXi host (depending on how many host failures your Cluster tolerates), the Cluster can be unavailable or ESXi hosts can be unstable.

As described in the following list, there are four options on how vSphere HA handles a Datastore with APD. I do not recommend the first and second options since an APD can be a considerable environmental issue, which leaves you with the choice between a more conservative option and a more aggressive option. The choice all depends on how you want to configure your environment, and service level agreements (SLAs) are very important to take into account (again, any VMs with critical applications restart and power on in the next ESXi host available) since an aggressive policy restarts the VM as long there is no connection. By default, vSphere HA selects the third, conservative option described next.

- Disabled: No action will be taken on the affected VMs.
- **Issue events:** No action will be taken on the affected VMs. Events will be generated.
- **Power off and restart VMs Conservative restart policy:** If HA determines the VM can be restarted on a different host, a VM will be powered off.
- **Power off and restart VMs Aggressive restart policy:** A VM will be powered off if HA determines the VM can be restarted on a different host, or if HA cannot detect the resources on other hosts because of network connectivity loss (network partition).

In the same APD option, we have a second option where we can select the Response Recovery and Response delay for the VMs. It is disabled by default, but you can set 2/3m (example), the number of minutes VM Component Protection (VMCP) waits before taking action. vSphere HA waits that time and waits for Cluster and ESXi hosts to recover from the APD before restarting VMs in another host.

### **VM Monitoring**

VM Monitoring is a feature within vSphere High Availability (HA) designed to improve the resilience of virtual machines running in a cluster. It continuously checks the health of VMs, using VMware Tools to detect if a VM has stopped responding. This proactive monitoring allows vSphere to take corrective action, such as restarting a VM, to minimize downtime and ensure continued service availability.

### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)

VM Monitoring monitors the VM, the in-guest OS and also applications (here it needs an SDK or supported applications).

As previously discussed, VMware Tools must be installed in your virtual machines to use this feature. It is disabled by default, and the other options are Monitor the Virtual Machine only or Monitor the Virtual Machine Application.

**Note** To enable VMware Application Monitoring, you must first obtain the appropriate SDK (or be using an application that supports VMware Application Monitoring).



Figure 19-2.1. VM Monitoring

Occasionally, when a virtual machine or application works as expected, it ceases to send heartbeats.

The VM Monitoring service also oversees a virtual machine's I/O activity to keep unnecessary resets at bay. If no heartbeats are detected within the failure interval, then the I/O stats interval (a cluster-level attribute) is consulted. This I/O stats interval registers any disk or network activity that has taken place during the last two minutes (120 seconds). And if there is nothing to show for it, then the virtual machine gets reset. This default value (120 seconds) can be altered by employing an advanced option das.iostatsinterval.

Enable heartbeat monitoring:

- **Disabled:** No heartbeat monitoring in the selected VMs.
- VM Monitoring Only: Turns on VMware Tools heartbeats. The VM is reset when heartbeats are not received within a set time.
- VM and Application Monitoring: Turns on application heartbeats. The VM is reset when heartbeats are not received within a set time.

The last option in VM Monitoring is the VM monitoring sensitivity. You can adjust the monitoring sensitivity to best suit your needs. If you choose a high level, it will enable faster detection of failures. However, this setting has a higher risk of mistakenly concluding that a virtual machine or application has failed when it is still operational due to resource constraints.

### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)

On the other hand, selecting a lower sensitivity option will mean service interruptions between actual failures, and resetting of VMs may last longer. Consider what option works best for you before making a selection.

You can use the vSphere HA automatically configured default settings or configure the settings manually. For the auto-settings, these are the defaults.

**Note** The interval and reset times option is only available if you select **Custom**.

'M Monitoring Settings		
Setting	Failure Interval (seconds)	Reset Period
High	30	1 hour
Medium	60	24 hours
Low	120	7 days

Figure 19-3. (vSphere High Availability 3 of 3)



### Figure 19-3.1. VM Monitoring

You can set the number of times a VM can be reset in a period of time.

When failures are detected, vSphere HA resets virtual machines to ensure services remain available. To prevent continual restarts due to persistent errors, vSphere HA has a specific setting to limit the number of resets done in a specific configurable time interval. This setting, *Maximum per-VM resets*, can be configured by the user, and after three attempts, no further retries occur until the set interval has passed. **Note** The reset statistics are cleared when a virtual machine is powered off and back on or migrated using vMotion to another host. A VM reboot typically occurs due to a reset or power state change. The heartbeat mechanism in vSphere HA is used to detect the health of a VM. If a VM is unresponsive, it may trigger a reset or restart, depending on the HA configuration, but it is not the same as a "restart" in which the virtual machine's power state is changed.

Now that we've addressed all the options on the *Failures and responses* tab, we are ready to check out the options on the *Admission Control* tab.

## 19.5.2 Admission Control

vSphere HA Admission Control is a feature that is part of vSphere HA. This section describes how to configure admission control on the *Admission Control* tab of the Edit Cluster Settings window, shown in Figure 19-4.



Figure 19-4. (vSphere HA Admission Control 1 of 5)

### What Is Admission Control in vSphere HA?

In a VMware vSphere HA cluster, admission control is a feature that ensures enough resources are available to restart virtual machines on other hosts in the event of a host failure. Admission control also prevents the over-commitment of resources in a cluster.

These are two of the existing types of admission control:

- Host failures cluster tolerates: This setting ensures that a certain number of hosts can fail, and there will still be enough resources to restart all the virtual machines on those hosts. The number of hosts that can fail is determined by the number of spare capacity slots that are calculated by the admission control algorithm.
- **Percentages Of Cluster Resources Reserved:** With this setting, you specify a percentage of cluster resources that must be reserved for failover. This takes into account not only host failures but also capacity contention within the Cluster itself.

You can configure admission control using either setting or a combination of both. In most cases, it is recommended to use a combination of both settings to provide the best protection for your environment.

The following sections describe the three settings on the Admission Control tab.

### **Host Failures Cluster Tolerates**

In a vSphere HA cluster, host failures are tolerable. The maximum number of failures that can be tolerated is one less than the number of hosts in the Cluster, (as stated below the *Host failures cluster tolerates* field in Figure 19-5). This means that vSphere HA can tolerate a single host failure if you have a three-node cluster.
#### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)



Figure 19-5. (vSphere HA Admission Control 2 of 5)

As we conclude our discussion on the resilience of a vSphere HA cluster to tolerate host failures, we have emphasized how it ensures operational stability even when a host has a failure. An essential part of this mechanism involves the management of cluster resources through a concept known as "slots."

Slots in vSphere HA are the minimum resources required for the most resource-intensive virtual machine in the cluster. This concept is critical as it defines the baseline amount of CPU and memory needed to guarantee that the cluster can gracefully handle failures. By using slots, HA effectively allocates resources to maintain service availability during a host failure, ensuring the cluster's overall health and functionality.

## How HA Calculates the Number of Slots

A memory component is calculated by obtaining each powered-on virtual machine's memory reservation, plus memory overhead, and selecting the largest value.

The CPU component of a slot within a vSphere HA setup is determined by assessing the CPU reservation of each virtual machine that is powered on within the cluster. The highest reservation value is selected to define the slot size. If no specific CPU reservation has been set for a virtual machine, a default value of 32 MHz is used. This default can be adjusted to suit different needs through the das.vmcpuminmhz setting in the Advanced Settings tab, which will be explored later in this chapter.

The following list details the process and critical steps involved in calculating and managing slots within a vSphere HA environment. Here's what each point in the list signifies:

- The first size Slot is Calculated: This step involves determining the size of a "slot" based on the largest CPU and memory reservations among all the VMs. This calculation sets the baseline for resource requirements per VM in the event of a host failure.
- vSphere HA determines how many slots can be held by each ESXi host within a Cluster: After defining the slot size, HA calculates how many such slots each host in the cluster can support, effectively determining how many VMs can run simultaneously on a single host under maximum load.
- Calculates the Current Failover Capacity of the Cluster (how many ESXi hosts): This involves assessing how many hosts can fail within the cluster while still maintaining the ability to power on all VMs on the remaining hosts. This calculation is crucial for understanding the resilience of the cluster.

379

#### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)

• Compares the Current Failover Capacity of the Cluster with the Configured Failover Capacity: Finally, HA compares the actual failover capacity (the number of hosts that can fail without impacting service continuity) with the pre-configured or desired failover capacity set by the administrators. This comparison helps ensure that the cluster is configured to meet the desired levels of availability.

These steps collectively ensure that vSphere HA can adequately prepare for and respond to host failures, maintaining service availability and minimizing downtime in virtual environments.

As an example of how HA calculates the number of slots, suppose we have VM-01 with 4 GHz but only 2GB of vMemory, and VM-02 with only 2GHz and 4GB of vMemory. In this case, a slot for this Cluster will be 4 GHz + 4GB (plus memory overhead). Then divide this slot for each ESXi host resource.

An example host with 68 GHz (26 Cores with 2.6 GHz each) CPU and 192GB of Memory will be divided by the slot size:

68 GHz / 4 GHz = 17 slots and 192GB / 4GB = 48 slots

Since we need to consider the CPU, we only have 17 slots on this type of host, meaning, we can only Power on 17 VMs on each ESXi host when Admission Control is enabled.

So, every powered-on VM declared as a slot will be divided by the slots that we have in our ESXi host. If we have three ESXi hosts, then there are three hosts with 17 slots each that need to be divided by each powered-on VM we have on each host.

Let's say we have a maximum of six VMs powered on in one host, and we will have 11 slots free on that host. If that host fails, it will move those six VMs to the next two ESXi hosts and must have free slots to store those six VMs. In the example shown in Figure 19-6, we see that Host 1 and moving the six VMs into Host 2 with nine slots free and Host 3 with seven slots free. So in this Cluster, we can afford one ESXi failure without any problem. Since vSphere HA needs a minimum of two ESXi hosts to work, we cannot afford a second ESXi failure.



Figure 19-6. (vSphere HA Admission Control 3 of 5)

But if we had four ESXi hosts and lost two hosts, each of which had 30 VMs powered on, then we could have a problem. Even if we have free slots for all VMs, we must add 20% to the overhead. vSphere HA, by default, reserves 33% for any host failures.

So always divide your VMs per slot and divide again per host, and you will get the number to set for *Hosts failures cluster tolerates*.

## **Define Host Failover Capacity By**

The *Define host failover capacity by* drop-down list includes the following four options:

- **Cluster resource Percentage:** In this option, you select if you want to use the above calculation using the Cluster resource percentage (default). You can also select the following override options:
  - By default, vSphere HA will reserve 33% of the Cluster resources for the host failures when using override calculation.
  - If the percentage is very high, you will not have enough resources to power on VMs, since it will reduce the number of free slots.
- Slot Policy (powered-on VMs): This option will use the previously described calculation to check how many slots and how many VMs are allowed to power on on each ESXi host. Don't forget, poweredon VMs = used slots. You can also calculate how many VMs require multiple slots (in the same host or different hosts).
- **Dedicated failover hosts:** This option reserves a specific ESXi host for any host failure. vSphere HA will put the ESXi host on standby and use it only if any host fails. This option is only for situations in which you have many hosts and resources and can put one (or more) hosts on standby for ESXi host failure. The host cannot be used for anything else than vSphere HA host failures. No VMs can be powered on on this ESXi host (unless there is a host failure).

When you try to move a VM to this standby ESXi host, you get the following error: "The current operation cannot be performed on the host 'esxi-01.domain.local' because it has been configured as a failover host for a cluster."

• **Disable:** Select this option to deactivate admission control and allow virtual machine power on that violates availability constraints. Disabling will allow you to power on any VMs regardless if you are violating the *Hosts failures cluster tolerates* setting.

**Note** Use the **Disable** option very carefully and only if you are sure you are not breaking any company's SLA or Hight Availability policy. If an ESXi host fails and there are not enough resources for the vSphere HA restart the VMs from the failures host, VMs will not be accessible until the host failure is fixed.

## **Performance Degradation VMs Tolerate**

This admission control setting determines the percentage of performance degradation the VMs in the Cluster can tolerate during a failure. If there is a high resource request from VMs, Cluster cannot provide proper CPU or Memory, and VMs performance will be impacted.

**Note** Always do your math. Check Cluster resources and how many VMs you have, how many slots you have, and how many ESXi hosts you can afford to lose in case of a host failure.

#### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)

If you incorrectly calculate your settings and how many host failures your Cluster tolerates, you get a warning like this: "Insufficient resources to satisfy vSphere HA failover level on cluster."

## **19.5.3 Heartbeat Datastores**

The *Heartbeat Datastores* tab includes the rest of the normal (i.e., not advanced) vSphere HA Cluster settings. As Figure 19-7 shows, there is nothing special to set on this tab. As discussed earlier in the chapter, vSphere HA uses the Datastore Heartbeat to check if a host is failing or if an APD or PDL situation exists.



Figure 19-7. (vSphere HA Admission Control 4 of 5)

The default setting is **Automatically select datastores accessible from the hosts**, meaning vSphere HA selects automatically any Datastore connected to the ESXi hosts in the Cluster. The other two options allow you to select manually which Datastores to use. Unless you want to use specific Datastores for the heartbeat, you should leave it in automatic mode.

## 19.5.4 Advanced Options

The last tab in the vSphere HA Edit Cluster Settings window is *Advanced Options*, where you can configure different settings for the maximum slot resources, as discussed earlier.

The *Advanced Options* tab presents many parameters that you can configure for your vSphere HA Cluster and how it should behave in case the host becomes network isolated. This is where you can fine-tune settings like isolation response and gateway parameters. These specific settings, such as das.isolationaddress and das.isolationgateway, are crucial, as they define how HA responds if a host becomes network isolated. Tailoring these parameters to your environment ensures that HA behaves optimally during such scenarios, which are common in many setups.

As stated, you can add many parameters in this tab, but discussing them all would be beyond the scope of this book, so I will present only the two most commonly used, highlighted in Figure 19-8.

The das.isolationaddress option in vSphere HA is used to set specific IP addresses that a host pings to determine if it is isolated from the network. This is especially relevant when a host does not receive heartbeats from other hosts in the cluster. By default, the management network's default gateway is used for this purpose. However, you can specify up to ten custom isolation addresses using das.isolationaddress0 to das.isolationaddress9. This flexibility allows for more accurate isolation detection, particularly in complex network environments. The example in Figure 19-8 shows only one IP address being used, the IP 192.168.1.254, to check if the ESXi hosts was isolated from the network.

385

#### CHAPTER 19 VSPHERE HIGH AVAILABILITY (HA)

phere HA		
ailures and responses Admission Con	trol Heartbeat Datastores Advanced Options	
u can set advanced options that affect the	behavior of your vSphere HA cluster.	
- Add × Delete		
Dption	Value	
das.ignoreRedundantNetWarning	true	
das.Isolationaddress0	192.168.1.254	
das.usedefaultisolationaddress	false	
das usedefaultisolationaddress	false 3 it	item
das usedefaultisolationaddress	false 3 it	item
das usedefaultisolationaddress	false 3 it	item
las usedefaultisolationaddress	folse 3 it	item
las.usedefaultisolationaddress	folse 3 It	item
las.usedefaultisolationaddress	folse 3 k	ltem
das usedefaultisolationaddress	folse 3 it	ltem

Figure 19-8. (vSphere HA Admission Control 5 of 5)

The das.usedefaultisolationaddress option in vSphere HA determines whether the default gateway of the console network is used as an isolation address for host isolation response. By default, this option is set to true, meaning the default gateway is used. If set to false, vSphere HA will not use the default gateway as an isolation address, and you should specify custom isolation addresses using the das.isolationaddress options. This setting is crucial for defining how a host should verify its network isolation in a vSphere HA environment.

So, both parameters needs to be use together.

I could explain more details about the Admission Control feature and other options, but I think I've discussed the most important options to give you an advanced overview of vSphere HA and all its options.

## **19.6 Summary**

In this Chapter about vSphere Availability (HA) you you learn how this important feature in vCenter safeguards virtual machines from host failures by restarting them on other hosts in the cluster. It explained how to set up and use HA showing how user friendly and easy it is to configure without needing changes to applications or extra networking setups.

The chapter details on how vSphere HA keeps an eye on both host and virtual machine health automatically handling issues to minimize downtime. It discussed host failure scenarios demonstrating how vSphere HA distinguishes between hardware failures, network problems and partitions to keep services running smoothly.

This basic understanding helps readers grasp how vSphere HA plays a role, in ensuring availability in the virtual environment.

## **CHAPTER 20**

# vSphere Proactive HA

vSphere Proactive HA is not a service of vSphere HA but rather a hardware monitoring feature that is available only when vSphere HA is enabled (as described in Chapter 19).

In this chapter, we will discuss the features and benefits of Proactive HA, how it works, and how you can use it to keep your virtual infrastructure up and running.

## 20.1 What Is vSphere Proactive HA?

vSphere Proactive HA is a feature that provides enhanced high availability protection for virtual machines by monitoring the health of the underlying physical servers and taking proactive measures to prevent potential failures.

Proactive HA monitors server hardware components, such as memory, CPU, and storage, for potential issues that could lead to failure. It then uses this information to predict when a server could fail and takes proactive measures to avoid that failure.

For example, suppose Proactive HA detects that a physical server is running low on memory because of a hardware memory failure. In that case, Proactive HA can automatically migrate VMs from one ESXi host to another ESXi host in the same Cluster with more available memory. This process allows the VMs to continue running without interruption, even if a server failure occurs.

### CHAPTER 20 VSPHERE PROACTIVE HA

Built on the core of vSphere HA, Proactive HA provides advanced monitoring and remediation capabilities to help prevent downtime and disruptions due to hardware failure.

## 20.2 How Does Proactive HA Work?

Proactive HA detects when an ESXi host is about to fail and then takes action to protect the VMs running on that host. It does this by using vSphere HA and Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS) to monitor the health of each ESXi host in a cluster.

Proactive HA has the following four stages:

- **Monitoring:** Proactive HA monitors hardware components of physical servers, such as memory, CPU, storage, and network. It also monitors environmental factors like temperature, power consumption, and other server health conditions.
- **Predictive Analysis:** The monitoring data is analyzed by vSphere to predict potential hardware failures that might happen soon. For example, if memory usage runs high or the temperature rises above the acceptable limit, Proactive HA predicts that the server will soon encounter a problem.
- **Remediation:** Once Proactive HA detects an impending hardware failure, it takes proactive measures to prevent it. For example, if a server is predicted to run out of memory, Proactive HA can automatically migrate VMs to other servers in the Cluster with more available memory. This ensures the VMs continue running without disruption, even if a server fails.

• Notification: Proactive HA sends notifications to administrators when it detects an issue and takes action. The notification includes details of the problem and what action was taken, allowing administrators to quickly respond if further action is necessary.

Proactive HA provides additional protection for VMs in the vSphere HA and vSphere DRS by proactively identifying and mitigating potential issues before they cause downtime or data loss. It helps to increase the reliability of vSphere environments by detecting and addressing hardware issues early on.

# 20.3 How to Configure Proactive HA

To enable and configure Proactive HA, go to vCenter, select the Cluster for which you want to enable Proactive HA, click the **Configure** tab, select **vSphere Availability**, and click **Edit** (directly below the Edit button for vSphere HA), as shown in Figure 20-1.

Summary Monitor Cord	figure Permissions Hosts VMs Datastones N	interio Updates		
Services v *	vSphere HA is Turned ON			42/7
vignere Diti	Ratine introductor for vigners (i), a reported pricer vigners (ii).	Modering		
Vighers Averagility	Proactive HA is Turned OFF			#D/1.
Ciritguation v	Failure conditions and responses			
Durantari	False	Trigener	Details	
Ceneral	Host failure	- Restart VHs	Reptart vNo using VN restart priority or	deres.
Key Provider	Principer HA	() Daabeed	Proactive HA is not enabled.	
VMHIBEEVC	Input Isolation	Crowbind	Whit de located hosts will remain power	en on
Contract Bridge	Datastine with Permanent Device Loss	Power off and restart VMs	Datastare protection enabled. Always a	Itempt to testart VMs.
VM Fuercles	Datablere with All Feltre Down	"" Research and restard white	Delasture protection evaluated Ensure re	searce are available before revisiting VMs
UC FIRMS	Quest hol heartbeating.	(]] Divatived	VM and application monitoring chadded	
Post Options	9			# 1em
Mart Dorfee	3 Admission Control		and for details	
vSAN Clutter	> Datastore for incertiouting		canal for declars	
Separator Cultar	3 Adhanced Options		and for advanced options	

Figure 20-1. (vSphere Proactive HA 1 of 3)

In the Edit Proactive HA dialog box, enable **Proactive HA** and select options for *Automation Level* and *Remediation*. Figure 20-2 shows the expanded drop-down lists for each setting, described next.

## CHAPTER 20 VSPHERE PROACTIVE HA



Figure 20-2. (vSphere Proactive HA 2 of 3)

- Automation Level: Determines whether host quarantine, maintenance mode, and VM migrations are recommendations or automatic.
- **Manual:** DRS will suggest recommendations for VMs and hosts.
- Automated: Virtual machines will be migrated to healthy hosts, and degraded hosts will be entered into quarantine or maintenance mode depending on the configured Proactive HA automation level.
- **Remediation:** There are three types of Remediation mode in Proactive HA:

- Quarantine Mode: This mode is applicable for all types of failures. It aims to strike a balance between performance and availability by limiting the use of partially degraded hosts. The system will continue to utilize these hosts as long as doing so does not impact VM performance. This approach is beneficial for ensuring availability while avoiding the potential overreaction of moving all operations from a host that is still capable of functioning adequately.
- **Mixed Mode:** Designed for varying levels of failure, this mode uses a tiered approach. For moderate failures, it behaves similarly to Quarantine Mode by avoiding the use of moderately degraded hosts unless it impacts VM performance. For severe failures, it escalates the response to Maintenance Mode, ensuring that VMs are not run on hosts that are considered severely compromised.
- Maintenance Mode: The most conservative of the three, Maintenance Mode is triggered for any level of failure. It guarantees that no VMs will continue to operate on a failing host by completely offloading all operational capabilities from the affected host to ensure maximum protection and stability.

For purposes of the test lab, set the options to fully automatic, as shown in Figure 20-3: *Automation Level* to **Automated** and *Remediation* to **Mixed mode**.

Automation Level	Automated V Virtual machines will be migrated to healthy hosts and degraded hosts will be entered into quarantine or maintenance mode depending on the configured Proactive HA automation level.
Remediation (1)	Mixed mode  Balances performance and availability, by avoiding the usage of partially degraded hosts as long as VM performance is unaffected.

Figure 20-3. (vSphere Proactive HA 3 of 3)

# 20.4 The Difference Between Proactive HA and DRS

Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS), discussed in several previous chapters, is sometimes confused with Proactive HA. They are not the same thing.

Proactive HA and DRS serve different purposes, but as previously discussed, DRS must also be enabled to enable Proactive HA.

Proactive HA primarily focuses on identifying and mitigating potential hardware failures before they occur, such as predicting server component failures (like power could be a failure in a power supply, storage, disks, and network) and monitoring issues with server temperature. Proactive HA takes proactive actions to avoid this type of service disruption.

On the other hand, DRS is a feature that provides intelligent resource management for virtualized environments. DRS is designed to optimize resource utilization and balance workloads across ESXi hosts by automatically migrating VMs to hosts with more available resources, such as CPU, memory, and storage. DRS helps to ensure that resources are used efficiently and workloads are evenly distributed, which can help to improve performance and reduce the risk of performance bottlenecks.

In summary, while Proactive HA and DRS are designed to improve virtualized environments' performance and reliability, Proactive HA focuses on identifying and mitigating hardware failures before they occur, while DRS focuses on optimizing resource utilization and balancing workloads across ESXi hosts inside the Cluster.

Proactive HA is a valuable feature in VMware's vSphere virtualization platform that provides enhanced high-availability protection for virtual machines by monitoring the health of the underlying physical servers and taking proactive measures to prevent potential failures.

Proactive HA helps to ensure that VMs continue running without disruption, even if a server failure occurs. Proactive HA can predict any

hardware failures automatically in your VMware environment and takes remedial actions. This feature provides an additional layer of protection for your vSphere HA and vSphere DRS, helping to increase their reliability and minimize the risk of downtime or data loss.

vSphere Proactive HA is a powerful feature for VMware administrators to ensure their virtual machines remain highly available, even when faced with hardware outages.

**Note** It is important to note that for Proactive HA to operate correctly, it requires integration with a specific hardware provider. This integration allows Proactive HA to receive detailed insights about the health and status of physical hardware components.

## 20.5 Summary

In this Chapter we explored vSphere Proactive HA, a feature that enhances the availability of virtual machines by monitoring the health of physical server components to predict and preempt potential failures. Proactive HA operates through stages of monitoring, predictive analysis, remediation, and notification to prevent server issues from disrupting virtual environments. It enables proactive VM migrations to healthier hosts, ensuring continuous operations.

The chapter also detailed how to configure Proactive HA, including setting automation levels and choosing remediation strategies to manage server health effectively. Additionally, it distinguished Proactive HA from vSphere DRS, emphasizing that Proactive HA focuses on preventing hardware failures, while vSphere DRS optimizes resource distribution and workload balance across ESXi hosts. This distinction underlines Proactive HA role in preemptively securing infrastructure, maintaining high availability, and minimizing downtime in your vSphere Cluster.

#### CHAPTER 20 VSPHERE PROACTIVE HA

Chapter 21 introduces vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT). We'll explore how it enhances the resilience of VMware environments by ensuring availability of virtual machines by creating duplicate instances. We will delve into the mechanism of FT, its advantages and limitations, and the requirements needed to implement it successfully. Moreover, we will discuss the configuration of FT.

## **CHAPTER 21**

# vSphere Fault Tolerance

VMware vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT) is directly bound to vSphere HA: you cannot use vSphere FT without vSphere HA enabled.

vSphere FT, much like vSphere HA, is a complex topic that requires extensive coverage to fully explain all the configuration options and use cases. Therefore, a comprehensive exploration of vSphere FT capabilities and functionalities exceeds the scope of this book. It's important to note that vSphere FT cannot be used without vSphere HA enabled, as FT is intricately linked to HA mechanisms.

This chapter will focus on vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT), explaining what it is, how it works, and how to configure and perform a simple VM fault tolerance setup with failover capabilities.

## **21.1 What Is vSphere Fault Tolerance?**

vSphere Fault Tolerance is a feature of VMware's vSphere virtualization platform that provides continuous availability for virtual machines. It creates a secondary copy, or "shadow instance," of a running VM that is synchronized with the primary instance in real time.

The secondary instance is kept in lockstep with the primary instance using a technology called vLockstep, which mirrors all of the actions taken on the primary VM to the secondary VM. If the primary VM fails for

any reason, the secondary VM seamlessly takes over without disrupting the applications or services running on it. This provides a higher level of availability than traditional failover solutions, which typically require some amount of downtime during the failover process. With vSphereFT there is no need for manual intervention or restarts, ensuring that critical applications and services remain continuously available to end-users.

With vSphere FT, you can create an online replica of your virtual machine, allowing for zero downtime and full high availability. This ensures that your applications are always operational, even in the event of hardware failures.

vSphere FT eliminates even the most minor disruptions caused by server hardware failures. In the event of server failure, vSphere FT provides instantaneous, nondisruptive failover, protecting organizations from even the slightest interruption or data loss and the corresponding downtime costs, which can reach thousands of dollars.

vSphere FT also provides continuous availability for critical applications. When hardware fails, applications continue to run without interruptions, user disconnections, or data loss because vSphere FT provides automatic failure detection and seamless failover. vSphere Fault Tolerance can protect even homegrown and custom applications, ensuring continuous availability.

## 21.2 How Does vSphere Fault Tolerance Work?

vSphere Fault Tolerance works by creating and maintaining a synchronized copy of a running VM on a secondary host. The secondary VM is kept in a "shadow instance" continuously synchronized with the primary VM using a technology called vLockstep.

When vSphere FT is enabled for a VM, the primary VM and its shadow instance are kept on separate hosts in the vSphere cluster. The shadow instance is continuously synchronized with the primary VM in real time, mirroring all of its CPU and memory operations.

Suppose the primary VM fails for any reason, such as a hardware failure or an operating system crash. In that case, the shadow instance takes over seamlessly without disrupting the applications or services running on it. This is because the shadow instance has the same state as the primary VM, including its CPU and memory contents. It can immediately continue processing from where the primary VM left off.

The takeover process is automatic and transparent to end users, without manual intervention or restarts. Once the secondary VM takes over, it becomes the new primary VM, and a new shadow instance is created on another host in the cluster to ensure continuous availability.

vSphere FT provides a higher level of availability than traditional failover solutions, which may incur some downtime during the failover process. By keeping a continuously synchronized copy of the primary VM, vSphere FT ensures that critical applications and services remain available to end users at all times.

Figure **21-1** shows how vSphere Fault Tolerance works in your infrastructure.



Figure 21-1. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 1 of 13)

Figure 21-2 shows an example of vSphere Fault Tolerance failover. When an ESXi host has a problem, or the VM stops working, vSphere FT automatically puts the secondary VM online, promotes it to primary VM, and creates a secondary ESXi host in the next available ESXi host. vSphere FT workflow rebuilds a new mirror and creates a new primary VM and a new secondary VM.



Figure 21-2. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 2 of 13)

## 21.3 vSphere Fault Tolerance Restrictions

When you're considering implementing vSphere Fault Tolerance to improve the availability of your virtual machines, it's important to understand its restrictions. While vSphere FT greatly enhances the resilience of your VMs, being aware of these restrictions is crucial in order to successfully deploy it in your VMware environment. In this section we discuss the constraints of vSphere FT, which will help you to navigate its requirements and make choices about how to apply it within your virtual infrastructure. The following are several restrictions that you should be aware of before implementing vSphere FT:

- Limited to eight vCPUs: Fault Tolerance is limited to virtual machines with two vCPUs or eight vCPUs (depending on the license). This means that if your VM has more than that number of vCPUs, you'll need to reduce the number of vCPUs to use vSphere FT.
- Limited to four vSphere FT VMs per host in the cluster: Both primary VMs and secondary VMs count toward this limit. However, you can use larger numbers if the workload performs well in FT by configuring necessary advanced parameters. Setting this in the advanced parameters.
- System requirements: To configure vSphere FT, your system must meet specific requirements. This includes having sufficient CPU resources, meeting virtual machine limits, and ensuring the correct licensing. When setting up vSphere FT, you should also consider other factors, such as the type of workloads, the size of the VMs, and the overall performance and scalability of the environment.
- Limited to certain types of VMs: Fault Tolerance is not available for all types of virtual machines, such as VMs with specific devices or configurations. vSphere FT cannot be used on the following:

- VMs with more than 16 virtual disks and 2TB size disks
- VMs with more than 128GB of memory
- VMs with more than eight vCPUs
- VMs with physical Raw Device Mapping (RDM) disks
- VMs with virtual RDMs in physical compatibility mode
- VMs with CPU affinity configured
- VMs with specific virtual devices, such as USB devices, parallel ports, and SATA controllers

For example, virtual machines with the following devices or configurations cannot be protected with Fault Tolerance:

- USB devices
- Parallel ports
- SATA controllers

Table 21-1 outlines the vSphere Fault Tolerance maximums for each license type.

	vSphere License Typ	e	
	vSphere Standard	vSphere Enterprise Plus	vSphere+
vCPUs per VM	2	8	8
Virtual disks	8	16	16
Disk size	2TB	2TB	2TB
RAM per FT VM	128GB	128GB	128GB
VMs per host	4	4	4
vCPUs per host	8	8	8

Table 21-1. vSphere Fault Tolerance Maximums

## 21.4 vSphere Fault Tolerance Requirements

Before you can effectively use vSphere Fault Tolerance in your environment, you need to ensure several prerequisites are met. This section outline these requirements, giving you an understanding of what's necessary for the successful deployment and maintenance of vSphere FT. It's crucial to comprehend and fulfill these requirements in order to make the most of this feature and improve the resilience and availability of your machines.

To use vSphere Fault Tolerance, you must ensure that your environment meets the following requirements:

• **Compatible hardware:** Fault Tolerance requires specific hardware configurations to function correctly. Consult the VMware Compatibility Guide to ensure your hardware is compatible with this feature. At the host level, the CPUs in the host machines must be compatible with vSphere vMotion and must also support Hardware MMU virtualization (Intel EPT or AMD RVI).

- Network requirements: Fault Tolerance generates additional network traffic to keep the primary and secondary VMs in sync. You should ensure that your network infrastructure can handle this increased traffic and that your hosts are connected to the same network switch.
- Storage requirements: Fault Tolerance requires additional storage resources to store the shadow instance of the VM. You should ensure that you have enough storage capacity to accommodate the additional overhead. The hosts must have an FT-compatible storage device, such as a shared storage system, so that the FTenabled VMs can be replicated across hosts.
- **Host requirements:** For Fault Tolerance, the primary and secondary VMs must be on separate hosts within a vSphere HA cluster. While these hosts need access to shared storage, this requirement pertains to the virtual machine configuration files. It's important to note that the virtual disks (VMDKs) of the VMs do not necessarily need to be on shared storage.

The following CPUs are supported:

- Intel Sandy Bridge or later. Avoton is not supported.
- AMD Bulldozer or later.

Ensuring that your environment meets these requirements allows you to successfully implement vSphere FT and provide continuous availability for your virtual machines.

# 21.5 Configure vSphere Fault Tolerance

Before enabling vSphere Fault Tolerance in your VMs, you need to create a network that will support this feature and is used for VMs sync. Therefore, you need to create a VMkernel for *Fault Tolerance logging*.

**Note** Chapter 5 describes how to create a VMkernel.

As shown in Figure 21-3, select your ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **VMkernel adapters**, and click **Add Networking**. In the first step of the Add Networking wizard, select **VMkernel Network Adapter**. Click **Next**.



Figure 21-3. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 3 of 13)

In step 2 of the wizard, shown in Figure 21-4, click the **Select an existing standard switch** option, click **Browse**, and choose the Virtual Switch that this VMkernel will be using. For the test lab, use the Switch that we are using for Storage, **Switch1**. Click **Next**.

**Note** You learned how to create a vmkernel in a Distributed Virtual Switch in Chapter 5, but we will use a Standard Switch for this case.

If you plan to use a vDS, you can follow the vSphere network in vDS chapter regarding vmkernel.

1 Select connection type 2 Select target device	Select target device Select a target device	for the new connect	tion.		
<ul><li>3 Port properties</li><li>4 IPv4 settings</li><li>5 Ready to complete</li></ul>	○ Select an existing network				
	<ul> <li>Select an existing</li> </ul>	standard switch		BROWSE	
	vSwitch1			BROWSE	
	New standard swi	itch			
	MTU (Bytes)	1500			

Figure 21-4. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 4 of 13)

In step 3, shown in Figure 21-5, add a name for the port group (not mandatory; you can use the default) and enable the vSphere **Fault Tolerance logging** service. Click **Next**.

2 Select target device	VMkernel port settings Network label	vSphere FT		1
4 IPv4 settings	VLAN ID	None (0) V		
5 Ready to complete	IP settings	IPv4 ~		
	MTU	Get MTU from switch ~	9000	
	TCP/IP stack	Default 🗸		
	Available services			
	Enabled services	VMotion		
		Provisioning		
		Fault Tolerance logging		
		Management		
		vSphere Replication		
		vSphere Replication NFC		
		VSAN		
		VSphere Backup NFC		
		NVMe over TCP		
		NVMe over RDMA		

Figure 21-5. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 5 of 13)

Next, add an IP address for your vSphere Fault Tolerance network. See Figure 21-6. Click **Next**.

**Note** You can separate and isolate the network using VLANs or a different subnet.

1 Select connection type	IPv4 settings				
2 Select target device	Specify VMkernel IPv4 setting	<b>3</b> 5.			
3 Port properties     4 IPv4 settings     5 Ready to complete	Obtain IPv4 settings auto	matically			
a nearly to complete	<ul> <li>Use static IPv4 settings</li> </ul>				
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.116			
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			
	Default gateway	🕑 Override default :	gateway for t	his adapter	
		192.168.10.254			
	DNS server addresses	192.168.1.40 192.168.1.3			

Figure 21-6. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 6 of 13)

Check all the configuration information in the final step of the wizard, shown in Figure 21-7; if all is in order, click **Finish**.

	Ready to complete				^
1 Select connection type	Review your settings selections before finishing the wizard.				
2 Select target device					
<b>3</b> Port properties	New port group	vSphere FT			
4 IPv4 settings	Standard switch	vSwitch1			
	VLAN ID	None (0)			
5 Ready to complete	vMotion	Disabled			
	Provisioning	Disabled			
	Fault Tolerance logging	Enabled			
	Management	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication	Disabled			
	vSphere Replication NFC	Disabled			
	VSAN	Disabled			
	vSphere Backup NFC	Disabled			
	NVMe over TCP	Disabled			
	NVMe over RDMA	Disabled			
	NIC settings				
	MTU	9000			
	TCP/IP stack	Default			
	IPv4 settings				
	IPv4 address	192.168.10.116 (static)			
	Subnet mask	255.255.255.0			
	Default gateway for IPv4	192.168.10.254			

Figure 21-7. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 7 of 13)

**Note** As you learned in Chapter 5, the process just described must be done in all ESXi hosts in the Cluster.

Now that you have created your vSphere Fault Tolerance network, you can enable it on your virtual machines.

As shown in Figure 21-8, select in the VM menu the virtual machine for which you want to enable vSphere FT, right-click it, select **Fault Tolerance** from the context menu, and then click **Turn On Fault Tolerance**.

				1			* :		
( <u>)</u> ~	Vembu	-vCenter. hbu Datad	Senter uster	Actions - Linux CentOS 8.x Power Guest OS Snapshots	> >	Ionitor Configure Permissions	Datastores Networ	ks Snapshots	Upda
	6 6	) vembu ) vembu ) vembu ) Linux (	-esxi-01 -esxi-02 -esxi-03 CentOS (	없 Migrate Clone	>	Power Status Guest OS	Powered Off	D	
	G	D Postgri	esql-14-	Fault Tolerance VM Policies	> >	Turn On Fault Tolerance	Not running, version:12	2325 (Guest Manag	ed)
				Template Compatibility	> >	Resume Fault Tolerance Suspend Fault Tolerance	Not encrypted		
				Export System Logs		Migrate Secondary			
~	Decent	Tasks	Alarm	Move to folder Rename Edit Notes Tags & Custom Attributes	>	Test Restart Secondary	1	Storage Po	Dicies
Task N Upda	lame te virtual N	lic	Ta	Add Permission Alarms	>	T Details	Y Initiator	T	Queued For
Upda Selec Upda	te virtual N t virtual Ni te network	IIC C configur	6	Remove from Inventory Delete from Disk		3 3 3	VSPHERE LOCA VSPHERE LOCA VSPHERE LOCA	L\Administrator L\Administrator L\Administrator	8 ms 6 ms 7 ms
	All	- More	Tasks	VSAN	>				

Figure 21-8. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 8 of 13)

In the Turn On Fault Tolerance wizard that opens, select the datastore for the secondary VM, as illustrated in Figure 21-9. As discussed earlier in this chapter, the Datastore chosen for the secondary VM must be a shared datastore. Additionally, it should be different from the Datastore where the primary VM is stored to ensure redundancy. Click '**Next**'.

2 Select host	Select datastores Select datastores to place to	the secondary VM disk	s and configuratio	n files.	
3 Ready to complete			(	Configure per disk	0
	Name	Capacity T	Provisioned T	Free T	Typ
	Vembu-NFS-01	8.44 TB	7.73 TB	727.63 GB	NF 1
	ISO Images	149.75 GB	47.11 GB	102.64 GB	٧N
	Synology-01	3.42 TB	2.2 TB	1.22 TB	VN
	RetApp-sto-01	2.44 TB	1.95 TB	549.7 GB	٧N
	<	0.44 TD	772 70	70760.00	A.P
	Compatibility:				
	<ul> <li>Compatibility checks s</li> </ul>	succeeded.			

Figure 21-9. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 9 of 13)

Next, select the ESXi host in which to place this secondary VM. See Figure 21-10. Click **Next**.

1 Select datastores 2 Select host	Select host Select host for the secondary VM.				
3 Ready to complete	Show all hosts	Filter			
	Name	✓ State	~	Status	~
	vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab	Connected		✓ Normal	
	vembu-esxi-02.vmwarehome.lab	Connected		🗸 Normal	
	٢				2 items
	< Compatibility:				2 items
	Compatibility:	-			2 items

Figure 21-10. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 10 of 13)

In final wizard step, shown in Figure 21-11, double-check the information and click **Finish**.



Figure 21-11. vSphere Fault Tolerance 11 of 13)

As you can see in Figure 21-12, vSphere Fault Tolerance created a secondary VM.

V         Second Tables         V         Feature         V         Manual Y         Second Tables         V         Second Tables	Venter volchter inneurofendens (so     Venter volchter inneurofendens)     Venter bruckenter     Venter bruckenter     venter bruckenter     venter volchter volchteren (so     venter volchteren volchteren volchteren     venter volchteren volchteren volchteren     Ventervolchteren volchteren volchteren     Ventervolchteren volchteren volchteren	Compared Cluster     Serrey Model Cost     Trans Research     P 22     Reserver     Reserver	Ar university over the data of the over the data of the data	Networks Updates	Cluber Consumers Besource positi
tai Rane T tani T tala T Dala	Recent Tatks Alarms				
Text Each Telephone Residence Mark State Control State Sta	ade Name Y Target Y Sto	eus Y Detain	wistor	Outword T Start Time J T Comparison Time	T Bener
	Aart Rault Tolerance Secondary VM (D. Linux CentOS 8.x	100% () Disabling Reut Tolerance or	. System	5 ma 03/02/2023, 128.95	Vento-eCenter interarehoree lab

Figure 21-12. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 12 of 13)

The two VMs for which we have enabled vSphere FT are now configured for Fault Tolerance. Both are protected against failures. In the event of a failure, the secondary VM will seamlessly take over, ensuring continuous operation without any downtime in the guest operating system or applications.

If you check the Fault Tolerance options in the virtual machine, as shown in Figure 21-13, you see some management options to check the Fault Tolerance implementation:

- **Migrate Secondary:** Migrate the secondary VM to another ESXi host.
- **Test Failover:** Test failover to check if vSphere FT will work if the VM fails.
- **Test Restart Secondary:** Restart the secondary VM to make sure it works.

	Actions - Linux Cent05 & a (pri Power	a)   > 0 0 4 12   Eccove Agure Permissions Datastores Networks Snapshots Updates		
VentourCanter immandiometals     WintourCanter     WintourCanter     WintourCanter     WintourCanter	Snapshots >	Actions - II Capacity	nd Usage II	VM Hardware
windsu-state 01 introvementate aso     windsu-state 02 introvementate aso     windsu-state 02 introvementates tab     windsu-state 02 introvementates tab     Windsu-state 02 introvementates tab	(2) Migrate Clone	Power Martin C Powerd On CPU Guest OS A Concols 3 (80-60) O 107 uned	1CPU altocated	CPU Mamory
<ul> <li>There cannot be been as the second strict of decision it prevery.</li> </ul>	Fault Tolerance VM Policies	Turn OF Fault Tolerance  S. Windowski (247443647 (Swald Managori)  Turn OF Fault Tolerance  Windowski how  Turn OF Fault Tolerance	2.08 atroneo	Network adapter 1 CD/DVD prive 1
	Template Computibility	Amana Fault Toleratory     Support Fault Toleratory     Support Fault Toleratory     Support Fault Tolerance     worker     worker     TSB Ixee     TSB Ixee     TSB Ixee     TSB Ixee     TSB Ixee	aticated	Compatibility
	Export System Logs	Migrate Geosticary Taktower Primary ET VM Verse 51275		-
	Nove to folder,	Trid Bestart Secondary	ttributes	

Figure 21-13. (vSphere Fault Tolerance 13 of 13)

Note that in the same context menu you can also suspend or turn off vSphere Fault Tolerance for this VM.

As discussed in the initial section on vSphere FT, this highly available vSphere service is crucial for maintaining business continuity. vSphere FT is particularly useful for applications or guest operating systems that cannot be clustered. FT effectively provides high availability for applications and VMs that cannot be clustered due to hardware or software limitations.
When using FT, you can create a "live shadow instance" of the primary VM and run both copies simultaneously. If one of the machines fails, the other will take over. This eliminates the need to manually manage and configure failover processes while providing increased reliability, improved performance, and cost savings.

It is important to note that specific workloads are not eligible for FT. Let's now turn to the pros and cons of using vSphere Fault Tolerance.

# 21.6 Pros and Cons of vSphere Fault Tolerance

Like any technology, VMware vSphere Fault Tolerance has both pros and cons. When considering vSphere FT, it is essential to consider both its advantages and disadvantages. This section includes coverage of the negative aspects of Fault Tolerance so that you have a more rounded view of how it affects the uninterrupted availability of virtual machines. Having an understanding of both the benefits and limitations of this technology is crucial for making choices regarding its integration in your virtual environment.

# 21.6.1 Pros of vSphere Fault Tolerance

The primary benefit of using vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT) is its ability to provide continuous uptime in case of hardware or software failure. With vSphere FT, users can keep their applications running without experiencing any downtime due to unexpected outages. Additionally, vSphere FT offers many performance benefits, including the following:

• **Increased reliability:** By providing automated failover in the event of hardware or software failure, vSphere FT allows applications to continue running without disruption.

#### CHAPTER 21 VSPHERE FAULT TOLERANCE

- **Improved performance:** Through its live shadow instance of the primary virtual machine, vSphere FT provides faster response times and improved application throughput.
- **Cost savings:** By manually eliminating the need to manage failover processes, vSphere FT reduces the cost of IT personnel to maintain operations. Additionally, by reducing downtime, vSphere FT helps to minimize lost revenue due to outages.
- **Reduced complexity:** vSphere FT simplifies the process of configuring and managing application availability, allowing users to focus on core tasks and activities.

Overall, vSphere FT provides a reliable and cost-effective solution for ensuring the availability of applications and services. By providing a live shadow instance of a virtual machine, vSphere FT ensures that any outages are quickly mitigated and that applications remain operational. Additionally, vSphere FT offers a number of performance and cost benefits to help organizations maximize the return on investment of their IT infrastructure.

### 21.6.2 Cons of vSphere Fault Tolerance

The main disadvantage of vSphere FT may be its increased resource usage. Since FT creates a live shadow instance of the primary VM, it requires double the resources usually needed for a single VM. This can be a concern if resources are limited or multiple FT-protected VMs run on the same host. Additionally, as previously discussed, there are two important limits for FT that must be considered: each host in the cluster can support a maximum of four Fault Tolerant VMs, and while the number of FT VMs per host is technically unlimited, it varies depending on the workload. Each ESXi host can support up to eight vCPUs allocated to Fault Tolerant VMs. If your VM has multiple vCPUs, you need to ensure it has no more than eight vCPUs to utilize vSphere Fault Tolerance effectively.

Furthermore, vSphere FT cannot protect specific virtual machines with raw device mapping, memory reservations, and more than four virtual CPUs. Also, when using FT, some features, such as snapshots, DRS, and High Availability, may not be available or may have limited functionality.

Moreover, troubleshooting FT-protected VMs may be more complicated than troubleshooting other VMs due to the complex architecture of vSphere FT.

# 21.7 Summary

vSphere Fault Tolerance is a powerful feature of VMware vSphere that provides continuous availability for virtual machines. By maintaining a synchronized copy of the VM on a secondary host, Fault Tolerance ensures that critical applications and services remain available to end users at all times, even during a primary VM failure.

While vSphere FT offers many benefits, there are also several restrictions and limitations to consider, such as the requirement for compatible hardware and software, limited virtual machine configurations, and increased network and storage requirements.

By carefully evaluating the pros and cons of vSphere FT in your environment, you can decide whether to implement this feature and how best to configure it to meet your needs.

#### CHAPTER 21 VSPHERE FAULT TOLERANCE

Having examined the intricacies of vSphere FT, including its strengths and limitations, we now shift our focus to another aspect of VMware management: virtual machine snapshots. In Chapter 22 we will begin with an overview of what VM snapshots are and then delve into the specifics of files. We will also explore how snapshots function and I'll provide guidance on creating and managing them.

Furthermore, we will discuss practices for utilizing snapshots while considering their impact on VM performance and storage. A vital part of this discussion involves identifying and resolving any issues related to snapshots to ensure the operation of your environment. Lastly, we will address the setup of alarms in vSphere for monitoring and receiving alerts regarding snapshot-related issues—a measure to maintain the health and efficiency of your machines.

# **CHAPTER 22**

# Virtual Machine Snapshots

The virtual machine snapshots feature in the VMware vSphere environment often acts as a lifeline for system administrators and IT professionals. VM snapshots allow you to capture the state of a virtual machine at any given moment, offering a safety net for troubleshooting, testing new configurations, and guarding against potential errors.

This chapter explores the intricacies of creating, managing, and deleting snapshots. Additionally, we will explore some considerations to keep in mind throughout the process.

# 22.1 What Are Virtual Machine Snapshots?

Virtual machine snapshots are essentially "point-in-time" captures of a virtual machine's state, including its settings, disk data, and system memory. Think of them as being like a camera snapshot of your VM at a specific moment. They let you go back to that state whenever you need to, which can be very helpful for troubleshooting, trying software updates, or backing out changes.

Snapshots are not full backups, but they offer a quick way to save your VM's state without cloning the entire machine. However, they can consume a lot of storage and degrade performance if not managed properly, so it's important to use them judiciously.

One of the problems when using snapshots is that administrators often will start using them as backups, which is a big mistake.

Here are some of the benefits of using virtual machine snapshots:

- They can be used to revert a virtual machine to a previous state. This can be useful if you make changes to a virtual machine and don't like them or experience a problem with the virtual machine.
- They can be used to test software or configurations without affecting the production environment. This can be done by creating a snapshot of the virtual machine, making the changes, and then reverting to the snapshot if the changes are unsuccessful.
- They can be used to create a backup of a virtual machine. This can be useful to protect the virtual machine from data loss.

Here are some of the limitations of using virtual machine snapshots:

- They can degrade performance, because the virtual machine's disks are marked as read-only when a snapshot is created.
- They can lead to snapshot management problems, because keeping track of multiple snapshots can be challenging.
- They are not a complete backup solution. Snapshots only capture the virtual machine's state at the time the snapshot is created. They do not capture changes made to the virtual machine after the snapshot is created.

In a word, snapshots provide a safety net that makes fixing mistakes or other problems easier without affecting the whole system.

# 22.2 Snapshot Files

The types of files for snapshots are described next (previously introduced in Chapter 7).

# 22.2.1 Delta Disk Files

A delta disk file (.vmdk) is a writeable file accessible by the guest operating system. The delta disk represents the virtual disk's current state and that state when the previous snapshot was taken. The guest operating system stops writing to the virtual disk, and a delta or child disk is created when you take a snapshot, which also preserves the state of the virtual disk.

Two files are on a delta disk. One is a brief descriptor file that provides details about the virtual disk, including its geometry and parent-child relationships. The raw data is in a corresponding file, which is the other one.

The child disks or redo logs are the names of the files that make up the delta disk. Figure 22-1 shows one of the snapshot .vmdk files that belongs to the delta files group. It has all the information about the snapshots, parent, and child for Content ID (CID) and snapshot disk files used.



Figure 22-1. (Snapshots 1 of 14)

**Note** In managing virtual machine snapshots within VMware, there are several key details to keep in mind that affect how snapshots are handled and stored. These points are crucial for understanding the behaviors and limitations of snapshot technology, particularly in relation to storage and file management. Note the following specifics:

- The value may not be consistent across all child disks from the same snapshot. The file names are chosen based on file name availability.
- If the virtual disk is larger than 2TB in size, the delta file is --sesparse.vmdk format.
- With VMFS6, all snapshots will be sesparse regardless of the size.

### 22.2.2 Flat Files

A flat file is one of the two files that make up the base disk.vmdk file. The raw data for the base disk is on the flat disk. This file is not shown in the Datastore browser. You need to use the vSphere console and check in the Virtual Machine folder. This is how you see snapshot files in your vSphere Datastore browser. In Figure 22-2 in the vSphere Datastore browser illustrates how snapshot files are displayed.

NEW FOLDER UPLOAD FILES UPLOAD FOLDER REGISTER VH	DOWNLOAD COPY TO	NOVE TO RENAME TO DELETE	MELATE	
Nare T	Size T	Hodified T	Туря т	r Path
Linux CentOS 8 x-000001 vridk	1.024 KB	08/10/2023.10.33.52 AM	Virtual Disk	[Synology-Officient CentOS & all Into CentOS & c-000001.vmdk
Linux CentOS 8x-000002.vmdk	1,024 KB	06/10/2023, 10:38:41 AM	Virtual Disk.	Snapshot Delta disks 000002.vmdk
Linux Cent05 8 x-000003 vmdk	66,560 KB	09/04/2023, 513:37 PM	Virtual Disk	[Synology-bij Charl Centros displands centros dis-000003 vmdk
Linux Centos 8x-1828d107 http	0.05 KB	03/07/2023, 12:16:42 PM	File	[Synology-01] Linux CentOS 8.x/Linux CentOS 8.x-1830d107.Mog
Linux CentOS 8 x-6eb23bbb vswp	0 KB	09/04/2023, 5:13:34 FM	File	[Synology-01] Linux CentOS 8.x/Linux CentOS 8.x-Seb23abb.vswp
B Linux CentCS 8.x-Snapshoft vitan	284 96 KB	08/10/2023, 10:33:52 AM	VM Snigshot	(Synology-
An Linux Cent05 B.x Snapshot2.vmsn	284.97 KB	06/15/2023, 10:38:41 AM	VM Snapshot	[Synology: Snapshot Database files Snapshot2 vmsn
By Unix CereOS 8 x-Snapshot3, vmsn	284.97 KB	08/10/2023, 10:38:54 AM	VM Snapshot	(Synology-OI) LINUX CENCOS BIOLINUX CENTOS BX-Snapistor3 vmsn
Linux CentOS 8x/mmam	264.49 KB	03/07/2023. 10:35:27 AM	Non-volatile Memory -	[Synology-QI] Linux CentOS 8 x8 inter CentOS 8 x nvram
B Linux Centos Exumar	7,592,960 KB	04/20/2023, 12:42:20 PM	Virtual Disk	WM Base disk
Linux CentOS 8 x vmsd	1.01 KB	06/15/2023, 10 38 54 AM	File	[Synology are cannot any care composited winsd
D Linux CentOS 8 x vmx	4.28 X8	09/04/2023, 513.34 PM	File	[Synology-01] Litux CentOS 8 x/Litua CentOS 8 x vitux

*Figure 22-2.* (*Snapshots 2 of 14*)

Figure 22-3 shows the files in the Virtual Machine folder. As you can see, the flat file is not shown when you use vSphere Datastore browser. Figure 22-3 also shows the snapshots .vmdk files. Those are the files with the CID shown in Figure 22-1.

[root@Vembu-ESX1-01:/vmfs/volumes/5c09b7c4-2d4db9c5-3682-9c8e9916656c/Linux CentOS 8.x] 1s -la					
total 779574					
drwxr-xr-x			4060 Sep 4 15:13 .		
drwxr-xr-t			8260 kpg 27 22:24		
-I.M			114688 Aug 10 08:33 Linux Cent05 8.x-000001-delta.vmdk		
-18			314 Aug 10 08:33 Linux Cent05 8.x-000001.vmdk		
-18			114688 Aug 10 08:38 Linux CentOS 8.x-000002-delts.vmdk	Snanshot Delta disks	
-1W			321 Aug 10 08:38 Linux Cent03 8.x-000002.vmdk	Shapshot Delta disks	
			67223552 Sep 4 15:31 Linux Cent03 8.x-000003-delta.vmdk		
-TW			321 Sep 4 15:13 Linux Cent05 8.x-000003.vmdk		
-IM-II			52 Mar 7 11:16 Linux Cent03 8.x-183bd107.hlog		
-18			0 Sep 4 15:13 Linux Cent05 8.x-6eb23bbb.vswp		
-24			291802 Aug 10 08:33 Linux CentOS 8.x-Snapshotl.vmsn	Contraction (1)	
-29			291809 Aug 10 08:38 Linux Cent03 8.x-Snapshot2.vmsn	Snapshot Database files	
-14	1 root		291009 ANG 10 08138 LINUX LENTOS S.X-Shapinots.vmin		
-28			59055800320 May 9 20:08 Linux CentOS 8.x-flat.vmdk		
-29			270840 Mar 7 09:35 Linux CentOS 8.x.nvram		
-24	1 root		560 Apr 20 10:42 Linux CentOS 8.x.vmdk		
-IM-II			1035 Aug 10 08:38 Linux CentOS 8.x.vmsd		
-EAKE-NE-K			4379 Sep 4 15:13 Linux CentOS 8.x.vmx	VM Base disk	
-24			0 Sep 4 15:13 Linux CentOS 8.x.vmx.lck		
-24			47 Mar 7 11:16 Linux CentOS 8.x.vmxf		
-TMEE-NI-X	1 root		4377 Sep 4 15:13 Linux CentOS 0.x.vmx-		
-29	1 root		270840 Sep 4 15:15 nvram		
-28-22	1 root		342403 Mar 7 11:16 vmware-1.log		
-IM-II	1 root		167566 Mar 7 11:31 VEWare-2.log		
	1 root		1583703 Apr 19 08:26 vmware-3.log		
-28-22			36615950 May 9 20:56 vmware-4.log		
-IM-II			5136261 Aug 13 01:04 vmware-5.log		
-IM-II	1 root		180244 Sep 4 16:01 vmware.log		
-14	1 root		83886080 Sep 4 15:13 vmx-Linux CentOS 8.x-53608b84736295f9576a36eb3605f1e4	0a90b9le0-1.vswp	
[root@Vembu-E.SX1-01:/vmfs/volumes/5c89b7c4-2d4db9c5-3602-9c8e9916e56c/Linux CentOS 8.x]					

*Figure 22-3.* (*Snapshots 3 of 14*)

# 22.2.3 Database Files

A database file is a .vmsd file is a file that serves as the primary data source for the Snapshot Manager and contains information about the virtual machine's snapshot. This file contains line entries that describe the connections between each snapshot's child disks and previous snapshots.

# 22.2.4 Memory Files

A memory file is a .vmsn file that contains the virtual machine's active state. You can go back to a virtual machine state where it is turned on by capturing the virtual machine's memory state. You can return to a virtual machine that is turned off only when using nonmemory snapshots. Compared to nonmemory snapshots, memory snapshots require more time to create. The amount of memory the virtual machine is set to use determines how long it takes the ESXi host to write memory to the disk.

# 22.3 How Snapshots Work

When you create a snapshot, VMware vSphere takes a copy of the virtual machine's disks and memory. The original disks and memory are then marked as read-only. Any changes made to the virtual machine after creating the snapshot are stored in a separate delta file.

When you revert a virtual machine to a snapshot, VMware vSphere restores the virtual machine's disks and memory to their state when the snapshot was created. This means that the virtual machine will be restored to the same state it was in when the snapshot was created.

Figure 22-4 shows a simple example of how snapshots and delta files are handled in different situations. When the first snapshot is created, the virtual machine base disk (vmdk) will now be read-only, and then the snapshot creates new .vmdk files (delta files) where all the changes are written.



Figure 22-4. (Snapshots 4 of 14)

In the example shown in Figure 22-5, we have three snapshots and a VM base disk; the delta files from Snapshots 1 and 2 are read-only, and all the writes are written to Snapshot 3.

But what happens when we delete one of the snapshots? All the snapshot files are deleted and the VM state saved is lost. The change we did in Snapshot 1 should be in Snapshot 2; consequentially, the changes in Snapshot 2 are in Snapshot 3 when we created the latest snapshot. Also, as shown in point 1, VMs only write to the latest snapshot.

What happens when you revert a VM to a snapshot? -e process of restoring a virtual machine to a previous state. When you revert to a snapshot, the virtual machine is rolled back to the point in time when the snapshot was taken. All changes that were made to the virtual machine since the snapshot was created are lost.

Reverting to a snapshot is the process of restoring a virtual machine to its state at a previous point in time. When you revert to a snapshot, the virtual machine rolls back to the moment when that snapshot was taken, and all changes made to the virtual machine after the snapshot was created are discarded. For example, suppose you were working with Snapshot 2 and created a file named 'file nr 1' in the VM's guest operating system (e.g., Windows). After this, you created Snapshot 3. All the changes, including the creation of 'file nr 1,' are now part of Snapshot 3, which represents your current state.

Understanding the mechanics of snapshots is crucial. It ensures that you don't lose critical data during the revert process and maintains the integrity of your VM's state. With this understanding, let's look at Figure 22-6, which visually demonstrates how snapshot files are organized and how reverting to a specific snapshot affects the current state of a virtual machine.

Then, while in Snapshot 3, you create more files (file nr 2 and file nr 3). Now, you have file nr 1, nr 2, and nr 3 in that VM. If you revert from Snapshot 3 to Snapshot 2, you will not see 'file nr 1' because it was created after Snapshot 2 was taken and is therefore included in the delta files of Snapshot 3. This change, specifically the addition of 'file nr 1,' was saved in the delta files associated with Snapshot 3.



Figure 22-5. (Snapshots 5 of 14)

What happens when you revert to Snapshot 3? You will only see the file nr 1. Files nr 2 and nr 3 are lost when you revert to Snapshot 2.

You can only save files nr 2 and nr 3 before reverting to Snapshot 2, by creating a Snapshot 4. Then, on Snapshot 4 you have files nr 1, nr 2, and nr 3, even if you revert to Snapshot 2.

So, that is why it is crucial to understand how snapshots work.

# 22.4 Creating and Managing Snapshots

In this section, we will cover the steps for creating and managing snapshots. Managing snapshots carefully is crucial to avoid issues like snapshot sprawl. We will detail the options available when taking a snapshot, including capturing the virtual machine's memory and quiescing the guest file system for data consistency. The process of deleting and reverting snapshots will be explained, highlighting the importance of understanding their impact on your virtual machines. The discussion will also extend to disk consolidation, which is necessary when dealing with issues such as orphaned snapshot files or failed snapshot operations. Mastery of these practices is key to ensuring an organized and recoverable virtual machine environment.



Figure 22-6. (Snapshots 6 of 14)

# 22.4.1 Create a Snapshot

Creating a snapshot is a straightforward process. However, don't let the ease of the process lead to snapshot sprawl.

To create a snapshot, right-click your VM, select **Snapshots** in the context menu, and click **Take Snapshot**. Then, as shown in Figure 22-7, you have two options for your snapshot:

• Include virtual machine's memory: This option captures the virtual machine's memory state at the time the snapshot is created. This allows you to revert the virtual machine to a specific point in time, even if it

was powered off or suspended when the snapshot was taken. This option is enabled by default.

• Quiesce guest file system: This option pauses all writes to the guest file system before the snapshot is created. This ensures that the snapshot captures a consistent view of the file system. This option is disabled by default.

The following are some of the benefits of enabling the *Quiesce guest file system* option:

- It ensures that the snapshot captures a consistent view of the file system.
- It can help to prevent data corruption.
- It can improve the performance of the snapshot operation.

And these are some of the drawbacks of enabling the *Quiesce guest file system* option:

- It can slow down the virtual machine.
- It can disrupt any ongoing operations in the virtual machine.
- It requires VMware Tools to be installed on the virtual machine.

Whether or not to enable the *Quiesce guest file system* option depends on your specific needs. If you need to ensure that the snapshot captures a consistent view of the file system, then you should enable this option. However, if you are concerned about the performance impact or the virtual machine is not actively used, you may want to disable this option and select only the default option. After you make your choice, click **Create**.

Versiou - Control removariandone Elas  Versiou - Control removariandone Elas  Versiou DORS-se o Cuaracentar  Versiou DORS-se o Cuaracentar  versiou - control - control - control  versiou - control - control - control - control  versiou - control - contr	Advins - Petgresgi M-M320-d-de Power  Grant OS  snipt/bds  Grant OS  Snipt/bds  Gonen Remote Console  Ly Mignite  Clone	Heater #  1-5-debian-11  IP  IP <
Direc CentOS Ex  Discussion  Discussion  Discussion  Discussion  Discussion	Fault Tolerance	Delete At snapshot X
	Template Competibility	Name  VM Snepshot 04/05/2021 17 54:35  Decorption
	Export System Logs. dp Edit Settings	
	Movo to folder Recarne Edit Notes Fags & Custom Attributes	Control event file pozen/results VM back @
	Add Permission Alarms	CERCEL CEFATE
	Remove from inventory Delete from Disk	
Recent Tasks Alarms	VSAN	5

#### Figure 22-7. (Snapshots 7 of 14)

Then, you should see your snapshot in the VM *Snapshots* tab. Figure 22-8 shows the example from the previous section, with three snapshots, and text below Snapshot 3 saying "You are here," referring to the active snapshot.



Figure 22-8. (Snapshots 8 of 14)

### 22.4.2 Delete a Snapshot

Deleting a snapshot is as easy as creating one. As shown in Figure 22-9, go to the VM **Snapshots** tab, select the snapshot (Snap 02 in the example), and click **Delete**. Confirm your decision by clicking **Delete** in the dialog box.

Contoos 8.x   ▷ □ ♥ ֎ ֎   : Actions  Summary Monitor Configure Permissions Datastores Networks Snap	shots Updates
TALE SNAPSHOT BEVERT EDIT DELETE ALL	
(3) Snap 02  (3) Snap 03  (7) Vou are here	Delete snapshot × This action is permanent and cannot be recovered. Are you sure you want to delete "Snap 02?
	CANCEL DELETE

Figure 22-9. (Snapshots 9 of 14)

As shown in Figure 22-10, once the snapshot is deleted, the virtual machine is left with only two remaining snapshots. Whether a virtual machine has one, two, or three snapshots, the deletion process is consistent for any number of snapshots.

경 Linux CentOS 8.x   > ㅁ 戌 @ 성   :Acrows Summary Monitor Configure Permissions Datastores Networks Snapshots Updates			
TAKE SHAPSHOT. REVERT EDIT DELETE DELETE ALL			
Qii Shap 03    ♥ You are here			

Figure 22-10. (Snapshots 10 of 14)

### 22.4.3 Revert to a Snapshot

The earlier section "How Snapshots Work" discussed how reverting to a snapshot works. Here, you will learn how to do it.

On the **Snapshots** tab, select the snapshot and click **Revert**. Before you confirm that you want to revert to the selected snapshot, make sure that you understand how the VM is handled after the reversion (see Figure 22-11):

• When reverting to the snapshot, if you select the option **Suspend this virtual machine when reverting to selected snapshot**, the VM will always revert to suspended regardless of whether the snapshot was taken with the VM powered on or powered off.

**Note** The suspended option is only when you are reverting a powered-on VM. This option is not shown if you are reverting a powered-off VM.

• If you create a snapshot with the VM powered on, it will revert with the VM power on, but if the snapshot was created with the VM power off, then the revert will also revert with the VM powered off (VM may reboot).

It is not mandatory, and regardless of how the snapshot was created and how the revert is done, it is always recommended to reboot your VM before making any changes.

As explained in the "Delete a Snapshot" section, you will lose any changes you made to the VM state. To save any changes, create another snapshot before reverting to another snapshot.



Figure 22-11. (Snapshots 11 of 14)

After you revert the VM to the snapshot, the Actual State will change for the specific snapshot.

### 22.4.4 Consolidate Disks

The option to consolidate disks is available only when there is an issue with the snapshots or the delta files.

The *Consolidate* option is used to merge snapshot delta disk files into the main virtual machine disk file when certain conditions arise. Here are the scenarios when you might need to use the *Consolidate* option for a virtual machine:

• Orphaned snapshot delta files: Sometimes, due to various reasons like backup operations or failed snapshot deletions, delta disk files (snapshots) can remain even after the Snapshot Manager shows no existing snapshots. These are often referred to as "orphaned snapshots."

- **Backup software**: Many backup solutions use VMware's snapshot technology to capture a point-intime state of a VM. If the backup software does not correctly delete the snapshot after the backup, you might need to consolidate the disks.
- **Failed snapshot operations**: If a snapshot operation (create, delete, or revert) fails, it might leave behind delta files. In such cases, you might see a warning in the vSphere Client indicating that disk consolidation is needed.
- **Performance issues**: If you notice performance degradation and find multiple snapshot files in the VM's datastore, it might be time to consider consolidation, especially if these snapshots are not actively needed.
- **Storage warnings**: If you receive warnings about the VM's datastore running out of space and you identify unnecessary snapshot files consuming space, consolidating can help free up Storage.

To check if consolidation is needed, in the vSphere Web Client, you can check the virtual machine's *Tasks and Events* tab for messages indicating that disk consolidation is needed. The *Summary* tab for a VM will also show a warning if consolidation is required.

The following are things to keep in mind when consolidating snapshots:

• The consolidation process will generate IOPS on the underlying storage array. If the process is started while the virtual machine is powered on and if the virtual machine requires intensive I/O, performance degradation may be noticed.

- If you have multiple snapshots, you can consolidate them all at once. However, it is recommended to consolidate them one at a time so that you can monitor the virtual machine's performance after each consolidation.
- Consolidation can take many hours to complete depending on the size of VM disks and the snapshot delta file size.

While consolidating, there will be some storage I/O, so performing this operation during off-peak hours or maintenance windows is a good idea to minimize any potential performance impact.

# 22.4.5 Delete All Snapshots

Suppose you need or want to merge all the snapshots into the VM disk and the *Consolidate* option is not available (as just described, it is only available in case of one of the listed errors). In that case, you can select the option **Delete All** on the *Snapshots* tab, as shown in Figure 22-12.



Figure 22-12. (Snapshots 13 of 14)

# 22.4.6 Consolidate Disks vs. Delete All Disks

The *Delete all* disks option is similar to the *Consolidate disks* option insofar as both options are available to manage virtual machine disk files, but they serve different purposes. Let's break down the differences:

- Delete all snapshots
  - **Purpose**: This option removes all snapshots of a virtual machine, and the changes stored in the snapshot delta disks are committed back to the original base disk.
  - **How it works**: When you choose this option, vSphere commits the most recent snapshot disk changes into the base disk. Once that's done, it moves to the next snapshot in the hierarchy, and so on, until all snapshot delta disks are committed and deleted.
  - **Use case**: This option is typically used when you no longer need any of the snapshots you have created. For instance, after testing a software patch, if everything works fine, you might decide to delete all snapshots to reclaim storage space and reduce complexity.
- Consolidate disks
  - **Purpose**: This option is used when orphaned snapshot delta disk files are not associated with any snapshot entry in the Snapshot Manager. This can happen due to failed snapshots or backup operations.

- **How it works**: When you choose this option, vSphere checks for any orphaned delta disks and, if found, merges the changes from those delta disks back into the base disk or parent snapshot disk.
- **Use case**: This option is used when there is a discrepancy between the Snapshot Manager and the actual snapshot files present in the datastore. For instance, if the Snapshot Manager shows no snapshots, but there are still delta disk files in the datastore, you use *Consolidate* to clean up and merge those files.

*Delete all snapshots* is a proactive action you take when you want to remove all snapshots and their associated delta disks.

*Consolidate* is more of a corrective action used to resolve inconsistencies between the Snapshot Manager and the actual snapshot files on the datastore.

The following image provides a quick guide to the differences:

Feature	Delete All Snapshots	Consolidate Disks
Removes snapshots	Yes	No
Removes delta disk files	Yes	Yes (redundant only)
Revert to snapshots	No	Yes (not deleted)
Frees up storage space	Yes	Yes (if redundant delta disk files are large)
Performance impact	May impact performance	May impact performance if started while VM is powered on

One trick when it is not possible to consolidate the disks (error or files not properly deleted) is to create a new snapshot (even if there are no snapshots in the Snapshot Manager) and after the snapshot is created, select the option **Delete all snapshots**.

This trick can fix the problem and bypass the issue with the consolidation disks.

As previously explained, all files are merged to the VM disk in both scenarios, but in a different way.

Figure 22-13 provides a schematic view of a VM with multiple snapshots and the base disk. It illustrates the consolidation process, where all delta disks associated with the snapshots merge back into the base disk of the VM. This diagram is particularly helpful in understanding the concept of snapshot consolidation and the 'Delete all Snapshots' method, which is useful for resolving certain consolidation issues.





Monitoring the progress and ensuring storage capacity in the datastore is crucial to prevent any problems. Furthermore, carrying out these tasks during periods is advisable to minimize any potential impact on performance.

While consolidating disks or deleting all snapshots, there will be some storage I/O, so performing this operation during off-peak hours or maintenance windows is an excellent idea to minimize any potential performance impact.

# 22.5 Snapshot Best Practices

First and foremost, it's essential to reiterate: *snapshots are not backups*. They are meant to capture the state of a VM at a specific point in time, providing a temporary safety net for short-term tasks like testing or troubleshooting. They are not designed for long-term data retention or recovery.

The following are some guidelines to create and manage your snapshots:

- Limit the number: Avoid having too many snapshots for a single virtual machine. It's generally recommended to keep only a few snapshots and not to rely on them as long-term backups.
- **Retain them no longer than 48 hours**: Best practices recommend that snapshots be retained for no longer than 24 to 48 hours, for the following reasons:
  - **Performance**: The longer a snapshot is kept, the larger its associated delta file grows. This growth can lead to increased I/O operations, impacting the performance of the VM and potentially the entire datastore.
  - **Storage**: Extended retention of snapshots can consume significant storage space, leading to potential issues if the datastore runs out of space.
  - **Complexity**: The more snapshots you have, especially in a chain, the more complex and time-consuming the consolidation process becomes.
  - **Reality check**: Despite these guidelines, it's not uncommon to find VMs with snapshots that have been retained for weeks or even months.

- Lack of awareness: Some administrators might not fully understand the implications of retaining snapshots for extended periods.
- Forgetfulness: In busy IT environments, administrators might create a snapshot and then forget to delete it after the intended task is completed.
- **Misuse**: Sometimes, due to misconceptions or lack of proper backup solutions, snapshots are incorrectly used as a pseudo-backup mechanism.

Snapshots are best used for short-term purposes, like testing a new patch or configuration. It's a good idea to delete snapshots once they're no longer needed, to free up Storage and maintain performance.

- Monitor storage: Snapshots can quickly consume storage space, especially if there's a lot of disk activity. Regularly monitor your Storage to ensure you don't run out of space.
- Avoid chain reactions: Try not to create long chains of snapshots. The longer the chain, the more complex the merge process becomes when you decide to delete or revert.
- **Document**: Always document the reason for creating a snapshot, its expected lifespan, and any other relevant details. This makes management easier, especially in environments with multiple VMs and administrators.
- **Regularly review**: Periodically review and manage your snapshots. Old and unnecessary snapshots can be deleted to reclaim Storage and improve performance.

Remember, snapshots are resource-intensive and can affect performance if not managed well, so it's best to use them wisely.

# 22.6 Impact on VM Performance and Storage Performance

As discussed in previous section, snapshots can significantly impact your VM and Storage performance. Snapshots, while incredibly useful, come with their own set of challenges, especially when not managed appropriately. The impact on both VM performance and Storage can be significant, and understanding these implications is crucial for any administrator.

### 22.6.1 Impact on VM Performance

When not managed correctly, snapshots can introduce several performance-related challenges for virtual machines.

When a snapshot is created, the virtual machine's disk is split into two parts: the base disk and the delta disk. The base disk contains the original state of the virtual machine's disk, and the delta disk contains the changes made to the disk since the Snapshot was created.

When the virtual machine is running, all writes to the disk are first written to the delta disk. The delta disk is then periodically merged back to the base disk. This process can slow down the virtual machine's performance, especially if many changes are being made to the disk.

The number of snapshots taken can further exacerbate the performance impact of snapshots. Each snapshot creates a new delta disk, adding up to a significant amount of disk space. This can lead to storage fragmentation, further slowing down the virtual machine's performance. Understanding the impacts of snapshots on VM performance is crucial for effective virtual infrastructure management. Here are some key factors to consider:

- **Disk I/O overhead**: With the creation of a snapshot, a new delta file is formed. All new writes to the VM's disk are redirected to this delta file, while the original disk becomes read-only. This redirection process adds extra I/O operations, potentially slowing down the VM, especially when multiple chained snapshots exist.
- **Snapshot consolidation**: When you decide to delete or consolidate snapshots, the data from the delta files needs to be merged back into the main disk. This merging process is I/O intensive, which can lead to noticeable performance degradation for the VM during the consolidation period.
- **Memory overhead**: If the VM's memory state is included in a snapshot, it can impact the VM's performance, because the snapshot will consume additional Storage equivalent to the VM's allocated RAM, which can affect the VM's operations, especially if memory resources are constrained.
- **Fragmentation**: As snapshots are created and deleted, disk fragmentation can occur. Fragmented snapshot delta files can result in slower disk access times, which in turn affects the VM's responsiveness.

# 22.6.2 Impact on Storage Performance

The implications of snapshots extend beyond just the VM's performance. Snapshots can also have a significant impact on Storage.

A new file is created on the storage device when a snapshot is created. This file can be quite large, especially if many changes have been made to the virtual machine's disk since the last snapshot was created.

The creation of new snapshot files can put a strain on the storage device, especially if there are a lot of snapshots being created. This can lead to performance degradation, such as increased latency and reduced throughput.

In addition, the need to merge delta disks back to the base disk can also put a strain on the storage device. This process can be especially timeconsuming if there are a lot of delta disks to merge.

Considering the impact of snapshots on storage utilization is essential for maintaining a healthy virtual environment. Here are some factors to keep in mind:

- Storage space consumption: Delta files grow as they accumulate changes. If snapshots are retained for long durations, these delta files can consume a large portion of storage space. This diminishes available space in the datastore and can lead to scenarios where VMs might pause or even crash if the datastore runs out of space.
- **Memory storage**: Snapshots that include the VM's memory state will use additional Storage equivalent to the VM's allocated RAM. In environments with multiple memory-intensive VMs, this can quickly consume significant Storage.

To mitigate these performance and storage issues, follow these (previously discussed) best practices:

- Limit the duration and number of snapshots.
- Monitor Storage regularly to ensure adequate free space.
- Delete old snapshots regularly.
- Schedule snapshot-related tasks during off-peak hours to minimize disruption.
- Consider using faster storage solutions, like SSDs, for datastores that frequently use snapshots.

# 22.7 Identifying and Resolving Snapshot Issues

Snapshots of machines are incredibly useful in managing VMware, as they provide flexibility in performing operations on VMs. However, it's important to be aware of issues that may arise when using them. In this section we will explore problems related to snapshots and practical solutions for resolving them. By understanding the strengths and limitations of snapshots, you can effectively utilize them while minimizing any impact on your virtual environment. This knowledge is crucial for maintaining the health and performance of your VMs, ensuring that snapshots serve as an asset rather than a hindrance in your infrastructure.

### 22.7.1 Orphaned Snapshots

As previously introduced, orphaned snapshots are snapshots that, for various reasons, exist on the datastore but don't appear in the Snapshot Manager. Navigating through the Datastore browser can help locate these elusive files. Once identified, they can be manually deleted, but always ensure you have a backup before taking such actions. In situations where the path forward isn't clear, consolidating the VM's disks can be a safer approach, as it should integrate any data from orphaned snapshots.

# 22.7.2 Datastore Space Depletion

Datastore space depletion can be due to snapshots that have grown too large or have been retained for extended periods. When the datastore's space starts running low, VM operations can be interrupted, leading to potential downtime or data loss. Regularly monitoring the size and age of snapshots and being proactive in deleting those no longer needed can help mitigate this risk. In more dire situations, moving VMs to a different datastore might be necessary to free up space.

# 22.7.3 Performance Dips

Performance dips result from long snapshot chains or extended snapshot durations. In such cases, the VM might become sluggish, particularly in tasks that involve disk operations. Deleting or consolidating these snapshots can often alleviate performance issues and improve VM responsiveness. However, it's worth noting that certain snapshot operations, especially those involving quiescing the file system or capturing the VM's memory state, can cause the VM to momentarily "stun" or freeze. While this is expected behavior, it can be minimized by scheduling these operations during times when the VM's workload is light.

# 22.7.4 Failed Snapshot Operations

Sometimes, for various reasons such as lack of space, file locks, or other processes interfering, snapshot operations like creation, deletion, or reversion might fail. When this happens, it's essential to check the VM's

logs to get a clearer picture of the underlying issue. Resolving the problem might involve freeing up space, releasing file locks, or using command-line tools to manage the snapshot.

### 22.7.5 Backup Software Clashes

Some backup solutions leverage VMware's snapshot technology to capture a point-in-time state of a VM. If not configured correctly, these tools might leave behind snapshots after the backup is completed. Regularly checking the backup software's logs and ensuring it's set up to delete snapshots post-backup can prevent this issue.

# 22.7.6 Misconfigured Alarms and Notifications

Ensuring that alarms and notifications related to snapshots are correctly configured is essential. These alarms can be invaluable in alerting administrators to potential issues, such as snapshots that have grown too large or retained for too long. Ensure correct configuration for timely alerts.

# 22.8 Summary

In this chapter you explored the intricacies and practical aspects of virtual machine snapshots, including how to manage and troubleshoot them.

We now shift our focus to a topic that greatly impacts the functioning of different VMware environments: Enhanced vMotion Compatibility (EVC) mode. Chapter 23 begins by explaining what EVC mode is and what purpose it serves in virtualized environments. This will involve examining the advantages and limitations of EVC mode, providing an understanding of how it optimizes VM migrations.

Next, we will explore the requirements for implementing EVC mode to ensure an understanding of what is needed for its effective use. We will then move on to discussing the aspects of enabling and configuring EVC mode. I'll provide you with step-by-step guidance to help you seamlessly integrate EVC into your VMware setup.

Finally, I'll cover some practices and considerations when working with EVC mode. We'll focus on maximizing its benefits while addressing any challenges. This chapter aims to equip you with the knowledge and skills to leverage EVC mode for enhanced compatibility and flexibility in your virtual machine operations.

# Enhanced vMotion Compatibility (EVC) Mode

# 23.1 What Is EVC Mode and Its Purpose?

VMware Enhanced vMotion Compatibility (EVC) mode is a feature that helps ensure that virtual machines can be moved from one host server to another without compatibility issues. It does this by creating a baseline of CPU features that all hosts in a cluster must adhere to. This way, VMs can easily move around without administrators having to worry about the underlying CPU differences between hosts.

When you enable EVC mode, the CPUs on all hosts basically "pretend" to be the same type, masking off any extra features not shared across all CPUs in the Cluster. This makes migrating of VMs (using a feature like vMotion) much smoother. However, the downside is that you might not use all the advanced CPU features if they are not part of that common baseline.

#### CHAPTER 23 ENHANCED VMOTION COMPATIBILITY (EVC) MODE

EVC usefulness during hardware upgrades is a significant additional benefit. To ensure that VMs work with all hosts when adding new hardware to an existing environment, enable EVC. This enables phased hardware upgrades because VM operations won't be interrupted even if you add newer hosts to a cluster with older hardware.

EVC also offers a defense against potential VM downtime. A VM might not start if it uses CPU features specific to one host and then moves to a host without those features. This is avoided by EVC mode, which makes sure all VMs in a cluster use only the features that it specifies.

As a bridge, EVC mode ensures flexibility and compatibility in different virtual environments. This feature is essential for high availability, load balancing, and hardware upgrades because it ensures that virtual machines can move and function consistently across all hosts, regardless of hardware differences.

Overall, EVC helps increase the flexibility and manageability of your virtual environment, mainly if your Cluster contains a mix of different server and CPU generations.

# 23.2 EVC Mode Benefits and Limitations

EVC mode in VMware vSphere is a feature that simplifies the management of environments with hosts running CPU generations. It offers advantages such, as improved compatibility and flexibility when migrating VMs. However, it's important to be aware of the limitations associated with EVC mode. In this section we'll explore both its benefits and the constraints it may introduce to your environment. Having an understanding of these aspects will help you effectively plan and implement EVC mode, allowing you to leverage its advantages while proactively addressing any challenges that may arise.

# 23.2.1 EVC Mode Benefits

The following are the primary benefits of using EVC mode:

- **Consistent VMotion across hosts**: EVC mode ensures that VMotion migrations between hosts are seamless, irrespective of the CPU generations. By standardizing the CPU features available to virtual machines, potential compatibility issues during VMotion are effectively eliminated.
- **Simplified Cluster management**: EVC mode allows for easier management of clusters that have a mix of CPU generations. All hosts in the Cluster offer a consistent set of CPU features to the VMs, making VM deployment and migration within the Cluster more straightforward.
- **Facilitated hardware upgrades**: When introducing newer server hardware into existing clusters, EVC ensures that VMs remain compatible across both old and new hosts. This feature permits phased hardware upgrades without disrupting VM operations.
- **Protection against VM downtime**: EVC minimizes the risk of a VM failing to start due to CPU feature discrepancies between hosts. Ensuring all VMs in a cluster utilize only the CPU features defined by EVC mode prevents unexpected downtimes.
- **Optimized resource utilization**: EVC provides the confidence to move VMs freely across hosts without compatibility concerns, allowing for better resource balancing based on VM demands.

#### CHAPTER 23 ENHANCED VMOTION COMPATIBILITY (EVC) MODE

• **Reduced administrative overhead**: EVC mode reduces the need for administrators to track which VMs can run on specific hosts based on CPU features, simplifying overall management.

### 23.2.2 EVC Mode Limitations

The EVC mode limitations that you should be aware of are as follows:

- **Vendor lock-in**: EVC mode works within the same CPU vendor family. This means you can't use EVC to migrate VMs between, for example, Intel and AMD hosts.
- **Baseline restrictions**: When EVC is enabled, the hosts might be restricted from using some of the newer CPU features if the EVC mode caters to older CPU generations.
- **Initial setup constraints**: EVC can't be enabled on a cluster if there are VMs already running and using CPU features not included in the desired EVC mode. In such cases, VMs might need to be powered off or migrated out of the Cluster to enable EVC.
- Not a substitute for planning: EVC provides flexibility but shouldn't replace proper hardware planning and standardization in large environments.

Overall, EVC mode is a valuable feature that can help simplify managing your vSphere environment and ensure that your VMs are always compatible with the host they are running on.
## 23.3 EVC Mode Requirements

EVC mode comes in different "levels" corresponding to various generations of Intel and AMD processors. When you set up an EVC mode, you are essentially picking your Cluster's lowest common denominator CPU. This ensures that all VMs can run on all hosts within that Cluster.

EVC mode ensures that VMotion can occur between different generations of CPUs by presenting a consistent baseline set of CPU features to the VMs. The type of EVC mode you can enable depends on the CPU vendor (Intel or AMD) and the generations of CPUs you have in your hosts.

EVC has different modes for AMD and Intel, each for a specific CPU model. Figure 23-1 shows a matrix of EVC modes for Intel and AMD and the features available in each EVC mode.

CPU	Supported CPUs	Features
		AMD EVC Modes
Opteron Generation 1	Opteron Rev. E and newer	All features of AMD Opteron Rev. E CPUs
Opteron Generation 2	Opteron Rev. F and newer	CMPXCHg168, RDTSCP
Opteron Generation 3	Opteron Greyhound series and newer	SSE4A, MisAlignSSE, POPCOUNT, ABM (LZCNT)
Opteron Generation 3 (no 3Dnow!)	Opteron Greyhound series without 3DNow!	Same as Gen 3 but without 3DNowl support
Opteron Generation 4	Opteron Bulldozer series and newer	SSSE3, SSE4.1, AES, PCLMULQDQ, XSAVE, AVX, XOP, FMA4
Opteron "Piledriver" Generation	Opteron Piledriver series and newer	FMA3, BMI1, TBM
Opteron "Steamroller" Generation	Opteron Steamroller series and newer	XSAVEOPT, FSG58ASE
Zen Generation	Zen series and newer	XSAVEOPT, RDFSBASE, RDGSBASE, WRFSBASE, WRGSBASE, FSGSBASE
Zen 2 Generation	Zen 2 series and newer	CLWB, UMIP, RDPID, XGETBV with ECK = 1, WBNOINVD, GMET
		Intel EVC Modes
Merom Generation	Intel Xeon Core 2 and newer	All features of Intel Core2 CPUs
Penryn Generation	Intel Xeon 45nm Core2 and newer	SSE4.1
Nehalem Generation	Intel Xeon Core i7 and newer	SSE4.2, POPCOUNT
Westmere Generation	Intel Xeon 32nm Core i7 and newer	AES, PCLMULQDQ
Sandy Bridge Generation	Intel Sandy Bridge series and newer	AVX, XSAVE, ULE
hy Bridge Generation	Intel Ivy Bridge series and newer	ENFSTRING, F16C, FSGSBASE, SMEP, CPUID Faulting
Haswell Generation	Intel Haswell series and newer	Advanced Vector Extensions 2, fused multiply-adds, Transactional Synchronization Extensions, new bit manipulation instructions
Broadwell Generation	Intel Broadwell series and newer	ADCX/ADOX, RDSEED, SMAP, PREFETCHW, RTM, HLE
Skylake Generation	Intel Skylake series and newer	Advanced Vector Extensions 512, Persistent Memory Support Instructions, Protection Key Rights, and more
Cascade Lake Generation	Intel Cascade Lake series and newer	VNNI, XGETBV with ECX = 1
Ice Lake Generation	Intel Ice Lake series and newer	SHA extensions, Vectorized AES, User Mode Instruction Prevention, Read Processor ID, and more

Figure 23-1. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 1 of 7)

Choosing an EVC mode is a balance between compatibility and performance. Pick a mode that is too old, and you are not using your hardware to its fullest potential. Pick one that is too new, and older hosts won't be able to join the Cluster.

Here are some additional factors to consider when choosing an EVC mode:

- The CPU features that are required by your workloads
- The CPU features that your hosts support
- The need for vMotion compatibility between your hosts
- The need to support older or newer hardware

If you have a mix of older and newer hardware, you may want to choose an EVC mode that is compatible with all your hosts. This allows you to vMotion virtual machines between all your hosts without worrying about CPU compatibility.

So, the available EVC modes allow you to align the capabilities of different hosts, making it easier to manage and migrate VMs.

Intel EVC modes are generally more restrictive than AMD EVC modes due to their capability to expose a broader array of CPU features. This difference stems from Intel CPUs typically incorporating a more extensive range of capabilities compared to AMD CPUs, which can influence the flexibility and limitations of the EVC mode applied.

The selection of an EVC mode is critical and should be based on the specific requirements of your VMware environment. If there is any uncertainty about the most appropriate EVC mode for your setup, it is highly recommended to consult with VMware support to ensure optimal configuration and performance:

- Generally, Intel EVC modes are more limited compared to AMD EVC modes because they expose more CPU features. The reason is that Intel CPUs tend to have a broader range of features than AMD CPUs.
- The choice of EVC mode depends on the needs of your environment. If you are uncertain about which EVC mode to select, it is advisable to seek guidance from the VMware support team.

## 23.4 Enabling and Configuring EVC Mode

Enabling and setting up Enhanced vMotion Compatibility mode is a task to optimize your environment, especially when working with hosts that have different CPU generations. While the process itself is straightforward, it's crucial to approach it with an understanding of the steps. This section offers guidance on enabling and configuring EVC mode. By following these instructions you can ensure that EVC mode is properly configured, allowing for VM operations and improving compatibility and flexibility within your VMware infrastructure.

Here are some considerations before enabling EVC mode:

- **Check prerequisites**: Ensure all hardware is compatible and you have the necessary virtualization software updates.
- **Cluster creation**: If you haven't done so, create a new cluster in vSphere. If a cluster already exists, you can configure EVC on it.
- **Plan downtime**: Although EVC can be enabled without downtime on some systems, it's often safest to plan a brief maintenance window.
- **Identify ESXi hosts**: All hosts in the Cluster must support the selected EVC mode.
- Maintenance mode: You cannot enable EVC mode on a cluster containing any ESXi hosts in maintenance mode.
- Virtual machines: You cannot enable EVC mode on a cluster containing any virtual machines powered on and running on a host that does not support the selected EVC mode.

Finally, if you disable EVC mode on a cluster, all hosts in the Cluster will be unmasked and will expose all of their CPU features. New virtual machines created on the Cluster will be able to access all of the CPU features available on the hosts in the Cluster.

Existing virtual machines will not be affected by disabling EVC mode. You can choose to power off and power on existing virtual machines to make them use all of the CPU features available on the cluster hosts.

To enable EVC mode, select your Cluster, go to the **Configure** tab, click the **VMware EVC** option, and then enable EVC according to your CPU, as shown in Figure 23-2.



Figure 23-2. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 2 of 7)

Always check the message(s) in the *Compatibility* section to make sure you have a compatibility mode. If you get an incompatible CPU mix or use the wrong *Graphics Mode (vSGA)* option, you will see something similar to the message shown in the Figure 23-3.

**Note** If you plan to use the **D3D 11.0 class features** option for *Graphics Mode(vSGA)*, which is a best practice, you should first select your compatibility EVC mode and, when it is all set and green (compatible), then change to the **D3D 11.0 class features** setting for *Graphics Mode (vSGA)*.

Do not start by selecting the Graphics Mode (vSGA) after you select any EVC mode.

Graphics Mode (vSGA) Applies the baseline feature set for graphics that includes features through D3D 10.1/OpenGL 3.3. This is compatible wi the features provided by ESXI 7.0 (and earlier).	ith
Compatibility	
The host's CPU hardware does not support the cluster's current Enhanced vMotion Compatibility mode. The host CPU lacks features required by that mode.	1
vembu-esxi-03.vmwarehome.lab	

#### Figure 23-3. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 3 of 7)

In Figure 23-2, the "*Graphics Mode* (vSGA)x" option refers to VMware's Virtual Shared Graphics Acceleration (vSGA). This technology enables the sharing of GPU resources among multiple virtual machines. Through vSGA, all virtual machines within the environment gain access to essential graphics features, ensuring consistent performance across hosts with varying hardware capabilities. This ensures that even virtual machines on less capable hosts can still perform graphically intensive tasks.

This feature is crucial for workloads that require graphics acceleration, such as specialized applications in design, gaming, and video editing. With vSGA, commonly referred to as "Graphics Mode," you can establish a cluster of hosts equipped with graphics hardware, allowing seamless VM migrations between them using vMotion without worrying about graphics compatibility.

Advantages of vSGA include:

• Enhanced flexibility and scalability: Creates a cluster of graphics-enabled hosts, facilitating smooth scalability and leveraging hardware advancements.

- **Improved performance**: Ensures VMs operate on hosts with the most suitable graphics hardware, enhancing performance.
- **Minimized downtime**: Allows for host maintenance with minimal VM disruptions, reducing downtime.

The *Graphics Mode* (*vSGA*) drop-down list box has two options:

 Baseline Graphics: Applies the baseline feature set for graphics that includes features through D3D 10.1/ OpenGL 3.3. This is compatible with the features provided by ESXi 7.0 (and earlier). This option usually represents the minimum set of graphics capabilities that all the GPUs in the Cluster can support. Choosing this option ensures you get a compatible feature set across all your VMs, making it easier to use vMotion. However, this baseline would generally limit you to less advanced graphical features.

The **Baseline Graphics** option is the default EVC Graphics Mode option. It is compatible with all ESXi hosts that support vSGA.

• **D3D 11.0 class features**: Applies the baseline feature set for D3D 11.0/OpenGL 4.1 Graphics support. This option exposes additional graphics features, such as Direct3D 11.0, DirectCompute 11.0, and Shader Model 5.0. This option is only available on ESXi hosts that support Direct3D 11.0. When using this option, VMs benefit from D3D 11.0 class features. Some examples:

- 3D graphics applications, such as CAD and videoediting software
- Games that require Direct3D 11.0 or higher
- Virtual machines that are used for machine learning or artificial intelligence

**Note** Your choice between these two options depends on the specific graphical needs of your applications and the hardware capabilities of your VMs.

## 23.4.1 Enabling Enhanced vMotion Compatibility

If you attempt to enable EVC on a cluster that has VMs powered on which are not already supported or enabled for EVC, you may encounter an error as illustrated in Figure 23-4. EVC cannot be enabled until these VMs are powered off or migrated out of the cluster. This section focuses on the requirements and steps necessary for enabling EVC effectively in your VMware environment.



#### Figure 23-4. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 4 of 7)

After you enable EVC, you will see it enabled at the Cluster level and in the VMs. Next are some examples of where you can see the EVC enabled and all the information about the EVC mode.

In the Figure 23-5 at Cluster level and in the VMware EVC section we notice that we are not using any special vSGA graphics, but only the default configuration that is the Baseline Graphics. If you configure EVC with a special vSGA you would see here.



Figure 23-5. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 5 of 7)

In the Figure 23-6 we see the EVC mode is enabled at the Cluster level and what type of CPU mode is using. In this case is "Nehalem" for Intel Xeon Core 7i.

	Vernbu BDRSuite Cluster   Lectrons     Semenary Montor Configure Permissions Hosts VMs Datasteres Networks Updates	
Honoperatio (2) managerona tao     Vento-esco (2) ventaretoria tao     Vento-esco (2) ventaretoria tao     Unuc CentOS 8.x     Distributiva (3.4.5.2.6.6-basian II     Windows v1A	Culter Resources Control Contr	
	Instanted Objects	5

Figure 23-6. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 6 of 7)

In the Figure 23-7 is a bit different, here we see when the EVC mode is enabled, we see it at in the VM level. So if you have EVC enabled, in all your VMs you will that they are also enabled for EVC mode and will the CPU compatibility when needs to migrate between the ESXi hosts. In case you have different CPU models in your Cluster.



Figure 23-7. (Enhanced vMotion Compatibility 7 of 7)

Remember, once EVC is enabled, all hosts in the Cluster are restricted to the CPU features of the EVC mode you selected. Make sure this is compatible with any software you plan to run on the virtual machines.

## 23.5 Best Practices and Considerations for EVC Mode

We've already covered a lot of useful tips and things to keep in mind when using the EVC mode, but this section will summarize them in terms of best practices and considerations.

When setting up EVC mode in vSphere, making informed decisions is crucial for compatibility and performance. Each choice has nuances, from selecting the appropriate baseline for AMD and Intel CPUs to understanding Graphics Mode (vSGA) implications. The following are detailed best practices and considerations to guide you.

- General EVC mode
  - **Choose the right baseline**: Opt for the highest EVC mode that your current and future CPUs can support.
  - **Test before deployment**: Use a test environment to ensure that chosen EVC modes work as expected.

- AMD and Intel specifics
  - **Feature matching**: Check what features each EVC mode exposes for AMD and Intel, which is crucial when mixing CPU brands.
  - **Future-proofing**: Choose an EVC mode compatible with your current and future CPUs.
- Graphics Mode (vSGA)
  - **Application needs:** If you have graphic-intensive apps, the *D3D 11.0 class features* option may be better than the *Baseline Graphics* option.
  - **Compatibility vs. performance**: Choose *Baseline Graphics* for excellent compatibility but potentially lower performance.
- Miscellaneous
  - **Documentation**: Keep records of your EVC configurations.
  - **Consult vendor**: Double-check any CPU requirements for your software.
- EVC mode restrictions and limitations
  - **Compatibility issues**: EVC can't make incompatible CPUs work together and doesn't address Storage or other hardware compatibility.
  - Limited features: Choosing a lower EVC mode or *Baseline Graphics* in vSGA limits CPU and graphics capabilities, potentially affecting performance and software functionality.

- No downgrading: You can upgrade to a more inclusive EVC mode without shutting down VMs, but downgrading isn't straightforward.
- **Software dependencies**: Some applications may require CPU or graphic features that your chosen EVC mode doesn't support.

Here are a few important additional reminders when planning to use EVC mode:

- Use EVC mode only if it is essential, as it can complicate your setup and impact performance.
- Always plan and test any changes to a Cluster EVC mode before applying them in an environment. Changing the EVC mode can cause disruptions.
- EVC mode is not meant to hide CPU compatibility issues. It's important to address the root causes of CPU compatibility problems by relying on EVC mode as a workaround.

## 23.6 Summary

In this chapter, we explored the particulars of EVC mode, including its benefits, limitations, and how to configure it. The chapter highlighted the role of EVC mode in bridging technological gaps. EVC provides administrators with a more flexible environment, allowing diverse hardware to coexist seamlessly within a cluster.

A remarkable advantage of EVC is its ability to enable VMotion across CPU generations. This ensures businesses can maintain operations when their infrastructure combines old and new components. By standardizing

the CPU features presented to ESXi hosts, EVC eliminates the obstacles that typically impede migrations between hosts with different CPU architectures.

Additionally, EVC mode proves beneficial for organizations aiming to be budget conscious of incurring expenses to replace older hardware. EVC offers a cost-effective alternative for compatibility reasons. It allows businesses to integrate server models into their existing clusters without requiring a hardware overhaul. This extends the lifespan of investments and ensures that organizations can scale and adapt without being weighed down by excessive costs.

As we conclude our exploration of EVC mode, it is essential to recognize the value of EVC mode beyond its merits. Still, it also is essential to consider its limitations to your environment.

Now let's shift our focus to another aspect of VMware vSphere management: Host Profiles. Chapter 24 delves into what Host Profiles are and how they simplify and standardize the configuration of ESXi hosts. We'll explore the process of creating and applying these profiles to streamline host settings management across your environment.

Furthermore, Chapter 24 covers aspects like applying Host Profiles to ESXi hosts or clusters, troubleshooting common issues, and editing profiles for specific requirements. We'll also discuss importing and exporting Host Profiles and their integration with Auto Deploy. This will showcase how versatile and efficient Host Profiles are in maintaining configurations while easing burdens. Moving from EVC mode to Host Profiles represents a progression from enhancing VM compatibility to optimizing and standardizing host configurations—both for vSphere environment management.

## **CHAPTER 24**

# Host Profiles in vSphere

This chapter explores the ins and outs of Host Profiles in vSphere and the role they play in automating and standardizing host configurations across your vCenter and Clusters. You'll learn everything from creating profiles to monitoring compliance. We will also highlight practices for optimizing resource usage while keeping an eye on any limitations. The aim of this chapter is to equip you with the know-how to manage and expand your virtualized environments using Host Profiles.

## 24.1 What Are Host Profiles?

Host Profiles are a feature in vSphere that allow for the standardization and automation of host configurations. They enable administrators to define a reference configuration for ESXi hosts and Clusters. Once a Host Profile is created, it can be applied to new and existing hosts to ensure configurations are consistent and compliant with the defined standards, simplifying management tasks and improving compliance across the infrastructure.

This proves advantageous in large-scale environments where manually configuring each host could become burdensome and prone to errors. Host Profiles incorporate networking, Storage, and security policies, guaranteeing operation across the Cluster or ESXi hosts.

Basically, Host profiles are templates that can be used to standardize and automate the configuration of ESXi hosts.

## 24.2 Benefits of Using Host Profiles

The use of Host Profiles in ESXi hosts provides advantages such as making operations more efficient and contributing to the stability of the system. These profiles act as a tool for managing and standardizing configurations across your VMware environment. By implementing Host Profiles, administrators can save time and effort on tasks while ensuring consistent settings across different hosts. In this section we will explore the benefits of utilizing Host Profiles, including simplified configuration management and improved performance and reliability of the system. Understanding these advantages will enable you to make the most of Host Profiles, enhancing your ESXi host operations and creating a stable virtual environment.

Using host profiles offers advantages such as the following:

- Automation and consistency: Host Profiles streamline the setup of ESXi hosts, ensuring that all hosts are configured consistently. This reduces the chances of error during the setup process.
- **Time savings:** Configuring each ESXi host manually can be time consuming. With Host Profiles, the time required to align hardware or virtual environments with standards is significantly reduced.
- **Efficiency:** Host profiles automate ESXi hosts' configuration process, saving time and effort— especially in environments with numerous hosts.

- **Ease of management:** With Host Profiles, changes can be done centrally and can be applied effortlessly to all hosts. This simplifies management and minimizes the potential for errors.
- **Compliance:** Host profiles help enforce compliance with policies and standards.

Host profiles add benefits in scenarios such as:

- **Deploying hosts:** Host profiles facilitate the deployment of new hosts into a cluster while maintaining consistent configurations.
- **Upgrading hosts:** Host profiles ensure controlled and consistent upgrades for all hosts by aligning them with the desired configuration.
- **Troubleshooting:** By comparing the configuration to the good configuration stored in the host profile, troubleshooting configuration issues on ESXi hosts becomes more efficient.

Host profiles are used to ensure that all hosts comply with policies and standards. To begin using host profiles, you must first create one. You can do so either by starting from scratch or by duplicating an existing host profile. After you create a host profile, it can be applied to hosts or groups of hosts.

Applying a host profile to a host will configure it to match the settings specified in the profile. If the host is already configured, any settings that differ from those in the profile will be overwritten.

Host profiles are a vCenter and ESXi host feature for enhancing efficiency, reliability, and security in vSphere environments.

These advantages make Host Profiles a valuable tool for administrators looking to optimize and standardize their vSphere environments.

## 24.3 Creating and Applying Host Profiles

You have two options for accessing the Host Profiles section from the vCenter main menu in the vSphere Client (see Figure 24-1): click **Shortcuts** and then click **Host Profiles**, or click **Policies and Profiles** and select **Host Profiles**. Both options will show you the Host Profiles section.



#### Figure 24-1. (Host Profiles 1 of 30)

You can check all the Host Profiles in your vCenter in this section. For each Host Profile, you can extract it, import it, export it, duplicate it, copy its settings, and manage its settings.

To create your first Host Profile, you first need to extract your ESXi host configuration to a Host Profile. As shown in Figure 24-2, right-click the name of your ESXi host template (the one you will use as the source for all ESXi host template configurations; for purposes of the test lab, right-click vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab), select **Host Profiles** in the context menu, click **Extract Host Profile**, give it a name, and click **OK**. For purposes of this example, name the Host Profile **VMware vSphere Essentials Profiles**.



Figure 24-2. (Host Profiles 2 of 30)

Now you have a Host Profile based on that ESXi host, as shown in Figure 24-3. Also note in the toolbar all the options to manage this and other Host Profiles.

😑 vSphere Ciert Q		
ে Protoss and Profess ব্রি খন Stange Protoss ব্রি খন Calenzation Specifications	Host Profiles Extract-normonic invest-normonic during energy network new setting now new setting to new setting to new money	PROFILE DELETE
A Har Andre Hanne Rig Campute Hanne G. Starage Party Camparents	i Bachala Nava I i Sacrani Yusi i Nacrani Yusi i Nacrani Yusi i Navan Nava Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Ka	Verte «Cede meantamile)

Figure 24-3. (Host Profiles 3 of 30)

**Note** Although you can change/update your Host Profile after you extract it, as a best practice you should extract a Host Profile only after all the settings and configuration are finished on the source ESXi host (configurations such as network, Storage, Security, and Advanced settings, if you have any).

Before we go through all the Host Profile settings and configurations, let's attach our new Host Profile to an ESXi host. We don't want to change configurations from other ESXi hosts, so we apply the Host Profile to the same ESXi host we created it from.

Again, right-click the ESXi host, select **Host Profiles**, click **Attach Host Profile**, and select your Host Profile, as shown in Figure 24-4. (At this point, we have only one Host Profile, but after you create more Host Profiles, you will see them listed here.) Click **OK**.



#### Figure 24-4. (Host Profiles 4 of 30)

When you attach a Host Profile to an ESXi host, you are linking the ESXi host to that Host Profile.

The ESXi host *Summary* tab shows the Host Profile attached to this ESXi host, as shown in Figure 24-5. Currently, the *Status* is Unknown, and we will discuss these options and information later in this section.

vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab		
Summary Monitor Configure Permissions VMs Datastores Networks Updates		
Wptervisor:         VM/ware ESX, 7.0.3, 2310628           Model:         VM/ware 7.1           Inoreasmont:         Initial (Next) (PU E5-2660 v4 @ 2.400Hz           Logical Processors:         4           Nics         7           Virtual Machines:         2           State:         Connected           Uptrere:         20 hours		
Host Compliance	^	Configuration
Status: 7 Unknown		Image Profile
Profile: 🔯 VMware vSphere Essentials Profiles		vSphere HA State
Check Compliance Details		> Fault Tolerance (Legacy)
Unichana		> Fault Tolerance
naruware		> EVC Mode

#### Figure 24-5. (Host Profiles 5 of 30)

Now, go back to the Host Profiles section and click your Host Profile to enter the settings and configurations section shown in Figure 24-6.

≡ vfahere Client Q		C Sameranda - O O+
2. Vitare righter Elizabilità Horiza Elizaben del Elizaben del	A Underset vision of sectors Profiles   server     works vision of the sectors Profiles   server     works vision of the sectors vision of the sector	
	(b) Hard annual makifi analogikarni ak rejakti aktivasi caramakan.	
	Proceed Contrologies Paliceto	

#### Figure 24-6. (Host Profiles 6 of 30)

Let's discuss all the options shown in Figure 24-6 so that you understand how they work and how to use them to manage your Host Profiles and ESXi hosts.

In the Figure 24-6 in the Summary Tab we see the summary at the right side where shows ESXi hosts that are Not Compliant, Compliant, or Unknown with this Host Profile.

This shows how many ESXi hosts need to run the remediation to apply all changes and configurations in the Host Profile.

- The panel on the left shows how many ESXi hosts and Clusters this particular Host Profile is attached to. Thus far in our example, we've attached the Host Profile only to our source ESXi host, so only one ESXi host is attached.
- 2. The Monitor tab enables you to monitor any task or information about the ESXi host connected to your Host Profile, check its compliance status, and edit it to make any customizations (e.g., add IPs to your vmkernel, etc., as shown in Figure 24-7).



Figure 24-7. (Host Profiles 7 of 30)

It is also possible to create scheduled tasks by selecting **Schedule Tasks** on the left side of the Monitor tab. You can configure vCenter to check periodically that Host Profile Compliance is set with the ESXi host configuration. 3. The Configure tab enables you to configure the full Host Profile. As with the Monitor tab, you can edit the Host Profile's settings and customize the configuration.

For example, if you want to change a Distributed Switch port group (change the vmnic name or uplink), you can change it here, as shown in Figure 24-8, and then run the *Remediate* option (discussed in the next section) to apply it to all the ESXi hosts with this Host Profile attached.

Avolettes 411	Config.Etc.motd @ Advanced option @		
Omenal System Settings Networking configuration	"The same of the option same dot notation is option's position in a hierarchy	wheel the Config Bis motel	
Coher Security and Services Storage configuration	The value of the option	The time and calls of Pas legis have been and to the system support studies. On our provide parameters energy on the 450-b) (Software effects supported, powerful system as Units can be disabled by an administrative user. See the of	en logo splitskihol, als convenients van oer tee ISSS allert ave logged and may be record committee lavar Mark loads aller pompet for servers of allerget teen trom standard eigen reportants histo. Heals see versoonaars en hylgotydamintaals te detaal. The SS preve Security documentation for more information.
	C Terrer > C Annow Section Configuration Section > C Annow Section Configuration Section > C Annow Section Configuration > C Ann		
	Webs (A)     Trings of     tess port (arkguide	e portproze name to Monagement 406-04/24min 40007	

Figure 24-8. (Host Profiles 8 of 30)

 The Hosts tab lists all ESXi hosts and Clusters attached to this Host Profile, as shown in Figure 24-9.



Figure 24-9. (Host Profiles 9 of 30)

5. Figure 24-9 shows the Host Profiles section in vSphere, listing all the ESXi hosts attached to a Host Profile, regardless of their current compliance status, be it Compliant, Not Compliant, or Unknown. This provides administrators with a clear view of the Host Profile and the attached ESXi hosts.

## 24.4 Applying a Host Profile to an ESXi Host or Cluster

Now that you understand a bit about Host Profiles and the options, we will apply a Host Profile to a new ESXi host that we will add to our Cluster.

First, remember that we can apply a Host Profile per ESXi host or Cluster. We can apply a Host Profile to an existing ESXi host or a new one we deployed in our vCenter/Cluster.

Added the new ESXi host to vCenter/Cluster and attached the Host Profile you learned in the previous section in Figure 24-4. Also, as you learned in the previous section, after we attach a Host Profile to an ESXi host, its compliance status is Unknown, as shown in Figure 24-10.

📃 všphere Clank 🔍				C &	-gyrtheist Lokal -	@ @-
<u>n</u> 8 8 9	6 embu-eski-04.vmwareho kumay worker cartgan Pe	orme lab   Lecture missione vine betacone optices				
Comparing of the construction of the comparison of the compar	Very and the second sec	e tem (* 12 zement e) menen (* 12 tem (zement menen en e			Carrow Server Server Server Server	An children Anna An An An Anna An An Anna An Anna An Anna An
(B filedoorv'n	The first transmission of the company     The first transmission or any of the company				No.	Adventur, Statester Datestat, Statester
Ф народно ( 5-5-сарон) В полоски (5	Hust Compliance		• Configuration			•
	Dadar Dada	<ul> <li>A Three classes baseling from </li> </ul>	Unage Finites Vigines 101 State	Annual of the second of t		
	mar Share		Institutionerse     Institutionerse	Unaccent Unaccent find Service Service		

#### Figure 24-10. (Host Profiles 10 of 30)

To change the compliance status (you don't need to do this initial step to apply the Host Profile, right-click the ESXi host, select **Host Profiles**, and click **Check Host Profile Compliance**. As shown in Figure 24-11, the status has changed from *Unknown* to *Not Compliant*. This makes sense because we have not yet run the *Remediate* option that will apply all the changes that this ESXi host needs to comply with the Host Profile and the source ESXi host.



Figure 24-11. (Host Profiles 11 of 30)

Before we go further, I will show some of the settings that in the source ESXi host that need will set in the new ESXi host we apply and remediate the Host Profile.

In the Figure 24-12 we see all the Virtual Switches that exists in the ESXi host that we used to create the Host Profile.

• Virtual Switches: Host Profile will create all this existing Standard Switches and port groups in the ESXi host we attached the Host Profile. It will also create all the existing vDS.

**Note** Host Profile only creates the Standard or vDS Switches is they do not exist in the ESXi host, if they already exist (with the same name and settings) Host Profile will skip this. This applies to all settings or objects that Host Profile needs to create in the destination ESXi host.

	Vembu-eski-Ol.vmwarehome.lab
--	------------------------------

Figure 24-12. (Host Profiles 12 of 30)

• **Storage and vmkernel:** It will create or add the destination ESXi any NFS or iSCSI volumes/LUNS existing in the Cluster. It will also create all the vmkernels (management, vMotion, Fault Tolerance, etc.), but it will not automatically add the IPs for those vmkernels. This needs to be one with the option, Customization.

			<	Vembu	u-vCenter.vmwar	rehome.lab	aCTIONS					
01	Ð			Summary	Monitor Configure	Permissions Data	enters Hosts & Olu	sters VM	Detastores	Networks	Linked vCenter Server Systems	Extensions
	B	do sectritar servirarenomo lab. Iemos golficare Dancenter Etitologia 1 Martingen 1 Martingen	07#	P	Version Built Last Undered Last File-Based Backup Clusters 1 Notas 4 Variaul Macrose 6	7.0.3 (9)(400 400 400 400 2427700 Jun 24, 2023, 7:49 Her Not scheduled						
	1	Veneu-ESIG-CII-ESK-Pistal-distat	fore	Custom Attri	outes						A Health Status	
	1	Verabu-NFS-01/0 (naccessible) Verabu NFS-02		Attilbute			Volue				of antire life	
	NET	el adapters	Nortuurk Laber		Selec		P Addams		TOMP See 8		• Evaluat Services	
1	.29	PK VITHO	Anaperent		12 Management vDS		192 588.5 193		Celast		Management	
1	30	a voat	B BCN DI		Sharage vDS		192,168.10.113		Detaut			
	30	25 VTH2	db iscel oz		🖾 istorage vDS		192 168 10 114		Default			
	20	ES vmk3	B LAG-Vencu SCRSuite		E Vencu LAG		192.168.10.119		Default		VEAN	
1					C Vencu LAG		192.168-0.113		Default		vMotion	
1	35	23 vrne4	20 LAG-Vericu ECRSUISE									

Figure 24-13. (Host Profiles 13 of 30)

Now the next step should be starting remediation to apply Host Profile and make all the changes to the ESXi host. But if we try to do this now before customization, we get this message shown in Figure 24-14.

Since we have Network settings per ESXi host, like IP addresses, VMkernel, etc, we need to provide this information, as we see in the Figure 24-15, before apply the changes, so that Host Profile applies all this network settings per ESXi host.

0 0 0 0	Actors - Verstauleur die erwartstohe ste	are Permissions VMs Dat	istores Networks Updates			
Control-vicenter'universitate app     Sensor 2019Suite Datacenter     Control 2019Suite Datacenter     Control 2019Suite Overter     Control 2019Suite Overter	Cebry OVP Termine Post.  Cebry OVP Termine	VMmire 850, 7,0.3, 2003626 VMmire37 Hele(\$) 3ke(rd) CPU 85-2680 v4 () 1 Pa 4 2	Remediate - vi	embu-esxi-04.vmwa	rehome lab	×
versu soc 02 vervaritione Lite	R mand Law	Connectore	A You need to set hos	Conformations before proceeding	with head remediations	×
ventor carl Of Universitien tat      Linux CarlOS Ex      Propyrod 14:12,70-5, second:      Windows VTb.	gi mon veri Viartanarca Mota Consettori	1 Gers UR Configured Alarm		Vernbu-esxi-04.vr Cluster: Ventu ItORSult Customations Required	nwarehomeJab Cluster L'Yes	
	Cartificates	sh endbled Kried Koured	0	State Connected Compliance Status: Not	Compliant at 10/02/2023, 3:00:06 PM	
	. Etorage		Linnatesty	wood hosts that secure remediate	M	
	@ Add Networking	-			CANCE. PROCEEDINGS IN THE OWNER AND INCOME.	And Distance of Concession, Name
	Host Profiles	· Da Editada Hoot Profile	/			
	Export System Logs	C Atlach Host Profile . All C	( Penart		walk rept	(upsated) \$5%
	Reconfigure for v3phere HA	Change Host Profile	ere «Sphere Essentiais Profiles		vSphere InA State	7 1/2
	C Asatan Loanse	Ry Benediate	1.3.00.06 PM		3 Peet Televence (Lesecul	Unsubpried
	Settings	S. Detech Host Profile			5 Fault Tolerance	Unweponed
	Move 15. Tags & Custors Attroutes	Check Host Profile Compliance		×	> EVCMode	eteld hanaler
	Veryour hore inventory	C Labort More Customerations				
	Add Fermision.	East Host Customoutons	Description		evilated cojects	-
a Barran Tarla Universit	J.CAN					

Figure 24-14. (Host Profiles 14 of 30)

This message appears because we have customized options to set before applying the changes (via *Remediate*). What are those customized options? The vmkernels we discussed previously have IPs, and since the Host Profile cannot apply the same IPs we have in the Host Profile ESXi host, we need to add them manually. To do so, right-click the ESXi host, select **Host Profiles**, click the option **Edit Host Customizations**, and add all the customized information, as shown in Figure 24-15. In this case, this information includes IPs and subnet masks for all the vmkernels.

8 8 9	🛃 kalana manda asar (di menandaana asa	Monitor Configure Permissions					
Ventus - Center environtaria (a)     Ventus - Center environtaria     Ventus ECIAdre Datacemer     Ventus ECIAdre Outre     ventus esci Ol invasiantarian (a)     orazio - esci Ol invasiantaria (a)	6 Nex Vital Herbins. Capoy Ovit Sensate China Desate Prot. China Herbins	Histervelof UMaaree EDD, 7.0.3, 2 Mooge UMaaree EDD, 7.0.3, 2 Mooge UMaaree EDD, 7.0.3, 2 Mongeta Procession, 4 Millor, 7 VMaar Machiner, 0	Edit Host Customization	Yes is mandatory fields for Customization	Add IPs and Subnet Mask		×
al wrote and 02 and and the	all import VMs	State Connected Lipiterae Tolaya	hand handle	No		Vote	
2 write and Of stee arthorn lat	Martenare Mate		Tan Nerva Tar Bila Food	Networking configuration - Nototeck Inda	es > dolautiluppilack > this contraction	VAHELLED OF	
TE LINE CARES IN		10	The Reference	Networking configuration i read of an in	t - Menagement d/A. Management manage	2052552550	
C Annound		Maltrature Hot Nit Contoured Alam	NO MOC ADDRess	Nativoling contraction in road ontaction	c i Matapartent upp : Managament i mateg.	Print	
The designed of the	Plant .		The Hour Pol acching	Networking configuration + Host sittaan in	c + facrope diff. thicks for + iP accessos sector.	152 168 1018	
	Certification	A first the field has been enabled	Tes Submer treat	Networking configuration - Hold simple in	L-Brouge-OE BORD -Peditori untre,	2952552650	
	Morage .	The fight has been analysis	NO MAC ADDREE	hetworking configuration + Host virtual in-	c > storage 405 : GCS 01 > Determine nov		
	At an a ball of the second	and the second second second second	The Hold address	fermining configuration is most unsure of	$\kappa$ = literage eQU, GCSE 02 $\rightarrow$ P address setU.	992 108 1019	
	g antworoug.	(4)	You Editory mails	Networking configuration + Host Virtual In	c + Storege +Q5 . GCS 02 . > IP editess sett	295 295 255 0	
	Host Profiles	<ul> <li>D) Extract Hold Profile.</li> </ul>	No Vac Address	Networking configuration is Hold Unital In-	c > Savage 405 : dCSI 02 : > Determine how .		
	Export System Lops.	The Allach Lond Postlan	Tes Full Pull attress	terminent configuration > 1008 on an an	2 - Verebul AG, LAG Vereb SDRSure, yuan	102 Mil 10 21	
		B. Charles and Street S	141 D.D.M. FOR	represented comparison in rest in case of	I - Veneu Dro. Dro-Venos Eprisoral III -	210.239.239.9	
		E cardenter more.	The New Park activity	American contractors i tost unat a	In terminal party and the second seco	42962098	
	Q Asson Loense .	Ci Formediate					
	betrep:	E, Detach Holt Profile					AC MARK
	Non In.	S. Check root Profee Compliance					DANGEL OK
	Tags & Custom Attributes	· Assist Host Customations	-		-		
	Benow han towntony	C Export rest dustorizations					
	Add Permission	C For Host Contonications			A Related Objects		
	alarmi (						

Figure 24-15. (Host Profiles 15 of 30)

Next, we can reapply the *Remediate* option. However, before we click *Remediate*, we can click **Pre-Check Remediation** to do a manual check to ensure that all customized options are filled and the Host Profile doesn't need any more information to apply the changes. See Figure 24-16.



Figure 24-16. (Host Profiles 16 of 30)

Figure 24-16 shows that our pre-check was complete without any warnings. Then, we can click **Remediate** again. It will do a Pre-Check before starting the Remediation.

The Host Profile will put the ESXi host in Maintenance mode, and the remediation starts. Then, a batch task is launched.

Profile:			B. Vittuara vCobero Essentials		
Last Chasteria			Lig visiware vopriere Essentiais	Profiles	
Last unecked:			10/02/2023, 3:52:33 PM		
Check Compliance	ietails				
		- [			

Figure 24-17. (Host Profiles 17 of 30)

Then, as shown in Figure 24-18, we have an ESXi host with a Host Profile.





To finish this discussion of attaching and applying Host Profiles to an ESXi host or Cluster, I'll quickly show you how to add to a Cluster.

The only differences from attaching a Host Profile to an ESXi host are that all ESXi hosts inside the Cluster will automatically be attached to this Host Profile, and any new ESXi host you add to the Cluster will automatically be attached to the Cluster Host Profile.

As shown in Figure 24-19, first right-click the ESXi host, select **Host Properties**, click **Attach Host Profile**, and attach the Host Profile. Click OK. Then, right-click the ESXi host, select **Host Properties**, and click **Remediate**. It will start to Pre-Check and then Remediate all the ESXi hosts.



Figure 24-19. (Host Profiles 19 of 30)

## 24.5 Troubleshooting and Editing Host Profiles

Remediation failed: Mount failed.

In this case, we have an error. I will discuss this error here because it is essential to know how to troubleshoot and fix the Host Profile issues.

The first troubleshooting step upon encountering a Status of Remediation Failed is to click the **Details** option to get more information about the problem. As shown in Figure 24-20, in this case the error message is *Operation failed, diagnostics report: Mount failed: Unable to complete Sysinfo operation. Please see the VMkernel log file for more details.: Unable to connect to NFS server.* 

	Task Name Target Batch apply host configu.	Y         Steps         Y         Details         Y         inst inst-esc-Okumar,         G Cannot apply the host config         VS	Select T	
	Hest Compliance Status Proder Latt Checket Check Compliance Devian	Stematics (1945)	^	
PIOSLETOTIRE				
Attached Profile (2), VMinee Vipte     Constant State(2), VMinee Vipte     Constant State(2), VMinee Vipte	e Example Profile Statut () Remediation Pa	eer Laar Chever 19303/3023,354.03 M		
Rest-Profile (2), Where signal     Rest-Train     Rest-Train     Rest-Train     Rest-Train Rest     Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest     Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest-Rest-	e Exercical Posters Status 🛞 Remediation (* 1. report Mount failed Unider is company Byorf	eer Laar Chever 19303/3323,354.07 M		
Host Process     The Proc	e Essenan Proteix Statur 🎯 Remestator fr	eet Last Channel 1930(1933) 354 0 km		
Host Process     Superfrag     Superfra	e Earden Hotes State i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	East Concert 1930/2023 354 0 PM	v	2 [23, P03, Cd 200701002
Production Processer     Sectors Proceser     Sectors Processer     Sectors Processer     Sectors Procese	e Examina Hostes Statu: 🛞 Remediation (* 1. negarit Mourit Balad Cinatas its companie Sport	ext         Center E 10/03/2013 354 02 M*           b persolation, Reason area for VMM-monthing Refer more extram. Unclude to borread to MMS same           x         PAIn           Texamo generalization more more in virtual Left (Left) in the EMPLocal in receiptor in the center in virtual Left (Left) in the EMPLocal in receiptor in the center in virtual Left (Left) in the EMPLocal interviewed in the center in virtual Left (Left) in the EMPLocal interviewed in the center in the interviewed interviewed interviewed in the center in the ce	v Vox	EXELACION CONTRACTORIS
Host Process     Touristance vision	e (sweden Hodes State i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Exercision Topological 3540 PM     Exercision Read on the Whitehead of the Index endance to exercise to MT serve     File     File     Texture Server S	v Voru 9 Voru 9 Voru 9 Voru 9 Voru 1 20 Voru 0 Colored W	1 [10,106,104,004,0000000
Product Processe     The Processe     Secondaria States (Samo States)     Secondaria States     Secondaria States     Secondaria States     Secondaria States     Secondaria States	e Examina Hostes Statu: 🛞 Remediation (* 1. maart Hourit Island Uniters to comparts Sport	vert         Ref           Text         Ref           Secondards         Ref           Departation         Ref           Department         Ref	<ul> <li>Ven</li> &lt;</ul>	The real consideration
Hold Process     The second Process	e Earandan Houten Statur 🛞 Kennetation Fa	Exercision Research 1930/2020, 3 54 0 PM     Exercision Resea	V Men - 93/M2/05 - 93/M2/05 - 232/22/23 - 05/05/95/89/9 - Men - 94/M2/07	Land, classification
Product Processor Reservices Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description Description	e taxettan Hostes Statu: 🛞 kennelation h	Let Character 10/03/2013 354.01 PM      Para      P	V Ver - 92/982/05 - 92/982/05	Entrant consections

Figure 24-20. (Host Profiles 20 of 30)

Not being able to connect to our NFS server means we cannot add the ESXi host to the NFS server and mount the volumes shown in Figure 24-19. We have two options here:

- Disable this option from the Host Profile and reapply it. The Host Profile will not mount any NFS volumes to this ESXi host. We needed to mount the NFS volumes manually afterward.
- Troubleshoot the problem, fixed on the source and then re-apply the remediation.

Before we proceed to the solutions, despite the failure of the remediation, it does not imply that we accomplished nothing. Figure 24-21 shows that the vmkernels were created and the ESXi host was attached to all vDS Switches.

# vembu-esxi-04.vmv	warehom	e.lab		_				_		
Summary Monitor Configu	are Permit	sions VMs Datastores M	Networks Updates							
Storage v Storage Adapters Storage Devices	ADD NET	nel adapters								
Host Cache Configuration		Device T	Network Label	τ.	Switch	Ŧ	IP Address	*	TO//P Disck	trained townes T
Protocol Endpointa	1.5	Come ES	@ Management		63 Management vOS		192 168 1 121		Default	Management
Vormers	1.9	a versa	@ 15C3 01		Storage vOS		192.104.10.10		Default	-
Networking	1 >	III vmi2	@ ISCS 02		G Storage vOS		192.168.10.199		Default	
Vehicl selfches	1 >	E vmi3	A LAG-Verniou DDPSuite		E VenbuL/G		192.168.10.121		Default	-
Physical adapters	1.2	📇 verial	A LAG-Veniou BORGuite		G VeneutAd		192 MR 0 115		Detaut	vitation
TCP/IP configuration	1.9	📇 vesió	@ Directoreup		Sill A Ventu DSwitch FT		192.168.20.127		Default	Fault Tolerance logging
Storage v Diringe Adapters Storage Adapters Storage Configuration Polocol Engineets (VD Fitters MichaedMag) v Voltat Keetineet	Virtual : > Device > Device > Device	Switches Inf Senton A Ventor DSwitch 77 Ind Senton Management 406 End Senton Storage 405 End Senton Ventor LAG								AGO NETWORKNE. RETREM

Figure 24-21. (Host Profiles 21 of 30)

It applied what it could and stopped when it encountered the error. The following sections explain both solutions to fix the problem.

## 24.5.1 Disable and Reapply

To disable the NFS storage configuration in the Host Profile, we need to edit the Host Profile, find the option, and deselect it.

Go to the Host Profiles section (using either option previously shown in Figure 24-1), right-click the Host Profile, and then click **Edit Host Profile**. In the *Edit host profile* window that opens, shown in Figure 24-22, click the **Settings** tab and click **All** to see all the configuration sections for the Host Profile. Expand **Storage configuration** to access the NFS storage configuration.



Figure 24-22. (Host Profiles 22 of 30)

Expand the **NFS storage configuration** section (because the error was about NFS volumes). As shown in Figure 24-23, there are two NFS entries because there are two NFS volumes to mount (Vembu-NFS-01 and Vembu-NFS-02).



*Figure 24-23.* (*Host Profiles 23 of 30*)

Deselect (clear) the *NFS storage configuration* check boxes and *NFS user host configuration* check box to bypass the problem, as shown in Figure 24-24. Click **Save**.

Edit host profile   VMware vSphere Essentials Profiles	×
Name and description Settings	
FAVORITES ALL	
>       Metworking configuration         >       2         >       2         >       2         >       2         >       2         >       2         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         >       5         Software       FCoE         >       5         >       5         NFS       storage         Architecture       (PSA)	
CANCEL	SAVE

Figure 24-24. (Host Profiles 24 of 30)

After we go back to the ESXi host, reapply the *Remediation*. As Figure 24-25 shows, after the remediation, we have a Host Profile status of *Compliant*.



Figure 24-25. (Host Profiles 25 of 30)

## 24.5.2 If You Use iSCSI or Fibre Channel

These issues with iSCSI and Fibre Channel IDs and UUIDs when applying a Host Profile is never equal in all ESXi hosts, and I often encounter this type of issues. So it is best to disable Pluggable Storage Architecture (PSA) and Native Multi-Pathing (NMP) in the Host Profile before remediatione.

**Note** It is possible to take some steps to fix the iSCSI/Fibre Channel issues, when applying a Host Profile, without disable PSA and NMP, but it takes an advanced understanding of Storage devices and PSA. So, it is best practice to disable PSA and NMP, doing so will not do any damage. When iSCSI LUNs are added to your environment, it re-creates all of all the IDs and UUDIS.

This is never equal in all ESXi hosts, and I often encounter issues. So it is best to disable this in the Host Profile before remediation.

**Note** It is possible to take some steps to fix this without disabling it, but it takes an advanced understanding of Storage devices and PSA. So, it is best practice to disable it; doing so will not do any damage. When iSCSI LUNs are added to your environment, it re-creates all of this.

Name and description Settings			
FAVORITES ALL			
), Filter			
Auvanceu contiguiación securiga			
> 🔽 General System Settings			
Networking configuration	\$2		
> 🔽 Other			
Security and Services			
<ul> <li>Storage configuration</li> </ul>	\$2		
> VFS storage configuration			
> v iSCSI Initiator Configuration			
> Software FCoE Configuration			
NFS user host configuration			
Pluggable Storage Architecture (P)	SA)		
Native Multi-Pathing (NMP)			
Virtual Volumes (VVQL)	-		
VSAN Contiguration			

Figure 24-26. (Host Profiles 26 of 30)

Edit your Host Profile and deselect these two options, as shown in Figure 24-26.

### 24.5.3 Troubleshoot Why the NFS Server Is Unreachable

The second option is to troubleshoot why the NFS server is unreachable.

First, access the ESXi host SSH console. Then, look at the vmkernel.log file that the Host Profile logs referred to by using the command tail -20 /var/log/vmkernel.log.

The output in Figure 24-27 confirms that NFS server 192.168.10.252 is unreachable.
#### CHAPTER 24 HOST PROFILES IN VSPHERE



#### *Figure 24-27.* (*Host Profiles 27 of 30*)

Next, we will check our vmkernels and vmnics and try to reach the NFS server. The commands to do so are esxcfg-vmknic -l and vmkping -I vmk1 192.168.10.252. The output highlighted in Figure 24-28 shows that the ESXi host cannot reach the NFS server, meaning it cannot use the Storage network.



Figure 24-28. (Host Profiles 28 of 30)

I will have to double-check the connections and notice that the vmnics from 2 to 6 are not connected. I forgot to connect the network adapters when I created the nested ESXi host. After connecting the adapters for the Storage and VMs network, the ESXi host was able to connect to the NFS server.

In this case, the issue was easy to troubleshoot, and now we can reapply the Host Profile without the need to change or deselect any configuration options. After we fix the issues, we can reapply the Host Profile.

# 24.6 Importing and Exporting Host Profiles

Using Importing and exporting host profiles, we can export host profiles from one vSphere environment and import them into another. This allows easy sharing of configurations between different Clusters or vCenter Server instances. By exporting a Host Profile, we can save a particular configuration and then import it to apply the same settings elsewhere.

We can export and import the host profiles within the same environment for backup purposes or to apply the configuration to additional hosts.

# 24.7 Host Profiles Integration with Auto Deploy

Presenting all the features and advanced options we can use in vSphere and vCenter is beyond the scope of this book. vSphere and vCenter have so many features and advanced options that covering them all would create a huge book, so my goal is to discuss the most essential features of vSphere and vCenter. Although Auto Deploy is not considered one of those essential features, I find it sufficiently useful to merit a brief discussion of the advantages of integrating Host Profiles into Auto Deploy.

vSphere Auto Deploy is a feature provided by VMware that enables the setup of ESXi hosts. It simplifies the process by installing ESXi on fresh hardware, providing the flexibility to allocate and manage hosts from a central location. This feature proves to be beneficial in large deployments, eliminating the need for tedious manual configurations.

When you activate Auto Deploy on a vSphere Cluster, the Auto Deploy server will search for all hosts with PXE capability on the network. Subsequently, the server will download both the ESXi image and host profile to each host. Once the ESXi image and host profile have been downloaded, the host is booted and configured according to the host profile. Auto Deploy enables the deployment of new ESXi hosts, the upgrade of existing ESXi hosts, and the reconfiguration of existing ESXi hosts. It can also deploy ESXi hosts in various environments, such as data centers, remote offices, and the cloud.

Auto Deploy provides advantages such as these:

- Efficiency: Auto Deploy enhances the deployment efficiency of ESXi hosts by automating their setup process. This capability is particularly valuable in large environments, where the manual configuration of numerous ESXi hosts would require a significant investment of time and resources.
- **Consistency:** Auto Deploy ensures that all ESXi hosts within a Cluster are configured consistently. This minimizes issues and enhances troubleshooting capabilities.
- **Reliability:** By guaranteeing the deployment and configuration of all ESXi hosts, Auto Deploy enhances the reliability of your vSphere environment.

Integration of host profiles with Auto Deploy enables the configuration of ESXi hosts with a set of settings during deployment. This feature enhances the efficiency and reliability of your vSphere environment. Auto Deploy provides two modes for provisioning ESXi hosts:

• **Stateless Caching mode:** Allows ESXi to run directly from memory to a stateless Auto Deploy environment. However, it also caches the image to a disk. This means that even if there is no network connection or the Auto Deploy server is unavailable, the host can still boot using the cached image.

#### CHAPTER 24 HOST PROFILES IN VSPHERE

• **Stateful Install mode:** ESXi is installed onto the Storage of the server. This makes the host independent from the Auto Deploy server after its boot. Consequently, even if there is no network connection or the Auto Deploy server becomes unavailable, the host can still function without relying on a cached image.

As we see in the Figure 24-29 to use Auto Deploy and Host Profiles, create a customized image profile to utilize host profile integration with Auto Deploy. Then, associate the customized image profile with the Auto Deploy rule you wish to employ for deploying hosts.

New Deploy Rule	Configuration					$\times$
1 Name and hosts	Specify the items to include in the rule.					
2 Configuration	Items to include	Host L	ocation		-	
3 Select image profile     4 Select host profile     5 Ready to complete		<ul> <li>Image</li> <li>Host F</li> <li>Script</li> </ul>	Profile Profile Bundle			
					CANCEL BAC	KNEXT
New Deploy Rule	Select host profile	e			2	×
New Deploy Rule 1 Name and hosts	Select host profile	e assigned to hosts.			2	×
New Deploy Rule 1 Name and hosts 2 Configuration	Select host profile Select the host profile to be Host Profile Name	e assigned to hosts.	Compliant	Not Compliant Hosts	Filter  Unknown State Hosts	X Last Edited
New Deploy Rule           1 Name and hosts           2 Configuration           3 Select image profile	Select host profile Select the host profile to be Host Profile Name	e assigned to hosts. ↑ e Essentials Pr	Compliant Hosts	Not Compliant Hosts O	Filter     Unknown State Hosts     O	Last Edited Oct 2, 2023 6
New Deploy Rule           1         Name and hosts           2         Configuration           3         Select image profile           4         Select host profile           5         Ready to complete	Select host profile Select the host profile to be Host Profile Name	e assigned to hosts. * e Essentais Pr-	Compliant Hosts O	Not Compliant Hoats O	€ Filter Ureknown State Hosts 0	X Last Edited Oct 2, 2023 6
New Deploy Rule           1         Name and hosts           2         Configuration           3         Select image profile           4         Select host profile           5         Ready to complete	Select host profile Select the host profile to be Host Profile Name	E assigned to hosts † e Essentials Pr-	Compliant Hosts O	Not Compliant Hosts O	2 * Flor Unknown Stefe Hosts 0	× Lest Edited Oct 2, 2023 6

Figure 24-29. (Host Profiles 29 of 30)

When a host is deployed using Auto Deploy, it downloads the customized image profile and applies the associated host profile. This ensures the host is configured correctly with settings before being added to the Cluster.

Now, we have an Auto Deploy rule with our Host Profile, as shown in Figure 24-30, and the new Auto Deploy ESXi hosts will be configured with the Host Profile configurations.



#### Figure 24-30. (Host Profiles 30 of 30)

Host profile integration with Auto Deploy configures Networking, Storage, Security, Firmware, and Software. We get the same advantages and options when using Host Profiles in an ESXi host or a Cluster. This reduces configuration efforts while ensuring configurations across all hosts in the Cluster.

Host profile integration with Auto Deploy enables compliance enforcement with policies and standards. This helps maintain security and adherence to established guidelines.

# 24.8 Summary

This chapter discusses Host Profiles in vSphere and how they can be used to automate and standardize the configuration of ESXi hosts. It covers the benefits of using Host Profiles, such as simplifying configuration management, improved performance, and reliability. The chapter also details how to create and apply Host Profiles, troubleshoot common issues, and integrate them with Auto Deploy for automated ESXi host deployment and configuration.

In Chapter 25, we turn our attention to two features that improve the flexibility and responsiveness of machines: VMware Hot Add and Hot Plug. We will dive into these features' capabilities and benefits, which include allowing for on-the-fly adjustments to resources like CPU and memory without disrupting VM operations.

# **CHAPTER 25**

# VMware Hot Add and Hot Plug

We will also discuss the limitations and considerations when utilizing Hot Add and Hot Plug to ensure you understand when and how to employ these features. Moreover, Chapter 25 offers guidance on enabling and configuring Hot Add/Hot Plug while addressing security concerns to guarantee an efficient implementation. This transition from Host Profiles to Hot Add and Hot Plug signifies a shift from optimizing host configurations to enhancing dynamic resource management capabilities for VMs within the VMware environment.

vSphere Hot Add and Hot Plug are functionalities in VMware vSphere that enable you to add or remove hardware resources from a virtual machine while it is running, without requiring a system reboot.

The following is a brief overview of these features:

• **vSphere Hot Add:** This functionality allows you to effortlessly increase the resources allocated to a VM, such as CPU and memory, while the VM is powered on. With Hot Add, you can dynamically adjust resource allocation without impacting running applications or services. This proves valuable when a VM requires additional resources to handle peak workload demands. For instance, if you have a VM hosting a

database server that experiences sudden user activity surge, you can utilize Hot Add to enhance performance by adding CPU cores or memory without disrupting the VM's operation.

 vSphere Hot Plug: This functionality seamlessly empowers you to add or remove hardware devices from a powered-on VM. These devices commonly include USB devices, network adapters, and storage controllers. By enabling Hot Plug, you can conveniently hot-swap these devices without causing any interruptions in the VM's functionality. For example, if you want to connect a USB drive to a machine already running or add a network interface card for load balancing, you can use Hot Plug. Likewise, if you no longer need a device, you can remove it without turning off the machine.

Both vSphere Hot Add and Hot Plug offer flexibility and convenience in managing and expanding your infrastructure. They eliminate the need for downtime when changing resources or hardware, making it easier to adapt to evolving workload demands.

# 25.1 Capabilities and Benefits of Hot Add and Hot Plug

The capabilities and benefits of the Hot Add and Hot Plug features extend to a wide range of tasks and scenarios within your VMware environment. These functionalities prove valuable in various contexts, allowing for dynamic adjustments and enhancements without interrupting virtual machine operations.

# 25.1.1 Capabilities of Hot Add and Hot Plug

The capabilities of Hot Add and Hot Plug are valuable for performing tasks such as the following:

- Increasing memory or CPU resources for a machine experiencing a heavy workload.
- Removing unnecessary devices.
- Conducting device maintenance without disrupting the machine.

Hot Add/Hot Plug support various types of devices, including

- Memory
- CPU
- Virtual disks
- USB devices
- Network adapters

# 25.1.2 Benefits of Hot Add and Hot Plug

The implementation of Hot Add/Hot Plug offers several benefits, including the following:

- Enhanced uptime: By allowing the addition or removal of resources without powering off the machine, Hot Add/Hot Plug significantly improves uptime. This aspect is particularly crucial for mission-critical applications.
- **Improved performance:** Hot Add/Hot Plug contributes to performance by enabling resource addition to meet workload demands. For instance, you can enhance memory capacity for a machine running memory applications.

• **Reducing downtime:** The features of Hot Add/Hot Plug can help minimize the amount of time spent on maintenance tasks, such as adding or removing hardware. For instance, it enables you to replace a disk in a running virtual machine with a new one without powering off the virtual machine.

# 25.2 How to Use Hot Plug with Your vCPU and vRAM

What's needed:

- Hot Add enabled on virtual machines that work with ESXi 5.0 or later and a minimum hardware version of 7
- Fault Tolerance vSphere Advanced, Enterprise, and Enterprise Plus doesn't work with Hot Add and Hot Plug

Hot Add must be enabled in the VM, but the Guest OS must support it. The table presented in Figure 25-1 outlines the Guest OS versions that support Hot Add and Hot Plug.

Guest OS Type	Guest OS Version			
Windows	Since Windows 7 and Microsoft Windows Server 2008			
	Since CentOS 6.0			
	Since Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6			
Linux	Since SUSE Linux Enterprise Server 11			
Linux	Since Ubuntu 10.04			
	Since openSUSE 11			
	FreeBSD is not supported			
Note: In some Guest OS versions, depends on the OS Edition				

Figure 25-1. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 1 of 6)

The following are other points to consider:

- Not all devices support Hot Add/Hot Plug. It's essential to refer to the device documentation and check if it is compatible.
- The machine's performance may be affected when using Hot Add/Hot Plug. It is advisable to monitor its performance after adding or removing resources.
- Not all operating systems support Hot Add/Hot Plug. Consult the operating system documentation for compatibility details.

# 25.3 Restrictions When Using Hot Add/ Hot Plug

One of the most important restrictions and setbacks when using Hot Add or Hot Plug is CPU NUMA/vNUMA. Since this book does not have a chapter about NUMA/vNUMA, let's begin with a quick summary before discussing the restrictions. We'll then look at best practices for using Hot Add and Hot Plug with vNUMA.

# 25.3.1 What Is NUMA?

vSphere NUMA scheduling is a specific implementation of NUMA scheduling designed for the VMware vSphere virtualization platform. It optimizes the allocation of CPU resources and memory access for virtual machines (VMs) running on top of physical ESXi hosts with NUMA architecture.

Here's how vSphere NUMA scheduling works:

- Home Node and Memory Locality: Each VM is assigned a "home node" on the physical ESXi host. This node represents the preferred location for the VM's virtual CPUs (vCPUs) and memory. Ideally, the VM's memory will be allocated from the local memory of the home node to minimize memory access latency.
- **Balancing Workload and Memory:** vSphere NUMA scheduling aims to strike a balance between:
  - **Memory Locality:** Keeping VM memory and vCPUs on the same NUMA node for faster access.
  - **Overall Load Balancing:** Distributing VMs across available NUMA nodes to prevent overloading any single node with processing demands.
- **vNUMA for Guest OS Awareness:** vSphere can expose a virtual NUMA (vNUMA) topology to the guest OS running within the VM. This allows the guest OS to leverage its own NUMA-aware memory management for further optimization.
- **Dynamic VM Placement and Migration:** vSphere NUMA scheduling can dynamically adjust VM placement and memory allocation. It can migrate VMs to different NUMA nodes if doing so improves overall performance or memory locality for other VMs.

Benefits of vSphere NUMA Scheduling:

• Improved performance for memory-intensive workloads in VMs.

- Reduced memory access latency.
- More efficient utilization of available memory resources across the ESXi host.

Overall, vSphere NUMA scheduling helps ensure that VMs running on NUMA-based ESXi hosts have optimal access to memory resources, leading to better performance and resource utilization.

For NUMA scheduling to function properly in ESXi, there must be a minimum of four CPU cores and two CPU cores per NUMA node.

NUMA was created for multiprocessing memory where the memory affects memory access time.

Each CPU (NUMA node) has a dedicated amount of memory, while all the nodes share the I/O bus.

It is quicker to send data via an inter-processor bus than NUMA when the processor needs to access memory that is not local (i.e., its local memory).

For instance as we can see in Figure 25-2 shows an example of access between NUMA nodes 0 and 1.



Figure 25-2. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 2 of 6)

## 25.3.2 Restrictions when using NUMA

Before implementing NUMA scheduling in your environment, it's important to consider some potential limitations:

Other type of limitations when implementing NUMA scheduling in your environment.

- **vNUMA:** Enabling CPU Hot Add for a VM automatically disables vNUMA (virtual NUMA). This means the virtual machine is unaware of which of its vCPUs are on the NUMA node. As a result, the guest operating system and applications lose the ability to optimize based on NUMA, potentially leading to decreased performance.
- Increased remote memory access: With vNUMA disabled, the VM may experience memory access. Remote memory access happens when a vCPU needs to access memory from a NUMA node, which can introduce latency and potentially impact performance. Evaluating the impact of increased remote memory access before considering enabling Hot Add/Hot Plug with CPU NUMA is essential.
- **Performance impact:** Disabling vNUMA and enabling CPU Hot Add can lead to reduced performance for the preceding reasons. It is recommended to assess the workload requirements and potential performance implications before deciding whether or not to enable Hot Add/Hot Plug with CPU NUMA.
- Loss of NUMA optimization: NUMA is designed to optimize memory access in socket systems. When vNUMA is turned off, the VM loses its ability to optimize performance using NUMA in-memory workloads.

Other limitations:

- VM Hot-Add memory maximum is 16 times the original memory size. Example: 4GB × 16 = 64GB.
- Linux VMs need to have a minimum of 4GB of memory to add 16 times Hot Add memory. If it is less (e.g., 3GB), it is only possible to Hot Add to a maximum of 32GB.
- Hot Add vRAM and vCPU work for Windows virtual machines when virtualization-based security (VBS) is enabled in the OS. To add vRAM or vCPU, you need to power off the VM.

The primary issue when utilizing a VM with VBS enabled and Hot Add/Hot Plug is that the Hot Add/ Hot Plug feature will not function for the VM. This is because VBS establishes an environment within the VM, isolating it from the rest of the system. As a result, accessing the VM's memory, which is necessary for Hot Add/Hot Plug, becomes unattainable when VBS is enabled.

Even the Hot Add/Hot Plug is available in the VM, if you change the vCPU or vMemory, the Guest OS will not be aware of those changes.

For example in Figure 25-3 we see an example when creating a VM in VMware and can enable EBS.



Figure 25-3. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 3 of 6)

## 25.3.3 Best Practices for Using Hot Add/Hot Plug with vNUMA

To mitigate any issues that may arise when utilizing Hot Add/Hot Plug in conjunction with vNUMA, it's crucial to adhere to the following recommended guidelines:

- Use Hot Add/Hot Plug only when necessary.
- Use a vNUMA configuration supported by Hot Add/ Hot Plug.
- Avoid using Hot Add/Hot Plug with CPU affinity software.
- Monitor the performance of the VMs after you make changes to their CPU resources, whether you're adding or removing them.

Before enabling Hot Add/Hot Plug, assessing workload requirements, performance implications, and limitations associated with Hot Add/ Hot Plug with CPU NUMA is crucial. Proper planning and benchmarking are recommended for performance and resource utilization in your environment.

Hot Add/Hot Plug is a powerful and helpful feature that can help improve VMs' uptime and management, performance, and reliability. However, knowing the restrictions and setbacks of using Hot Add/Hot Plug, mainly when using CPU NUMA, is crucial.

Following the preceding list of best practices can minimize the risk of problems.

# 25.4 Enabling and Configure Hot Add/ Hot Plug

To enable Hot Add for the vCPU and vMemory in your VM, click **Edit settings** on your VM to open the Edit Settings window. As shown in Figure 25-4, expand the **CPU** section and check the **Enable CPU Hot Add** check box for the *CPU Hot Plug* setting, and expand the **Memory** section and check the **Enable** check box for the *Memory Hot Plug* setting. Click **OK**.

**Note** Options are only available to enable these options when the VM it is power off. See Figure 25-4 with a power off VM and options available to enable.

CPU	2 ~			
Cores per Socket	2 → Sockets: 1			
CPU Hot Plug	Enable CPU Hot Add		-	_
Reservation	0	~	MHz	~
Limit	Unlimited	~	MHz	¥
Shares	Normal V 2000			~
Hardware virtualization	Expose hardware assisted v	rirtualizatio	on to the	guest OS
Performance Counters	Enable virtualized CPU perf	ormance c	ounters	
I/O MMU	Enabled			
Memory	4	~	GB	<u>~</u>
Reservation	0	~	MB	v
	Reserve all guest memory (	All locked)		
Limit	Unlimited	~	мв	~
Shares	Normal ~ 40960			~
Memory Hot Plug	Enable		-	_
Hard dick 1	45 GP v			

Figure 25-4. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 4 of 6)

Power on your VM and you can now add more vCPU cores and/or more vMemory to your VM and your Guest OS will recognized. Figure 25-5 shows an example of increasing a VM's CPUs from 4 to 12 and increasing its vMemory from 10GB to 18GB while the VM is power on.

					ADD NEW DEVIC
> CPU		4 ~			C
> Memory		10		~	GB ~
> Hard disk 1		75	GB 🛩		
> Hard disk 2	12 ~				
> SCSI controller 0	18		~ G	в ~	
> Network adapter 1		vDS Nested iSCSI	×		Connected
> Network adapter 2		Virtual Router LAN	N 15 ~		Connected
> Network adapter 3		Groups vDS 1 V			Connected
> CD/DVD drive 1		Client Device	~		Connected
> Video card		Specify custom se	ettings 🗸		
> Security Devices		Not Configured			
VMCI device					
> Other		Additional Hardwar	re		

Figure 25-5. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 5 of 6)

Figure 25-6 shows the live changes take effect (in Windows Server 2019) in a matter of a few seconds. As shown on the right, the VM is now using the number of vCPUs and amount of vMemory set with Hot Add/Hot Plug enabled.



Figure 25-6. (Hot Add-Hot Plug 6 of 6)

To finalize the configuration of Hot Add/Hot Plug, when you add (hot plug) or remove (hot unplug) devices such as a virtual network adapter or a hard disk, the guest operating system immediately recognizes and makes these devices available for use. This functionality allows for seamless hardware adjustments without downtime.

# 25.5 Security Considerations for Hot Add/ Hot Plug

To fully understand the intricacies of Hot Add and Hot Plug functionalities, it is important to highlight their security aspects. In this section we will delve into the security considerations related to these features. Having an understanding of these implications will empower you to utilize Hot Add and Hot Plug while ensuring the security of your virtual infrastructure.

Although using Hot Add and Hot Plug is quite convenient, it's crucial to be mindful of the security implications involved. Here are some points worth considering:

- The Hot Add/Hot Plug feature has the potential to introduce a risk of devices being added to your environment. For instance, an attacker could utilize this feature to add a network interface card (NIC) to a machine and exploit it as an entry point into your network.
- The Hot Add/Hot Plug capability also poses a threat in terms of impacting the performance of your machines. An attacker could leverage this feature to repeatedly add and remove devices from a machine, leading to crashes or instability.
- Hot Add/Hot Plug is able to bypass security controls. A malicious actor could use this functionality to attach a storage device to a machine and install malware.

To minimize these risks, it is advisable to follow these security measures when utilizing the Hot Add/Hot Plug feature:

- Grant access to Hot Add/Hot Plug only to trusted users. This can be achieved by limiting the availability of the Hot Add/Hot Plug feature in the vSphere Client.
- Keep an eye on the usage of Hot Add/Hot Plug. Utilize the vSphere Client to monitor any additions or removals of devices to or from machines through Hot Add/Hot Plug.
- Implement security controls to safeguard your machines against potential attacks. For instance, firewalls and intrusion detection systems shield your machines from network traffic.

Following these precautions will assist in mitigating risks associated with using Hot Add/Hot Plug.

In addition to the preceding precautions, you should also implement the following security best practices:

- Keep your vSphere software and ESXi hosts up to date with the latest security patches.
- Use strong passwords and multifactor authentication for all vSphere accounts.
- Implement a least-privilege model for vSphere users.
- Regularly back up your virtual machines.

Following these security precautions can help protect your environment from the risks associated with Hot Add/Hot Plug. Additional tips for using Hot Add/Hot Plug securely:

- Only add or remove devices that are supported by Hot Add/Hot Plug.
- Avoid using Hot Add/Hot Plug with sensitive data devices.
- Use Hot Add/Hot Plug only when necessary.
- Be aware of the potential impact of Hot Add/Hot Plug on the performance of your virtual machines.

# 25.6 Summary

This chapter on vSphere Hot Add & Hot Plug covered the functionalities within vSphere that allowed for dynamic hardware adjustments to virtual machines without downtime. It detailed how Hot Add enhanced VM performance by enabling the addition of resources like CPU and memory during operation, and how Hot Plug allowed for the seamless integration or removal of devices like USBs and network adapters. The chapter also discussed security considerations, ensuring these features were used safely and efficiently, and included practical guidelines on using Hot Add/Hot Plug with vNUMA to optimize performance without compromising system integrity.

In Chapter 26, we'll explore Direct Path I/O Passthrough, which, like Hot Add/Hot Plug, offers direct access to physical hardware devices for enhanced performance. Chapter 26 provides an overview of Direct Path I/O Passthrough, thoroughly examines the prerequisites, and offers recommended practices for its implementation. Additionally, we will evaluate its impact on virtual machine performance and address security considerations. Lastly, I will guide you through the step-by-step process of enabling and configuring Direct Path I/O Passthrough, covering both passthrough and SR-IOV passthrough mechanisms.

# **CHAPTER 26**

# Direct Path I/O Passth rough

Direct Path I/O Passthrough is a complex feature and would require more than one chapter to review all the configurations, options, and use cases that are possible using Direct Path I/O Passthrough through several PCI devices. Such extensive coverage is beyond the scope of this book, so we will focus on this feature's main options and configurations.

This chapter explores the features of Direct Path I/O Passthrough in VMware vSphere versions 6.7 and 7.0. Over time, the capabilities of Direct Path I/O Passthrough have changed and improved in vSphere versions. Our main focus here will be understanding the configurations and options available in these releases.

This particular feature plays a role in achieving performance and minimal latency in specific scenarios by granting virtual machines direct access to physical hardware resources.

As we progress through this chapter, we will uncover the complexities of Direct Path I/O Passthrough. You will learn how to enable it, understand its advantages, explore its applications, and carefully consider its impact on performance, security measures, and recommended practices.

# 26.1 What Is Direct Path I/O Passthrough?

Direct Path I/O Passthrough is a feature that allows virtual machines to directly communicate with I/O devices without going through the virtualization layer. This enables the VM to interact with the hardware directly, minimizing overhead caused by the hypervisor. As a result, Direct Path I/O Passthrough enhances performance and reduces latency, which is especially beneficial for handling high-speed network interfaces or other devices requiring significant I/O operations.

Figure 26-1 shows the workflow and the ESXi host bypass to provide a Direct Path I/O Passthrough network to the VM.



Figure 26-1. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 1 of 16)

## 26.1.1 Understanding Direct Path I/O Passthrough

- **Bypassing the hypervisor:** Typically, a hypervisor sits between the VM and the physical hardware, managing the interactions between the two. However, Direct Path I/O Passthrough allows a VM to bypass this layer, communicating directly with the physical I/O devices.
- **Physical I/O devices:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough allows a VM to directly interact with physical I/O devices, such as network adapters, storage controllers, or graphics cards, bypassing the hypervisor layer. This can lead to better performance and lower latency for the VM.

The following types of devices can be utilized with Direct Path I/O Passthrough:

- **PCI and PCIe devices:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough primarily operates with PCI- and PCIe-based devices. Through this feature, a VM can directly access and interact with physical PCI and PCIe devices connected to the host, enhancing the performance of I/O operations.
- Storage and network I/O devices: Direct Path I/O Passthrough is supported for certain storage and network I/O devices, enabling more efficient data transfers and potentially boosting the performance of network-intensive applications.
- **Graphics processing units:** GPUs, especially those from Nvidia, can be accessed directly by VMs using Direct Path I/O Passthrough. This is beneficial in

#### CHAPTER 26 DIRECT PATH I/O PASSTHROUGH

scenarios requiring high-performance graphics processing or compute operations. It allows VMs to leverage the full capabilities of the physical GPU, providing a significant performance boost for graphics-intensive applications.

These device interactions enabled by Direct Path I/O Passthrough are crucial in environments where high performance and low latency are paramount, such as high-performance computing (HPC) setups, real-time processing applications, or any other scenario demanding rapid and efficient I/O operations.

• **Minimal interference:** Less interference from the hypervisor means reduced CPU overhead, leading to better performance and lower latency. This is particularly beneficial in I/O-intensive operations.

### 26.1.2 Importance of Direct Path I/O Passthrough in High-Speed Environments

- **Real-time processing:** In scenarios where real-time processing is crucial, the reduced latency offered by Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be a game-changer.
- **High-performance computing:** HPC environments often demand the kind of performance boost that Direct Path I/O Passthrough can provide.
- Network-intensive applications: Applications that require high-speed networking can significantly benefit from Direct Path I/O Passthrough, as it allows for faster data transfer and reduced network latency.

## 26.1.3 Direct Path I/O Passthrough Hardware Considerations

- **Compatibility:** Not all hardware is compatible with Direct Path I/O Passthrough. It requires support from both the physical hardware and the host system firmware.
- **Dedicated resources:** When a physical I/O device is passed through to a VM using Direct Path I/O, it is dedicated to that VM and cannot be shared with other VMs or the host system.
- **Device drivers:** The VM will need the appropriate device drivers installed to be able to communicate with the physical I/O device.

In summary, Direct Path I/O Passthrough is a specialized feature tailored for scenarios where high performance and low latency are critical. By enabling a more direct communication path between VMs and physical hardware, it facilitates a level of performance closer to operating on physical hardware directly, although with inevitable trade-offs and hardware considerations to keep in mind.

# 26.2 Requirements and Recommendations for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough

Meeting technical configurations and compatibilities is crucial to ensure the secure functioning of Direct Path I/O Passthrough. These requirements play a role in enabling the functionality of this feature.

## 26.2.1 Requirements for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough

The following are the requirements for using for using Direct Path I/O Passthrough:

- Ensuring ESXi host and VM isolation: For using Direct Path I/O Passthrough, it is crucial to maintain ESXi host and VM isolation. This is achieved by adhering to the PCIe 3.0 specification, specifically section 6.6.2. After a PCI device is reset, these standards help to establish a secure barrier between the ESXi host and the virtual machine, ensuring that the VM operations do not compromise the host's security or functionality.
- **Bus-level-granularity reset methods:** When using reset methods of bus-level granularity, ensure all PCI functions on the same bus are jointly designated to a single virtual machine.
- **PCI function eligibility under PCI Host Bridge:** PCI functions under a PCI host bridge should support either function-level reset (FLR) or D3Hot reset for Direct Path I/O Passthrough eligibility.
- **Multifunction PCI devices:** If dependencies exist between PCI functions of a multifunction PCI device, ensure that all dependent PCI functions are collectively designated for Direct Path I/O Passthrough to a single VM.
- **Peer-to-peer DMA transactions:** ESXi does not support peer-to-peer DMA transactions to/from a PCI passthrough device in a VM, ensuring all DMA transactions initiated by a passthrough PCI device only access the VM memory.

- PCI functions behind legacy PCI bridges: PCI functions destined for Direct Path I/O Passthrough should be placed behind PCI Express root ports or switch downstream ports.
- **PCI root-complex integrated endpoints:** PCI passthrough for root-complex integrated endpoints is supported for regular PCI functions but not for SR-IOV virtual functions as of this writing.

# 26.2.2 Recommendations for Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough

Although not mandatory, the following recommended practices can significantly improve the performance, security, and manageability of your Direct Path I/O Passthrough setup. These suggestions aim to maximize the benefits you can derive from this feature.

- Configuration guidelines:
  - Ensure that your ESXi host, guest OS, and PCI device are compatible, and confirm this by checking the VMware Compatibility Guide.
  - Ensure that the operating system version used in the VM is compatible with the ESXi version.
  - If your VM uses Legacy BIOS mode, you should adjust the .vmx file to allow for higher Base Address Register (BAR) allocation. This adjustment ensures that the VM can manage more extensive memory mapping requirements effectively.
  - Enable 64-bit Memory-Mapped I/O (MMIO) if your VM requires more than 32GB of total BAR allocation by modifying the .vmx file accordingly.

#### CHAPTER 26 DIRECT PATH I/O PASSTHROUGH

- Hot-Add and Hot-Remove support: Consider the support for hot-add and hot-remove of PCI devices, as it could be beneficial in certain use cases like adding or removing resources without shutting down the VM.
- Network device passthrough: On both cases Passthrough, applies ensure that the ESXi host is not currently using it for a network device. It is recommended to allocate the network device to a VM to set up passthrough configuration.
- **Consideration for NVMe devices:** If you Passthrough NVMe devices, ensure that the NVMe driver is loaded in the VM and the device is appropriately recognized. Be aware of the performance implications and ensure your setup meets the requirements.
- Alternative perspectives: Be open to exploring alternative configurations or setups like Single Root IO Virtualization (SR-IOV) if it suits your use case better.

SR-IOV is a technology that allows a network adapter to present itself multiple times through the PCIe bus. SR-IOV can provide similar direct access to physical PCI resources while offering different features than Direct Path I/O Passthrough. SR-IOV is discussed further later in this chapter.

- Endorsement of function-level reset (FLR): VMware advocates for PCI Functions to support FLR for smooth operations.
- **Testing recommendations:** Conduct rigorous testing on specific platforms intended for use with Direct Path I/O Passthrough to ensure all the stipulated requirements are met, including common and corner-case scenarios.

# 26.3 Impact on a VM Performance and Security Risks

Utilizing Direct Path I/O Passthrough for PCI passthrough can significantly boost the performance of VMs by facilitating direct access to the hardware.

This is particularly beneficial in scenarios demanding high throughput and minimal latency, such as graphics rendering or real-time data processing. This direct route to the hardware bypasses the usual hypervisor layer, reducing the overhead of device emulation or virtualization.

Consequently, this might free up computational and memory resources for other VMs and applications. Besides, dedicating specific hardware resources to a VM can lead to more predictable performance, a critical feature for certain types of workloads.

- **Performance enhancement:** Direct hardware access can significantly improve VM performance, especially in high-throughput and low-latency scenarios.
- **Reduced overhead:** Bypassing the hypervisor reduces CPU and memory overhead, potentially freeing resources for other VMs.
- **Predictable performance:** Dedicating hardware to a VM provides more predictable performance, which is crucial for specific applications.
- **Positive:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough boosts a VM's performance by granting direct access to hardware resources. This is particularly advantageous for workloads requiring efficient communication with devices like GPUs and NICs.

#### CHAPTER 26 DIRECT PATH I/O PASSTHROUGH

 Negative: However, it is essential to note that configuring hardware resources or using Direct Path I/O Passthrough with workloads can reduce VM performance. Sometimes, using Direct Path I/O Passthrough may lead to decreased VM performance.

#### Security Risks:

Employing Direct Path I/O Passthrough can potentially expand the attack surface of the VMs. Direct access to physical hardware might expose the VM to vulnerabilities inherent in the hardware or its firmware. The usual hypervisor-mediated protection layer is bypassed in this setup, which might lead to a loss of some security protections.

Besides, the complexity of configuring and managing PCI passthrough necessitates a higher level of administrative control and understanding, which, if not handled meticulously, could lead to misconfigurations and thereby pose security risks.

To effectively address the security implications of using Direct Path I/O Passthrough in virtualized environments, it's crucial to consider several key aspects:

- **Device Driver Security:** The security posture of VMs is significantly influenced by the security of the device drivers used within the VMs.
- Potential Risks Associated with Direct Hardware Access: Granting VMs access to hardware resources through Direct Path I/O Passthrough can pose a security threat. If a VM is compromised, it could allow an attacker to exploit this access and gain control over the hardware.

- Limited Control by the Hypervisor: Utilizing Direct Path I/O Passthrough restricts the hypervisor's control over the allocated hardware resources, making it more challenging to monitor and safeguard the VM against potential attacks.
- **Compatibility challenges:** Not all devices are compatible with Direct Path I/O Passthrough functionality. Using incompatible devices can lead to stability issues and security vulnerabilities.

This overview underscores the need for careful implementation and monitoring when deploying Direct Path I/O Passthrough to ensure both performance and security are maintained.

One potential positive security aspect of Direct Path I/O Passthrough is that users being able to directly access hardware resources when they utilize Direct Path I/O Passthrough allows them to implement and enforce security controls based on the hardware, potentially improving the system's security.

**Negative:** However, it is important to note that irect Path I/O Passthrough allows users direct access to hardware resources, offering the potential to implement and enforce specific hardware-based security controls, which can enhance the system's security. However, it's crucial to recognize that this feature bypasses the traditional security layers provided by the hypervisor. If not carefully managed, this could expose the system to vulnerabilities or malicious activities, posing significant risks to the environment's overall security.

The following are extra suggestions to ensure that the usage of Direct Path I/O Passthrough is secure:

- Only assign devices to VMs that you trust.
- Implement security measures like firewalls and intrusion detection systems to monitor and protect your environment.

521

#### CHAPTER 26 DIRECT PATH I/O PASSTHROUGH

- Keep your hypervisor and guest operating systems updated with the latest security patches.
- Regularly back up your data and have a plan in place for recovering from disasters.

To clarify the closing remarks of this chapter, it's essential to note that using GPUs in virtual machines through technologies like vGPUs (virtual GPUs) is not equivalent to employing GPUs through methods like Direct Path I/O Passthrough. Each approach has distinct implications for performance, compatibility, and security within virtualized environments.

Passthrough GPUs (DirectPath I/O) and vGPUs fundamentally differ in managing and allocating GPU resources to virtual machines.

When using Passthrough GPUs (DirectPath I/O), a single VM can access a GPU directly, bypassing the ESXi hypervisor. However, it doesn't allow for sharing the GPU between VMs. Each VM requiring GPU resources would need its own GPU in this configuration.

By contrast, vGPU technology enables VMs to share a single GPU by dividing its resources among them. The ESXi hypervisor manages these resources to ensure each VM receives its share of the GPU. This approach is more flexible and efficient when not every VM requires the utilization of the GPU's power.

The table in Figure 26-2 summarizes the key differences between vGPUs and passthrough GPUs.

Feature	vGPUs	Passthrough GPUs
Virtualization technology	Yes	No
GPU sharing	Yes	No
Performance	Lower	Higher
Use cases	General-purpose workloads	High-performance workloads

Figure 26-2. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 2 of 16)

To summarize, Passthrough GPUs (DirectPath I/O) do not allow sharing of GPU among VMs, whereas vGPU technology enables this core feature of sharing the GPU among multiple VMs.

Which technology is suitable for your environment and workload? The optimal choice of technology depends on your requirements. If you need to run GPU-accelerated workloads on an ESXi host, vGPUs can be a suitable option. On the other hand, if you require the performance for a single GPU, an accelerated workload using a passthrough GPU is recommended.

These are scenarios where vGPUs might be beneficial:

- When running desktop VMs that utilize graphics acceleration
- When running graphics rendering sessions
- When running VMs that rely on GPUs for tasks like machine learning or 3D rendering

And these are scenarios where passthrough GPUs could be advantageous:

- When running a VM that utilizes a GPU for machine learning or 3D rendering
- When running a VM that requires GPU power for HPC
- When running a VM that utilizes a GPU for video editing or other multimedia processing

# 26.4 Benefits, Use Cases, and Limitations of Direct Path I/O Passthrough

This section provides a brief overview of the benefits, use cases, and limitations of Direct Path I/O Passthrough.
# 26.4.1 Benefits

Using Direct Path I/O Passthrough offers the following benefits, among others:

- **Performance enhancement:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough enables direct access to physical PCI devices from within the VM, potentially improving performance, especially for high-throughput and lowlatency workloads.
- **Device feature utilization:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough allows for utilizing specialized hardware features of the PCI device, which might not be available through virtualized drivers.
- **Resource dedication:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough allows dedicating specific PCI resources to particular VMs, ensuring predictable performance and isolation from other VMs.

# 26.4.2 Use Cases

To explore the diverse applications of Direct Path I/O Passthrough, let's consider its key use cases that enhance performance across different scenarios:

- **Graphics acceleration:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough is helpful for VMs requiring graphics acceleration, where a GPU can be passed directly to the VM.
- **High-performance computing:** In HPC environments, where maximum compute performance is crucial, Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used to pass through high-performance networking or storage devices.

- **Low-latency applications:** Direct access to the hardware for applications sensitive to latency can provide the necessary performance improvements.
- **Real-time processing:** In scenarios requiring real-time processing, bypassing the virtualization layer for device access can be beneficial.

The following are examples of how and where Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used in different industries:

- **Financial services:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used to accelerate financial trading applications.
- Media and entertainment: Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used to accelerate video editing and rendering applications.
- **Healthcare:** Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used to accelerate medical imaging and drug discovery applications.
- Scientific research: Direct Path I/O Passthrough can be used to accelerate scientific computing and machine learning applications.

### 26.4.3 Limitations

VMDirectPath is the same as Direct Path I/O Passthrough. This feature in VMware environments enables virtual machines to access physical hardware directly, bypassing the hypervisor to enhance performance.

- **Some vSphere features:** Enabling Direct Path I/O Passthrough results in the loss of some core vSphere features such as the following:
  - VMotion
  - Cross ESXi HA

525

- Storage VMotion
- Fault Tolerance
- Device hot add
- Suspend and resume
- **Device compatibility:** Not all PCI devices or systems may support Direct Path I/O Passthrough, and compatibility should be verified.
- **Resource management:** Resources dedicated via Direct Path I/O Passthrough are not managed by the ESXi host, which may lead to suboptimal utilization.
- **Error handling:** Error handling might be less robust compared to using virtualized device drivers.
- **Complex configuration:** Configuration can be more complex and require more administrative effort to set up and maintain than standard virtualized setups.

# 26.5 Enabling and Configuring Direct Path I/O Passthrough

To enable and configure Direct Path I/O Passthrough, we must configure it per ESXi host.

As shown in Figure 26-3, select your ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, expand the **Hardware** section, select **PCI Devices**, and click **All PCI Devices**. You will see then all the PCI devices in your ESXi host, and those listed as *Not Configurable* are not supported to use Direct Path I/O Passthrough. If you selected it, you should see a message stating *This device cannot be made available for VMs to use*.

The PCI devices that can be configured are those that are listed in a *Disabled* state. But be aware that some of those belonging to the ESXi host configuration (like storage and network adapters) are being used by the ESXi host. If you change them, you may lose your ESXi host configuration (you should get a warning when selecting those types of PCI devices).

So, if you plan to use Direct Path I/O Passthrough, make sure you use a suitable PCI device. The configuration of the device depends on the brand of your network card. Covering all the brands here is impossible, so I will demonstrate using a 10GB Mellanox network card on my system that is not being used by the ESXi host and shared into one VM directly. Check your network card documentation for the steps to enable it for Direct Path I/O Passthrough.

As step 4 in Figure 26-3 indicates, click the filter icon in the Vendor Name column head and search for the brand of your network adapter. I used the filter Mellanox, the result of which identified the PCI device I need (note the status is *Disabled*).



Figure 26-3. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 3 of 16)

Figure 26-4 points out two different options that you can enable for your PCI device: Toggle Passthrough and Configure SR-IOV.

Summary Monitor Configur	re Permissions VMs	Datastores Networks	Updates				
Fightem v Lowring South Autor South Autor South Autor Autorial System Strays System Strays Strays System Strays Strays System Strays Strays System Strays Strays System Strays Strays System Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Strays Str	PCI Devices Pastmetode dealute devi	CONTROLET AND STANDS	ICTURATE LABEL Strow Could bot	<ul> <li>Refuse (dot</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Vender Nach</li> <li>Metanici, Taufnuligies</li> </ul>	ලි විභාග වනත මැදිවර්ධුව විභාගල (Connection, 3 Proj	 TETRISE
Packages	G 1 0						1 dam
Hardware v Oventex Oraștică RO Deviceă	0000:04:00.0 This device is not currently avail	laces for VMs to use					
Primare Virbal Plash V Virbal Plash Desinare Manag, Virbal Plash Host Swap-Cache Alarm Certinitons Scheduled Tasks	✓ General Information Device ID Statisticnice ID Class ID Vendor Name	1007 2014 200 Metanox Technologies		✓ Bus Location Name 80 Bus Stoll	HT27500 Family (Connect) - cccccca a co.c 4 0	Pro1	

### Figure 26-4. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 4 of 16)

Passthrough and SR-IOV are two methods for configuring PCI devices in vSphere:

- **Passthrough:** Enables a VM to directly utilize a PCI device, granting it access to its capabilities without sharing with other VMs. Typically, Passthrough is preferred for demanding tasks like machine learning and 3D rendering.
- **SR-IOV:** Single Root I/O Virtualization is a technology that facilitates the sharing of a physical PCI device among multiple VMs. Each VM receives its virtual PCI device, which directly connects to the physical PCI device. This allows multiple workloads to be executed on an ESXi host.

The primary distinction between Passthrough and SR-IOV lies in the fact that Passthrough grants access to a PCI device for a virtual machine while SR-IOV permits multiple virtual machines to share one PCI device.

The adapter case that I am showing from my lab in Figure 26-3 and 23-4 the network adapter can be shared physically with several VMs.

Figure 26-5 provides a summary table outlining the variances between Passthrough and SR-IOV. While Passthrough traditionally offered the highest performance by allowing a VM to directly communicate with a device, SR-IOV technology has advanced significantly. Nowadays, SR-IOV can offer performance that is on par with Passthrough, while also providing the added benefit of device sharing among multiple VMs. This makes SR-IOV highly suitable for environments where device sharing is a requirement without a significant sacrifice in performance.

Feature	Passthrough	SR-IOV
Device sharing	No	Yes
Performance	Higher	Higher
Use cases	High-performance workloads	General-purpose workloads

Figure 26-5. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 5 of 16)

I will demonstrate how to configure both options to explain how to work with both.

# 26.6 Enabling Direct Path I/O Passthrough

Select your PCI device and click the option **Toggle Passthrough** to enable Passthrough for the PCI device, as shown in Figure 26-6.



Figure 26-6. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 6 of 16)

After enabling Passthrough, you must reboot the server and use the network card in one of your VMs. But before you reboot, I recommend creating a hardware label for your device to identify it better. As shown in Figure 26-7, I added the label "Network Card 20GB" for my Mellanox device.

**Note** This step is not mandatory.

		REPRESE
Australia Australia and a second and a	Car PC Device Hordware NUMBER X	8 Bene have MT27DD1 nek (Converts 3 Reg Lance have MT27DD1 nek (Converts 3 Reg
0000-640-0.5 This denote is available for VM-Is to use ↓ denote its available for VM-Is to USE Bubbletons D 2017 Bubbletons D 2017 Case 0 200 Vendet Name Medianos Technologies	In the second se	

Figure 26-7. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 7 of 16)

			ADD NEW DEVICE			
> CPU	<u>4</u> ~		Disks, Drives and Storag			
> Memory	12	✓ GB	Hard Disk			
> Hard disk 1	75 GB 🗸		Existing Hard Disk			
Hard disk 2	150 GB 🗸		Host USB Device			
SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS		CD/DVD Drive			
Network adapter 1	vDS Nested iSCSI ∨	vDS Nested ISCSI ~				
Network adapter 2	Virtual Router LAN 15 $ \checkmark$	SATA Controller SCSI Controller				
Network adapter 3	Groups vDS 1 V					
CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device ~		Other Devices			
> Video card	Specify custom settings ~		PCI Device			
Security Devices	Not Configured		Watchdog Timer			
VMCI device			Serial Port			
> Other	Additional Hardware		Network Network Adapter			

Figure 26-8. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 8 of 16)

After you reboot the ESXi host, we select the VM that we want to use the PCI device and check the settings.

The network adapter then appears in the Edit Settings window as a new PCI device. As shown in Figure 26-9, after adding a PCI device, three types of Passthrough are available:

- **DirectPath I/O:** Enables direct access to a physical network adapter from a VM, bypassing the hypervisor for lower latency and higher performance.
- **Dynamic DirectPath I/O:** Allows more flexibility by dynamically turning DirectPath I/O on or off without rebooting the host.
- **NVIDIA GRID vGPU:** This option is irrelevant for network adapters because it is designed to share GPU resources among multiple VMs, not network resources.

For purposes of this example, I chose **DirectPath I/O**.

Hard disk 1	60 GB ¥	
SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS	
Network adapter 2	Groups vDS 1 ~	Connect
Network adapter 3	vDS Nested iSCSI ~	Connect
CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device ~	Connect_
New PCI device	0000:04:00.0   MT27520 Family [Cor Technologies	nnectX-3 Pro] Mellanox
	DirectPath IO O Dynamic Direct	Path IO 🔿 NVIDIA GRID vGPU
PCI Device	0000:04:00.0   MT27520 Family [Co	onnectX-3 Pro] Mellanox Tech 🗸
	Note: Some virtual machine oper. PCI/PCIe passthrough devices are privirtual machine operation limitations devices.	ations are unavailable when esent. Consult user guide for with PCI/PCIe passthrough
Video card	Specify custom settings $ \checkmark $	
Security Devices	Not Configured	
VMCI device		
Other	Additional Hardware	

### Figure 26-9. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 9 of 16)

After configuring a PCI device in your VM, power it on, and the next step is to add the new network adapter to your Guest OS and configure it.

Figure 26-10 shows my new network adapter with two 10GB ports that were automatically added to my Windows Server without needing extra configurations.



Figure 26-10. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 10 of 16)

# 26.7 Enabling and Configuring SR-IOV Passthrough

Using and enabling SR-IOV is a bit more complex and requires several steps and configurations for some network card brands before enabling SR-IOV. Again, the configurations depend on the brand of your network card, and since covering all the brands here is impossible, I will only discuss how to enable SR-IOV and add it to your VM as a network card. Check your network card documentation for the steps to enable your SR-IOV network card before you enable it.

I will demonstrate how to enable SR-IOV for the same Mellanox network adapter from the previous section and use five virtual functions (VFs) in SR-IOV.

Virtual functions in SR-IOV are lightweight PCI functions created by a physical PCI function (PF). Each VF has its own PCI configuration space and can be assigned to a virtual machine. This allows multiple virtual machines to share a single physical PCI device without having to share the full capabilities of the device.

Figure **26-11** shows the workflow and the ESXi host bypass to provide SR-IOV Passthrough VFs shared to three different VMs.



Figure 26-11. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 11 of 16)

VFs are typically used for network interface cards (NICs) but can also be used for other types of PCI devices, such as graphics cards and storage controllers.

Here are some of the benefits of using VFs in SR-IOV:

• **Improved performance:** VFs can improve performance for network-intensive workloads, such as virtual firewalls and load balancers, because VFs have direct access to the physical PCI device without going through the ESXi host.

- **Increased efficiency:** VFs can help to improve resource utilization by allowing multiple virtual machines to share a single physical PCI device. This can help you to run more virtual machines on a single ESXi host.
- **Reduced complexity:** VFs can help to reduce the complexity of your virtualized environment by simplifying the configuration and management of PCI devices.

Here are some examples of when you might want to use VFs in SR-IOV:

• You must run multiple virtual firewalls or load balancers on a single ESXi host.

**Note** Consult the appliance provider documentation to ensure the appliance supports SR-IOV.

- You must run multiple virtual machines to access the network at high speeds.
- You must conserve resources and run as many virtual machines as possible on a single ESXi host.

This means that if you enable SR-IOV with five VFs, as shown in Figure 26-12 for my network adapter, you can use/share the network adapter with five VMs.



Figure 26-12. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 12 of 16)

**Note** You need to disable Direct Path I/O Passthrough to be able to enable and configure SR-IOV.

Again, you need to reboot the ESXi host so that changes are done. After the reboot, my network adapter has SR-IOV enabled and five VFs available, as shown in Figure 26-13.

Physical adapters									
Chickenson Differen 0 Eds.									
Device v Actual Speed		Coinfigured Speed Y	\$e80 7	MAC Address	 Observed #PRanges 1	Wate on LNN Supported		SR KOV Status	 5810/154
an number	16855	Auto negotiate	VOS Nonagement	94/0820812-64	Two metwooks	Wei .		Not supported	
25 VINKCI	16055	Auto registrate	B v06 Management	94.18.82.08.87.45	19236813921923681254	Vec .		Not supported	
E venica	16555	Auto negatinie	(ii) v05-Storage Nexted	91.11.02.08.07.05	N216810248-N216810254	Wes.		Not supported	
E VINICI	10055	Auto registere	A v06-barrage Nescod	94 10 82 08 87 47	W235610.248-W235610.2541	WHI .		Not suggested	
E vranot	Down	10005		+0.07.%b.74.#6.ft	his report office	No		Enabled	5 (0 carrent); evallable)
20 vresc5	1 don's	Auto response	🖂 vOS Storage - Vinue Houter	00/#29/604e05	9236810.248-9236810.254 ( -	104		Not supported	-
a vrance	16055	Aut regitine	G3 v05 Storage - Vissel Router	00/1729/60.4e/04	10215010240-02150102541	ND		Not supported	
m vmmc7	16055	Auto response		00/f29.60.6e.07	1921021921921021254	No		Not supported	-
25 vitwood	10055	2.00 registere	E MessaCS	00/17/29/60/4+/06	99295619029929581254	N5	-	Not becomed	
- vm#c1000402 -	Down	Auto registrate	-	0.00730348810	No networks	NO	1	(notice)	5(0 currently evaluated)

Figure 26-13. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 13 of 16)

You can also enable SR-IOV directly on the network adapter. As shown in Figure 26-14, select the ESXi host, click the **Configure** tab, select **Physical adapters**, select the network adapter for which you want to enable SR-IOV, and click **Edit**. Then, change the *Status* to **Enabled** and add the number of VFs. Now, the network adapter has SR-IOV Passthrough enabled, like in the previous step.



Figure 26-14. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 14 of 16)

Now, go to the VM and add the network adapter to use the SR-IOV.

				ADD	NEW DEVICE *	
> CPU	4 ~				1	Disks, Drives and Ste Hard Disk
> Memory	12		~	GB 🗸		Existing Hard Di
> Hard disk 1	75	GB ¥				RDM Disk
> Hard disk 2	150	GB ¥				Host USB Devic
> SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS					CD/DVD Drive Controllers
> Network adapter 1	vDS Nested iSCSI v				Connected	NVMe Controlle
> Network adapter 2	Virtual Router LAN	15 ~		<b>v</b>	Connected	SATA Controller SCSI Controller
> Network adapter 3	Groups vDS 1 🗸			<b>~</b>	Connected	USB Controller
> CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device	~				Other Devices PCI Device
> Video card	Specify custom sett	ings 🗸				Watchdog Time
> Security Devices	Not Configured					Precision Clock
VMCI device						Serial Port Network
) Other	Additional Hardware					Network Adapte

Figure 26-15. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 15 of 16)

After adding the network adapter to your VM, expand **New Network** in the Edit Settings window and select **SR-IOV passthrough** from the *Adapter Type* drop-down list, as shown in Figure 26-16. Click **OK** and then power on the VM.

Hard disk 1	75 GB ¥	
Hard disk 2	150 <u>GB ×</u>	
SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS	
Network adapter 1	vDS Nested iSCSI ~	Connect
Network adapter 2	Virtual Router LAN 15 🗸	Connect
Network adapter 3	Groups vDS 1 🗸	Connect
✓ New Network * ①	vDS Nested iSCSI 🗡	
Status	Connect At Power On	
Adapter Type	SR-IOV passthrough ~	
Physical Function	E1000E ailable	
MAC Address	SR-IOV passthrough VMXNET 3	Automatic ~
Allow Guest MTU Change	Disallow ~	
> CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device ~	Connect
> Video card	Specify custom settings $ \sim $	
Security Devices	Not Configured	
Inter desides		

Figure 26-16. (Direct Path I/O Passthrough 16 of 16)

# 26.8 Summary

In this chapter we examined the intricacies of Direct Path I/O Passthrough, encompassing its definition, prerequisites, and the potential implications it may have on the performance and security of machines. We have also delved into its advantages, practical applications, and limitations to equip you with the knowledge to effectively enable and configure this feature in your environment. In Chapter 27 we turn our attention to another aspect of integrating hardware in environments: USB devices. Chapter 27 transitions from enhancing direct hardware access to exploring how USB devices can be integrated with your ESXi host. I will guide you through the process of enabling USB devices, ensuring that you can fully leverage the connectivity of your environment and expand its capabilities.

## **CHAPTER 27**

# Add a USB Device to vSphere

In this chapter, we will explore the procedure of incorporating a USB device into a vSphere environment. This chapter covers the preparations, including an explanation of the concept of USB passthrough, and provides a step-by-step guide to configuring and handling USB devices in vSphere. By the end of this chapter, you will understand how to enhance your VM's capabilities by enabling USB connectivity, which guarantees a versatile and practical setup for different scenarios.

Adding a USB device to a vSphere and making it available to a VM is a similar the task of configuring DirectPath I/O passthrough discussed in Chapter 26.

Figure 27-1 shows the workflow and the ESXi host bypass to provide USB Device Passthrough, using an external USB disk to provide access directly to the VM virtual disk.

### CHAPTER 27 ADD A USB DEVICE TO VSPHERE



Figure 27-1. (Add a USB device to vSphere 1 of 4)

# 27.1 Enable USB Devices in the ESXi Host

First, you need to connect your USB device to a USB entry in your ESXi host and then reboot the ESXi host. Then, add a host USB device to the VM that you want to use this USB device. After you have a USB device, vSphere recognizes the USB device and shows it (in this example, I used an 4TB external disk).

The following types of USB devices are typically not supported for passthrough from an ESXi host to a virtual machine:

- USB devices with a bootable HID interface, such as mice and keyboards
- Real-time video cameras and audio devices that use isochronous data transfers
- Devices on which an ESXi host is installed
- USB CCID (chip/smart card interface) devices
- USB hubs

			ADD NEW DEVICE
> CPU	4 ~		Disks, Drives and Stora
> Memory	12	∽ GB	Hard Disk
> Hard disk 1	75 GB ¥		Existing Hard Disk
> Hard disk 2	150 GB ¥		Host USB Device
> SCSI controller 0	LSI Logic SAS		CD/DVD Drive
> Network adapter 1	vDS Nested iSCSI 🗸		Controllers NVMe Controller
> Network adapter 2	Virtual Router LAN 15 $$ $$ $$		SATA Controller
> Network adapter 3	Groups vDS 1 ~		SCSI Controller
> CD/DVD drive 1	Client Device ~		Other Devices
> Video card	Specify custom settings 🛩		PCI Device Watchdog Timer
> Security Devices	Not Configured		Precision Clock
VMCI device			Serial Port
> Other	Additional Hardware		Network

Figure 27-2. (Add a USB device to vSphere 2 of 4)

### CHAPTER 27 ADD A USB DEVICE TO VSPHERE

✓ New Host USB device	Seagate RSS Expansion 🛩				
Select host device	Connection to this USB device is available				
vMotion support	Support vMotion while device is connected				
> Video card	Specify custom settings 🗸				
> Security Devices	Not Configured				
VMCI device					
> Other	Additional Hardware				

Figure 27-3. (Add a USB device to vSphere 3 of 4)

# 27.2 Adding a USB Device to vSphere with vMotion Support

In vSphere, when you add a USB device to a host, you can select the option to support vMotion while the device is connected. This means that even if a VM is migrated to another host using vMotion, the USB device remains connected to the VM, allowing for a seamless transition without interrupting the USB device's functionality.

The option *Support vMotion while device is connected* (see Figure 27-3) facilitates the movement of a VM with a connected USB device from one host to another without disruption. However, certain restrictions apply. For instance, all USB devices must be configured for vMotion, and the VM cannot be stopped or paused during the process. Additionally, the migration might fail if one or more devices are not enabled for vMotion.

**Note** If you do not plan to migrate a virtual machine with USB devices attached, deselect the *Support vMotion* option. This action reduces migration complexity, which results in better performance and stability.

We will not enable this option for our test lab since we don't need it. After you add the USB device to your VM, power it on, and you can now use the external disk in your Guest OS. Figure 27-4 shows my 4TB external disk available to be used in a Windows Server VM.



Figure 27-4. (Add a USB device to vSphere 4 of 4)

# 27.3 Summary

This brief chapter discussed integrating USB devices with ESXi hosts and improving the capabilities of your environment. In Chapter 28, we move on to an essential task in vSphere management: resetting and changing the vCenter root password. Chapter 28 will guide you through a step-by-step process to securely reset and modify the root password of your vCenter Server. This procedure is crucial for you to maintain access to the management hub of your vSphere environment.

### **CHAPTER 28**

# How to Reset the vCenter Root Password

Sometimes, dealing with credentials for infrastructure elements such as vCenter Server can be difficult when the root password is forgotten or personnel changes occur. Resetting the root password for vCenter when it is locked or forgotten is a step in gaining control, ensuring everything runs smoothly in a vSphere environment.

This chapter will guide you through the essential processes of resetting and changing the root password for vCenter. It is crucial to follow these steps carefully to ensure continuity of services and to maintain secure access within the vSphere environment. Proper execution of these processes helps prevent disruptions and access issues.

# 28.1 Reset the Root Password

To reset the password, we need to reboot the vCenter appliance and get access to the boot of Photon OS.

Connect to the vCenter console by launching the remote console and reboot vCenter.

### CHAPTER 28 HOW TO RESET THE VCENTER ROOT PASSWORD

To reset the root password for your vCenter Server Appliance, you'll start by rebooting the appliance and gaining access to the boot loader of Photon OS. This can be done by connecting to the vCenter's console, which is accessible via the vSphere Client. As shown in Figure 28-1, you'll launch the remote console. using option "Launch Web Console" or "Launch Remote Console" in the vCenter Server Appliance VM. During the reboot process, you'll need to quickly enter the vCenter bootloader to initiate the password reset procedure.



Figure 28-1. (How to reset the vCenter root Password 1 of 4)

Then, when the Photo OS is booting, press **e** on your keyboard to access the boot options. At the end of the Linux section, add the following command rw init=/bin/bash, as shown in Figure 28-2. To save and enter the boot bash, press **Ctrl-x** or the **F10** key.

### CHAPTER 28 HOW TO RESET THE VCENTER ROOT PASSWORD



*Figure 28-2.* (How to reset the vCenter root Password 2 of 4)

Then, when you are inside the Photon OS console, type the following command: mount -o remount,rw /. Here, you have a couple of commands to have the root account lock information and reset the number of locks.

## 28.2 Reset the Root Password

If you know the root password and you just want to reset the root lock, this is the procedure.

To check how many failed attempts you have for the root password, type the following command: /sbin/pam_tally2 -u root. To reset this number to zero, type the command /sbin/pam_tally2 -r -u root. After this command resets the number to zero, you can umount and reboot. Enter the command umount / followed by reboot -f. See Figure 28-3.



Figure 28-3. (How to reset the vCenter root Password 3 of 4)

Your root password is reset, and you can reuse the same password.

# 28.3 Change the Root Password

Besides the root account lock, you also lost the root password.

After you reset the root lock with the preceding procedure, type passd root. This will reset the root password, and you can type a new password, as shown in Figure 28-4.



Figure 28-4. (How to reset the vCenter root Password 4 of 4)

With these steps, you can recover your root password from your vCenter Server.

# 28.4 Summary

This chapter provided a guide on how to secure your vSphere environment by resetting and updating the vCenter root password.

In Chapter 29 we move on to another important aspect of vSphere administration: maintaining the up-to-date status of your vCenter Server. Chapter 29 explores approaches for updating and upgrading vCenter, including both automated and manual methods, as well as online and offline scenarios. Performing these maintenance tasks ensures that your vCenter Server remains secure and efficient and incorporates the enhancements and features available.

## **CHAPTER 29**

# vCenter Update/ Upgrade

Keeping your vCenter up to date is crucial to maintaining stability, security, and access to the features and improvements. In this chapter, I will provide you with step-by-step instructions on how to update or upgrade your vCenter, whether you are performing an update or transitioning to a new version.

Updating or upgrading your vCenter is a process that ensures the wellbeing and security of your environment. We will discuss the requirements, methods, and best practices to ensure a transition to the updated or upgraded version of vCenter Server.

Before you make any changes (updates or upgrades), you should always take a vCenter snapshot to be on the safe side. You already learned how to do this in Chapter 22, so create a snapshot of the vCenter now before making any changes.

**Note** As I explain earlier vCenter, or vCenter server is the product, or the software that we can working(using vSphere Client) on that is installed in a appliance VM with the System Operation called PhotonOS and that VM Appliance is called VCSA.

And when we want to make changes in the appliance settings we need to use appliance software that is VAMI.

# 29.1 Automatic Online vCenter Update

To update your vCenter automatically, connect to vCenter VAMI (https://IP- FQDN:5480). In our example this is https://192.168.1.55:5480.

**Note** VAMI stands for vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface for VCSA.

Log in to VAMI with your root password (the password that you created when you installed vCenter). See Figure 29-1.



### Figure 29-1. (vCenter Update 1 of 15)

As shown in Figure 29-2, select the **Update** option, and vCenter should search for the latest updates and list them. If it does not, click **Check Updates** and select option **Check CD-ROM + URL** (this option means that vCenter will check if there is any ISO mounted on the VM virtual CD-ROM and check online on the VMware updates repository).



### Figure 29-2. (vCenter Update 2 of 15)

Figure 29-3 shows all the updates that are available for my vCenter version. Since patches and updates are cumulative, you should select the latest one and release all the updates and patches after the actual version.

Last	Chec	HILDry HILDry (10.24.23)	АМ						
0	Cipitanie Cipitanie	and particles are considered. The re-	nt record and a	to or putch in the failure betters will contain all previous particles.					×
		Veran		Type	* Antone Tate	4.4	Spinot Regiond	Searchy	*[
•	~(	73.30300 Servery Pre-splate charin Crimital distributions Proofs Servers affected Doersod tox		The Particle to software scanter Server 2.0 moment of Exc 1 Octoor the per-solided decide to defermine estimated movies Low # () 2,25 68	5ee-20, 2023		190	China	
0	۶.	70.3.0900		fa .	22.4.2023		Ves.	0.004	
0	1	20.3.0900		Ta	Aut 22, 2023		101	Crical.	
0	». (	70.829400		**	Nor 80, 2028		Yes	CONA	i tete

### Figure 29-3. (vCenter Update 3 of 15)

After selecting the version you want to install, you can either choose **Stage Only** to copy files to vCenter and update later or choose **Stage and Install** after the stage is finished. For purposes of this example, select the **Stage and Install** option.

The Stage and Install Update wizard opens to the EULA page (see Figure 29-4). Review the VMware General Terms, check the **I accept the terms of the license agreement** check box (if you do), and click **Next**.



Figure 29-4. (vCenter Update 4 of 15)

Next, vCenter asks you to confirm that you did a vCenter backup before it will continue. Assuming you created a snapshot, check the box as shown in Figure 29-5 and click **Finish**. vCenter will start the installation process. Depending on your environment, this can take 20m, or 30/45m.



Figure 29-5. (vCenter Update 5 of 15)

You can see the browser has some intermittent refresh, and the % of the update is inaccurate. Just wait until you see the *Installation succeeded* message shown in Figure 29-6. If you don't see the message after a while, refresh your browser.



Figure 29-6. (vCenter Update 6 of 15)

After the installation is finished and you click **Close**, log in again to VAMI and reboot your vCenter as shown in Figure 29-7.

			@ English - Hilly : Actions - Host-
Current version defails Fround Version	Vibran sCatter Sanar 203.0000		Subcor Subcor Oralis Support Bundle Santh These
Last Checked Oct 24, 2023, 15236 AM	System Reboot Intervent to system?	10 TE Reading of	(griters), foreign of prints -
	No applicable update found.		

Figure 29-7. (vCenter Update 7 of 15)

After the reboot, your vCenter is not up to date, as shown in the example in Figure 29-8.

	Hostname: Product Version Build number: Uptimer	VCenter-VSAN-01 Vmwanhome lab VMware vCenter Gener 7 0.3 2000 2235760 25 minutes
--	-------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Figure 29-8. (vCenter Update 8 of 15)

# 29.2 Manual Offline vCenter Update

For security reasons, many environments do not have vCenter or even ESXi hosts connected to the Internet, in which case updating vCenter (or even vSphere) must be done offline and manually.

To download the patches in ISO, go to https://customerconnect. vmware.com/patch#search and download the patch ISO. Select your vCenter version and select the file to download.

**Note** The preceding URL is only for downloading patches to your vCenter and is not for a full install. Any vCenter ISO downloaded from the main VMware Customer Connect portal is for a full install, not patches and download the patch ISO. As shown in Figure 29-9 you need to select VC (patches for vCenter) your vCenter version, in my case is 7.0.3, for this case the filter is "All Severities" since we want all updates for this patch, and select the file to download.

Home	Product Patches					
Pro	oduct Patches					
You so	lected patches for:					
VC	203 Patch bundle for VC	ACO HL'IX				
DO						
0	Delease Name	View Details Product Name	Release Date			
	VC-7.0136	~ VC	2023-09-28			
	VC-7.0130 Vew Details Build Number: 2207013 Version: 7.0.3					
	Pites	Description	Category	Severity		
	VMware-vCenter-Server-Appliance-7.0.3.01700-22357613-patch- PD.00 Vwv Ostals Dewnload Size: 6718.0 MB	Patch for vCenter Server 7.0 with bug fixes.	BugFix	Critical	DOWNLOAD NOW	
	ND55UM: 6591318d7c1b10c16f52eb2553c880a0	SHAISUM: 0a4e939962b42ba9fec8850c5d218524a98baa3b				

Figure 29-9. (vCenter Update 9 of 15)

After you have the ISO file, upload it to one of your vCenter Datastores (we have learned this in Chapter 4) and connect to your vCenter VM Appliance virtual CD-ROM as shown in Figure 29-10.

**Note** All the steps are in the Chapter 4.

<u>8 ~</u> 28 ~ GB ~
28
17 total   914.18 GB
LSI Logic Parallel
LSI Logic Parallel
LSI Logic Parallel
Groups vDS 1 V Connected
Datastore ISO File  V Connected
Connect At Power On
[ISO Images] ISO/VMware-VCS BROWSE
Emulate CD-ROM Y
IDE 0 V IDE(0:0) CD/DVD drive 1 V

Figure 29-10. (vCenter Update 10 of 15)

Next, log in to your vCenter through the SSH console with a tool like PuTTY. If you find yourself in a bash shell (like shown in Figure 29-11), switch to the appliance shell with the command chsh -s /bin/ appliancesh root and restart your SSH session.



Figure 29-11. (vCenter Update 11 of 15)

After restarting the SSH console, you are now in the appliance shell and can run the appliance command to stage the ISO. You do so by running the commands indicated in the following three steps:

1. Run software-packages stage --iso to download patches to the appliance. After you run the command, you need to accept the VMware terms and conditions (see the bottom of Figure 29-12) to continue. Press **Y**. Then the staging starts.



Figure 29-12. (vCenter Update 12 of 15)
2. After you get a *Staging process completed successfully* message, run software-packages list --staged (see Figure 29-13) to show the patches staged.



Figure 29-13. (vCenter Update 13 of 15)

 After double-checking the patches that will be installed, run the software-packages install --staged command to start to install the patches in your vCenter. You should see the confirmation messages shown in Figure 29-14.

Command> software-packages installstaged
[2023-10-25 01:38:07,432] : update is already staged. Proceeding to install.
<pre>[2023-10-25 01:38:31,158] : Installing version: 7.0.3.01700 [2023-10-25 01:38:45,106] : Running prechoods [2023-10-25 01:38:45,124] : Validating user input [2023-10-25 01:38:45,124] : Starparing systems for update [2023-10-25 01:38:45,124] : Running test transaction [2023-10-25 01:41,46,60] : Scopping activities [2023-10-25 01:41,46,60] : Scopping activities [2023-10-25 01:42,124,725] : Extracting script information from spms [2023-10-25 01:42,124,725] : Intelling ERM wwware-amplif.7.0.spm [2023-10-25 01:42,124,725] : Intelling ERM wwware-amplif.7.0.spm</pre>
<pre>[2023-0-23 01:55:27,664] : Installing RPM trada-2020F-2.ph).noarch.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:27,690] : Installing RPM trada-2020F-2.ph).noarch.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:27,690] : Installing RPM trada-2020F-2.ph).noarch.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:27,690] : Installing RPM tyber-execopt-3.0.6206-22204945.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:27,290] : Installing RPM tyber-execopt-3.0.6206-22204945.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:27,290] : Installing RPM tyber-execute-0.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:37,295] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-21.310.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:37,295] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-21.310.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-23 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-21069865.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-21069865.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-21069865.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-210698965.x86_64.rpm [2023-10-25 01:55:47,293] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-1-13.10.0-210698965.noarch.rpm [2023-10-25 01:25:47,893] : Installing RPM tyber-erostgres-upprade-10-13.10.0-210698965.noarch.rpm</pre>
[2023-10-25 02:25:59,856] Installation process completed successfully.

Figure 29-14. (vCenter Update 14 of 15)

After the installation is finished, vCenter will reboot automatically, and the patches are applied.

# 29.3 Automatic Offline vCenter Update

If you don't want to use the command line or SSH (some environments have SSH disabled for security reasons), you can also use VCSA VAMI to stage and install the ISO file that you connected to your VCSA VM.

With the ISO connected to your VM virtual CD-ROM, log in to the VAMI (https://IP- FQDN:5480), go to the **Update** option, and select the option **CDROM** as shown in Figure 29-15.

When the ISO you connected is displayed, you can do the same process we shown in the previous section for Automatic vCenter Update, by staging first, or do both automatically Stage and Install.



*Figure 29-15.* (*vCenter Update 15 of 15*)

**Note** While using the command line or VAMI to read the ISO (Stage) connected to your VM and not receiving any updates listed, it could be due to the ISO being connected to your vCenter VM while it was powered on. To resolve this, you need to power down the vCenter, reconnect the ISO, and then power the vCenter back on before attempting again.

# 29.4 Automatic vCenter Upgrade

Upgrading your vCenter to a more recent version is a different process.

When a new version is available, you should see at the top of the vCenter window the message *New vCenter server updates are available* and an *Updates Available* message on the Summary tab, as shown in Figure 29-16. Click the **View Updates** option to see information about the new version and check if your version is supported to upgrade to the new version without any issues.

	D Ann Conte anno access anno 1 ann anno					*
E viphere Dent Q						
0 8 8 9	O vCenter vSAN-OLvmwarehome.lab   series     Semary Hotol: Contore Pressure Datameter Helia Collect VMs. Departures Hericolis Coll	ot clatter	herer System Extensions updates			
<ul> <li>Stanter vklik (Kornantinen ide</li> </ul>	Provide Contraction of Contraction o				<u> </u>	Part I a Tanata Par Part I
	Coder: 1 Inter: 4				See 11	Samely 10 Samely 10 Samely 1
	Voluti Reployee 8					
	Darron Atributes	~	Health (Sulture			
	Actual Vite		Overall Health	(C) ficest		
	Countries and Country States		ARCINET ANALONIST			
			VORTHER HILL			•
			Mula			
	ter.	1.004	State			
	Proc.	_	factoria:			

Figure 29-16. (vCenter Upgrade 1 of 8)

Figure 29-17 shows that a new version, vCenter 8.0, is available (at the time of writing). The next step is to use the Update Planner to double-check if your version has any issues to be upgraded to vCenter 8.0. Click the **Generate Reports** drop-down arrow and select the **Pre-Update Checks** option to get a report about the upgrade and see if there is any incompatibility to upgrade to vCenter 8.0.



# Figure 29-17. (vCenter Upgrade 2 of 8)

Figure 29-18 shows the report I received, providing information about vCenter plug-ins from other VMware products that I have in this vCenter (like NSX, HCX, etc.). But in this case the warnings are not a showstopper; I can upgrade the vCenter and then upgrade the plug-ins after. However, before downloading the ISO, there is another preparation step.



# Figure 29-18. (vCenter Upgrade 3 of 8)

Before upgrading your vCenter Server, it's important to assess compatibility with your current vSphere environment. Verify the interoperability of third-party products, earlier vSphere versions, and any plugins registered with vCenter, including solutions like NSX-T. The interoperability checks will highlight VMware products that might be affected and indicate whether third-party tools or plugins require updates to maintain compatibility with the new version of vCenter. So, in the Update Planner, click the **Generate Report** drop-down arrow and select **Interoperability**. In my case, the Interoperability report shown in Figure 29-19 indicates that all versions are supported.

Γ	interoperability 🗇				
L	$\underline{A}$ lieftyre upgesting, check the compatibility of 2rd party products that are registered with	vCenter Server.			
L	MODIFY PRODUCT LIST EXPORT				C
L	Product	Carrent Version	Compatible Version(s)	Reference Matters	
L	Where NEX T Duta Center	4100	415 -	NOT Available	
L	© VMeure vSohere Huboniuor (ESR) (4)	7.0.3	80.942 -	Not Available	
L					2 term

## Figure 29-19. (vCenter Upgrade 4 of 8)

If everything is interoperable, return to **Pre-Update Checks** and click **Download ISO**.

After you download the vCenter ISO, launch it on your desktop (Windows or Mac) and run the setup/upgrade from there.

Once the pre-update checks confirm compatibility, proceed by downloading the vCenter ISO file. This file will be used to perform the upgrade. Launch the downloaded ISO on your desktop, whether Windows or Mac, and initiate the vCenter upgrade process through the setup. The upgrade itself is executed outside the vCenter's current environment using this setup program.

You need to mount the ISO into your computer and then run installer.exe. In the Windows OS, the file can be found in the following folder: \vcsa-ui-installer\win32.

The process to upgrade vCenter is almost the same as the process to install vCenter, explained in Chapter 8, so will not go through the full explanation. The only difference is that after you launch the Installer, use the **Upgrade** option, as shown in Figure 29-20, and need to connect to the vCenter you will upgrade.



Figure 29-20. (vCenter Upgrade 5 of 8)

In the wizard screen shown in Figure 29-21, click **Next** to start the upgrade process. In step 2 of the wizard, accept the EULA and click **Next**.



Figure 29-21. (vCenter Upgrade 6 of 8)

Then, you need to add the existing vCenter settings to upgrade into the upgrade setup.

In the upgrade process of the VCSA, step 3 of the wizard, as illustrated in Figure 29-22, involves entering the existing vCenter details such as IP or FQDN, SSO user and password, and the root password. This step is to connect to the source vCenter, which is the current vCenter Server instance you are upgrading from. The following step in the wizard will ask for details about the destination—the new environment where the upgraded VCSA VM will be deployed. This process essentially creates a new instance of VCSA and migrates your settings and data, after which the old instance can be decommissioned.

vmw	Upgrade - Stage 1: Deploy vCe	enter Server		
1	Introduction	Connect to source a	appliance	
2	End user license agreement	Provide the details for the sour	ce vCenter Server Appliance that you want to u	pgrade
3	Connect to source appliance	Source appliance		
4	vCenter Server deployment target	vCenter Server Appliance	192.168.1.55	١
5	Set up target vCenter Server VM	Appliance HTTPS port	443	
6	Select deployment size			
7	Select datastore	SSO User name	administrator@vCenter-vSAN-01.local	1
8	Configure network settings	SSO Password		
9	Ready to complete stage 1	Appliance (OS) root password		.
		ESXi host or vCenter Server that	at manages the source appliance	
		ESXi host or vCenter Server name	192.168.1.30	_ (l)
			CANCEL	BACK

Figure 29-22. (vCenter Upgrade 7 of 8)

After step 3, the rest of the wizard steps are the same as the steps in Chapter 8 that you followed to install your vCenter. However, note that the step numbers differ by one. For example, Figure 29-23 shows step 4, in which you provide the vCenter/ESXi host where you will install vCenter v8.0 (the upgrade will create a new vCenter; after the setup is finished, it will power off the old vCenter). This is step 3 in Chapter 8 and is shown in Figure 8-5. Refer to Chapter 8 for a demonstration of the subsequent wizard steps.

1 Introduction	vCer	nter Server dep	loyment target	
2 End user license agree	ment Specify Server	the vCenter Server dep instance on which the v	ployment target settings. The target is the Center Server will be deployed.	ESXi host or vCenter
3 Connect to source app	bliance ESXi br	st or vCenter Server	192 168 1 30	0
4 vCenter Server deploy	ment target name	St OF VCenter Server	192.100.1.30	
5 Set up target vCenter	Server VM HTTPS	port	443	
6 Select deployment siz	e User na	ame	administrator@nested-sso-60.local	(j)
7 Select datastore	Passwo	ord		
B Configure network set	tings			
9 Ready to complete sta	ige 1			

Figure 29-23. (vCenter Upgrade 8 of 8)

After you finish all the steps (don't forget that vCenter install and upgrade are done in two stages, as detailed in Chapter 8), your vCenter is upgraded and you can start upgrading your ESXi hosts.

# 29.5 Summary

This chapter covered updating and upgrading VCSA. It explained the importance of keeping vCenter up-to-date for stability, security, and features.

The chapter detailed two methods for updating vCenter: automatic online update and manual offline update. Automatic updates involve the VCSA checking for and installing updates directly from VMware

repositories. Manual updates involve downloading an update ISO, uploading it to a datastore, and using the VAMI or command-line interface to stage and install the update.

Upgrading vCenter to a new major version involves a different process. The chapter explained how to use the vCenter Update Planner to check for compatibility issues before downloading an upgrade ISO. Upgrading involves running the downloaded ISO on a separate machine and providing details of the existing vCenter to migrate the configuration to a newly deployed VCSA.

Chapter 30 provides a detailed exploration of the processes involved in scanning for updates, remediating issues, upgrading VMware Tools, and updating ESXi hosts, all through the lens of VMware Lifecycle Manager (vLCM). The chapter equips you with practical insights into best practices and troubleshooting techniques specific to vLCM, aimed at ensuring the effective management and optimization of your vSphere environment.

# **CHAPTER 30**

# vSphere Lifecycle Manager

This chapter explores vSphere Lifecycle Manager (vLCM), previously known as vSphere Update Manager (VUM). We will focus on how this tool has evolved and its significance in managing your environment's life cycle of ESXi hosts. Using vLCM establishes, streamlines, and guarantees your system's reliability, updates, and security.

By the time you finish reading this chapter, you will have gained a grasp of vSphere Lifecycle Manager and its ability to improve the management of your ESXi hosts. Whether you are in charge of an environment or a sprawling data center, vLCM provides tools and features that streamline host management while guaranteeing the dependability and safety of your infrastructure.

vLCM encompasses a broad range of topics, and it is not feasible to cover every option and setting in detail in a single chapter, so we will discuss the most important tasks and settings to comprehensively understand key aspects of vLCM.

# 30.1 Introduction to vSphere Lifecycle Manager

To summarize, vSphere Lifecycle Manager is a tool seamlessly integrated into the vCenter Server. It offers a range of management features for

ESXi hosts, specifically focusing on software and firmware lifecycle tasks. Its integration into vSphere 7 adds capabilities to ensure enhanced consistency, up-to-date systems, and a simplified approach to managing clusters.

vSphere Lifecycle Manager is a significant tool in VMware's suite, offering several key features and capabilities:

- Service integration: vLCM is a feature embedded within the vCenter Server, eliminating the need for any installations. Once you deploy the vCenter Server appliance, the vLCM user interface is automatically enabled in the HTML5-based vSphere Client.
- Unified software and firmware management: Introduced in vSphere 7, vLCM brings together software and firmware lifecycle operations for vSAN clusters. This covers ESXi versions, drivers, VMware Tools, Virtual Hardware, and complete server stack firmware.
- Lifecycle management innovations: With the release of vSphere 7, new lifecycle management innovations were introduced to ensure up-to-date systems for customers. These include features like vCenter Server Profiles, vCenter Server Update Planner, and, of course, the functionality of vLCM itself.
- **Cluster-level management:** At a cluster level, you can efficiently manage hosts using the capabilities offered by vLCM. This feature is supported by services running on vCenter Server and ESXi hosts.

• **Centralized and simplified mechanism:** As a simplified VMware ESXi host management mechanism, vLCM allows you to handle ESXi hosts using images and baselines at a cluster level. Additionally, it facilitates a transition from baselines to utilizing vLCM images.

Select your vSphere Cluster and go to Update Tab and select option Baseline to go to vLCM, it is normal to get a warning similar to the following (see Figure 30-1) regarding an ESXi version that had issues and be informed that you should not use it in any of your ESXi implementations:

Do not use the non-critical baseline to update ESXi 7.0GA - 7.0U3b hosts. Use a baseline created with an ESXi 7.0 U3c or higher ISO image or Critical Host Paches baseline before applying any other patches to these hosts.

Always check this information, double-check if you use any of those versions, and follow the knowledge base process. In this case, *KB article* #86447 is for ESXi hosts running 7.0 U3/U3a and ESXi hosts running 7.0 U2c/U2d (using an image-enabled cluster).

E dates det Q									
	* () Vento I Serias Re Res Tas	Diffuelter Cluster   armell ter Certigen Fremanis Main um a Alterni en tre concerte a method, anne ret i to Establishes	alaria biach an		the same were anny as the o	•		State of the State	and set
entry and it constraines in     entry and it constraines in	intern funk	<ul> <li>Research is data with a start in the start of the start o</li></ul>			-		© Recty to encodede mentation to over 0 180 cent a presentation (some format)		arran X
		Afforder Bourten	<ul> <li>Max</li> <li>J. Sec. complex</li> <li>Sec. complex</li> <li>J. Sec. complex</li> </ul>	4 North North North North	a tar Anatos Anatos	* 80.000 10.000 10.000 0.000	n 1979 1979 - The Anna Star Part and Frank Part and 1979 - The Anna Star Part and Star Star Star	<ul> <li>Longer</li> <li>Species</li> <li>Species</li> <li>Species</li> <li>Species</li> </ul>	

# *Figure 30-1.* (*vLCM* 1 *of* 1)

If you are not using an image-enabled cluster, vLCM will also propose that you do so. We will discuss this in the next section.

# 30.2 Introduction to Image-Enabled Clusters

Before we create an image-enabled cluster, let's briefly explore this feature.

The vLCM image-enabled cluster is a feature that uses a model to manage ESXi hosts throughout a cluster effectively. It ensures that each host is set and maintained to a desired state, which includes the ESXi version, firmware, and drivers.

This approach guarantees consistency and reliability while simplifying upgrades and maintenance tasks. The cluster image comprises the ESXi base image and vendor addons for hardware integration and firmware updates. To utilize this feature, all hosts must be running ESXi 7.0 or a higher version from the same vendor and should not be stateless. Overall, this feature represents an advancement in enhancing the management of environments by making it more streamlined and efficient.

Here are the key aspects of this feature:

- **Declarative model:** Uses a declarative approach to ensure consistency across ESXi hosts within a cluster.
- **Desired state enforcement:** Sets and maintains a specific desired state for each host, including ESXi version, firmware, and drivers.
- **Cluster-wide management:** Allows uniform management of the entire cluster, aligning all hosts to the same configuration and version.
- **ESXi base image:** Includes a base image of VMware ESXi Server, necessary for the functioning of the cluster.
- **Firmware and driver integration:** Supports integration of firmware and drivers, ensuring that all hosts in the cluster are running compatible and up-to-date versions.

- Vendor addons: Optionally includes packages provided by hardware vendors, which can contain additional drivers and components for hardware compatibility.
- **Compatibility checks:** Automated checks ensure hardware and software compatibility within the cluster, helping to prevent conflicts or issues during updates.
- Efficiency in upgrades and maintenance: Simplifies upgrading and maintaining ESXi hosts, reducing the complexity and time required.

# 30.3 Create an Image-Enabled Cluster

To access image-enabled cluster to go the main vLCM dashboard, you can click directly in button "**Manage with a single image**" (not in the Figure 30-2) or select your vSphere Cluster, go to Tab **Updates** and option **Image** (see Figure 30-2).



Figure 30-2. (Image-Base Cluster 2 of 11)

Then you have two options: Setup Image and Import Image.

**Note** Before we start this section, we cannot use any ISO vendor addons while using the nested environment. As it is normal, these are virtual ESXi hosts, not physical. So you can check and learn the options in your nested environment to learn, but create the image-enabled cluster, this work needs to be done in a physical environment.

So, our next steps are done in our physical environment, not the nested environment we have used in this book.

# 30.3.1 Cluster Image Setup

Clicking the **Setup Image** option shown in Figure 30-2 enables you to configure the cluster image in vLCM. The process involves selecting the components that will compose the cluster image. These components typically include the ESXi base image, vendor addons such as drivers or hardware providers, and firmware. You can choose versions of ESXi, firmware, and drivers for deployment across the cluster.

Once configured, this image becomes the template for all hosts in the cluster, ensuring consistency and uniformity. The cluster image setup process also includes compatibility checks to ensure the selected components work seamlessly with existing hardware.

This option is usually preferred when creating an image or modifying an existing one within the vLCM environment.

After you click **Setup Image**, you convert your ESXi into a customized image, as shown in Figure 30-3. In the *ESXi Version* drop-down list, select the ESXi version you want to use to create your image (as a best practice, you should use the latest version, but it is not mandatory).

Next, click Select in the Vendor Addon field You need to choose the addon image from your vendor. Since your vendor customize image is in here, you search for your vender name and select the approriate option from your vender as shown in Figure 30-3.

**Note** In my initial configuration I selected the first option HPE Synergy Server Customization as explaining in the Figure 30-5, but then I need to change to the proper image that is HPE Customization for HPE Servers as shown in the Figure 30-3.

Workbulk EDRSkille Outster         Initiality           With Workshill         Strategies		Tricks 220100         General           13.316.201000         General           13.316.201000         General           13.316.201001         General           13.316.201001         General           13.316.201001         General           13.316.201001         General           13.316.201001         General           13.316.201001         General           15.316.201001         General           15.316.201001         General           15.316.201001         General           15.316.201001         General           15.316.201001         General           15.316.20101         General	
Sing 2 Courts Pargo Consume Interfect and Interfect (Interfect And Interfect And Inter	Setted Wards Addom           image         is image           image space indextment         MARIANI,           image space indextment         MARIANINI,           image space indextment	A 10.00 Million     Annue	

Figure 30-3. (Image-Base Cluster 3 of 11)

Next, click **Select** in the *Firmware and Drivers Addon* field.

**Note** You need to install a hardware security module (HSM) from your vendor to apply firmware into your ESXi or even use vLCM to upgrade your firmware.

In my case, the hardware support managers that HPE provides are part of its management tools, iLO Amplifier and OneView, which are deployed as appliances. These tools (HPE VIBs) must be installed to use this option. I don't have these VIBs installed, so the list shown in Figure 30-4 is empty. This type of tool is beyond the scope of this chapter anyway, so we will skip this option.

Select Firmware and Drivers Addon			×
vSphere integrates with hardware support managers to install the cluster.	selected firmware and driver addon on hosts in ye	our cluster as part of applying the image to the	he
Select the hardware support manager Select v ①			
Select a firmware and driver addon	Hardware support manager		
Addon name <b>Y</b> Addon ve	Hardware support manager	ESXI versions	٣
	Hardware support managers integrate with vSphere and help vSphere manage firmware on hosts. If your product is not visible in this		
Select hardware ve	list, troubleshoot its vSphere integration.	tons.	
		·	
		CANCEL	ст

# Figure 30-4. (Image-Base Cluster 4 of 11)

The *Components* option is used to add an extra driver to the imageenabled cluster image. Click **Show details**, change the *Show* drop-down option to **All components** (see Figure 30-5), select the drivers you want to add to your image, click **Add Components**, and click **Save** to save your options.

<ul> <li>Convert to an image</li> </ul>			
Anne Silep 1. Define Image Ann Bilep 1. Define Image Annexe Antes () Permaner and Deven Adder ()	eq:2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.		
antinino.	ha antificial concernents retainabate ACIB COMPORTS Mice Attantionality -		
	Broadcast Mill proget for English ConConnect (EC) Driver	11.01000-dame -	100 comprised
	By party or Division Decounts by Division have proved by 172-2 adjustment	RAMMA Arms.	The property of
	. Because English Correctedy Dynamicals into $\gamma$ to $S$ C analysis	34236701- Antonia form	thesis address property 😨
	Browner Antilitation E (ARGAS interact and BoTE drive To (Artistic Ed.)	220.5.2216.928+	Mandar addition conference of the
	Answer Uniformat ACE from	WARRAN PROV.	SDI Langement
	Enuire Declarem) Indexes Drive	31.01290.0 form -	TER: comparison
	Browner Brute Dellaren heter Bree	TABLE STR.	11 compression
	Browner Effers LIUPOs regulated brow	128.000 total.	129 (anyone)
	Broadgare (Ellips (all 164 (Inter	20.00.08.00.4vms.)	125 percent
	Briantian Wilkin 585 rdit Dran	17 00 13 10 June -	1233 - Latingue series

Figure 30-5. (Image-Base Cluster 5 of 11)

After you save your options, vLCM checks cluster compliance to make sure that all your options are compatible with your ESXi hosts that exist in the cluster. See Figure 30-6.

Step 2: Check Image Compliance Oneling dustr constraints	
CHARLE MARKED & CHARLES	

## Figure 30-6. (Image-Base Cluster 6 of 11)

Figure 30-7 shows that four servers in my cluster are not compliant with the ISO image. I selected **HPE Synergy Server Customization** for the *Vendor Addon* setting, but this ESXi version is incompatible with an HPE DL360-G9 server. I need to select the ISO version **HPE Customization for HPE Servers**.

Strep 2: O'reck image Compliance Latination (Unit): 1.011111 (an ani O're i reas an screptini air in ing				(100100000000)
	venou essi 01 univantione 310			×
🗇 annis, esci il unusatione lat	Critical and comparable with the mage			
C webusich () river during an	C Gan front a suggestion of the basis			
Campany and constructions and	The field of he observed during remainders.			
C annual of the second se	Suftware congliance			these (rig and comparison in
	Trap	Part latent	Trap Write	
	750 motors	73-05-20308	7.0 JAG 2054648 (D	
	Weight Matter	form.	Hit brongs farmer Collamander 1910 017434 😳	
	Surgerants	Red Reason	These Wester	
	produces (LA 197)	10.2 A22.0 CO24.70012 (\$640807	14.2.567.0.402H.70012.5542807	
	Bradorstein Mathlet?	12111464.0+0254.700.10.1064867	235.0.2010-K05W No.116 (SAUMUT	
	Treatment to Art	1 122 02 00 400M F0010 Rankabotr	7 196-02 00-1-Max 7613 2.00 R01028002	
	Receiptore to August 21	2210 HO CO-KNW FOR TO THE REPORT	99 (00, 100, 000, fairing, FDB (0, 201, for investor)	
			Conservation and a	Bargaren A. S 1 & A. M.

Figure 30-7. (Image-Base Cluster 7 of 11)

I close the Window and return to previous step, *Convert to an Image*, click **Edit**, change the *Vendor Addon* option to the proper ISO, and save it again.

But if you still have issues and the available images are incompatible with your ESXi host, run the option **Check for recommended images**, as shown in Figure 30-8. This option will search the VMware online repository and add the version that is compatible with your ESXi host.



# Figure 30-8. (Image-Base Cluster 8 of 11)

Once you've selected a compatible image, the next step is to save it and then proceed with the pre-check by clicking **Run Pre-Check**. In my case, the pre-check flagged a few issues, as shown in Figure 30-9. It has warnings about driver inconsistencies between two ESXi hosts. Additionally, one host is the Fault Domain Manager (FDM). During the remediation process, discussed next, both of these discrepancies will be addressed, ensuring that both ESXi hosts are configured identically.

- 00	Dutter is up to data? There are no to	is recommended trades images available for the studier S2052	CUTE & HELDO PM				
Compatibility (21)	tage Cherter harmen laters or talkato	100.00-94					
n 165	ols in this cluster are managed of	technely. This image failour will be applied to all beach in this	Challen				
264	ID Version	10.00-254898					
794	nder Ailden 🗇	HPE Culture and for HPE Servers 7020-5778-0-8					
79.9	makes and Drivers Addres ()	Point .					
Care	importantis (j)	Ro additional componently Drow periods					
A*	things further compatibility as	in section is non-eduly chartery. See details					
	Angel for framer compatibility is a sage Compliancie research provide a tradition of a stationary and the same of the same stationary and intervention of the same stationary and the same stationary and the same stationary stationary and the same stationary stationary and the same stationary stationary and the same stationary stationary and the same stationary and the same stationary and the same stationary and the same stationary and the same stationary and the same statio	ar welfad is nor «Liter due a ber alteda m m mg	HE2NE19 sectors v     Anist out of constance with the ange			Hornatori 107 ingenerate Names Tantaga coase of the Stateway and tags Dans	Contraction
	week for here comparising a comparison of the sector of th	ni walka ji nan visiti da kata ili ka akada. Mili mara	102.161.19 ecrimen →		monuton	Hornacon Commente Marcine Strandson Commente Marcine Strandson Research Research Strandson Research Research Resear	
	weigh fair franker comparability in a anger Compliancia enserter projektion and ensert for the sector of an ensert ensert ensert deserter () deserter ()	er andre ja nan dot dubre, før andre P	1023681.0 scflees → <u>d</u> stalls is for a spectra of the tanget     () finds in the discipation of the test of     The tanget and the test.     The tanget and the test of		Nyourubov	Formation To improve terms formation and the international proves and the international provided in the second second second second terms and the second second second terms and the second second second terms and the second second second second terms and terms and terms and terms and terms and terms terms and terms and terms and terms and terms and terms terms and terms and terms and terms and terms and terms terms and terms and term	(INCOMPAND)
	weigh furtherer comparison of a r sage Compliance measure places and a resource of the sa interaction of a resource of the sa measurements of a resource of the sa measurements of a resource of the sa measurements of a resource of the same of the same of the difference of the same of the same of the same of the difference of the same of the same of the same of the difference of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same of the same o	n enter i sono di sono Di sono di sono	S22 XLE1.5 ACCOMENT     Action of a complexer with the strapp Action is due of complexer with the strapp Comparison of the second complexement The strapp of the second complexement Inspection	New Views	Phone allow Phone allow the phone and the phone and which are allowed and and a second	Hornacian Sector and the sector and the sec- sories and the sector and the sec- sories and the sector and the sec- denciation	Date of the second
	unage for fuel fuel comparison of a second s	n antod kinen dati dalam beredak	B22 562.59 eccess v      Constant on an increasing of the increasing      One of the increasing of the increasing      One of the increasing of the increasing of the increasing      Market on and the increasing of the increasing of the increasing      Market on an increasing of the increasing of the increasing      Market on an increasing of the i	See Second Advances	Processory and a second	Hornaton Honorada Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar Salar	Free See and see

Figure 30-9. (Image-Base Cluster 9 of 11)

To continue to create **Image-Enable Cluster**, click "**Remediate All**," as shown in Figure 30-9. This provides details about what will occur during the remediation process of the ESXi hosts. See Figure 30-10. It's important to note that a reboot will be necessary as part of this process.



Figure 30-10. (Image-Base Cluster 10 of 11)

Check the box indicating that you accept the terms of the EULA and then click **Start Remediation** to start in Application remediation settings section, as shown in the Figure 30-11.

pact summary	Applicable remediation setting	IS
oplicable remediation settings	VM power state	Do not change power state
d User License Agreement	Detry entering maintenance mode in case of	3 attempts every 5 minutes
pact to specific hosts	failure	a museup a serie y a museur
192.168.1.9	VM migration	Do not migrate powered off and suspended VMs to other hosts in
192.168.1.10		the cluster
	Quick Boot ()	Quick Boot is disabled
	HA admission control ()	Do not disable HA admission control during remediation
	Distributed Power Management	Disable DPM on the cluster during remediation
	Hardware compatibility check	Do not prevent remediation if hardware compatibility issues found
accept the terms of the end user licer	nse agreement	

# Figure 30-11. (Image-Base Cluster 11 of 11)

After you start remediation and the process is completed and all ESXi hosts are rebooted, It shows that all ESXi hosts in the cluster now share a consistent image, with a single unified image being deployed across all ESXi hosts. This consistency ensures streamlined management and uniform performance across the cluster.

# 30.3.2 Importing Images

Returning to the window shown in Figure 30-2, clicking the **Import Image** option allows you to import existing images into vLCM. This option is beneficial when organizations have predefined images previously configured and tested in environments or clusters that they now want to replicate in their cluster setup.

Importing an image can save time and effort, especially if it has already been optimized for hardware or operational requirements.

Once the imported image is implemented, it will ensure that the configuration of all ESXi hosts in the cluster aligns with the imported image. This choice is especially advantageous for organizations or service providers overseeing clusters, as it allows them to uphold a consistent setup across all clusters.

Both the Setup Image and Import Image options aim to make it easier to handle ESXi hosts in a cluster, ensuring that all hosts are running compatible with current software and firmware versions. This helps simplify the management process by reducing the complexity of managing host configurations.

# **30.4 Create and Manage Baselines**

Maintaining consistency, security, and performance in virtualized environments across all ESXi hosts is extremely important. This is where the concept of *baselines* in vSphere Lifecycle Manager becomes crucial. A baseline in vLCM is a set of standards or specifications that includes updates, patches, or specific software versions meant to be applied to ESXi hosts. These baselines are the foundation for ensuring that all hosts within a cluster follow the configuration and software standards. This enables management and operational efficiency.

Creating and maintaining baselines is a process for managing virtual environments. It involves steps that ensure the environment stays up to date and well maintained. Initially, administrators need to identify the needs of their infrastructure, whether it is related to security updates or performance improvements. Based on these requirements, administrators can then create custom baselines, including a combination of patches, updates, and extensions tailored to the ESXi hosts' needs.

Once these baselines are established, they are applied to the hosts. Afterward, regular compliance checks conducted by vLCM help ensure that the hosts adhere to the defined baseline standards. If any hosts are non-compliant, they can be automatically or manually remediated to align with the baseline. This ensures consistency across all hosts and reduces the risks associated with vulnerable software.

# 30.4.1 Types of Baselines

The following are the type of baselines available in vLCM:

- **Patch baselines:** These apply patches or updates to the ESXi hosts. They can be critical patches, noncritical updates, or a combination.
- **Extension baselines:** These are used for adding or updating third-party software or addons on the ESXi hosts.
- **Upgrade baselines:** These are used to upgrade the ESXi hosts to a newer version of the ESXi software.

# 30.4.2 How to Create a Baseline

Select your cluster, click the Updates tab, expand Hosts, and select Baselines to see the default baselines configured during the initial setup of vCenter are available, each tailored to maintain the compliance and integrity of your ESXi hosts. These predefined baselines typically include critical security patches, updates, and upgrade packages, all aimed at keeping your environment secure, stable, and optimized according to VMware's best practices.

These default baselines are designed to simplify the management of updates and patches for ESXi hosts in a VMware environment. Here's an explanation of these default attached baselines, shown in Figure 30-12:

- Critical Host Patches:
  - This baseline includes critical patches released for ESXi hosts.

- Its primary focus is on security patches and critical bug fixes.
- It is automatically attached to ESXi hosts or clusters to ensure that critical vulnerabilities and issues are addressed promptly.

## • Non-Critical Host Patches:

- This baseline encompasses patches that are classified as noncritical.
- These patches might include general updates, minor bug fixes, or enhancements that don't address critical security or stability issues.
- While not as urgent as critical patches, they are important for maintaining the overall health and efficiency of the ESXi hosts.

## Host Upgrade Baselines:

- These baselines are intended for upgrading the ESXi hosts to newer versions.
- They include the full installation images of the newer ESXi versions.
- Applying these baselines will upgrade the hosts to the latest or a specific version of ESXi, depending on the baseline settings.

n v	Baselines										manage with	
nage Maare Pole Mingdware	49000 A difference 113 A difference 113 A difference 113 A difference 113 A difference 114				n-compliant		C Brady to innection wereasce however					
	Attached Balatives articles science interiority											
	C Alastat Barray		Teta		Carteria .		-				w Classifier	
	The lacenty factors displaying		< no service		Patri		Pagefrood		10.650.6	78	1 provi lagar	
	Contra Intel Parcelos (Presidentes)		1 Antonia		Page 1	1.4	Page 1 and 1		10,834,8	f a	1 provides	
	C ten lintral rain fairtas disatement		A New American		inter .		inadadinad			01 70° 51 102 51 807 10 11 57 57 57 5 100 71 700	Taxat and	

*Figure 30-12.* (*Baseline 1 of 13*)

The preceding baselines serve most environments, and usually you don't need to create more, but if you need a new and customized baseline, go to the vSphere Client Main Menu, select **Lifecycle Manager**, click the **Baselines** tab, click the **New** drop-down arrow, and select **Baseline**, as shown in Figure 30-13.



*Figure 30-13.* (*Baseline 2 of 13*)

# **Create an Extension Baseline**

First, we will examine how to create an extension baseline, so select **Extension** in the first step of the Create Baseline wizard and click **Next**. As previously explained, extension baselines are for third-party software or addons, such as from hardware vendors (servers or devices).

For this example, I will demonstrate how I created a baseline with some drivers for my Mellanox network card. As shown in Figure 30-14, I have integrated only two extensions in my setup, but vLCM's flexibility allows adding as many as needed, tailored to diverse vendors and devices. This adaptability is crucial for customizing the management of your environment.

1 Name and Description	Sele	ct extensions		
2 Select Extensions		Name	1D T	Severity 1
3 Summary	<b>2</b>	Mellanox Native OFED Connec	Mellanox-nmtx4_3.19.70.2001-10EM.700.1.0.15843807	Important
	<b>2</b>	Mellanox MFT Tools	Mellanox-MFT-Tools_4.25 0.703-10EM.703.0.0.18644231	Important
		Meilanox NATIVE_NMST Drive_	Mellanox-NATIVE-NMST_4.25.0.703-10EM.703.0.0.18644231	Important
		NVIDIA Mellanox Native Driver	Mellanox-nm1x5_4.22.73.1004-10EM.703.0.0.18644231	Important
		Meilanox Technologies Conne	Mellanox-nmlx4_3.19.16.8-2vmw.703.0.20.19193900	Critical
		Mellanox Technologies Conne	Meilanox-nmlx5_4.19.16.11-1vmw.703.0.20.19193900	Critical
		Mellanox Native OFED Connec	Meilanox-nmlx4_3.19.70.1001-10EM.700.1.0.15843807	Important
		NVIDIA Mellanox Native Driver	Mellanox-nmlx5_4.21.71.101-10EM.702.0.0.17630552	Important
		Mellanox Technologies Conne	Meilanox-nmix4_3.19.16.8-2vmw,702.0.0.17867351	Important
		Mellanox Technologies Conne	Meilanox-nmlx5_4.19.16.10-1vmw 702.0.0.17867351	Important
		Mellanox Native OFED Connec	Mellanox-nmlx5_4.21.71.1-IOEM.702.0.0.17473468	Important
		Mellanox Native OFED Connec	Meilanox-nmlx5_4.19.71.1001-10EM.700.1.0.15843807	Important
	0	Mellanox Native OEED Connec	Mellanox-nmlx5_4.19.71.1-10EM.700.1.0.15525992	Important
		2 EXPORT	1 - 20 of 21 Updates K <	1/2 >

# Figure 30-14. (Baseline 3 of 13)

Typically, I recommend creating baselines specific to each type of ESXi host. For instance, you might have a standard server hardware setup. Still, if you enhance it with additional hardware like a new network card, video card, or other peripherals, I advise creating a specialized baseline for that particular configuration. This ensures that all ESXi hosts with similar hardware configurations receive the appropriate drivers, maintaining compliance with vendor standards and optimizing overall performance. By adopting this strategy, you ensure that each host is not only up to date but also fully aligned with the specific requirements of its hardware configuration.

After clicking **Next**, the Summary page of the wizard is displayed, as shown in Figure 30-15 for my baseline. You would then click **Finish** to create your baseline.

Create Baseline				×
1 Name and Description	Summary			
	Review your setting selec	tions before finishing the wizard.		
2 Select Extensions	Baseline name	Customized Baseline Extenion		
3 Summary	Baseline description			
	Baseline type	Extension		
	Mellanox Native O	IFED ConnectX-3 Drivers	CANCEL BACK	FINISH

*Figure 30-15.* (*Baseline 4 of 13*)

# **Create a Patch Baseline**

When creating a patch baseline, we have different options to add. The selection is for patches launched by VMware or any vendor.

Return to the Create Baseline wizard (as demonstrated in Figure 30-13) and select the **Patch** baseline type, as shown in Figure 30-16. Click **Next**.

Create Baseline				×
1 Name and Description	Name and description Enter a name and select the baselin	e type.		
2 Select Patches Automatically 3 Select Patches Manually	Name	Customized Patches		
4 Summary	Description			lis
	Content	<ul> <li>Upgrade</li> <li>Patch</li> <li>Extension</li> </ul>		
			CANCEL	EXT

## *Figure 30-16.* (*Baseline 5 of 13*)

In step 2 of the wizard, shown in Figure 30-17, you can choose the patches to include in this baseline. You can select patches based on various criteria. For instance, you might choose patches released within a specific timeframe, selecting all patches that fall within those dates. Alternatively, you can filter patches by their vendor, such as VMware or various hardware vendors. Additionally, you can select patches based on the product version, creating baselines specific to certain versions like 7.0x, exclusively 7.0.3, or even older versions like 6.7x. Further refinement can be done based on the severity and category of the patches, allowing for precise and targeted baseline configurations. For this example, I selected all patches launched for the Mellanox device. Click **Next** after you make your choices.

Create Baseline		×
1 Name and Description	Set criteria for adding patches automatically	
1 Name and Description	This baseline with continually change to add new patches	that match the criteria. You can also specify patches to
2 Select Patches Automatically	exclude.	
3 Select Patches Manually	Automatically update this baseline with patches that match	h the following criteria
4 Summary	Patch vendor:	Product:
	Intel	Any
	FJI Malisnov Tachpologias Inc	embeddedEsx 7.0.3
	Hewlett Packard Enterprise	embeddedEsx 7.0
		embeddedEsx 7.0.*
	Severity:	Category:
	Any	Any
	Critical	Security
	Important	Bugrix I
	Modelate	Emancement
	Release date: On or after dd / mm / yyyy 🗆	On or before dd / mm / yyyy 🗆
		CANCEL BACK NEXT

*Figure 30-17.* (*Baseline 6 of 13*)

Figure 30-18 shows that I have 11 patches that match my criteria. By default, all patches are selected to be added to your baseline, but you can use the check boxes to select the ones you want to add (I selected the first two) and deselect the ones you want to remove from this baseline.

Name and Description	Set	criteria for adding	patches automatically						
Select Patches Automatically	This I exclu	baseline with continual de.	ly change to add new patches that match the criteria. Ye	ou can also spe	cify patches to				
3 Select Patches Manually	Automatically update this baseline with patches that match the following criteria     Criteria (11) Matched (9) Excluded (2) Selected								
	De-se	elect any patches you	want to exclude.						
	0	Name T	D T	Severity <b>T</b>	Туре				
	2	Mellanox NATIVE	Mellanox-NATIVE-NMST_4.14.2.11-10EM.700.1.0.155259	Important	Host Extensi.				
	2	Mellanox NATIVE	Mellanox-NATIVE-NMST_4.14.3.3-10EM.700.1.0.155259_	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Meilanox Native O_	Meilanox-nmix4_3.19.70.1-10EM.670.0.0.8169922	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Mellanox Native O	Mellanox-nmlx5_4.19.70.1-10EM.700.1.0.15525992	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Mellanox Native O	Mellanox-nmix5_4.21.71.1-10EM.702.0.0.17473468	Important	Host Extensi.				
		NVIDIA Mellanox	Mellanox-nmix5_4.21.71.101-10EM.702.0.0.17630552	Important	Host Extensi				
		NVIDIA Mellanox	Mellanox-nmix5_4.22.73.1004-10EM.703.0.0.18644231	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Mellanox Native O_	Mellanox-nmix4_3.19.70.1001-10EM.700.1.0.15843807	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Meilanox Native O	Mellanox-nmlx5_4.19.71.1-10EM.700.1.0.15525992	Important	Host Extensi.				
		Meilanox Native O	Mellanox-nmix5 4.19.71.1001-10EM.700.1.0.15843807	Important	Host Extensi.				

Figure 30-18. (Baseline 7 of 13)

With my current selection, this baseline will automatically include all Mellanox patches. Whenever updates are released for these patches, they will be automatically incorporated into the baseline.

After clicking **Next**, step 3 of the wizard enables you to manually add any specific patch of your choosing. Regardless of whether there are updates for these particular patches, they will remain a constant part of your baseline.

We will bypass this section for now, so click **Next** to proceed to finalize your baseline. Figure **30-19** shows the summary of my choices.

Create Baseline					×
1 Name and Description	Baseline name	Customized Patches			i
	Baseline description				
2 Select Patches Automatically	Baseline type	Patch			
3 Select Patches Manually	Criteria				
4 Summary	Vendor	Meilanox Technologies inc.			
	Product	Any			
	Severity	Any			
	Category	Any			
	Start time				
	End time				
	Patches matching criteria to Mellanox Native OFEI Mellanox Native OFEI NVIDIA Mellanox Native OFEI NVIDIA Mellanox Native OFEI Mellanox Native OFEI Mellanox Native OFEI Mellanox Native OFEI	exclude D ConnectX-4 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers D ConnectX-3 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers D ConnectX-4-5 Drivers	CANCEL	ВАСК	FINISH

*Figure 30-19.* (*Baseline 8 of 13*)

# **Create an Upgrade Baseline**

Finally, we will create a baseline to upgrade our ESXi hosts. Here, you must consider what type of vSphere version ISO you installed on your ESXi—for example, if you used a default vSphere ISO from VMware, a customized vendor like HPE, or another vendor.

For instance, upgrading from vSphere 7.0 U1 to 7.0 U3 or from 6.7 to 7.x or 8.x is feasible. However, it is crucial to note that upgrades can only be performed to versions supported by the VCSA in use. For example, a 6.5 host cannot be upgraded to 6.7 using a 7.0 VCSA ISO.

Before creating an upgrade baseline, upload the ISO you want to use into vLCM. To do this, in vLCM, download the ISO you need from the VMware Customer Connect portal (as explained in Chapter 3), and after you have the ISO downloaded to your desktop, you start importing the ISO, as shown in Figure 30-20, go to the **Imported ISOs** tab select your downloaded ISO, and click **Import ISO**.

second and because we will be the second	Sec.						
- Constanting of the Constanting		Contract In the second	x	Import ISO	<ul> <li>Annual set</li> <li>Sector 51/0,</li> <li>Annual 71/00/2020/ABC - Annual set among</li> </ul>	X	
Lifecycle Menager 1 across -		0	(MIR) MAY	0	rates	weet	
Martiel an more services	man						
-	a (mad		# 2 MM	* 1 mm	a   measure -	tar ( Instruction	
C 109-19.25-200209-0-0-0-0	Mercen 253, 7 2.3 (Marcel)	***	2 month in	concess re-	Talley	08/96/0110 2 20:02:44	
The second	Officers EET * 2.2 Among 8	544	10000	Contract Process (Delegation	failed .	34/32/3121-1-91-01-444	

# *Figure 30-20.* (*Baseline 9 of 13*)

Second image in Figure 30-20 shows that I uploaded the latest version of ISO VMware ESXi 7.0 Update 3n.

After you upload the ISO, you can launch the Create Baseline wizard to create your upgrade baseline. Click **Next**.

Create Baseline			×	
Name and Description	Name and description Enter a name and select the baseline	type.		
3 Summary	Name Description	Upgrade to 7.0.3		
	Content	Upgrade Patch Extension		
			CANCEL NEXT	

*Figure 30-21.* (*Baseline 10 of 13*)

In step 2 of the wizard, select the ISO and vSphere version you want to add to this upgrade baseline. As Figure 30-22 shows, I have two options: the default vSphere ISO from VMware and the customized vSphere ISO from HPE. Since this is a nested environment, we will select the default from VMware. For your case, if your ESXi host was installed with a vendorcustomized vSphere ISO, then download and use it here. Click **Next** after you select an ISO.

Create Baseline									$\times$
1 Name and Description	Sele	ct ISO							
2 Select ISO	Selec	t an ISO release.							
3 Summary		ISO T	ESXi Version	٣	Build Y	Vendor T	Acceptance level	▼ Creation Date	۲
	0	ESXi-7.0U3n-21930508- standard	7.0.3		21930508	VMware, Inc.	Partner	06/15/20 2:00:00	23, AM
	0	HPE-Custom- AddOn_703.0.0.11.5.0-6	7.0.3		22348816	Hewlett Packard Enterprise	Partner	08/30/20	023, AM
	E	PORT						2	images
							CANCEL	BACK	IEXT

*Figure 30-22.* (*Baseline 11 of 13*)

Click **Finish** on the Summary wizard page, shown in Figure 30-23, and you'll have a baseline for your upgrade tasks.

Name and Description	Summary		
Thank ond o comption	Review your setting selec	tions before finishing the wizard.	
2 Select ISO	Randline name	Upprovide to 7.0.2	
Summary	Baseline description	opgrade to 7.0.3	
	Baseline type	Upgrade	
	ISO		
	Name	ESXI-7.0U3n-21930508-standard	
	Product	VMware ESXi 7.0.3 Update 3	
	Version	7.0.3	
	Vendor	VMware, Inc.	
	Acceptance level	Partner	

Figure 30-23. (Baseline 12 of 13)

As the three examples listed Figure 30-24 demonstrate, you can create a baseline based on many criteria. Which criteria you should choose all depends on the management of your environment and how you want to update your ESXi hosts.



*Figure 30-24.* (*Baseline 13 of 13*)

# 30.5 Add and Remove Baselines to and from ESXi Hosts and Clusters

Now, you must add your baselines to your ESXi hosts or clusters.

As shown in Figure 30-25, return to your inventory view, select the cluster, go to the **Updates** tab, select the **Baselines** option, click the **Attach** drop-down arrow, and select **Attach Baseline or Baseline Group** to add the baseline.

Figure 30-25 shows the three baselines that I created. Assuming that you created three, you can add all three or just select one by using the check boxes. For purposes of demonstration in the following sections, I added all three.

Select all the baselines you want to add and click Attach.

**Tip** As Figure 30-25 shows, the Attach drop-down list has a shortcut to create a baseline—no need to go to the vLCM administration.



Figure 30-25. (Remove Baselines 1 of 3)

Now the baselines you attached are available in your cluster.
The same process is used to add a specific baseline to a specific ESXi. Select the host and then add the baseline to that particular host, as demonstrated in Figure 30-26.

0 0 0 0	Barries Maria	Collars Revenues via American in								
- B monokitsen besorte		Examines								
Annu Annu Annu Annu Annu Annu Annu		Produktion-Aud Mark America Agencia Mark (Stational Mark (Stational) Advectory (Stational)		A francoscipion for company 1 minutes 10 minutes 1	er annen ann a 20 anne 11 annen a deskelf annen gat			() Banky Ki manedati Remainse hermet () Remainse hermet ()		
		O One	a 1000		* 1mm	+ 1m			a contraction	
		C3. Start lands frames (manhood)	1.000.000	and .	1987	Padernal	10.000.07		1000.000	
		C United and Parallel Productions	1.000-000		1000	Testine	10.000.07		1,000,000	
		C Re-Critical resident Particular	1.000-00	atast .	1001	Partition	455.71.74		10001000	
		Carlos de la companya de la compa	an Annie Sanne 2 Danne		a	Autor	100.783		Rithman and	
		O ferrerat forte			1992	Captori	10		10.0010-002	
		C 10000010100 2 0000								

Figure 30-26. (Remove Baselines 2 of 3)

If you need to detach a specific baseline from a cluster or an ESXi host, simply select the baseline you wish to remove and then click the **Detach** button. See Figure 30-27.

**Note** It's only possible to detach one baseline at a time. If multiple baselines are selected, the Detach option will become unavailable.

nali v Baselin Malitet Maje d Host Mineratus Mineratus	es. SI										
trage d Host umage Tage (mitaginary d m	543										management of the state of the
	SH window P (L)		<ul> <li>A of 4 Hosts are no</li> <li>Hosts Congleron</li> <li>A transition constant test</li> <li>Transition constant test</li> <li>Transition constant test</li> <li>Transition constant test</li> </ul>	n-compliant * communications chine 2 weeks april				1000	Peady to remodule      Innotation Processing		
Allacted	Resolver										
0 -	that Realitys	Tata .	,	Garlant		Type		-			Last Multiple
0.0	Security Relatives (Involutions)	A fee contra	4	Patrit		Paddent	10,856,8		610		Farine age
0 00	carries felders despersed;	A Non-complex		Pages		President		10.428.87	470		t (vier opp
[1] 100	Orbial Host Fallow (Preparticul)	A ferroration	4	Pass		Predational		639,72,72	110101102010010010010010000000000000000		Tylar aju
0.00	Included Reading Colomps	d Manuan		Echeratory		Galleri	105,703		,		Without age
💌 Cor	Included Palation	I firster		Ren		Fatters	7.6				18 Yorket water
0	Kind or Mark	dt Unimourie		Logiste-		Cutore		3.9.8			.36 electron watch

Figure 30-27. (Remove Baselines 3 of 3)

# **30.6 Scanning and Remediation**

Having discussed the details of creating and managing baselines, we now progress to the vital stage of staging and remediating updates and upgrades. This step is essential in actualizing the strategies set out in your baseline configurations, ensuring that your ESXi hosts remain current and secure.

In vLCM, applying updates based on default or customized baselines involves the following three key steps (although the second step isn't always necessary, as discussed a bit later). These steps form a systematic process to ensure that ESXi hosts are updated effectively and efficiently.

- 1. **Check compliance:** This step involves assessing whether the ESXi hosts are in line with the specified baselines.
  - During the compliance check, vLCM compares the current state of the ESXi hosts against the standards set in the baselines (whether default or customized).
  - The outcome determines whether the hosts are compliant (matching the baseline) or noncompliant (deviating from the baseline).
  - Identifying non-compliant hosts is crucial, as it highlights which hosts need updates to align with the baseline requirements.
- 2. **Stage:** Staging is the process of downloading and temporarily storing the required updates on the ESXi hosts, but not yet applying them.

- This step allows hosts to prepare without causing immediate changes or potential downtime.
- Staging updates in advance can help manage network load, as the downloads are done before the actual update process.
- Staging also provides an opportunity to ensure that all necessary updates are ready and available on the hosts before proceeding with the remediation step.
- 3. **Remediate:** Remediation is the final step, where the staged updates are applied to the non-compliant hosts.
  - This step brings the hosts into compliance with the baselines, applying all necessary patches, updates, or upgrades.
  - Remediation can be scheduled to occur during maintenance windows to minimize impact on the environment.
  - Post-remediation, the hosts should comply with the baselines, reflecting the latest updates and configurations as defined.

Together, these three steps form a comprehensive approach to maintaining ESXi host updates in a vLCM environment, ensuring that the virtual infrastructure is secure, reliable, and performs optimally.

# 30.6.1 Check Compliance

**Note** This procedure can be carried out at the cluster level or individually for each ESXi host. However, performing these actions at the cluster level is usually more convenient. There may be situations where a particular ESXi host is not up to date or has experienced problems during the update process. Sometimes, choosing and applying the update procedures for that affected ESXi host is important.

Since the compliance status is at the moment is Unknown to check compliance, select the cluster, click the **Updates** tab, expand **Hosts** and choose **Baselines**, Start by clicking on the **Check Compliance** option as shown in Figure 30-28.

	<ul> <li>D Vembu B</li> <li>konsey Mar</li> </ul>	DRSulte Custer James for Cellure Pressure was vie 0	norm would getter	<b>P</b>					
permit content or second series and	-	A loss on the second of lamber 1 and 100 100	T for the basis in the scientific results	and as Mar 1918, a lease 10 man or 10km	on faither familie tellori adding on other	and then by Printer States.			
C International Color	Statements of the local division in which the local division is not the local division of the local division is not the local division of the local divisi	Dissolves						( manage	
E when and it must have a	Stream from	Constraints a constraint a state weath solar the second	a array and a set of the star of pressing you	to harrier at some e source out-one maps					
<ul> <li>and the field of the comparison of</li></ul>		4 Hostig 4. Einenenen Till		4 of 4 Horst ant arknown     incr Catagories     incr Catagories     incr Catagories     incr Catagories     incr Stream gate scoreseases     incr Stream gate scoreseases     incream gate scoreseases     incream gate scoreseases		© Really to remediate monotory remotes 2			
		Attached Baseries Attached Baseries Attached Baseries							
		a desperiment	w year	4.000	+ 1m	*		a termen	
		C	1.0000	Party	Peaking	P0.0000	78	Tana and	
		C Drive Hall Tables (Treatment	8-1740-040	Panh	Testifice	10.000	76	Type and	
		C Annual and and and an	2 states	Read.	income.	134.72.7	er og set man er samt en, er som sin handet fra	T pad age	
		and the second s							
ortfals									
*1 max	1 mil 1 mil	* ***	Contraction 11	a filmmine 1 films					

Figure 30-28. (Scanning & Remediation 1 of 9)

Depending on the scale of your environment, the time required to check compliance can vary. The progress bar shown in the bottom-left corner of Figure 30-28 gives you some indication of the progress. Smaller setups may take a few minutes, but larger environments could require more time to complete the process. Figure 30-29 shows that some baselines are marked as non-compliant. Notably, this includes an upgrade baseline. This is expected since I have selected a higher version for the upgrade, leading to my current version being classified as non-compliant.

	Baroloos										
and the second											
Mage Masin Posts	4 Host(s)		A of 4 Hosts are non-compliant			Q Ready to remediate					
vfer Handware	4 (10) version 7.0.3	C	sola Complexez 4. nas ser complexit sustaine			Restructuation: Principal (2)					
			tool control problem     tool toologic galaxie incommutations								
			NECK COMPLANTS INTEGED IN LANDING ADD		STATING.	HE DATE HENDLARDS. DAVID COMMON					
	Output         Output         Departure         Deparute         Deparute         Deparu										
	Attached Baselines Attached Baselines										
	Attached Baselines ATRACE- Direct class stratucts	a . 2014	y Later	x 1m			e   sectorier				
	Attached Raedines Attached Raedines Characteristics	a Sina A Tanangang	y Loose Josep	e l Tan Padetaal	• Misson 10.430.4	24	<ul> <li>Sur Austral</li> <li>Ever age</li> </ul>				
	ATJached Ratelfins  ATJached Ratelfins  (Phone Driver Driver Driver Driver  (Retaining Ratelfing)  (Retaining Ratelfing)  (Retaining Ratelfing)  (Retaining Ratelfing)	s Reis A ten conglese A ten conglese	a Loose New New	y San Predefined Fredefined	* Illinois 70.410.4 70.410.4	24	e   sarihatar Fane ayo Tana ayo				
	Attached Reselves Attached Reselves Attache annuel industry industry metalisers Attached Reselves Attached Atta	<ul> <li>Bots</li> <li>Sur-complexit</li> <li>Sur-complexit</li> <li>Sur-complexit</li> <li>Sur-complexit</li> </ul>	a Colori Perio Perio Data	y San Predetend Predetend Predetend	<ul> <li>INFLUENCE</li> <li>70.410.4</li> <li>70.410.4</li> <li>60.4.72.7</li> </ul>	24 28 28 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	<ul> <li>■ Sum Restler</li> <li>1 same rapp</li> <li>1 same rapp</li> <li>1 same rapp</li> </ul>				
	Attached Raselines CTACH- Etholo Toket Etholocet  Menotheres  Hereinand Raseline  Here	<ul> <li>Ens</li> <li>Non-complete</li> <li>Non-complete</li> <li>Ann-complete</li> <li>Som-complete</li> </ul>	a Color Intel Pach Units Commo	r Tae Insteined Insteined Instalated Rotern	<ul> <li>INFLUENCE</li> <li>*0.410.4</li> <li>*0.410.4</li> <li>*0.410.4</li> <li>*0.410.4</li> <li>*0.410.4</li> </ul>	na Na Na manana kata kata na manana kata ni ma	<ul> <li>Lan Rushur</li> <li>Linux raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> <li>Tymer raps</li> </ul>				
	Allached Baselines ATEA+ Strate Share Heat Anno Description Strate Heat Anno Description Strate Annote Anno	Bein     Complete     Complete     Complete     Complete     Complete     Complete	a fana Ann Ann Tuin Comm Ann	e has Indoned Indoned Indoned Colone Colone	<ul> <li>Illinoise</li> <li>70.410.4</li> <li>70.410.4</li> <li>80.5.72.7</li> <li>70.5.763</li> <li>10</li> </ul>	74 78 81 79 14 702 4 78 81 78 71 47 47 47 4 74 11 72 3	Sum Restrier      Former regis      Transer legis      Rommenhologis      Rommenhologis				

Figure 30-29. (Scanning & Remediation 2 of 9)

# 30.6.2 Stage

Now we will stage the updates to the ESXi hosts to prepare for the update process.

**Note** Updates and upgrades cannot be remediated simultaneously and must be approached separately. While I demonstrate staging and completing updates first for clarity, it is often more practical in real-world scenarios to proceed directly with the upgrade baseline. This approach is generally preferred, as it streamlines the process without compromising the outcome. The staging of patch baselines, except in cases involving specific driver baselines, may not add significant value and can be skipped in favor of direct upgrades. The detailed steps for this will be covered in the following section.

As shown in Figure 30-30, select the baselines you want to stage and click the **Stage** option.



Figure 30-30. (Scanning & Remediation 3 of 9)

As Figure 30-31 shows, I have 63 patches to stage and 2 extensions. Normally, vLCM will download all the patches and install the ones necessary to fully update your ESXi hosts.

host	s will stage							
~	Host Name	٣	Version	٣	Patches	т	Extensions	
	vembu-esxi-01.vmwarehome.lab		7.0.3		63 (O Staged)		2 (O Staged)	
	vembu-esxi-02.vmwarehome.lab				63 (0 Staged)		2 (0 Staged)	
2	vembu-esxi-03.vmwarehome.lab		7.0.3		63 (O Staged)		2 (O Staged)	
2	vembu-esxi-04.vmwarehome.lab		7.0.3		63 (0 Staged)		2 (O Staged)	
	4 EXPORT							4 Hos

Figure 30-31. (Scanning & Remediation 4 of 9)

After successfully completing the staging process, which involves ensuring no failed stages by checking the recent tasks, we can move forward with the remediation step to apply the updates.

# 30.6.3 Remediate

During the remediation stage, it is essential to understand that rebooting each ESXi host is often required, typically one at a time. Contrary to common misconception, vSphere High Availability (HA) alone does not facilitate the migration of powered-on VMs to another host during this process. Instead, it is the Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS) in fully automated mode that is required for this functionality.

DRS automatically balances workloads and migrates VMs to other hosts before the original host enters maintenance mode for the reboot. If you don't have DRS in fully automated mode, or need to manage the process manually for other reasons, you can select each ESXi host individually, put it into maintenance mode, and then apply the remediation.

Once the original host is empty and in maintenance mode, it will proceed with the reboot.

Before starting the remediation process, for automated handling, it's important to understand the existing baseline remediation settings of vSphere Lifecycle Manager.

### **Baseline Remediation Settings**

To check or modify the baseline remediation settings, navigate to vLCM, click the **Settings** tab, expand the **Host Remediation** section, and select **Baselines** to review or adjust the configurations as needed. See Figure 30-32.



Figure 30-32. (Scanning & Remediation 5 of 9)

To provide a clear understanding of each setting in the Baselines Remediation Settings section, we'll go through them one by one (in the order shown in Figure 30-32).

### **VM Power State**

When this setting is set to **Do not change VM power state**, as in Figure 30-32, VMs will remain in their current state (powered on, powered off, or suspended) regardless of the remediation activities on the host.

This option is important for environments where maintaining the current state of VMs is crucial, especially to avoid disruptions in services or applications running on these VMs.

Administrators need to be mindful when choosing this option, as it requires careful consideration of the potential impact on VMs if the host requires a reboot or other significant changes during remediation.

Selecting the appropriate VM Power State setting is essential based on operational requirements and the downtime or service disruption tolerance in the virtual environment.

### **Retry Entering Maintenance Mode in Case of Failure**

This setting is crucial for ensuring successful remediation of ESXi hosts. When set to **On**, this feature enables vLCM to automatically attempt to put an ESXi host into maintenance mode again if the first attempt fails. This is particularly useful in scenarios where the initial attempt to enter maintenance mode is unsuccessful due to transient issues or temporary conflicts on the host.

### **Retry Delay**

This setting is set to **5 minutes** in Figure 30-32, which means that vLCM will wait for 5 minutes before retrying to put the host into maintenance mode after a failed attempt.

### Number of Retries

*Number of retries* is set to **3** in Figure 30-32, which means that vLCM will make up to three attempts to put the host into maintenance mode. If all attempts fail, the remediation process for that host will not proceed, and manual intervention may be required.

This setting ensures that temporary issues don't permanently halt the remediation process. Automatically retrying increases the likelihood of successful host maintenance and, consequently, the successful application of updates or patches as specified in the baselines.

### **PXE Booted Hosts**

This setting for PXE booted hosts plays a significant role in managing hosts that boot using PXE. The Preboot Execution Environment (PXE) is a network-based booting mechanism that allows ESXi hosts to boot using network interface firmware rather than from a local storage device. ESXi hosts booted via PXE often load their operating system and configurations from a central server, making them different regarding software management compared to hosts with traditional storage-based boot methods.

Figure 30-32 shows this setting set to **Disallow installation of** additional software on PXE booted hosts, which restricts the installation of any additional software on PXE booted ESXi hosts during the remediation process. The rationale behind this setting is that PXE booted hosts typically load their configuration from a server, and any additional software installed directly on these hosts could be lost upon reboot, as the host reloads its original configuration from the network. By disallowing the installation of additional software, this setting helps maintain the integrity and consistency of the PXE booted hosts, ensuring their configuration remains aligned with the central server's specifications.

This setting is crucial for environments where ESXi hosts are booted via PXE, as it helps maintain the consistency and predictability of the host configurations and avoids potential complications arising from software changes that might not persist after a host reboot.

### **VM Migration**

The VM Migration setting is an important option in vSphere Lifecycle Manager's Baseline Remediation Settings. This setting dictates how virtual machines currently powered off or suspended are handled during the remediation of ESXi hosts.

In Figure 30-32, this setting is set to **Do not migrate powered off and suspended VMs to other hosts in the cluster**. When this option is selected, VMs in a powered-off state or suspended will not be migrated to other hosts in the cluster during the remediation process. This can be a strategic choice to reduce the operational overhead and complexity during remediation, especially if there is no need to move these inactive VMs.

This setting is particularly relevant in clusters where vMotion redistributes VMs for load balancing or vacates hosts for maintenance. Choosing not to migrate powered-off or suspended VMs may be preferable in scenarios where the migration of inactive VMs is deemed unnecessary or could potentially lead to resource contention. It's important to assess the potential impacts on cluster resources and the time required for remediation when deciding on this setting. The decision to turn this VM Migration setting on or off should align with your specific maintenance strategies and operational requirements, considering the status of VMs in your cluster and the intended outcomes of the remediation process.

### **Disconnect Removable Media Devices**

In vLCM, setting the option to 'No' ensures that during the remediation process, removable media devices connected to ESXi hosts, such as USB drives or external hard disks, will not be automatically disconnected even if they might interfere with the host's ability to enter maintenance mode. This choice instructs vLCM to leave all removable media devices connected throughout the remediation, regardless of their potential impact on transitioning the host into maintenance mode. This setting is critical as entering maintenance mode is often required for successful remediation.

This setting determines whether or not removable media devices (like USB drives or external hard disks) connected to ESXi hosts should be disconnected as part of the remediation process. The primary concern is whether these devices could interfere with the ESXi host's ability to enter maintenance mode, which is often required in the remediation process.

By choosing **No**, you instruct vLCM to leave all removable media devices connected during the remediation, regardless of their potential impact on the maintenance mode transition. This could be necessary if the connected devices are essential for the operation of the host or certain applications running on it.

Keeping these devices connected can be beneficial if they are crucial for the ESXi host functions. However, there is a risk that these devices might cause issues or delays in the remediation process, particularly if they prevent the host from successfully entering maintenance mode.

This setting requires careful consideration based on the specifics of your environment and the role of the removable media in your ESXi hosts' operations.

In essence, the choice to keep removable media devices connected should be made with an understanding of the potential benefits and drawbacks, especially regarding the ESXi host's ability to smoothly transition into and out of maintenance mode during remediation processes.

### **Quick Boot**

This setting refers to the status of the Quick Boot feature in vSphere Lifecycle Manager's remediation process. When Quick Boot is disabled, the standard reboot process is used during host remediation.

- Standard reboot process: With Quick Boot disabled, hosts undergo a full reboot, including all hardware initializations and checks. This can be more timeconsuming but ensures a comprehensive restart of the system. Disabling Quick Boot might be necessary on platforms that do not support this feature or in scenarios where a full hardware initialization is required for certain updates or configurations.
- **Quick Boot enabled:** Quick Boot significantly reduces the reboot time by skipping certain hardware initializations. This can be particularly beneficial during remediation processes, as it minimizes downtime.

It's important to note that Quick Boot is only supported on specific hardware platforms. Therefore, its usage is limited to compatible systems. If you have compatible hardware, enabling Quick Boot can streamline the remediation process by reducing each host's offline time. This can be crucial in environments where minimizing downtime is a priority. In summary, the decision to enable or disable Quick Boot should be based on hardware compatibility and the specific requirements of your remediation processes. Enabling Quick Boot on supported systems can significantly improve efficiency, but ensuring that your environment meets the criteria for this feature is essential.

### **Parallel Remediation**

The *Parallel remediation* setting in vSphere Lifecycle Manager is an important feature that influences the way ESXi hosts are remediated in a cluster. When you set *Parallel remediation* to **Enable**, it allows for the simultaneous remediation of multiple ESXi hosts within a cluster, but only those that are already in maintenance mode. This is particularly useful in speeding up the remediation process across a cluster, as multiple hosts can be updated or patched at the same time.

It is important to note that when parallel remediation is enabled, any hosts in the cluster that are not in maintenance mode will be skipped. This means that only the hosts that have been manually put into maintenance mode will be considered for parallel remediation.

Figure 30-32 also shows the *Parallel remediation* setting expanded to reveal the *Maximum number of concurrent remediations* setting, which allows you to specify the maximum number of hosts that can be remediated simultaneously. You can choose between automatic and manual settings for this:

- Automatic: The system will automatically determine the optimal number of hosts to remediate concurrently based on the cluster's capacity and other factors.
- **Manual:** You have the option to manually set a specific number of hosts that can be remediated at the same time. This gives you more control but requires understanding your cluster's capacity and tolerances.

Enabling parallel remediation can significantly reduce the time required to update or patch an entire cluster, especially in larger environments. However, it requires careful planning and consideration of the cluster capacity and the state of the individual hosts.

### **Editing Settings**

After reviewing all the options in the settings, you can modify them by clicking **Edit**. Generally, most environments may not require alterations to these default settings. However, one of the settings frequently adjusted away from the default is the *Parallel remediation* option, which tends to be commonly modified based on specific environment needs. See Figure 30-33.



Figure 30-33. (Scanning & Remediation 6 of 9)

Having covered the last option in this section about vLCM settings, we can now turn to the remediation process.

## **Execute Remediation**

To begin remediation, click the **Remediate** option on the Updates tab. Figure 30-34 shows the results of my staging process, indicating that 25 patches and 2 extensions were temporarily downloaded to the ESXi host. These will be applied once I confirm the remediation by clicking the **Remediate** button in the dialog box.



Figure 30-34. (Scanning & Remediation 7 of 9)

After you click Remediation, vLCM will then place this host into maintenance mode one ESXi at the time (except if you selected to do concurrent ESXi hosts), install the updates that we selected, and when is finish will perform a reboot of the ESXI host. As shown in the Figure 30-35 you can follow all these tasks in the task Tab.



Figure 30-35. (Scanning & Remediation 8 of 9)

Following the remediation process, as illustrated in Figure 30-36, all baselines are indicated as *Compliant* (along with a green check mark). This includes the patch and upgrade baselines previously set up. They are now marked as *Compliant* due to the updates I applied, which were part of those specific baselines.

In this instance, all the necessary updates have been successfully applied, meaning that no further updates or version upgrades are required to keep my ESXi hosts up to date.

Di Vembu Bi tannay Min	DRSuite Cluster   1 known tur Contigue Permainen Hurts Wes 0	dartores Networks Opt	lates -						
-	llaseines								
Maga Vitaata Tausi Viti ngepaga	4 H9983 4 620 wear 705		4 of 4 Houts are complaint     Houtr Complexit     1 Houtr Complexit     A Houts are complexit balances     A hout another balances     A hout another balances     Coeffic Coefficience C Stindard (Hilderich ages		80-	654.6	Ready to remediate  Interestation Pre-check      O antona performant submitteday      No insure reparing user interaction      Heck checks a low submitted (hour ago		
	Attached Baselines								
	Attention Bearings		• (see	140					
	and the only fail as presented	Q CHISTON	Palat	Procedures i		10.056.0	76	Tumir ago	
	Crisia multifactes (Protetter)	-Q Compliant	Palat	Provide of Contract		10.454.6	74	Turner anju-	
	I have Colour here have a direction of	U Gripheri	Paint	Presidente		495,72.5	ALTERNIS THREE HER PORTATION FOR THE PARTY OF	Typer water	
	C Cuturiosi Bassina Ectavolar	() Constant	Tenanter	fam.		101.743		dituon apr	
	Coderined Pathes	g Constant	744	Culture		10		1 day apr	
	C impacts 10783	Q. Complete	ingenter .	Dame:		10.1		Witness age	

Figure 30-36. (Scanning & Remediation 9 of 9)

# 30.7 Upgrade VMware Tools with vLCM

In Figure 30-37 in VMware Tools option we can see all the VMs and their VMware Tools status and if the auto update is on or off. You can perform this upgrade immediately or opt for the Set Auto-Update' feature. This means that all VMs will be set to upgrade VMware Tools automatically whenever a new version is released.

The process of upgrading VMware Tools used to be manual and specific to each machine. However, after vSphere 7.0 using vLCM this task is significantly streamlines this task. VLCM automates the update process, making it easier to perform updates and ensuring that all virtual machines have a configuration.

Another advantage is that using vLCM guarantees compatibility between the VMware Tools version, the machine's guest operating system, and the ESXi host version. Overall, integrating VMware Tools with vLCM greatly enhances efficiency and establishes a unified standard across the virtual environment.

a Tanta	CHECK BINKING				
-theory of	D	* 1ml	* [ ]	T AN MARK	
	O Partyres in a 73-5-mone 7	where are it investments at	laad Hangart		
	Line Dentos B a	werte war-12 enwarences at	Gent Malagert	08	
	C Theorem at A	with an Dimensional	United	11	
	() - Hamman I Common Vin	services and a mean during all	had registed	08	

Figure 30-37. (vLCM VMware Tools 1 of 4)

The upgrade process for Virtual Hardware (vHardware) closely mirrors that of VMware Tools, as shown in Figure 30-38. Leveraging vLCM, this process can be fully automated, ensuring that all VMs are updated to the latest version of vHardware. This automation aligns the vHardware versions with the compatibility requirements of the current ESXi host version, seamlessly maintaining consistency and efficiency across the virtual environment.

embu BDRSuite Ouster   Excess ay Manor Carigore Permission Moto Ves	Galastones Partecine Updates				
2 of 4 VMs are up to date					
a language and the language					
ware fixed in the second s					
AND					
	+ tui	* Institute	• Micropublic		
Version 2000 Versi	<ul> <li>tod</li> <li>vertice and to the anti-strength</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intel Gaussilitity</li> <li>(50.7.2 kg) and alter (tension No.</li> </ul>	Whi Compatibility     (201 5.7 and after Service M)	• Balan Vergrafe Anstalan	
Long Control	Ind     write stol i vise structure all     write stol i cise structure all	Instantiality     Else 7.3 (2) and sine (tension life     Else 7.3 (2) and sine (tension life     Else 7.3 (2) and sine (tension life	We Graphikay     Store 5.7 and adde Unitedate Hit     Eliter 5.7 and adde Unitedate Hit     Eliter 7.4 vol. and adde (interstore Hit)	Bankar     Uorgrande Analaline     Vorte Shee	
Order Control      Order Control      Order Control      Order	the     white stars () imagestime (a)     white stars () imagestime (a)     white stars () imagestime (a)     white stars () imagestime (a)	Anal Consultating     (56.7.7.5.2) and care (response the     Elder Charge and the     Elder Charge and the     (2000)	Microsoftwy     Eller 5.7 and alter between Hill     Eller 5.7 and alter between Hill     Unit betw	Anne     Urgenet Anne     Vere line     Underen	

Figure 30-38. (vLCM VMware Tools 2 of 4)

# 30.8 Upgrade ESXi Hosts

This section explains how to upgrade your ESXi hosts. Three distinct options are available for upgrading ESXi hosts:

- Use your predefined upgrade baseline
- Boot the ESXi host with an ISO to execute the upgrade during the boot process
- Perform the upgrade through the command line on the ESXi host

Each upgrade process for ESXi hosts is carried out individually, one host at a time.

**Note** The second and third methods for upgrading an ESXi host are not performed using vLCM, but I cover them here so that you are aware of the alternatives to using vLCM.

# 30.8.1 Upgrade Using vLCM Upgrade Baseline

When upgrading your ESXi hosts by using your upgrade baseline, you use only the **Remediate** option, as shown in Figure 30-39, and do not use the **Stage** option. Since your baseline is already attached to the ESXi host, put the host in maintenance mode and click **Remediate** to launch the upgrade remediation.



### Figure 30-39. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 1 of 6)

Upgrading your ESXi host with vLCM is usually a simple process. As long as there are no compatibility problems with the hardware or drivers on your ESXi host, vLCM will handle the upgrade. It installs the new version and reboots the ESXi host, and that is it! In the example shown in Figure 30-39, there was no compatibility issue, so the upgrade succeeded.

**Note** To upgrade from vSphere 6.7 to vSphere 7 using vLCM, your vCenter needs to be at least version 7. Similarly, if upgrading from vSphere 7.x to 8.x, ensure your vCenter is compatible with the newer version.

Figure 30-40 shows that after I upgraded to the latest version and received a *Compliant* status for the upgrade, some patches and updates were still released after this version. These are indicated as *Non-compliant*. It is important to apply these updates to ensure that all ESXi hosts are consistent in their version and build. I used the previous step to update my ESXi host to the latest updates.

E vembu-esci-01	vmwarehome.lab Excross Gelgurs Permisses VHs Database Network	o Lipitetet						
-	Boselines	_						
Horisan Compatibility Whataya Toolo Well Hantsaye	Protated on Hoot Eliki levision 723 ingeristan Venuer (Sill Buill 200000 Euron metaugen		A son compliant of compliant of son-compliant of son-control isotenici		104041	Reacy to remediate     memory on the second provided     or the second provided		
	ATTACK - SETAON STARE PORCEASE							
	C Aleredeetee	*		+ 104	4 555		a lan barran	
	I Prod Bacardy Publical (Productional)	A Rectorate	d Park	Protectured	75,455,8	*0	L'year age	
	Colorad March Patientes (Presidentes)	d Renisrate	r Park	Problems	78.453,4	70	1 processor	
	Ann United Yout Sector (Personal Personal	A West contained	100	Proteine	450,72.7	81, FILS & STOR & STOR FILS & STOR FILS FILS FILS	Turker app	
	Curtoristic Issuine Extension	A 100-CONSER	E Extension	Comm	724,723		Intervieweet	
	Contempore Publica	D Complete	Faith .	Galari	2.0		1-the age	
	C identification	(2 Despised	Verywer	typics.	20.0		to hears age	
	and the second s							124404

Figure 30-40. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 2 of 6)

# 30.8.2 Upgrade Using Boot ISO

Upgrading your ESXi host with an ISO during boot is similar to the initial vSphere installation process described in Chapter 4. Simply attach the ISO to your server boot sequence (using tools like iLO, iDRAC, etc.) and then reboot the server.

As shown in Figure 30-41, the first step is familiar from when you initially installed vSphere: simply press **Enter** to continue.



Figure 30-41. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 3 of 6)

The next step, shown in Figure 30-42, is to determine the partition where your vSphere is installed. Press **F1** to view details about the selected partition. If vSphere is installed on that partition, you will see information regarding the vSphere installation. For purposes of this example, assume that vSphere is installed on the first partition. So, **Enter** to select it and continue with the process.



### Figure 30-42. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 4 of 6)

When you choose to install on the partition where your vSphere is already installed, you get the two options shown in Figure 30-43:

- **Upgrade ESXi, preserve VMFS datastore:** Perform a clean install without deleting any VMs in your Datastores.
- Install ESXi, overwrite VMFS datastore: Perform a clean install while keeping the existing Datastores unformatted.

**Note** If you have local Datastores with VMs or any data on the ESXi host, always ensure you are not formatting the VMFS Datastores. Although it is possible to recover data with the right tools and processes, it's challenging, and you would likely need VMware assistance to help you. But VMware support itself will not perform such recovery. You will always need a third-party tool/service to recover your volumes.

The focus of this section is upgrading ESXI hosts, so select the first option, **Upgrade ESXi, preserve VMFS datastore**, and continue with the upgrade by pressing **Enter**. Next, press **F11** to confirm your decision and start the vSphere upgrade process.



Figure 30-43. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 5 of 5)

After the upgrade starts, vSphere is upgraded using the boot ISO.

# 30.8.3 Upgrade Using the Command Line

Upgrading vSphere via the command line offers a direct and efficient method for administrators to update their systems. I will show both methods to perform an upgrade, whether online or offline. Before you begin, it's essential to verify the current version of vSphere you are running to ensure compatibility with the upgrade path you intend to follow. Here's how to start the process by determining your current vSphere version.

To effectively upgrade vSphere using the command line, you first need to determine whether you'll perform an online or offline upgrade. This choice depends on your current environment and network capabilities. Before starting, it's crucial to verify your existing vSphere version to ensure compatibility and understand your baseline. You can do this by executing the following command in your system's console: vmware -v.

This command will display the current version of your vSphere installation, providing the necessary information to help you choose the appropriate upgrade method and version path.

Before upgrading, ensure that your ESXi host is in maintenance mode. If it is not already in maintenance mode, you can enable it directly from the console with this command:

esxcli system maintenanceMode set --enable true

## **Offline Upgrade**

To manually upgrade vSphere using the command line, you must first log in and connect to your ESXi console via SSH. The initial step involves downloading the offline vSphere bundle, as shown in Figure 30-44. This file is available on the VMware Customer Portal in the same section where you originally downloaded your vSphere ISO.



Figure 30-44. (Upgrading ESXi Hosts 6 of 6)

Next, you need to upload the image to an existing Datastore, and then you can run the upgrade from the ESXi console. For purposes of this demonstration, I uploaded the file VMware-ESXi-7.0U3n-21930508-depot. zip to the Datastore called Data.

When connected to your ESXi console, check the file path:

```
[root@localhost:~] cd /vmfs/volumes/Data/
[root@localhost:/vmfs/volumes/656f007d-d8b7e779-4f69-
005056969eb4] ls -la
-rw-r--r-- 1 root root 379368788 Dec 5 10:54
VMware-ESXi-7.0U3n-21930508-depot.zip
[root@localhost:/vmfs/volumes/656f007d-d8b7e779-4f69-00505
6969eb4]
```

After you have the file full path, you can run the upgrade command:

esxcli software profile update -p ESXi-7.0U3n-21930508-standard -d
/vmfs/volumes/Data/VMware-ESXi-7.0U3n-21930508-depot.zip

After the upgrade is finished, you will see a message like this:

Update Result

Message: The update completed successfully, but the system needs to be rebooted for the changes to be effective. Reboot Required: true

Now reboot your ESXi host, and the online upgrade is done.

### **Online Upgrade**

**Note** The steps outlined here are specifically for installing the standard version of vSphere from VMware, not a customized version provided by a vendor.

To upgrade your ESXi using the online method, first connect to your ESXi console. The next step is to list the available source files from the VMware online repository. You'll want to choose the latest version for the upgrade. To list the files, run the following command in the console:

esxcli software sources profile list -d https://hostupdate. vmware.com/software/VUM/PRODUCTION/main/vmw-depot-index.xml | grep ESXi-7.0U3

Remember, if your firewall blocks access, you will need to enable Internet access through the console. To do this, use this command:

```
esxcli network firewall ruleset set -e true -r httpClient.
```

Once done, you can list the vSphere files in the VMware online repository. Just rerun the command to see the list.

After you've got the list, choose the latest file for the upgrade. For instance, I used the ESXi-7.0U3so-22348808-standard image for the upgrade:

```
esxcli software profile update -d https://hostupdate.vmware.
com/software/VUM/PRODUCTION/main/vmw-depot-index.xml -p
ESXi-7.0U3so-22348808-standard
```

After the upgrade is finished, you will see the same type of message that you get using the offline upgrade:

Update Result Message: The update completed successfully, but the system needs to be rebooted for the changes to be effective. Reboot Required: true

Now reboot your ESXi host, and the online upgrade is done.

# 30.8.4 Summary of ESXi Host Upgrade Options

To wrap up this section about upgrading vSphere, whether you opt for vLCM or manual methods, it is essential to remember the steps and considerations for each approach. When using vLCM, the process is more streamlined and seamlessly integrates with your existing VMware infrastructure, ensuring compatibility and ease of use. On the other hand, manual upgrades require hands-on involvement but offer greater flexibility and control over the upgrade process.

Regardless of which method you choose, always back up your data and configurations before proceeding and completing all compatibility checks. This will help maintain an efficient environment. With these upgrades, your vSphere environment will be kept up to date, secure, and ready to support your evolving virtualization needs.

# 30.9 vSphere Lifecycle Manager Best Practices

This chapter has already touched on several vLCM best practices, emphasizing the significance of a robust update process utilizing appropriate baselines and upgrades, which are crucial for maintaining an efficient vSphere environment. This section delves deeper into best practices, breaking them down into specific sections. The following list provides a comprehensive summary of best practices, from baseline configuration to advanced feature utilization, to enhance your overall management experience in vSphere:

- Establish a baseline for your environment: To begin, set a foundation for your environment. Before utilizing vLCM, it is crucial to determine the hardware and software versions of your ESXi hosts' vCenter Server and other components. Understanding your environment will empower you to make informed choices regarding image creation and deployment strategies.
- Create and maintain standardized image builds: vLCM simplifies image creation and management by allowing you to define standardized image builds. These builds should include the base ESXi image, vendor customizations, and any additional software components required for your environment. By maintaining standardized images, you ensure consistency and simplify remediation processes.
- Leverage image baselines and recommended images: Image baselines provide a foundation for creating and managing standardized images. They define the minimum requirements for ESXi hosts, such as hardware compatibility, security patches, and software updates. vLCM automatically generates recommended images based on image baselines, ensuring your hosts run the latest recommended software versions.

#### • Schedule regular remediation scans and

**remediations:** Schedule regular remediation scans to identify ESXi hosts that are out of compliance with your image baselines. Once scans identify non-compliant hosts, schedule remediations to update those hosts to the latest recommended images; automate these processes to minimize manual intervention and ensure consistent updates across your environment.

- Implement a testing strategy for new images and updates: Not all companies have a test environment to test the new updates/upgrades, but if possible, always use a test ESXi host before deploying new images or updates to production environments. It is crucial to test them in a staging or lab environment. This lets you identify and resolve potential issues before they impact your production workloads. Testing also helps to ensure that new images and updates are compatible with your existing infrastructure.
- Monitor vSphere Lifecycle Manager logs and events: Monitor vLCM logs and events to identify potential issues or errors. This proactive approach can help you troubleshoot problems early and prevent them from impacting your production environment.

In summary, when it comes to vSphere Lifecycle Manager, following best practices is crucial for managing your virtual environment. It involves establishing and regularly updating baselines using recommended images, conducting remediation scans, implementing testing strategies for new updates, and closely monitoring vLCM logs and events. Adhering to these practices can greatly improve your ESXi hosts' efficiency, security, and stability. These approaches focus on maintaining the state and proactive management to ensure that your infrastructure remains up to date and optimized for future demands and challenges.

# 30.10 Troubleshooting vSphere Lifecycle Manager

Troubleshooting vLCM often involves meticulously reviewing ESXi host events and log files. These resources are invaluable in identifying and resolving issues related to vLCM updates. It's important to regularly monitor these logs and events, as they can provide early indications of problems, allowing for prompt and effective resolution.

Sometimes, staging temporary updates or upgrades on an ESXi host might fail for various reasons. Listing them all here is impractical given the wide range of potential errors. To troubleshoot these errors, the first step is to check the events related to your vCenter/ESXi host in vCenter.

However, the update log is the best resource for a more detailed insight into any errors. You can find specific error messages and search online for solutions. The vLCM log, which records these details, is located at /var/ log/esxupdate.log in your ESXi host.

# 30.11 Summary

In this lengthy chapter we thoroughly examined vSphere Lifecycle Manager (vLCM), including its significance as a part of VMware management. To ensure a grasp of this tool, let's revisit the main concepts we have carefully covered. The following list recaps the major sections:

• Introduction to vSphere Lifecycle Manager: This section introduced vLCM, a crucial tool for managing the life cycle of your VMware infrastructure.

- Introduction to Image-Enabled Clusters: This section introduced the key aspects of this vLCM feature.
- **Create an Image-Enabled Cluster:** This section discussed the steps to create an image-enabled cluster, enhancing the management of ESXi hosts.
- **Create and Manage Baselines:** This section guided you through creating and managing baselines for consistent configurations across your environment.
- Add and Remove Baselines to and from ESXi Hosts and Clusters: This section explored how to effectively apply baselines to your ESXi hosts and clusters and how to remove them.
- **Scanning and Remediation:** The process of scanning for compliance and remediating configurations was the key focus of this section.
- **Upgrade VMware Tools with vLCM:** This section demonstrated how using vLCM significantly streamlines the task of upgrading VMware Tools.
- **Upgrade ESXi Hosts:** This section delved into the methods for upgrading your ESXi hosts, ensuring they are up to date.
- **vSphere Lifecycle Manager Best Practices:** This section summarized the best practices for using vLCM efficiently.
- **Troubleshooting vSphere Lifecycle Manager:** This section briefly discussed how to troubleshoot common issues with vLCM.

Next, we will focus on the different types of backups for VMs, examine how these backups function, and review a list of the main third-party tools in the market for backing up VMware environments. Chapter 31 is essential for ensuring the safety and recovery of your virtual machines, an integral part of maintaining a resilient and secure virtual infrastructure.

# **CHAPTER 31**

# vSphere Backup and Disaster Recovery

In the changing world of information technology, the significance of having a backup and disaster recovery strategy cannot be overemphasized. This is particularly true for virtualized environments like those controlled by VMware vSphere, which store numerous essential applications and valuable data. This chapter explores how backup and disaster recovery play a role in maintaining business operations and safeguarding data integrity in virtualized environments.

Backup and disaster recovery is one of the most critical subjects in virtual environments (as in all environments). But in virtual environments, the risks began to significantly escalate in 2020, largely driven by the global shift to remote work due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This period saw a dramatic increase in ransomware attacks as cybercriminals took advantage of the new vulnerabilities exposed by widespread changes in business and personal behaviors.

Cybercrime and ransomware pose significant threats to organizations worldwide. In 2021, a ransomware attack occurred once every 11 seconds, targeting various organizations. This alarming frequency underscores the critical importance of having robust backup environments and comprehensive disaster recovery plans in place. Organizations must recognize that proactive measures are essential to safeguard their data and operations from such pervasive threats.

#### CHAPTER 31 VSPHERE BACKUP AND DISASTER RECOVERY

The goal of this chapter is to give you an understanding of the backup and recovery choices that are available for your virtual environment. This chapter is not intended to be a guide covering all aspects of backup and recovery. Instead, our main focus is on examining the tools and options available in the market, emphasizing their key features and how they apply to a vSphere context. That will provide you with a foundation to make decisions regarding which virtual environment backup solutions align with your specific requirements.

# 31.1 Importance of Backup and Disaster Recovery in Virtualized Environments

Numerous VMs share the same physical hardware resources in a virtualized environment. While this setup maximizes resource utilization and flexibility, it also introduces a single point of failure. A hardware malfunction or a catastrophic event could potentially render multiple VMs inoperative, bringing business operations to a halt.

The essence of backup in this setup is to create copies of data in your virtual environment, ensuring that it can be restored after data loss or corruption. On the other hand, disaster recovery extends beyond just data retrieval. It involves a range of policies, tools, and procedures to quickly restore system operations after a disaster. This includes recovering the data and system settings for running applications.

Furthermore, because virtualized environments are interconnected, it is essential to have a backup and disaster recovery plan that covers the data, settings, networks, and applications. This holistic approach ensures that recovery time is minimized during an event, thereby reducing the impact on business operations.

As we delve into the tools and methodologies offered in the vSphere suite for backup and disaster recovery, it's crucial to grasp and implement robust strategies. The 3-2-1-1-0 backup rule, an evolution of the traditional 3-2-1 strategy, provides a robust framework for data protection. The traditional strategy recommends maintaining three copies of your data: two on different local media and one offsite for disaster recovery. In the context of vSphere, this means maintaining backups of machines and data to ensure redundancy and minimize the risk of data loss caused by device failure or local disasters.

Building upon this concept, the 3-2-1-1-0 rule adapts to data protection requirements in cloud environments. Additionally, the 1-0 part of the rule suggests having one of these copies be immutable or unalterable to prevent data tampering, and ensuring there are zero errors during the backup process.

Additionally, the '1-0' part of the rule suggests having one of these copies be immutable or unalterable to prevent data tampering. The additional '1' refers to keeping an air-gapped copy physically disconnected from the network for security against cyber threats.

Lastly, the '0' emphasizes that there should be no errors during the backup process, underscoring the importance of testing and validating backups for their integrity and reliability. This comprehensive approach ensures that backups are not only secure from tampering and cyber threats but are also accurate and dependable when recovery is necessary.

When discussing incremental and full backups, it's also important to consider recommended retention times, which directly affect the recovery time objective (RTO) in case of a restore. Longer retention times can provide more recovery options but may increase RTO due to the larger volume of data to sift through during recovery. Conversely, shorter retention times can streamline the restoration process, potentially reducing the RTO. Balancing these factors is key to creating an effective disaster recovery strategy that aligns with your specific business continuity goals.

By implementing these principles within a vSphere environment, you can strengthen the reliability of your strategy. This will align with data protection practices, particularly as more organizations embrace cloud solutions. By understanding the significance and implementation of disaster recovery plans, you will be better prepared to maintain integrity and ensure business continuity in your virtualized environment.

# 31.2 vSphere Data Protection Methods and Types

This section discusses the types of backups and options for safeguarding data in VMware vSphere. It is crucial to understand these methods to establish a backup and disaster recovery plan.

The vSphere environment presents both challenges and opportunities, making it crucial to select the right combination of data protection techniques to ensure the security and availability of your virtualized data. Within vSphere, various methods offer distinct advantages. For example, image-based backups capture a complete snapshot of a VM, which can be crucial for quick full-system restores, while incremental backups are efficient for frequent data protection, minimizing storage use and enhancing recovery speed. Each backup strategy is suitable for different scenarios within a vSphere setup, depending on the specific recovery needs and resources of the organization.

The core focus revolves around six pivotal data protection strategies:

- **Image-based backups:** Capture the entire state of a virtual machine at a specific juncture, encompassing the configuration, operating system, applications, and data.
- **File-level backups:** Selectively back up specific files and folders within a virtual machine, catering to protecting critical files and folders.

- **Application-consistent backups:** Ensure applications are backed up in a manner that retains their consistency, which is crucial for applications with distributed data.
- **Incremental backups:** Back up only the altered data since the last full backup, a method that optimizes both time and storage resources.
- **Synthetic full backups:** Merge multiple incremental backups to fabricate a full backup, reducing the resources required for full backups without hampering data restoration capabilities.
- **Offsite backups:** Replicate backups to a remote location, which is a practice pivotal for disaster recovery and ensuring data safety against local catastrophes.

These various backup approaches are designed to meet a variety of needs and situations, offering a system for safeguarding data and ensuring availability in vSphere environments. Depending on the organization's needs, the type of data, and the desired recovery goals, any of these methods can be utilized.

Backup tools are designed to automate and manage these processes, ensuring data protection and availability in your vSphere environment. They offer various features to streamline backups, manage snapshots, and execute replication efficiently, ensuring your data is always safe and recoverable.
# 31.3 Configuring and Managing vSphere VM Backup

In this section, we'll briefly touch on four popular backup tools, namely those from Vembu, Veeam, Hornetsecurity (formerly Altaro), and NAKIVO, known for their efficacy in virtualized environments, particularly when integrated with VMware vSphere.

Each of these backup tools has distinct characteristics. Some come with a more extensive feature set, making them suitable for varied purposes, while others are tailored for specific organizational sizes, such as enterprise or midsized entities. Notably, these tools' pricing and licensing models differ, significantly influencing an organization's choice based on budget and licensing preferences.

This is a quick feature overview for each tool.

## 31.3.1 BDRSuite by Vembu

### • Comprehensive backup:

Backup for VMware, Hyper-V, KVM, Windows, Linux, Mac, NAS, AWS EC2 Instances, Azure VMs, Microsoft 365, Google Workspace and Applications & Databases.

Different editions tailored for small, medium, and enterprise businesses and managed service providers (MSPs).

#### • Defend any ransomware threat:

Advanced security measures like Immutable Storage, Air-gap backups, Hardened Linux repository, Malware Scans before backup/recovery, 3-2-1 Backup, and more.

#### • Instant recovery and granular recovery:

Instantly boot VMs and physical machines to ESXi, Hyper-V, KVM, Azure, AWS, etc.

Granular File & Application-item recovery.

#### • Flexible storage options:

Store backup data on local disk, NAS, SAN, or tape; on cloud storage such as AWS, Azure, Google, Wasabi, etc.; or in BDRCloud.

#### • Automated backup verification:

Automated backup verification with screenshots to verify the data recoverability.

# 31.3.2 Veeam Data Platform (Veeam Backup & Replication)

#### • Security and compliance:

- Guarantee survival by preventing accidental or malicious deletion or encryption of backups.
- Verify security and compliance with automated scans using the Security & Compliance Analyzer.
- Highlight threats, identify risks, and measure the security score of your environment in the Veeam Threat Center.
- Cybersecurity and threat detection:
  - Proactively detect threats with SIEM, YARA, and NIST cybersecurity best practices.

#### CHAPTER 31 VSPHERE BACKUP AND DISASTER RECOVERY

- AI-powered, built-in Malware Detection Engine for real-time data and file extension analysis during backup.
- Proactive Threat Hunting to report backup inconsistencies.
- Option for your cyber-threat tool to report infections directly into the Veeam Incident API.
- Backup and storage efficiency:
  - Direct-to-Object storage backups, trusted immutability, and advanced cyber resiliency.
  - Storage-Efficient Immutability with ease using native APIs on external dedupe storage.
  - Backup of Object Storage with powerful granular restore capabilities.
- Cross-platform protection:
  - Secure backup and fast, reliable recovery for Cloud, Virtual, Physical, SaaS, and Kubernetes applications across complex environments.

## **31.3.3 Hornetsecurity VM Backup**

### Tamper-proof backup:

• Backup data remains tamper-proof under the defined immutable policy, providing an extra layer of security against ransomware attacks.

- Ease of use and setup:
  - Get started quickly without the need for complex configurations.
  - Easy-to-use, intuitive UI for implementing a reliable backup strategy.
- Storage efficiency and cost-savings:
  - Massive storage savings with Augmented Inline Deduplication.
  - Efficient backup setup with minimal RPO and RTO.
- Centralized management:
  - Centralized management of backups and various accounts via one platform, the Control Panel.
- Continuous data protection and WAN-optimized replication:
  - Reduce downtime and data loss with Continuous Data Protection and WAN-Optimized Replication.
- Ransomware protection:
  - Ransomware Protection leveraging Immutable Cloud Storage.

## 31.3.4 NAKIVO Backup & Replication

#### • Infrastructure scans:

• Regular scans to automatically protect VMs, physical machines, and Amazon EC2 instances.

#### CHAPTER 31 VSPHERE BACKUP AND DISASTER RECOVERY

- Microsoft Office 365 data protection:
  - Ensures the safety and integrity of Microsoft Office 365 data.
- Complete data protection for servers and workstations:
  - Provides data protection for Windows/Linux servers and workstations.
- Backup features:
  - Remote Backup, Deduplication, Data Encryption, Disaster Recovery, and more.
  - Fast and reliable backups with multiple recovery options to resume IT operations without downtime during any failure

# 31.4 Summary

Having a well-designed backup and disaster recovery plan is essential for safeguarding virtualized environments. vSphere offers a range of data protection methods, such as image-based offsite backups, which provide security measures tailored to different business requirements. Choosing tools like those from Vembu, Veeam, Hornetsecurity, or NAKIVO further enhances this resilience by offering reliable solutions.

However, maintaining a backup and disaster recovery strategy is an endeavor. It involves adapting to emerging technologies and threats to ensure data protection, business continuity, and operational resilience. As the landscape evolves, so must our backup and disaster recovery approaches. This underscores the dedication to protecting your data and preserving the integrity of your infrastructure. This chapter introduces several key VMware products that are compatible with and integrate into the vSphere environment. We will explore VMware NSX, which offers capabilities for network virtualization, VMware vSAN for software-defined storage solutions, and VMware Site Recovery Manager (SRM), a tool that simplifies the planning and implementation of disaster recovery. Additionally, we'll touch upon VMware vSphere with Tanzu, which combines Kubernetes with the vSphere platform to enable application deployment and management. Each of these products plays a crucial role within the VMware ecosystem by providing specialized functionalities that expand the capabilities of your virtualized infrastructure.

The goal is to give you an overview of each product, explaining its features, use cases, and how it integrates with vSphere. This approach aims to provide you with a solid understanding of the VMware ecosystem and how these tools can be effectively utilized alongside vSphere, without delving into detailed technical information or step-by-step instructions.

## **CHAPTER 32**

# Other VMware Products

This chapter introduces several key VMware products that are compatible and integrate with vSphere. It doesn't dig into detailed technical information or provide step-by-step instructions. Instead, the goal is to give you an overview of each VMware product, explaining its features, use cases, and how it integrates with vSphere. By doing so, I hope to provide you with an understanding of the VMware ecosystem and how these tools can be effectively utilized alongside vSphere.

# 32.1 VMware NSX: Network Virtualization

VMware NSX enables developers to build cloud-native application settings with an agile software-defined infrastructure. As depicted in Figure 32-1, NSX is designed to make networking, security, automation, and operations accessible for new application frameworks and designs that use a variety of endpoint environments and technology stacks. NSX works with public clouds, bare-metal workloads, cloud-native apps, and various clouds.

Development organizations typically handle, run, and use NSX. IT and development teams can use NSX to choose the best tools for their projects.

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS



Figure 32-1. Image source ©VMware

VMware NSX is a network virtualization and security platform that encompasses everything from layer 2 to layer 7. It takes a software approach to extend networking and security across data centers, clouds, and application frameworks. By virtualizing network functions, NSX brings networking and security to the application's running environment, whether on virtual machines, physical servers, or other platforms.

## 32.1.1 What NSX Does

NSX isolates networks while providing software-based solutions for networking and security services. Its primary purpose is to manage and optimize network resources, ensuring a programmable infrastructure. The key components of VMware NSX consist of virtualized networking, security services, and a management plane. Each serves roles within the network infrastructure.

## 32.1.2 Challenges Addressed by NSX

How NSX Works:

An overview of the key components and mechanisms of VMware NSX, illustrating the core functionality that enables network virtualization.

NSX Use Cases:

Various scenarios where NSX proves invaluable, detailing how it addresses specific networking needs and challenges across different industries.

NSX addresses the following challenges:

- **Complex network configurations:** NSX simplifies complex network configurations, which makes managing and optimizing the network infrastructure easier.
- **Scalability issues:** NSX provides a scalable solution to growing network demands, especially in large enterprises with expanding data center operations.
- Network security concerns: Through its security services, NSX helps address network security concerns by providing micro-segmentation, firewalling, and other security features.
- **Multi-cloud networking challenges:** NSX extends networking and security across data centers, clouds, and various application frameworks, addressing the challenges of multi-cloud networking.

## 32.1.3 How NSX Works

- Virtual switching: NSX re-creates the entire network model in software, enabling virtual machines to communicate with one another in a logically abstracted layer independent of the underlying physical network.
- **Logical routing and switching:** NSX provides logical routing and switching, thus enabling connectivity among virtual machines across different networks and locations, all while keeping the traffic within the data center.

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS

- **Security services:** NSX provides distributed firewalling VPN services and the tools to create security groups and policies for micro-segmentation to secure traffic at a granular level.
- Network function virtualization: NSX enables network services to be abstracted from the underlying hardware, turning them into software-based services, which are easier to manage and scale.

### 32.1.4 NSX Use Cases

- Micro-segmentation: NSX facilitates microsegmentation of the network, enabling precise security policies to be applied at the individual workload level. This dramatically improves security within the data center by reducing the attack surface.
- Automated network provisioning: With NSX, network configurations such as switching, routing, and security policies can be programmatically provisioned. This automation speeds up deployment times, ensuring network services are available when and where needed.
- **Multi-cloud networking:** NSX provides consistent networking and security for applications running across multiple clouds. This is crucial for enterprises with a multi-cloud strategy, ensuring operational consistency and reducing complexity.
- **Disaster recovery:** NSX can enhance disaster recovery solutions by simplifying the network configurations required for a secondary recovery site, making the recovery process more efficient and less error-prone.

- Load balancing and optimized performance: NSX includes load-balancing capabilities to distribute network traffic evenly across several servers or network paths, ensuring that no single server becomes a bottleneck and improving overall application responsiveness and availability.
- Visibility and troubleshooting: Through its monitoring and analytics features, NSX provides insights into network performance and security, aiding in troubleshooting and ensuring the network operates as expected.
- **Remote access and VPN services:** NSX offers VPN services to connect remote users and sites to the corporate network securely. This is particularly useful for remote and branch office connectivity.
- **Container networking:** NSX provides networking and security services for containerized applications and Kubernetes environments, ensuring consistent operations across VMs and containers.
- Secure access to applications: By utilizing the security services in NSX, organizations can ensure secure access to applications, regardless of where they are located on-premises or in the cloud.
- **Compliance and regulatory adherence:** NSX aids in compliance with various regulatory standards by providing robust security features like microsegmentation, firewalling, and encryption.

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS

Each of these use cases demonstrates the versatility and capability of VMware NSX in addressing modern network and security challenges in various operational scenarios.

# 32.2 VMware vSAN: Software-Defined Storage

VMware vSAN is an enterprise-class software-defined storage area network (SAN) solution that operates within hyper-converged infrastructure (HCI) platforms. As a software layer that runs atop the ESXi hypervisor, vSAN is fully integrated with VMware vSphere, enhancing storage capabilities and management directly within the virtualized environment.

vSAN groups local or directly connected storage devices to make a single pool that all hosts in a vSAN cluster can use. In a hybrid vSAN system, magnetic drives are used for storage, and flash devices are used for cache. All-flash vSAN groups store data and add more space on flash drives. The vSAN Express Storage Architecture uses fast network ports and NVMe-based TLC flash drives. For the software-defined data center (SDDC), these designs offer a shared datastore that is resilient and optimized for flash.

With Storage Policy-Based Management (SPBM), vSAN gets rid of the need for external shared storage and makes setting up storage easier. With virtual machine storage rules, you can set the needs and limits of storage. In Figure 32-2 shows an example of vSAN architecture.



### Figure 32-2. VMware vSAN

In a vSphere environment, VMware vSAN utilizes the cluster configuration to create a shared and distributed datastore. This datastore is managed directly by the ESXi hypervisor, enhancing user-friendliness. It allows users to easily specify their storage requirements, such as performance levels and availability needs. As a result, VMware vSAN significantly simplifies storage management within VMware environments.

### 32.2.1 What vSAN Does

VMware vSAN is a software-defined storage solution that consolidates storage resources across a vSphere cluster, creating a shared and distributed datastore. It combines directly attached data storage devices to

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS

provide a datastore suitable for virtual machines. Virtualizing the storage vSAN streamlines storage management, offers flexibility in resource allocation, and reduces ownership costs.

## 32.2.2 Key Functionalities of VMware vSAN

VMware vSAN offers the following key functionalities:

- Hyperconverged infrastructure (HCI): vSAN combines storage, computing, and networking into a single system to reduce data center complexity and increase scalability.
- **Storage policies:** vSAN enables the definition of storage requirements like performance and availability per application.
- Data protection and disaster recovery: vSAN provides native fault tolerance and supports features like replication and clustering services for data integrity and availability. vSAN does not include a native backup solution. Effective data protection within a vSAN environment typically requires integrating third-party backup tools, like the ones discussed in Chapter 31.
- **Storage efficiency:** vSAN Offers storage-saving features like deduplication, compression, and erasure coding to optimize storage utilization.

## 32.2.3 Challenges Addressed by VMware vSAN

VMware vSAN addresses the following challenges:

- **Storage complexity:** vSAN simplifies storage management in virtualized environments, reducing the need for traditional storage systems and expertise.
- **Costly storage infrastructure:** vSAN reduces capital and operational expenses by utilizing existing hardware or cost-effective, industry-standard servers.
- **Scalability limitations:** vSAN provides a scalable storage solution that grows with the needs of the business without requiring large upfront investments.
- **Performance bottlenecks:** vSAN helps overcome traditional storage performance bottlenecks through its performance optimization features.

## 32.2.4 How VMware vSAN Works

- **Datastore pooling:** vSAN aggregates local storage resources across ESXi hosts in a vSphere cluster to create a shared datastore.
- Storage policy-based management (SPBM): vSAN facilitates creating and applying storage policies to ensure the desired level of service.
- **Distributed RAID and erasure coding:** vSAN provides data protection at a lower storage cost by distributing data across multiple hosts in a cluster.
- **Data locality:** vSAN ensures data is kept close to the workload, improving performance by reducing the distance data travels.

## 32.2.5 Use Cases for VMware vSAN

- **Hyperconverged infrastructure (HCI):** Organizations can reduce the complexity of their data center by consolidating storage, computing, and networking into a single system with vSAN, aiding in more straightforward management and scalability.
- Automated storage management: vSAN Storage Policy-Based Management allows for automated control over storage resources, reducing the manual effort required to manage storage allocations and ensure compliance with storage policies.
- **Cost-effective storage solution:** Organizations can significantly reduce their storage infrastructure costs by utilizing existing or industry-standard hardware. vSAN's software-defined approach offers a more cost-effective solution compared to traditional storage systems.
- **Disaster recovery and business continuity:** vSAN supports native fault-tolerance, backup, and replication features, making it a suitable solution for organizations looking to improve their disaster recovery and business continuity strategies.
- **Dynamic scalability:** As organizational storage needs grow, vSAN allows for nondisruptive scaling, adding more storage resources to the cluster without downtime.

- **Optimized performance:** With features like an increased write buffer and efficient I/O handling, vSAN helps overcome traditional storage performance bottlenecks, ensuring optimal performance for critical applications.
- Secure data at rest: vSAN provides encryption for data at rest, ensuring that stored data is protected against unauthorized access.
- **Storage efficiency:** Organizations can optimize storage utilization by utilizing vSAN storage-saving features like deduplication, compression, and erasure coding, reducing the amount of physical storage required.
- **Support for containerized workloads:** vSAN supports Kubernetes and containerized workloads, allowing for consistent storage services across traditional and modern application architectures.
- Remote office/branch office (ROBO) deployments: vSAN is well-suited for ROBO deployments where simplified, cost-effective, and highly available storage solutions are crucial. Its ability to run on industrystandard servers makes it a practical choice for such scenarios.
- VMware Cloud Foundation (VCF) deployments: vSAN is a crucial component of VCF, providing the storage foundation for deploying the VMware SDDC (software-defined data center) stack.

The preceding use cases indicate how vSAN can tackle storage issues and provide an automated and effective solution in various operational scenarios.

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS

Using a software-defined approach, vSAN meets the requirements of data centers by delivering scalable and optimized storage services. Its capabilities align perfectly with the challenges faced by data centers that need to provide a scalable and efficient storage solution.

# 32.3 VMware Site Recovery Manager

VMware Site Recovery Manager (SRM) is an add-on for VMware vCenter that enables organizations to recover from disasters, move sites, and test without interruption.

Several replication options, such as VMware vSphere Replication, work with Site Recovery Manager to make moving, recovering, testing, re-protecting, and failing back virtual machine workloads automatic, as depicted in Figure 32-3.



Figure 32-3. VMware Site Recovery Manager

Two sites, a protected site and a recovery site, use Site Recovery Manager servers to arrange how VMware vCenter Server works. This setup is configured so that when virtual machines at the protected site shut down, copies of them start up at the recovery site. The recovery site VMs take on the role of offering the same services as the protected site VMs by using data that has been copied from the protected site.

With SRM, you can automate the failover and failback process, reducing downtime and enhancing availability. This simplifies disaster recovery and ensures that your business continuity plans are robust and effective.

## 32.3.1 What VMware SRM Does

VMware Site Recovery Manager is a solution for disaster recovery and business continuity. It enables you to plan, test, and execute the recovery of VMs between a protected vCenter Server site and a recovery vCenter Server site. Seamlessly integrated with vCenter, SRM guarantees disaster recovery for environments by minimizing downtime and data loss during outages.

## 32.3.2 Key Functionalities of VMware SRM

- Automated disaster recovery: SRM automates the recovery process, ensuring rapid restoration of services post-disaster.
- **Nondisruptive testing:** SRM allows for testing recovery plans without affecting production environments.
- **Orchestrated recovery:** SRM coordinates the order of recovery to maintain application dependencies across multitier applications.
- **Failback and reprotection:** SRM simplifies the failback process to the original site and re-protects the virtual machines for future recovery needs.

## 32.3.3 Challenges Addressed by VMware SRM

- **Downtime minimization:** SRM significantly reduces downtime during unforeseen outages by automating and orchestrating disaster recovery.
- **Complex recovery processes:** SRM simplifies and automates complex recovery processes, ensuring accurate and timely recovery.
- **Business continuity assurance:** SRM provides the tools to test and validate recovery plans, ensuring business continuity regularly.

### 32.3.4 How VMware SRM Works

- **Protection groups:** SRM defines groups of virtual machines for protection and recovery.
- **Recovery plans:** SRM specifies the steps necessary for a coordinated recovery of applications.
- Automated workflows: SRM executes recovery steps in an automated, preplanned manner to ensure rapid recovery.
- Failover and failback: SRM automates the failover to the recovery site and failback to the original site, maintaining data integrity and availability.

## 32.3.5 Use Cases for VMware SRM

- **Disaster recovery automation:** Organizations with critical applications can leverage SRM to automate their disaster recovery processes, ensuring rapid recovery and minimal downtime.
- **Business continuity planning:** SRM provides the tools necessary for planning, testing, and executing recovery plans, ensuring business operations continue seamlessly during and after a disaster.
- **Compliance and reporting:** With its nondisruptive testing and detailed reporting, SRM helps organizations meet compliance requirements and provides evidence of recoverability.
- **Data center migration:** SRM can be used for planned migrations of workloads between data centers with minimal disruption.
- **Multisite workload mobility:** SRM facilitates workload mobility between sites, ensuring optimal performance and availability.
- Enhanced cloud resilience: In cloud environments like Azure VMware Solution, SRM enhances resilience by orchestrating and automating the recovery process.

These use cases portray how VMware SRM can ensure business continuity, reduce recovery times, and improve the overall resilience of virtualized and cloud environments.

# 32.4 VMware vSphere with VMware Tanzu

Running containerized apps in vSphere is possible with VMware vSphere with VMware Tanzu (often shortened to "vSphere with Tanzu"). On vSphere clusters, vSphere administrators set up Tanzu to make the platform developer-ready so that DevOps engineers and application developers can run Kubernetes apps independently.

*Supervisors* are vSphere groups that have been set up to work with Tanzu. vSphere managers can set up vSphere Namespaces on the Supervisor with a certain amount of memory, CPU, and storage. After setting up vSphere Pods, VMs, or upstream Kubernetes clusters through VMware Tanzu Kubernetes Grid, DevOps workers and application developers can run Kubernetes containers within the vSphere Namespaces. Your apps can then run inside these clusters.

vSphere with Tanzu is the next-gen vSphere designed for containerized applications, connecting the divide between IT operations and developers by offering a cohesive foundation for contemporary, cloudnative applications. It merges a Kubernetes control plane directly on the hypervisor level, empowering vSphere clusters for workload administration.

This fusion eases the execution of Kubernetes applications in a selfserve approach, streamlining the deployment and control of containerized applications on vSphere clusters.

## 32.4.1 What vSphere with Tanzu Does

vSphere with Tanzu bridges the gap between IT operations and developers by creating a developer-ready platform where Kubernetes applications can be run self-service. It modernizes the vSphere environment to accommodate containerized applications alongside traditional VM-based workloads, making it a single solution for both modern cloud-native applications and traditional applications, whether on-premises or in public clouds. See Figure 32-4.



Figure 32-4. image source ©VMware

# 32.4.2 Key Functionalities of vSphere with Tanzu

- **Kubernetes integration:** One of the trademark features of vSphere with Tanzu is the integration of Kubernetes, allowing organizations to run and support container-based modern applications on their existing infrastructure.
- Self-service for developers: vSphere with Tanzu provides a self-service platform for DevOps engineers and application developers to run Kubernetes applications.

#### CHAPTER 32 OTHER VMWARE PRODUCTS

• Support for containerized and traditional workloads: vSphere with Tanzu supports containerized applications and traditional VM-based workloads in a unified environment.

# 32.4.3 Challenges vSphere with Tanzu Addresses

- **Modern application deployment:** vSphere with Tanzu helps in deploying modern, cloud-native applications in a vSphere environment.
- **Developer and IT operations collaboration:** vSphere with Tanzu bridges the gap between developers and IT operations, providing a common platform to work on.
- **Infrastructure modernization:** vSphere with Tanzu aids in modernizing the existing infrastructure to support modern application architectures.

## 32.4.4 How vSphere with Tanzu Works

- Enabling Tanzu on vSphere Clusters: vSphere administrators enable vSphere with Tanzu on vSphere clusters to create a developer-ready platform.
- **Running Kubernetes applications:** vSphere with Tanzu allows for running Kubernetes applications in a self-service manner, with the necessary security, device, and networking configurations.

• **Management of VM images:** Through VM Image Service, vSphere with Tanzu enables VM images to be managed in a self-service manner using Kubernetes APIs.

## 32.4.5 Use Cases for vSphere with Tanzu

- **Application modernization:** vSphere with Tanzu supports modernizing existing applications and developing new cloud-native applications.
- **Infrastructure modernization:** vSphere with Tanzu enables data center infrastructure to be modernized to support both traditional and modern applications.
- **DevOps and Agile development:** vSphere with Tanzu accelerates DevOps and Agile development practices by providing developers with a self-service platform to deploy and manage applications.
- **Multi-cloud operations:** vSphere with Tanzu extends the vSphere environment to public clouds, enabling consistent operations across a hybrid cloud environment.

The integration of Kubernetes within vSphere, provided by Tanzu, allows organizations to extend their existing infrastructure to support modern application development and deployment practices, thereby aligning with DevOps.

# 32.5 Summary

This chapter focused on additional VMware products that complement vSphere functionality. It addressed challenges in areas like networking, storage, disaster recovery, and modern application development.

For networking, VMware NSX virtualizes network functions, simplifying management and enhancing security across data centers and clouds.

In storage, VMware vSAN utilizes a software-defined approach, pooling local storage to create shared storage for virtual machines.

Disaster recovery is aided by VMware Site Recovery Manager (SRM). SRM replicates VMs to a secondary site and automates the failover process.

Finally, VMware vSphere with Tanzu integrates a Kubernetes control plane within vSphere. This empowers developers to deploy and manage containerized applications independently.

## **CHAPTER 33**

# VMware Certification Overview

A VMware certification is about proving your skills and advancing your career by joining a respected and esteemed community of professionals.

After you finish reading this book, you will be prepared to embark on the journey to become VMware certified. That journey will help you open up possibilities, gain an advantage, and develop a deeper understanding of VMware technologies.

This chapter sheds light on the path to obtaining VMware certification. It describes several certifications offered by VMware, explains their benefits, and guides you on preparing to achieve and maintain these highly demanded credentials. Since this book is about vSphere, we will focus only on certifications related to vSphere and data center virtualization. Figure 33-1 depicts the official path for obtaining these certifications.

While the VCP-DCV (VMware Certified Professional - Data Center Virtualization) is a common starting point for those looking to get certified in VMware technologies, it's important to note that while obtaining the first certification is not mandatory to pursue higher certifications, completing the recommended training courses is typically required. **Note** For a detailed understanding of the prerequisites and recommended training for each certification exam, please visit the VMware Certification page https://www.vmware.com/learning/certification.html and select the Data Center Virtualization category. This resource provides comprehensive guidance on the qualifications needed and outlines the suggested learning paths for achieving each certification level.



Figure 33-1. image source ©VMware

Some of these certifications also include coverage of tools like vSAN and SRM, but the central core continues to be vSphere.

# 33.1 VMware Certification Importance, Tracks, and Benefits

VMware certifications hold a level of respect in the IT field because they confirm the proficiency and knowledge of professionals in VMware technologies and platforms. These certifications are available in tracks that cater to career paths within virtualization and cloud computing. Let's dig deeper into why VMware certifications are valuable and the different VMware data center-specific certifications that are available and their advantages.

The following are a few of the benefits of obtaining VMware certifications:

- **Recognition in the industry:** VMware certifications have a reputation for demonstrating a professional's expertise in managing, deploying, and designing VMware solutions. These certifications validate IT professionals' skill sets, helping them to stand out in the job market.
- **Employability:** Obtaining VMware certification can greatly enhance employment prospects because employers often prioritize candidates with recognized certifications. Certification showcases an individual's commitment and proficiency in the field, making them a valuable addition to any organization.

The following are the VMware certifications that focus on data center virtualization. They are presented in the order shown in Figure 33-1, which is the official VMware track for obtaining these certifications.

• VMware Certified Technical Associate - Data Center Virtualization (VCTA-DCV): This credential attests to a person's fundamental understanding and capabilities in data center virtualization utilizing VMware vSphere

#### CHAPTER 33 VMWARE CERTIFICATION OVERVIEW

alongside associated technologies. It's tailored for newcomers to the field, eyeing a career intertwined with virtualization technologies. Professionals who earn this certification often step into the roles of entrylevel virtualization administrators and technicians.

- VMware Certified Professional Data Center Virtualization (VCP-DCV): This credential is designed for IT professionals who install, configure, manage, and optimize VMware solutions. It's the most common starting point for those looking to get certified in VMware technologies.
- VMware Certified Advanced Professional Data Center Virtualization (VCAP-DCV): This credential is aimed at professionals who design and build VMware solutions (VCAP-DCV Design) or manage and optimize VMware solutions (VCAP-DCV Deploy).
- VMware Certified Design Expert Data Center Virtualization (VCDX-DCV): This is the highest level of certification offered by VMware, designed for architects and solutions experts heavily involved in designing VMware solutions in a multidomain environment.

To pursue the VMware Certified Design Expert - Data Center Virtualization (VCDX-DCV) certification, candidates typically need to have advanced credentials; however, obtaining both the VCAP-DCV Design and VCAP-DCV Deploy certifications is not mandatory but highly recommended. The VCDX-DCV is geared towards those who have a deep understanding of VMware core components and their relation to the data center as well as the ability to design and implement VMware solutions in a multi-domain environment. Achieving VCAP certifications can significantly enhance a candidate's understanding and skills, making them better prepared for the VCDX-DCV certification process, which includes a rigorous evaluation of your design work through design defense.

For those aiming for the VCDX-DCV, it is advisable to achieve at least one VCAP certification (either Design or Deploy) that aligns with your specific career focus and expertise, as it provides a solid foundation and necessary skills for tackling the complex VCDX-DCV track.

The diversified certification tracks offered by VMware are meticulously crafted to cater to different career aspirations within the virtualization and cloud computing sectors, allowing professionals to choose a path that aligns well with their career objectives.

## 33.2 Preparing for VMware Certification Exams

Embarking on the journey to earn a VMware certification requires a strategic approach to ensure success. This section provides a roadmap for aspiring VMware professionals to prepare efficiently for their certification exams.

The following are, in general, the topics that the exam covers:

- Administering Virtual Networks: Configuring and ensuring seamless operation of virtual network settings
- Virtual Machine Oversight: Effective management and configuration of virtual machines
- **vSphere Deployment and Configuration:** Setting up vSphere and ensuring its proper installation
- Handling Storage Resources: Management and optimization of storage settings

#### CHAPTER 33 VMWARE CERTIFICATION OVERVIEW

- **Upholding Security Standards:** Ensuring compliance and bolstering security measures
- **Overseeing vCenter Server Operations:** Management and routine configuration of vCenter Server functionalities

**Note** The following VMware exam preparation guide, will always provide you with the latest updates: https://www.vmware.com/content/dam/digitalmarketing/vmware/en/pdf/certification/vmw-vcp-dcv-exam-preparation-guide.pdf

To effectively prepare for a VMware certification exam, consider the following steps:

- **Familiarize yourself with the exam objectives:** The exam objectives outline the topics covered in the exam. You can find these objectives on the VMware website.
- **Refer to the VMware documentation:** The official VMware documentation is a resource for information on the VMware products and technologies. It is available on the VMware website.
- Enroll in a VMware training course: VMware Authorized Training Centers (VATCs) offer training courses tailored to help you prepare for VMware certification exams.
- Utilize practice exams: Practice exams are tools to evaluate your knowledge and identify improvement areas. You can access practice exams through the VMware website or from third-party vendors.

Here are some extra tips to help you prepare for a VMware certification exam:

- **Start your studies:** Avoid cramming everything into the last minute. Allow yourself time to study and review the exam objectives.
- **Create a study schedule:** Allocate time each day or week for exam preparation.
- Find a study partner or group: Studying with others can keep you motivated and focused.
- **Take breaks:** Avoid studying for hours without taking breaks. Stand up and move around every 20 to 30 minutes to prevent burnout.
- **Ensure you get sleep:** Being well-rested is crucial on the day of the exam.
- Use VMware Hands-on Labs: Use the free VMware Hands-on Labs for preparation for your exams: https://labs.hol.vmware.com. Filter the HOLs to vSphere topics by using the Filter By pane on the left.

## 33.3 Maintaining and Renewing VMware Certification

This section aims to provide a comprehensive overview of the current state of maintaining and renewing VMware certifications, emphasizing the importance of continuous learning and the flexibility offered by VMware in this process.

In today's rapidly evolving IT landscape, maintaining up-to-date professional certifications is essential. VMware, a leader in cloud infrastructure and digital workspace technology, recognizes the

#### CHAPTER 33 VMWARE CERTIFICATION OVERVIEW

importance of staying current and has adopted a flexible approach to certification maintenance and renewal. The changes introduced in 2019 have simplified the process in several key ways:

• No Mandatory Recertification Requirement: As of February 5, 2019, VMware removed the mandatory recertification requirement for its certifications, including the VMware Certified Professional (VCP) and VMware Certified Advanced Professional (VCAP). This means that once a VMware certification is achieved, it remains valid indefinitely without the need for compulsory renewal.

#### • The Value of Voluntary Recertification:

While recertification is no longer mandatory, VMware strongly recommends that professionals continue to update their certifications. The technology field is constantly advancing, and staying informed is crucial for maintaining expertise. Voluntary recertification demonstrates a commitment to professional growth, enhancing your credibility and value to employers and clients.

#### • Upgrading Certifications:

VMware offers several paths for professionals looking to upgrade their certifications:

- For Recent Certifications: Holders of recent certifications (e.g., VCP-DCV 2022) can upgrade to the current year's certification (e.g., VCP-DCV 2024) by completing a qualifying course or passing the relevant exam.
- For Older Certifications (2-3 versions back): Upgrade to the current year's certification by passing the relevant exam.

- For Certifications Four or More Versions Back: Complete a qualifying course and pass the qualifying exam in the same track.
- **Certifications in Different Tracks:** If within three versions of the most current, passing the qualifying exam in the same track is required.

**Note** Since policies and procedures around VMware certifications can evolve, please refer to the official VMware certification site for the most current and detailed information. This resource provides up-to-date details on certification paths, prerequisites, and exams to ensure your information is accurate.



Figure 33-2 provides an example of VCP paths.

Figure 33-2. image source ©VMware

#### CHAPTER 33 VMWARE CERTIFICATION OVERVIEW

VMware recognizes the significance of staying up to date with industry trends and aligning development with career goals. By offering a flexible recertification approach, VMware empowers IT professionals to adapt to the changing needs of the industry.

Continuing to uphold and update VMware certifications after 2019 involves adaptability and a dedication to growth. While certifications have no expiration date, it is highly appreciated to stay up to date by pursuing paths of advancement. This strategy guarantees that VMware professionals stay ahead in terms of industry expertise and abilities, fully prepared to tackle the evolving landscape of IT challenges.

# 33.4 Summary

This chapter explored VMware certifications, their importance, pathways, and the dedication they demand. Next, Chapter 34 wraps up our extensive voyage into the realm of VMware vSphere by encouraging you to ponder everything you have assimilated and anticipate possibilities and advancements in virtualization.
# Embracing the Future of Virtualization with VMware vSphere

Now that you've completed your journey through the pages of *VMware vSphere Essentials: A Practical Approach to vSphere Deployment and Management,* it's time to reflect on the journey and look forward to the future possibilities in virtualization.

This book, inspired by a series of blog posts and fueled by my passion for VMware technology, has covered various virtualization topics to demystify and clarify the complexities of VMware vSphere for readers from diverse backgrounds.

From the chapters that laid down the foundations of virtualization concepts, benefits, and types to the chapters that explored vSphere's intricate components, I hope this guide has been an enlightening experience. We delved into aspects such as deploying and managing vSphere environments while addressing areas like networking, storage, and high availability. Whether you're new or experienced in this field, my goal has always been to illuminate the path toward mastering virtualization with simplicity and depth.

#### CHAPTER 34 EMBRACING THE FUTURE OF VIRTUALIZATION WITH VMWARE VSPHERE

Your journey didn't stop at understanding how vSphere operates. You also explored features, resource optimization techniques, performance monitoring strategies, and automation. These topics serve as stepping stones toward gaining mastery over a fundamental technology in today's computing landscape.

This book was also intended to be a guide if you aspire to validate your expertise through VMware certifications. It will help you navigate the world of concepts and prepare you for certification exams. The knowledge shared in this book goes beyond theory; it provides tools to enhance your abilities in the IT field.

Whether you aspire to be an IT professional, a system administrator, a consultant, a trainer, or simply someone who is passionate about technology, your adventure with VMware vSphere is only getting started.

Stay curious, never stop learning, and be ready to adapt. The field of virtualization is constantly changing. Your ability to adapt and continuously learn will be the key to your success.

As we conclude, it is essential to acknowledge that the journey with VMware vSphere does not stop here. The IT landscape is constantly changing, with virtualization being at its core. VMware vSphere continues evolving, adapting, and leading in this changing environment, bringing forth challenges and opportunities. The knowledge gained from this book serves as a foundation, but the future demands continual learning, adaptability, and an insatiable thirst for knowledge.

In conclusion, this book is more than a guide; it is a trusted companion on your journey into the dynamic world of VMware vSphere. Your adventure in virtualization is only beginning. Embrace the future armed with the knowledge you have acquired and fueled by your curiosity.

I appreciate your decision to select this guide as your companion on this journey into virtualization and cloud computing. Here's to the many more virtualization adventures that lie ahead!

#### CHAPTER 34 EMBRACING THE FUTURE OF VIRTUALIZATION WITH VMWARE VSPHERE

As I embarked on writing this book in mid-2023, VMware was on the verge of launching vSphere 8 in November of that year. Given the timing and the newness of vSphere 8, I decided to concentrate the content on vSphere 7. This decision was made to provide the most stable and comprehensive guidance based on well-established features and functionalities. However, it's important for readers to know that the principles and core features discussed are largely applicable to vSphere 8 as well, ensuring the relevance of this book beyond the version it primarily addresses.

Since the initial writing, there have been significant developments within VMware, including an acquisition by Broadcom. Despite these changes, the foundational aspects of vSphere have remained consistent, and I estimate that approximately 80% of the content in this book is still accurate for users of vSphere 8. The exceptions primarily include specific features that may have evolved and adjustments in maximum and minimum setting values.

I assure you that while this book focuses on vSphere 7, its applications and insights remain valuable and relevant, providing a solid foundation for understanding and working effectively with VMware's solutions, including the newer iterations.

## Index

## Α

Active LACP mode, 308 Active snapshot, 429 All-Paths-Down (APD), 160, 369–371 Application virtualization, 4 Auto Deploy, 489–491 Automatic DRS, 342 Automatic offline vCenter update, 564 Automatic online vCenter update, 554–558 Automatic vCenter upgrade, 565–571

## В

Backup and disaster recovery configuring and managing, 636 data protection methods and types, 634, 635 Hornetsecurity VM Backup, 638, 639 NAKIVO backup & replication, 639, 640 strategy, 640 Veeam data platform, 637, 638 Vembu, 636

virtual environments, 631 virtualized environments, 632-634.640 Back Up Key Provider, 243 Backup software, 433, 445 Backup tools, 635, 636 Baselines, vLCM add/remove baselines to ESXi hosts/clusters, 598, 599 administrators, 585 create and maintain, 585 critical host patches, 586, 587 extension baseline creation, 588.589 hosts. 585 host upgrade, 587 non-critical host patches, 587 patch baseline creation, 590-593 standards/specifications, 585 type, 586 upgrade baseline creation, 594-597 **BDRSuite by Vembu** automated backup verification, 637 comprehensive backup, 636 flexible storage options, 637

© Luciano Patrão 2024 L. Patrão, VMware vSphere Essentials, https://doi.org/10.1007/979-8-8688-0208-9

BDRSuite by Vembu (cont.) instant and granular recovery, 637 ransoware threat defending, 636 Boot-bank 0, 84 Boot-bank 1, 84 Boot bank partitions, 84 Boot device partitions Boot bank, 84 Boot-bank 0, 84 Boot-bank 1, 84 ESXi host, 83 ESX-OSData, 84, 85 partition layout, 84 System boot, 84 VMS-L, 85 Boot ISO, 617-621

## С

Challenge Handshake Authentication Protocol (CHAP), 159–160, 177, 200 Cisco Integrated Management Controller (CIMC), 36 Cisco servers, 36 Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS), 36 Cloud computing, 2, 10, 665, 674 Cluster create, 143, 144 ESXi hosts, 142 features, 143 vSphere High Availability, 143 Cluster image setup addon image, 578 compatible image, 581, 582 Components option, 580 ESXi base image, 578 hardware support managers, 579 **HPE Synergy Server** Customization, 581 remediation process, ESXi hosts, 582, 583 Show drop-down option, 580 vendor addons, 578 Community PVLAN, 263 Consolidate disks, 432, 435 Consolidating snapshots, 433-434 Containerization, 4 Content ID (CID), 421 Corresponding file, 421 CPU over-commitment, 345, 346 Custom data services, 234 **Customer Experience** Improvement Program (CEIP), 125 Cybersecurity, 637

## D

Database file, 423 Datacenter, 140 creation, 142 logical container, 141 Data protection strategies application-consistent backups, 635 first-level backups, 634 image-based backups, 634 incremental backups, 635 offsite backups, 635 synthetic full backups, 635 Datastore, 120, 620 centralized storage location, 88 creation, 88-93 disk space, 87 local-datastore-01, 102 space depletion, 444 specific rules, 230 storage container, 87 storage types, 87 VMFS and NFS, 88 Datastore browser, 422, 423, 443 Data virtualization, 4 Descriptor file, 421 Desktop virtualization, 3 Direct Console User Interface (DCUI), 44, 135 Direct Path I/O Passthrough benefits, 524 bypass hypervisor, 513 configuration, 526-529 enable, 526-532 graphics processing units, 513 hardware considerations, 515 high-speed environments, 514 limitations, 525, 526 minimal interference, 514

passthrough GPUs, 523 PCI-and PCIe-based devices, 513 physical I/O devices, 513 recommendations, 517, 518 requirements, 516, 517 storage and network I/O devices, 513 use cases, 524, 525 vGPUs, 523 vGPUs vs. passthrough GPUs, 522 virtual machines, 512 VMs performance and security risks, 519, 520, 522, 523 VMware vSphere, 511 Disaster recovery solutions, 14, 646 **Distributed Power Management** (DPM), 28, 347, 348 Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS), 12, 17, 114, 605 cluster, 342 cluster, ESXi servers, 342 create cluster DRS, 343-347 Power Management Options, 347, 348 vs. Proactive HA, 394, 395 VMware vSphere function, 342 Dynamic DirectPath I/O, 531

## Ε

Elastic Sky X Integrated (ESXi), 10 Encryption Key Provider benefits, 242 vCenter Server Native Key Provider, 241

Encryption Storage Policy, 224 Enhanced vMotion Compatibility (EVC) mode advantages, 448-450 configuration, 454 enabling, 453 Graphics Mode (vSGA), 456, 457, 459 limitations, 450 migrate VMs, 452 practices and considerations, 459 reminders, 461 requirements, 451 selection, 452 uses, 447 ESX Agent Manager (EAM), 356 ESXi 7.0 setting up additional settings, 21 hardware requirements, 19, 20 storage, 21 storage prerequisites, 21 Update 3, 22 USB/SD card partitions, 22 ESXi 7.0 system storage symbolic links Datastore, 87 nonpersistent data, 86 persistent data, 86 ESXi hosts, 18, 113, 114, 119–121, 124, 128, 144–148, 157, 183, 188, 199, 218, 303, 381, 570 ESX-OSData, 84, 85 EtherChannel, 301 Ethernet controllers, 35

Evaluation mode license, 29 Extension baseline, 586, 588, 589

### F

Failback, 193, 655, 656 Failed snapshot operations, 433, 444–445 Failover process, 399, 415, 416 Fault Domain Manager (FDM), 582 Fault Tolerance (FT), 13, 28, 114, 246, 351, 397–416 Flat file, 422 Fragmentation, 441 FT logging, 405, 406 Fujitsu servers, 36 Fully qualified domain name (FQDN), 70 Function-level reset (FLR), 518

## G

Graphics Mode (vSGA), 454-456, 460

## Η

Hardware malfunction, 632 Health Check, 260, 261 Heartbeat datastores, 384, 385 High Availability (HA), 114, 223, 329 admission control define host failover capacity by, 382, 383 Edit Cluster Settings, 376

host failures cluster tolerates, 377 percentages of cluster resources reserved, 377 performance degradation VMs tolerate, 383, 384 advanced options, 385, 386 cluster, 362 datacenter feature, 362 enable, 366 failures and responses datastore with APD, 370, 371 datastore with PDL, 368, 369 host failure response, 367 host isolation, 368 VM monitoring, 372, 373, 375 features, 362, 363 heartbeat datastores, 384, 385 heartbeat mechanism, 376 monitors, virtual machine, 362 virtual machines, 361 vSphere platform, 361 High-performance computing (HPC), 514, 524 Hornetsecurity VM Backup centralized management, 639 ease of use and setup, 639 ransomware protection, 639 storage efficiency and costsavings, 639 tamper-proof backup, 638 WAN-optimized replication, 639 Host-based rules, 230 Host-based services, 229, 232

Host failure, 363, 364, 377 Host failure response, 367 Host failures cluster tolerates. 377, 378 Host isolation, 364, 365, 368 Host management, vCenter Server disconnect and reconnect host, 149 maintenance mode, 148, 149 reboot/power off ESXi hosts, 151, 152 relocate host, 150 remove host, 150, 151 Host partition, 365 Host Profiles advantages automation and consistency, 464 compliance, 465 deployment, 465 efficiency, 464 management, 465 time savings, 464 troubleshooting, 465 upgrades, 465 Auto Deploy, 488-491 Cluster, 478 create, 466 disable/reapply, 481, 482, 484 ESXi host configuration, 466, 468, 469 import/export, 488 Maintenance mode, 477 NFS/iSCSI, 475

Host Profiles (cont.) NFS server, 486, 487 Summary tab, 469, 471, 472 troubleshooting, 479, 480 vCenter/Cluster, 472, 473 Hot Add/Hot Plug advantages, 495, 496 capabilities, 495 devices, 495 enable/configure, 503-506 features, 507 increased remote memory access, 500 NUMA, 500 performance impact, 500 restrictions, 497 security considerations, 506, 507 tips, 508 vCPU/vRAM, 496, 497 VMware, 501 vNUMA, 500, 502, 503 Hyperconverged infrastructure (HCI), 648, 650, 652 Hypervisors bare-metal native, 6 definition, 5 hardware resources, 5 Type 1, 6 Type 2, 6

## I, J

iLO Amplifier and OneView, 579 Image-enabled clusters

creation cluster image setup (see Cluster image setup) import image, 584, 585 ESXi hosts, 576 feature, 576, 577 Inbound Traffic Shaping, 255, 256 Input/output operations per second (IOPS), 223 limit, 225 storage, 225 Installing vSphere 7, unsupported CPU CPU series, 55 error, 55 error bypassing, 55 VCG, 55 Integrated Management Module (IMM), 36 **Integrated Remote** Management Controller (iRMC), 36 Intelligent Platform Management Interface (IPMI), 36 I/O control, 228 I/O filters, 228 IP Hash, 194 IP subnets, 61 iSCSI, 304 iSCSI-01, 199 iSCSI Datastores configuration CHAP, 159 IQN, 158

network port binding, 161, 163.164 title. 160 iSCSI Qualified Name (IQN), 158 iSCSI VMFS Datastore, 200 iSCSI VMkernel allow multiple sessions, 178, 179 compliant, 176 create standard switch, 166 Dynamic Discovery, 176 ESXi host, 164 IPv4 setting, 168, 169 IQNs, 178 iSCSI-02 port group, 173 network port binding, 176 port properties, 167, 168, 173 result, ESXi hosts, 174, 175 select ESXi host, 175 select new standard switch, 165 select target device, 172, 173 Storage device, 177 Teaming and failover, 171 VMkernel Network Adapter, 172 vmnics, 167 vSwitch1, 170 Isolated PVLAN, 262 IT landscape, 674 IT professional, 674

## Κ

Kerberos, 204, 205 Key benefits of vSphere

advanced security features, 14 business continuity, 14 cost savings, 13 disaster recovery, 14 increased efficiency, 13 scalability, 14 simplified IT management, 14 Key features of vSphere centralized management interface, 13 dynamic resource allocation, 12 FT, 13 server virtualization, 11 storage vMotion, 12 vDS, 12 vMotion, 12 vSphere HA, 12 vSphere Replication, 12

## L

LACP configuration, vDS LACP mode (*see* LAG mode) LAG-Vembu, 307, 308 physical configurations, 307 LAG mode active LACP mode, 308 Add and Manage Hosts, 311, 312 complete, port group configuration, 316, 317 completion, LACP configurations, 317 ESXi host, 317

LAG mode (cont.) load balancing mode, 309 migrate virtual machine networking, 315, 316 passive LACP mode, 308, 309 physical switch and physical ports number, 317, 318 port policies, 309, 310 result, 311 select ESXi hosts, 312 vmkernel networks migrations, 314, 315 vmnics, 313, 314 vSphere vDS, 309 Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP), 186, 254, 255 EtherChannel, 300, 301 LACP or IEEE 802.3ad, 301 LAG, 301-303 limitations, 305, 306 link aggregation group, 300 load-balancing algorithm, 304 migrate vDS vmkernel network to vDS LACP ESXi host, 322, 323, 327 manage physical adapters, 323 networking modification, 319 physical environment, 320 physical network adapters, 319 physical switch, 320 Teaming and failover, 324

vDS Management, 322 vmnic1, 325, 326 multiple physical network links, single logical link, 300, 301 trunking, 300 in vSphere vDS limitations, 303, 304 restrictions, 303, 304 Link Aggregation Group (LAG), 254, 301–303 Live shadow instance, 117, 415, 416 Load balancing, 77, 78, 193, 304, 309

#### Μ

Maintaining and renewing VMware certifications adaptability and dedication, 672 flexible recertification approach, 672 mandatory recertification requirement, 670 professional certifications, 669 upgrading, 670 value of voluntary recertification, 670 Management port group, 71 Manual offline vCenter update, 559-564 Mellanox patches, 593 Memory file, 423 Migration Threshold, 344

## Ν

NAKIVO backup & replication, 639, 640 Native Key Provider, 242 NetFlow, 251, 265, 310 Network-attached storage (NAS), 88, 157, 180 Network File System (NFS), 88, 157 NFS Datastores, 156, 157 Cluster, 202, 203 configuration, 179-184 creation, 201-207 ESXi hosts, 205 Kerberos authentication, 204, 205 NFSv4.1, 203 vSphere features, 201, 202 storage configuration, 483 troubleshoot, 216-219 user host configuration, 483 VMkernel, 188-194 vSwitch creation, 184, 186, 187 Network interface cards (NICs), 70, 507, 534 Network I/O Control (NIOC), 251 Network port binding, 161, 163, 164, 176 Network resource pools, 261, 262 Network virtualization (NSX), 3, 115 challenges, 645 cloud-native application settings, 643

development organizations, 643 functionality, 645, 646 network virtualization, 644 roles, 644 security platform, 644 use cases, 646–648 NFSv4.1, 201 Non-uniform memory access (NUMA), 497–499 NVIDIA GRID vGPU, 531

## 0

Offline upgrade, 621–623 Online upgrade, 623, 624 Operating system virtualization, 4 Orphaned snapshot delta files, 432 Orphaned snapshots, 443

## Ρ

Passive LACP mode, 308, 309 Passthrough, 528 *vs*. SR-IOV, 528, 529 types, 531 Patch baseline, 586, 590–593 Performance degradation, 433 Performance dips, 444 Permanent Device Loss (PDL), 160, 368, 369 Physical I/O devices, 513 Portable Operating System Interface (POSIX), 74 Port Allocation, 257

Port binding, 257 Port groups, 70 definition. 71 ESXi host, 73 initial network configuration, 72 Management port group, 71 Physical NICs tab, 72 uplink (network interface), 71 Virtual switches tab, 72 VMs port group, 71 Port Mirror, 258, 259 **Preboot Execution Environment** (PXE), 607, 608 Predictive DRS, 344 Primary network identifier (PNID), 137 Private VLANs (PVLANs), 262-264 Proactive HA configuration automation level, 392, 393 remediation, 392, 393 vs. DRS, 394, 395 monitoring, 390 monitors server hardware components, 389 notification, 391 physical server, 389 predictive analysis, 390 remediation, 390 Promiscuous PVLAN, 263 Protected site VMs, 655 **PuTTY**, 561 PXE booted hosts, 607, 608

## Q

Quality of Service (QoS), 266 Quick Boot, 610, 611 Quiesce guest file system, 428

## R

Ransomware, 631, 636, 638, 639 Raw Device Mapping (RDM), 402 Recovery site VMs, 655 Recovery time objective (RTO), 633 Remote office/branch office (ROBO), 653 Resource optimization techniques, 674 Resource pool, 114, 115, 142 Root password, vCenter change root password, 550 Photo OS, 548 reset, 547, 549, 550

## S

Scalable Shares, DRS, 346 Scanning and remediation, vLCM baseline remediation settings disconnect removable media devices, 610 editing settings, 612 maintenance mod, case of failure, 606 number of retries, 607 parallel remediation, 611, 612

PXE booted hosts, 607, 608 Quick Boot, 610, 611 retry delay, 607 VM migration, 608, 609 VM power state, 606 DRS, 605 ESXi host, 605 check compliance, 600, 602 remediation, 601 stage, 600, 601, 603-605 execute remediation, 612, 613 Secure Boot, 14 Security key providers local/remote, 240 types, 240 Security Token Service (STS), 129 Self-serve approach, 658 Serial ATA (SATA), 20 Server virtualization, 3 Service level agreements (SLAs), 370 Single Root IO Virtualization (SR-IOV), 518, 527, 528 benefits, VFs, 534, 535 enable, 536 network adapter, 536, 537 virtual functions, 533-535 Single Sign-On (SSO), 111 Site Recovery Manager (SRM), 14, 641 challenges, 656 failover and failback process, 655 key functionalities, 655

protected site and recovery site, 654 replication options, 654 roles, 655 use cases, 657 working methods, 656 Slot policy, 382 Snapshots, 419 **Snapshots** issues backup solutions, 445 datastore space depletion, 444 failed operations, 444 misconfigured alarmsnotifications, 445 orphaned, 443 performance dips, 444 Software-defined data center (SDDC), 648, 653 SSO Domain, 125, 128, 129 Standard Switches and vSphere Distributed Switch, 74 Standard vSwitch to vDS configure per virtual machine, 290, 291 ESXi hosts, 286, 293, 296, 297 ESXi hosts migration, 292 Management and Virtual Machines network, 285 migrate virtual machines network, 289, 290 output, Storage vDS, 294 select hosts, 287 Storage network, 285

Standard vSwitch to vDS (*cont*.) Storage VMkernel, 295, 296 Teaming and Failover, 295 vmnics, 287, 288 VMs, 293 Storage I/O Control (SPBM-SIOC), 223, 232, 233 datastore, 224 requirements, 224 Storage Policies, 226 VMs, 223 VMware, 225 Storage networks, 284 Storage policy-based management (SPBM), 648, 651 Storage policy component, 233 Storage Policy-Encryption (SPBM-Encryption) protecting data, 227 settings, 226 VM and datastore, 227 VM's disks, 226 Storage virtualization, 4 Storage vMotion (SvMotion), 114, 331 Storage warnings, 433 Supermicro, 36 Supervisors, 658 Synology NAS, 184

## Т

Takeover process, 399 The 3-2-1-1-0 backup rule, 632 Traditional VM-based workloads, 658 Type 1 hypervisors, 6 Type 2 hypervisors, 6 Types of vSphere HA host failure host failure, 363, 364 host isolation, 364, 365 host partition, 365

## U

Update/upgrade vCenter automatic, 565-571 automatic offline vCenter update, 564 automatic online vCenter update, 554-558 manual offline vCenter update, 559-564 Upgrade baseline, 586, 594–597, 616, 617 Upgraded licenses, 29 Upgrade ESXi hosts Boot ISO, 617-621 command line offline upgrade, 621-623 online upgrade, 623, 624 manual upgrades, 624 upgrade baseline, 616, 617 Upgrade VMware tools, vLCM, 615 USB devices ESXi host, 541-543 support vMotion option, 544, 545

## **V**, **W**

vCenter add ESXi host, 144-147 cluster (see Cluster) control center, 113 Datacenter (see Datacenter) features, 113-115 installation, 117-128 licenses, 116, 117 SSO Domain, 129 tool, 113 vCenter 8.0, 565 vCenter Appliance, 123 vCenter Datastores, 155, 156 vCenter management framework, 111 vCenter Server Appliance Management Interface (VAMI) page, 127 access, 133, 135 access control, 133 backup and restore, 132 basic configuration, 132 change vCenter IP address/ FODN, 136-140 monitor, 134 monitoring, 132 networking, 133, 135 troubleshooting, 133 update management, 132 vCenter Appliance, 134 vCenter Server Appliance, 133 VMware VCSA, 131

vCenter Server Native Key Provider, 242 Veeam data platform backup and storage efficiency, 638 cross-platform protection, 638 cybersecurity and threat detection, 637 security and compliance, 637 Vendor-customized vSphere ISO Cisco server. 36 configuring and installation, 39 **Configure Management** Network, 46, 47 country/language selection, 41 **DNS** Configuration option, 49 DNS suffixes, 50 ESXi, 43 ESXi DHCP IP address, 45 ESXi host, 44 ESXi passwords guidelines, 41 **EULA**, 39 IP address, subnet mask, 48 IPv4 Configuration, 48 local disk devices, 40 network settings, 51 SSD flash disk/card, 40 Test Management Network option, 53 VLANs, 47 ESXi installer, 37

Vendor-customized vSphere ISO (cont.) Fujitsu, 36 IBM/Lenovo, 36 Mount ISO, HPE iLO 1, 37 Supermicro, 36 Virtual disks (VMDKs), 404 Virtual functions, 533-535 virtual GPUs (vGPUs), 522 Virtualization advantages cost savings, 2 disaster recovery, 2 enhanced flexibility, 2 improved resource utilization, 2 increased security, 2 simple and swift process, 1 description, 1 types applications virtualization, 4 data, 4 desktop virtualization, 3 network virtualization, 3 **OS**, 4 server virtualization, 3 storage virtualization, 4 Virtualization-based security (VBS), 501 Virtual Machine File System (VMFS), 18, 88, 156 Virtual machines (VMs), 2, 9, 221, 261, 356, 402 policies, 221

storage policies, 222 storage policy, 229 datastore-specific rules, 230 host-based rules. 230 storage requirements, 222 storing sensitive data, 222 Virtual machine's memory, 427 Virtual machine snapshots benefits, 420 consolidate disks, 432 create, 427 database file, 423 delete, 429 delete all disks vs. consolidate disks, 435-437 delta disk file, 421 flat file, 422 guidelines, 438-440 limitations, 420 memory file, 423 merge all, 434 revert, 430-432 storage performance issues, 443 memory storage, 442 storage space consumption, 442 VM performance Disk I/O overhead, 441 fragmentation, 441 memory overhead, 441 snapshot consolidation, 441 working, 424, 425

Virtual network adapters, 70 Virtual networking network configurations, 71 physical network adapters, 70 port groups, 70-73 virtual switch, 70 VMkernel, 74 VMware Host Client, 70 vSphere network redundancy, 75-81 Virtual NICs (vNICs), 70 Virtual SAN (vSAN), 115 Virtual switch (vSwitch), 70-73, 75, 164, 185, 188, 251, 474 Virtual VMware nested environment advantages, 59, 66 creating and managing virtual machines, 66 creation (see VM creation, Nested ESXi) definition, 57 development and testing environments, 58 importance, 60 physical machine requirements, 66 purpose, 58 resource utilization optimization, 58 training and education, 59 training environments creation, 59 virtualized infrastructure, 57

virtual lab creation, 66 virtual machine, 59 VMware hypervisors, 57 VMware professional's tools, 60 VLAN, 189, 282-284 vLockstep, 398 VM Component Protection (VMCP), 371 VM creation Connect check box, 109 Create/Register VM, 100 Datastore, 106 Edit settings, 108 ESXi host, 104 ISO files, 106, 107 OS installation, 110 OS selection compatibility, 101 **Customize settings** screen, 103 Guest OS family, 101 version selection, 102 Ready to complete step, 105 vMemory, 105 Windows ISO, 106 VM creation, nested ESXi creation type selection, 61 Edit settings, 63 Guest operating system option, 63 nested vSphere 7, 62 virtual machine settings, 64, 65 VM Settings 1, 63 VMware Workstation 16, 63

VM Distribution, 345 Delta disk file (.vmdk), 421 VM Encryption policies, 244 VM files configuration files, 95 essential files -delta.vmdk, 97 -flat.vmdk, 96 .log, 97 .vmdk, 96 .vmsd, 97 .vmsn, 97 .vmx, 97 .vswp, 97 hard disk files, 96 VMFS Datastores, 155, 207 block-based storage device, 156 creation, 194-200 delete, 209, 210, 212 ESXi, 156 NFS troubleshoot, 209, 216-219 physical storage components, 156 resize, 212-215 SAN Storage by create iSCSI LUNs, 156 virtual machines, 156 vital foundations, VMware environments, 209 VMFS 5 Datastore, 196, 197 VMFS 6 Datastore, 197 vmkdping, 216 VMkernel, 18, 74, 185-188, 216, 219 vmkping, 216

VM migration, 608, 609 VM monitoring, 372, 373, 375 vMotion, 12, 114 VM Port blocking, 259 VM's Datastore folder, 95 VMs port group, 71 VM Storage Policies, 238 VM Storage Policy, 228, 235-237, 239 VM virtual disk, 245 VM Virtual Machine (vHW) definition, 98 features and hardware functions, 98 vSphere 6.7, 98 VMware cloud computing virtualization platform, 9 functionality, 15 hypervisor market, 6 portfolio, 10 software company, virtualization, 9 vSphere, 9 vSphere platform, 7 VMware Application Monitoring, 372 VMware certification, 674 benefits, 665 data center virtualization, 665-667 exam preparation, 669 exam steps, 668 exam topics, 667, 668

maintaining and renewing (see Maintaining and renewing VMware certifications) tools, 664 virtualization and cloud computing, 665 VMware Certified Advanced Professional (VCAP), 670 VMware Certified Advanced Professional-Data Center Virtualization (VCAP-DCV), 666 VMware Certified Design Expert-Data Center Virtualization (VCDX-DCV), 666 VMware Certified Professional-Data Center Virtualization (VCP-DCV), 666 VMware Certified Technical Associate-Data Center Virtualization (VCTA-DCV), 665 VMware Cloud Foundation (VCF), 653 VMware Compatibility Guide (VCG), 55 VMware Directory Service (vmdir), 129 VMware ESXi, 5, 16 VMware glossary comprehension, 15 terminology (see VMware terminology) vocabulary, 15

VMware products NSX. 643-648 SRM, 654-657 VMware vSphere with Tanzu, 658-661 VMware technology, 673 VMware terminology FT, 17 vDS, 16 **VMFS**, 18 vmkernel, 18 VMware, 15 VMware ESXi, 16 VMware Tools, 18 VMware vCenter Server, 16 VMware vCenter Web Client, 16 VMware vSphere, 16 VMware vSphere Web Client, 16 vSphere Cluster, 17 vSphere DRS, 17 vSphere HA, 17 vSphere Standard Switch (vSS or vSwitch), 16 vSphere Storage vMotion (or vStorage), 17 vSphere vMotion, 17 VMware Tools, 18 ability, 100 definition, 99 guest OS, 99 improvements and functionality, 99 VMware vCenter Server, 16

VMware vCenter Web Client, 16 VMware vSphere, 228 VMware vSphere Fault Tolerance (FT), 17 VMware vSphere with Tanzu challenges, 660 key functionalities, 659, 660 next-gen vSphere, 658 roles, 658 use cases, 661 vSphere managers, 658 working methods, 660, 661 vSAN challenges, 651 functionalities, 650 hybrid vSAN system, 648 SDDC, 648 software-defined storage solution, 649 **SPBM**, 648 use cases, 652-654 working methods, 651 vSAN Datastores, 156 vSANDirect storage, 230 vSAN Express Storage Architecture, 648 vSAN Storage Policy-Based Management, 652 vSAN storage-saving features, 653 vSphere advantages, 11 ESXi, 10 server virtualization, 9 umbrella stack, 10

vCenter, 11 VMware Hypervisor product, 10 vSphere Cluster, 17 vSphere Cluster Services (vCLS), 152, 153 agents, 353 anti-affinity rule create, vCLS VMs, 358, 359 architecture, 355, 356 benefits, 352 cluster-level functionality, 351, 352 features, 354 lightweight messaging protocol, 354 measure health, cluster service, 352, 353 move vSphere vCLS VMs datastore, 356, 358 vCLS services, 352 vSphere DRS, 351 vSphere vMotion, 351 vSphere Distributed Resource Scheduler (DRS), 351 vSphere Distributed Switch (vDS), 12, 16, 28 back up and restore vDS network configuration, 252, 253 centralized and advanced virtual switch, 251 create and configuration Adapters on all hosts, 273, 274

Add and Manage Hosts, 272 ESXi hosts, 272, 273 management, 270 Migrate VM networking, 275, 276 New Distributed Port Group, 277 new Distributed Switch, 268 port groups, 279 vDS version, 268, 269 VLAN, 277, 278 vmkernel, 275 vmnics, 273, 274 Custom Attributes, 266 features, 251 Health Check, 260, 261 Inbound Traffic Shaping, 255, 256 LACP (see LACP configuration, vDS) LAG, 254 NetFlow, 265 network resource pools, 261, 262 port allocation, 257 port binding, 257 Port Mirror, 258, 259 PVLANs, 262-264 requirements, 267 Tags, 266 vCenter, 251 VLANs, 282-284 VM Port blocking, 259 vSphere Encryption, 14

vSphere Enterprise licenses, 28 vSphere Enterprise Plus, 28 vSphere 7 Enterprise Plus, 25 vSphere environment deployment hardware configuration **BIOS configuration**, 33 CPU requirements, 33 desktop/laptop, 35 HPE DL360-G7, 34 HPE DL360-G9, 34 servers, 33 preparing and installing vSphere (see Vendorcustomized vSphere ISO) vSphere environment deployment considerations compatibility and integration, 32 disaster recovery and business continuity, 33 performance optimization, 32 planning, 31 scalability, 32 security measures, 32 user acceptance and training, 33 vSphere environments, 673 vSphere Fault Tolerance benefits cost savings, 416 improved performance, 416 increased reliability, 415 reduced complexity, 416 configuration, 405–408

vSphere Fault Tolerance (cont.) definition, 397 disadvantage, 416, 417 ESXi host, 400, 411 failover process, 399 Guest OS, 414 management options, 414 maximums, 402 requirements hardware, 403 hosts, 404 network, 404 storage, 404 virtual machine, 404 restrictions, 400-402 secondary instance, 397 server failure, 398 shadow instance, 397 takeover process, 399 Turn On, 410 vDS, 405 virtual machines, 402 VMkernel, 405 working, 398 vSphere High Availability (HA), 12, 17 vSphere Hot Add, 493 vSphere Hot Plug, 494 vSphere 7.0 ISO downloading, 23-27 vSphere license features Evaluation mode license, 29 upgraded licenses, 29 vSphere Enterprise Plus, 28 vSphere Standard, 27

vSphere licensing model, 29 vSphere Lifecycle Manager (vLCM) baselines (see Baselines, vLCM) best practices, 624-627 ESXi hosts, 573, 574 features and capabilities, 574, 575 image-enabled cluster (see Image-enabled clusters) troubleshoot, 627 upgrade VMware tools, 615 vSphere network redundancy Failover order Active, Active, 78 Active, Standby, 78 ideal configuration, 80 Load balancing drop-down list Route Based on IP Hash, 77 **Route Based on Originating** Virtual Port, 77 Route Based on Physical NIC Load, 78 Route Based on Source MAC Hash, 77 Use Explicit Failover Order, 78 Management and VMs networks, 76 Management port group, 79, 80 uplinks, 75, 76 virtual switch, 77 Virtual switches tab, 75 Virtual switch settings, 79

vmnics, 79 vMotion and Storage, 81 VMs network, 79, 81 vSphere Replication, 12 vSphere Standard, 27, 28 vSphere Storage Policies, 222 vSphere Storage vMotion, 12 vSphere Update Manager (VUM), 573 vSphere vMotion, 17, 351 create vMotion VMkernel network address, ESXi host, 333 cross-datacenter vMotion, 333 ESXi host, 333, 334 internal traffic, 333 IPv4 settings, 336 new VMkernel, 337, 338 port properties, 335 TCP/IP stack, 337 types, vMotion migrations, 339, 340 vmnics, 335 cross-vCenter vMotion, requirements, 332 encrypted migration, 340, 341 ESXi hosts, 330, 331 High Availability (HA), 329 live migration, 330 Storage vMotion, 331 XvMotion, 332 vSphere Web Client Host, 56 vSwitch, 184–187, 216

## X, Y, Z

XvMotion, 332